
PLACE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Date: Tuesday 25 June 2019
Time: 5.30 pm
Venue: Rennes Room - Civic Centre

Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business. 

If you have an enquiry regarding any items on this agenda, please contact Sharon Sissons, 
Democratic Services Officer (Committees) on 01392 265115.

Entry to the Civic Centre can be gained through the Customer Service Centre, Paris Street.

Membership -
Councillors Sills (Chair), Buswell (Deputy Chair), Atkinson, Henson, D, Lyons, Moore, D, Moore, J, 
Owen, Pattison and Williams

Agenda

Part I: Items suggested for discussion with the press and public present

1   Apologies

To receive apologies for absence from Committee members.

2   Declaration of Interests

Councillors are reminded of the need to declare any disclosable pecuniary 
interests that relate to business on the agenda and which have not already been 
included in the register of interests, before any discussion takes place on the 
item. Unless the interest is sensitive, you must also disclose the nature of the 
interest. In accordance with the Council's Code of Conduct, you must then leave 
the room and must not participate in any further discussion of the item.  
Councillors requiring clarification should seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer 
prior to the day of the meeting.

3   Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 - Exclusion of Press 
and Public

RESOLVED that, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of item 9 on 
the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined 
in paragraphs 1 and 3 of Part 1, Schedule 12A of the Act.



4   Questions from the Public under Standing Order 19

Details of questions should be notified to the Corporate Manager Democratic and 
Civic Support at least three working days prior to the meeting.  Further 
information and a copy of the procedure are available from Democratic Services 
(Committees) (Tel: 01392 265115) and also on the Council web site - 
https://exeter.gov.uk/councillorsfaq/.

5   Questions from Members of the Council under Standing Order 20

To receive questions from Members of the Council to appropriate Portfolio 
Holders.

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION BY THE EXECUTIVE

6   Exeter Live Better Move More Physical Activity Strategy

To consider the report of the Director, Communities Health Wellbeing Sport and 
Leisure.

(Pages 3 - 
108)

7   Exeter Live Better Move More Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play 
Areas, Parks and Open Spaces Strategy

To consider the report of the Director Communities Health Wellbeing Sport and 
Leisure.

(Pages 
109 - 276)

8   INExeter Business Improvement District Business Plan 2020- 2025

To consider the report of the Growth and Commercialisation Manager. (Pages 
277 - 346)

Part II: Item for Consideration with the Press and Public Excluded

9   Options for Investment in Exeter's Kerbside Recycling Service

To consider the report of the Director, Place and Service Manager – Recycling, 
Waste and Fleet.

(Pages 
347 - 406)

Date of Next Meeting

The next scheduled meeting of the Place Scrutiny Committee will be held on Thursday 12 
September 2019 at 5.30 pm in the Civic Centre.

Find out more about Exeter City Council services by looking at our web site http://www.exeter.gov.uk.  
This will give you the dates of all future Committee meetings and tell you how you can ask a question 
at a Scrutiny Committee meeting.  Alternatively, contact the Democratic Services Officer 
(Committees) on (01392) 265107 for further information.
Follow us: www.twitter.com/ExeterCouncil

www.facebook.com/ExeterCityCouncil
Individual reports on this agenda can be produced in large print on 
request to Democratic Services (Committees) on 01392 265107.

https://exeter.gov.uk/councillorsfaq/
http://www.twitter.com/ExeterCouncil
http://www.facebook.com/ExeterCityCouncil


 Final

REPORT to Council 23rd July 2019
REPORT to Executive 9th July 2019
REPORT to Place Scrutiny 25th June 2019 
 
Report of:  Director, Communities Health Wellbeing Sport and Leisure 

Title: Exeter Live Better and Move More Physical Activity Strategy

Is this a Key Decision? 

Yes
Yes/No
* One that affects finances over £1m or significantly affects two or more wards. If this is a 
key decision then the item must be on the appropriate forward plan of key decisions.

Is this an Executive or Council Function?

1. What is the report about?

1.1 This report describes the public consultation on the draft strategy and proposes minor 
changes to the original proposals following feedback and recommends the adoption of 
the revised Exeter Live Better and Move More Physical Activity Strategy.

2. Recommendations: 

It is recommended that: 

2.1 Place Scrutiny Committee considers the revised Exeter Live Better and Move More 
Physical Activity Strategy in the light of the overwhelming positive feedback from the 
comprehensive public consultation process and the minor amendments made to the 
original proposals.  

2.2 Executive Committee considers the report and recommends that Council adopts the 
revised Exeter Live Better and Move More Physical Activity Strategy.

3. Reasons for the recommendation:

3.1 The draft strategy sets out the vision that Exeter will be the most physically active city 
in England by encouraging those most at risk of inactivity to become active in everyday 
life. It proposes a whole system approach and sets out principles and priorities for 
action. 

3.2 The draft strategy sets out the opportunity that the Sport England Local Delivery Pilot 
status and investment presents within the context of a whole system approach 
promoting change at policy, strategic, organisational, community and individual levels.  
A key purpose of the draft proposals was to secure and align commitment from 
stakeholders to working across the system to deliver the vision. 

3.3 An eight week consultation process has been undertaken on the draft strategy which 
attracted over 1,650 responses from residents and stakeholders.  The consulation 

Page 3

Agenda Item 6



 
included a mixture of methodologies to ensure a cross section of views and opinions 
were taken into account.

3.4 The draft strategy received high levels of support from residents as well as sporting, 
health and community organisations who responded to the survey, attended meetings 
and/or submitted responses. For example 94% of responses to the surveys support 
the overall vison, approach and priorities proposed.

3.5 75% of stakeholder organisations completing the online survey were willing to commit 
to working together to achieve the vision within the draft strategy as they share our 
aims of improving population health and wellbeing through increasing physical activity 
levels for individuals and communities. 

3.6 A few improvements were suggested to the draft document which reflects the level of 
support for the proposals. Accessibility and active or sustainable travel related 
suggestions were the most frequently mentioned and a particular note was made of 
the need to include the quayside and canal as key assets for promoting physical 
activity.  

3.7 The Exeter Live Better and Move More Physical Activity Strategy (July 2019) now 
being recommended for adoption has been revised to take into account these 
suggested improvements.

4. What are the resource implications including non financial resources.

4.1 This is a high level and strategic document that in itself does not require additional 
financial resources.  Officer time will be utilised to draw up action and delivery plans and 
induvial business cases will be developed as required.

5. Section 151 Officer comments:

5.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report for Council to consider at 
this time.  

6. What are the legal aspects?

6.1 There are no specific legal aspects to consider in adopting the recommended strategy.

7. Monitoring Officer’s comments:

7.1 This Policy raises no issues for the Monitoring Officer

8. Report details:

8.1 The Draft Physical Activity Strategy provides the overall direction for increasing 
physical activity in Exeter and securing and aligning commitment from stakeholders. It 
sets out the ambition for increasing levels of physical activity for all.  The vision is that 
Exeter will be the most physically active city in England by encouraging those most at 
risk of inactivity to become active in everyday life.

Page 4



 

8.2 The draft strategy was launched in April 2019 and a public consulation exercise was 
undertaken between 27th April 2019 and 10th May 2019 to gather views and opinions 
from the public and stakeholders on: the vision; the whole systems approach; guiding 
principles for action and priorities for delivering the strategy.

8.3 The public consulation included:

 Targeted engagement with key partners and stakeholder bodies with an interest in 
physical activity.

 Online publication of the draft strategy with printed and accessible versions 
available from the Civic Centre.

 Launch of an online resident & stakeholder questionnaire along with a specific 
activity@exeter.gov.uk ‘have you say’ mailbox.

 A face to face in-street resident survey commissioned with an independent 
agency.

 Two public consultation events held in the Guildhall at which residents and 
stakeholders could formally provide their views, answer the survey and leave 
comments with council officers.

8.4 The consultation attracted over 1,650 responses from individuals and organisations. 
 

 999 residents took part in a representative face to face survey (Appendix A)
 218 residents completed the on-line questionnaire (Appendix A)
 50 stakeholders completed the on-line questionnaire (Appendix B)
 90 direct responses to active@exeter.gov.uk (Appendix C)
 300 visitors to the Guildhall 

8.5 Full details of the on-line & face to face survey reports, written responses and face to 
face conversations with residents are all contained in the appendix.    

8.6 As demonstrated in charts 1 and 2 below, the draft strategy received high levels of 
support from Exeter residents in the representative face to face survey. 74% strongly 
supported the draft Physical Activity Strategy rising to 94% overall.  Only 1% 
disagreed with the strategy with 5% either not expressing an opinion or giving a 
neutral response (see Appendix A for the full resident survey report).

8.8 91% of residents responding agreed with the statement that ‘These are the right 
priorities for Exeter’ when asked in relation to the draft strategy.  Furthermore, 95% 
agree with the statement that ‘The aims and approach recommended are fair and 
reasonable’

8.9 This high level of support extends across age groups, family types and activity levels 
of residents.  The over 65s are the least positive but even this has to be taken in the 
context that nearly nine in ten are in favour.

8.10 Few improvements were suggested which in part reflects the level of support but also 
the limitations of such questions in surveys. Accessibility and active or sustainable 
travel related suggestions were the most frequent.  4% felt unable to comment 
without more specific detail.

Page 5

mailto:activity@exeter.gov.uk
mailto:active@exeter.gov.uk


 

Chart 1: Resident Views on Draft Physical Activity Strategy

74% 
Strongly Agree

20% 
Agree

5% 
Neutral

1% 
Strongly 
Disagree

Overall I 
support the 
draft 
Strategy

Q. To what extent do you agree or disagree with these 
statements regarding the draft Physical Activity Strategy?

65% 
Strongly Agree

26% 
Agree

7% 
Neutral

3% 
Disagree

These are 
the right 
priorities for 
Exeter

70% 
Strongly Agree

26% 
Agree

3% 
Neutral

1% 
Disagree

Aims & 
approach… 
are fair & 
Reasonable

Strongly 
Agree

(9 or 10)

Agree
(7 or 8)

Neutral
(5 or don’t 

know/refused)

Disagree / 
Strongly 

Disagree (4 to 0)

Chart 2: Resident Proposed Improvements to draft Physical Activity Strategy

Page 6



 

8.11 Encouragingly 75% of stakeholder organisations completing the online survey were 
willing to commit to working together to achieve the vision within the draft strategy as 
they share our aims of improving population health and wellbeing through increasing 
physical activity levels for individuals and communities. A further 21% were uncertain 
at this point i.e. answering either don’t know/refuse or giving a mid-point response 
(5/10). The full Stakeholder Survey Report can be found in Appendix B and full list of 
stakeholders responding to the consultation can be found in Appendix D.  

8.12 Written stakeholder submissions echo the above points with the addition of strong 
support for a whole system approach providing there are clear links to other City 
strategies and priorities.  A plea to enhance the aspiration for active travel and for on-
going Investment in facilities.

8.13 Few amendments to the draft strategy were suggested which reflects the high level 
of support. However there were some helpful comments that mostly relate to Section 
5: Delivering the Strategy (full details can be found in Appendix B & C).  These 
suggested changes have been incorporated into the final strategy as they helpfully 
clarify and make explicit:

 Links to the Liveable Exeter Transformational Housing Plan previously listed at 
the Housing Transformation Plan.

 The quayside and waterways as a destination and resource to increase 
physical activity.

 Walking and cycling Infrastructure as part of the Exeter Transport Strategy.
 Minor amendments have been made to make it clear that data quoted from 

Active Lives was current at the time of publication

8.14 Appendix E sets out the revisions that have been made following feedback to the 
strategy which Council is now being asked to adopt. 

Page 7



 

9. How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?

9.1 The Physical Activity Strategy will contribute to the Corporate Plan objectives of 
tackling congestion and accessibility; promoting active and healthy lifestyles and 
building great neighbourhoods.

10. What risks are there and how can they be reduced?

10.1 The risks to the successful implementation of the Physical Activity Strategy include 
lack of stakeholder engagement and the investment required to deliver on the strategy.  
Significant investment in built facilities is already in place from the Council and 
additional investment is anticipated for community developments through the Sport 
England Local Delivery Pilot. The partnership approach implicit in the Pilot may identify 
other funding opportunities and priorities in order to deliver the goals of the Pilot. 
These risks will be monitored as the plan develops, and steps taken to mitigate as 
appropriate.

11. What is the impact of the decision on equality and diversity; health and 
wellbeing; safeguarding children, young people and vulnerable adults, 
community safety and the environment?

11.1 Areas with high levels of physical inactivity are more deprived. There are higher 
incidences amongst deprived populations of the types of conditions / diseases caused 
by inactivity. There are some pockets in the City where deprivation levels are amongst 
the top 20% of deprived areas in the Country.   

11.2 Congestion impacts air quality and those areas with the worst air quality also tend to 
be more deprived.  There is also a higher incidence amongst deprived populations of 
the types of diseases that are exacerbated by poor air quality.  This is why the strategy 
sets out a clear vision to focus resources on those groups and communities most likely 
to face social and economic barriers to healthy and active lives. 

11.3 There is no identified negative impact on people with protected characteristics as set 
out in the Disability Act (2010) created as a result of the vision, priorities, approaches 
and principles set out in the strategy. However physical activity and sport participation 
levels for some groups with protected characteristics can be lower than in other groups 
of the population. Therefore programme delivery plans connected to this strategy will 
monitor impacts for those particular groups. 

12. Are there any other options?

12.1 The proposals in the draft strategy have been widely endorsed through the consulation 
process so no alternative options are being considered.

Director

Jo Yelland

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)

Page 8



 
Background papers used in compiling this report:-
None

Contact for enquires: 
Democratic Services (Committees)
Room 2.3
01392 265275

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1

Physical activity strategy
July 2019

EXETER LIVE BET TER & MOVE MORE

Page 11



Foreword

There is overwhelming evidence that regular physical activity is good for us, for our 
society and our environment. Yet the world we live in doesn’t necessarily make being 
physically active simple - it is increasingly easy for us to move less rather than to move 
more as we go about our day. 

The good news for Exeter is that we already have a population that is, on average, 
more physically active than most other places in the country.  This reflects the fantastic 
environment we have in our city and its surroundings, and that we have a relatively 
large young and affluent population who tend to be more active. However innovative 
data analysis shows us that this is not the whole story for our city. Areas in Exeter are 
amongst the most deprived in the country and in these places physical activity levels 
are low and the ill health associated with inactive lives is high. This is why it is our 
ambition for everyone in Exeter to benefit from an active life, and why this strategy is so 
important.

The feedback on our draft proposals has been overwhelmingly positive with 94% of 
respondents supporting the overall vison, approach and priorities proposed.  I thank 
each and every one who took the time and effort to take part in our extensive listening 
and consultation exercises, which has helped by challenging our assumptions, our 
thinking, and building consensus on a common set of priorities and principles. 

I believe we have a once-in-a-generation opportunity with the Sport England Local 
Delivery Pilot to make a positive and sustained difference to lives in Exeter. I am looking 
forward to working with partners across the city and most importantly learning more 
about the hard work, passion and commitment of all those who volunteer in groups and 
clubs, doing amazing work, helping others to build the skills and confidence to make 
physical activity part of their life each day.    

 

Cllr Ollie Pearson

Portfolio Holder Leisure & Physical ActivityPage 12



Contents
1. The purpose of this strategy   Page 5

2. Why physical activity matters  Page 7 

3. How physically active are we?  Page 11

4. Our approach      Page 19

5. Delivering this strategy    Page 23

Page 13



1
Exeter Live Better and Move More: Physical Activity Strategy July 2019Page 14



Page 5

1.  The purpose of this strategy
This strategy provides the overall direction for increasing 
physical activity in Exeter and securing and aligning 
commitment from stakeholders. It sets out our ambition for 
increasing levels of physical activity. Our vision is for Exeter 
to become the most physically active city in England, and to 
encourage those most at risk of inactivity to become active in 
everyday life.
The 2018-2021 corporate plan (Exeter Corporate Plan 2018-2021) describes the key priorities 
for the City Council focussing on three strategic programmes: 

Tackling  
congestion &  
accessibility


Promoting  

active & healthy 
lifestyles


Building great  

neighbourhoods


This strategy describes current physical activity 
levels and proposes priorities and principals for 
encouraging active lifestyles. It includes strategic 
partnership work with Sport England through 
the Exeter and Cranbrook Local Delivery Pilot 
and with Devon County Council (local transport 
authority) to improve mobility across the city 
through walking and cycling networks, integrated 
public transport and travel networks.  

We will promote the benefits of active 
environments as a way to encourage physical 
activity in everyday life, through ‘Liveable Exeter’ 
our transformational housing vision.  We will 
apply active design principles within our own 
developments and will encourage others to do so.

Page 15



2
Exeter Live Better and Move More: Physical Activity Strategy July 2019Page 16



Page 7

2.  Why physical activity matters
There is overwhelming evidence that regular physical activity 
is good for you, for society, the environment and economy.
Physical activity is proven to:

• Improve and maintain physical and mental 
health and well-being 

• Prevent long term conditions such as heart and 
lung diseases, diabetes, cancers and obesity

• Speed up recovery if we do become ill.  

Physical activity is also proven to have  
wider societal benefits:1

• Improve educational attainment 

• Reduce anti-social behaviour 

• Build self-esteem throughout life 

• Contribute to urban regeneration

•  Increase work productivity

•  Improve quality of life.

A physically active society will result in  
reductions in:

• Depression and poor psychological health

• Loneliness and social isolation

• CO2 emissions and reduced congestion 

Physical activity is important across all ages. 
Active play and recreation is important for  
early childhood as well as for healthy growth  
and development in young people. 

Quality physical education and supportive school 
environments can provide physical and health 
literacy for long-lasting healthy, active lifestyles. 

It is also important that adults are physically 
active and less sedentary at work. Whether 
working or not, older adults, in particular,  
can benefit from regular physical activity to 
maintain physical, mental and social health  
and enable healthy ageing. 

Health and social care providers can help 
individuals of all ages become more active  
and prevent diseases while also using physical 
activity as a means to increase rates of 
rehabilitation and recovery. 

��“�If�a�medication�existed�which�had�a�similar�effect�to�physical�activity,��
it�would�be�regarded�as�a�'wonder�drug'�or�a�“miracle�cure”
– Sir Liam Donaldson, the former Chief Medical Officer of England, 2009

1Bailey, Hillman, Arent & Petitpas (2013) Physical activity an underestimated investment in human capital? (Journal of Physical Activity and Health)

Page 17



Exeter Live Better and Move More: Physical Activity Strategy July 2019

Physical activity can be undertaken in many 
different ways: walking, cycling, sports and  
active forms of recreation (for example, 
gardening, dance, yoga, tai chi). 

Physical activity can also be undertaken at work 
and around the home. All forms of physical 
activity can provide health benefits if undertaken 
regularly and of sufficient duration and intensity.

What do we mean by physical activity?

Current Chief Medical Officer guidelines 
recommend that:

• Children and young people should aim for  
at least 60 minutes of physical activity a day

• Adults should aim for at least 150 minutes a 
week of moderately intense activity (moderate 
breathing/able to talk) or 75 minutes a week 
of vigorous activity ( breathing fast/difficulty 
talking) or a combination of both

• Adults should undertake muscle strengthening 
activities at least twice a week 

• Everyone should sit less and move more: take 
breaks from sitting down

• Regular 10 minute bursts of activity can make  
a big difference 

How much physical activity should you do?







move more  
sit less 



10 minutes can 
make a difference

Page 18





Page 9Page 19



3
Exeter Live Better and Move More: Physical Activity Strategy July 2019Page 20



Page 11



1 in 4 women and 1 in 5 men in England are 
classed as physically inactive: doing less than  
30 minutes of moderate physical activity a week.

1 in 3 1 in 4

3. How physically active are we? 
Physical activity is influenced by a wide range of factors,  
from the advice or encouragement of friends, family and 
carers at home, through programmes at school, work or in 
local communities, the built environment, to the influence  
of general socio-economic conditions.

 
Only 1 in 3 men and 1 in 4 women  
undertake muscle strengthening activities  
at least twice a week.

Men/boys are more likely than women/girls to 
average 6 or more hours of (sedentary) sitting 
time on both weekdays and weekends.  



  

Children are averaging over 3 hours a day 
of (sedentary) sitting time during the week 
increasing to over 4 hours a day at weekends. 

The proportion of children who spend 6 or more 
hours of (sedentary) sitting time rises steadily 
with age as does the average time per day spent 
watching TV/screen time.

People may be encouraged to exercise by a 
health or social care professional or a friend,  
but may find that childcare or work 
responsibilities get in the way, or they cannot  
find anywhere nearby to be active.

Page 21



Exeter Live Better and Move More: Physical Activity Strategy July 2019

Since 2015, Sport England have undertaken  
an annual survey asking people over 16  
how physically active they are using the  
following benchmarks: 

• Active:  
People who meet the Chief Medical Officer’s 
guidelines and do at least 150 minutes of 
moderate intensity activity each week – gaining 
health benefits including a reduced risk of 
dementia, depression, diabetes, and improved 
mental wellbeing

• Fairly Active:  
People who do some physical activity but do 
not meet the Chief Medical Officer’s guidelines

•  Inactive:  
People who do less than 30 minutes of physical 
activity a week.

The 2018 “Active Lives” survey reports Exeter as 
the most “active” Local Authority in England with 
nearly 4 in 5 (79%) adults in Exeter saying they 
undertake more than 150 minutes activity each 
week. This compares to just over 3 in 5 (62%) for 
England as a whole. Year on year this represents 
a 2.8% point improvement.

According to Active Lives, Exeter also has the 
second lowest level of ‘inactive’ adults (less 
than 30 mins per week) in the country at 
14.5% (narrowly beaten by Islington with 14%).  
This is a 2.8% fall, year on year, putting our 
achievement this year in greater context as we 
made improvements at both ends of the activity 
spectrum – the percentage of Fairly Active Adults 
(30-149 mins per week) remained unchanged.

How physically active are we in Exeter? 

Source: Sport England – Active Lives Survey 2018 (Accurate at time of going to press).

Physical Activity (England)

Of people (15.8k) did  
less than 30 minutes 

a week

Of people (6.9k)  
did between 30-149 

minutes a week

Inactive: Fairly Active: Active:

Of people (86.2k) did  
150+ minutes a week

14.5% 6.3% 79.2% 

Physical Activity (Exeter)

People in the South West, on average, have slightly higher levels of physical 
activity compared to the national average, but according to Public Health Devon 
over 21,000 adults in Exeter (25% of women and 14% of men) do less than 30 
minutes of physical activity per week. 

Of people (11.3m) did  
less than 30 minutes 

a week

Of people (5.6m)  
did between 30-149 

minutes a week

Inactive: Fairly Active: Active:

Of people (28m) did  
150+ minutes a week

25.5% 12.5% 62.3% 

Page 22



Page 13

This is great news and reflects the fact that  
Exeter already has a socio-demographic profile 
that heavily represents those groups who tend 
to be the more active i.e. younger, higher social 
grades, etc. It also reflects the impacts achieved 
through the Get Active Exeter Programme 
sponsored by the Exeter Health & Wellbeing 

Board, funded by Sport England and managed  
by Active Devon on behalf of a range of partners 
in the city. 

However some areas in the city are amongst the 
most deprived in the country and in these areas 
physical activity levels will be very low. 

Locations containing high levels of working age adults with no dependant 
children, deprivations and/or physical inactivity

Pennsylvania

Mincinglake  
& Whipton

Pinhoe

Heavitree

St Loyes

Duryard  
& St James

Exwick

St Thomas

St Davids

Alphington

Newtown  
& St Leonard’s Priory

Topsham

Exminster

Source: Sport England Local Delivery Pilot Stage 2 Submission: Exeter & Cranbrook

Page 23



Exeter Live Better and Move More: Physical Activity Strategy July 2019

Pennsylvania

Mincinglake  
& Whipton

Pinhoe

Heavitree

St Loyes

Duryard  
& St James

Exwick

St Thomas

St Davids

Alphington

Newtown  
& St Leonard’s Priory

Topsham

Exminster

Source: Sport England Local Delivery Pilot Stage 2 Submission: Exeter & Cranbrook

Locations containing high levels of frailer individuals, 
deprivation and/or physical inactivity

Page 24



Page 15

Over the last 30 years as a society we have 
become increasingly reliant on technology in 
our daily lives, our working day and our leisure 
choices.  We have effectively managed to 
engineer physical activity out of our routines; 
environments and opportunities predominently 
promote sitting down. 

Sedentary forms of transport are seen as 
necessary for us to lead our busy lives.  
As a result the social and physical design of 
our schools, workplaces and communities has 
changed to accommodate these preferences. 

Instead of being part of how we live, we have 
effectively confined physical activity to a 
recreational past-time (exercise) chosen by  
few and in the process we have created a range 
of actual and/or perceived barriers to being 
active (e.g. a perceived lack of time, cost, low 
confidence, limited opportunity and actual or 
perceived lack of safety).

Being physically active is too often defined by 
socioeconomic position with the least active  
often the least well off. This is a significant but 
often hidden issue in Exeter. When we look 
beneath the surface we can see that, whilst 
overall Exeter is one of the healthiest and most 
active places to live, there are some areas in the 
city with measures of deprivation amongst the 
top 20% of deprived areas in the country. 

There is a 7.8 year life expectancy gap for men 
between the most and the worst well off areas  
in the city. 

The environment around us is one of the most 
important factors in enabling people to be active 
in their everyday life. The places we live, work 
and visit often act as a daily barrier to people 
taking part in physical activity and sport, whether 
that be due to safety, accessibility, awareness 
or the practicalities of using spaces in the built 
and natural environment. According to Inclusive 
Design for Getting Outdoors (IDGO)2 older people 
who live in areas where it is easy and enjoyable 
to go outdoors, are more likely to be physically 
active and satisfied with life, and twice as likely to 
achieve recommended levels of healthy walking. 

Less user-friendly environments are often 
perceived by people as posing an increased risk 
of falling, especially by those with vision, mobility 
or other impairments. Such environments 
can heighten fears about crime, nuisance and 
traffic, and make going outdoors less enticing; 
reinforcing feelings of loneliness or entrenching 
the challenges of socioeconomic deprivation.

Physical activity can and should be integrated 
into the settings in which people live, work 
and play. Walking and cycling are key means 
of transportation and enable regular physical 
activity on a daily basis. 

What are the challenges people face  
with physical activity?

��“�For�most�people,�the�easiest�and�most�acceptable�forms�of�physical�activity�
are�those�that�can�be�built�into�everyday�life.�Examples�include�walking�or�
cycling�instead�of�travelling�by�car,�and�using�stairs�instead�of�lifts.�‘Active�
travel’�(or�active�transportation�or�mobility)�means�walking�or�cycling�for��
the�purpose�of�making�every�day�journeys.”
– Working together to promote active travel - Public Health England

2 http://www.idgo.ac.uk/about_idgo/index.htm

The world we live in doesn’t make being physically active very easy:  
in fact it is easier for most of us to move less than it is to move more.  

Page 25



Exeter Live Better and Move More: Physical Activity Strategy July 2019

Exeter already has higher than the national 
average rates of commuters using sustainable 
travel. Of those commuters that live and work in 
Exeter over 8% cycle and over 30% walk.  

This still leaves over 40% of commuters living and 
working in Exeter who are making short journeys 

to work every day by car. On top of this over 
36,000 commuters travel by car into the city  
for work every day.  

This translates to Exeter as one of the slowest 
moving cities in the UK, with average road travel 
speed at rush hour of just 4.6mph.


over 8% cycle
of the commuters that live  

and work in Exeter


over 40% drive

of the commuters that live  
and work in Exeter

over 30% walk
of the commuters that live  

and work in Exeter

over 36,000 drive
into Exeter from outside for work

Page 26



Page 17Page 17Page 27



4
Exeter Live Better and Move More: Physical Activity Strategy July 2019Page 28



Page 19

The World Health Organisation (WHO) suggests  
a whole system approach is needed to  
increase physical activity on a population level 
this includes: 

• Transport policies and systems that promote 
walking, cycling and public transport 

• Urban design regulations and infrastructure 
that provide for equitable and safe access for 
recreational physical activity, and recreational 
and transport related walking and cycling 
across the life course 

• Public education, including mass media to 
raise awareness and change social norms on 
physical activity 

• Prevention programmes integrated into 
primary health care systems 

• Community-wide programmes involving 
multiple settings and sectors and that mobilise 
and integrate community engagement and 
resources 

• Sports systems and programmes that promote 
‘sport-for-all’ and encourage participation 
across the lifespan 

This “Whole System Change” approach is  
based on the starting point that no one lives in 
a vacuum. They are connected to a place and its 
community, each with its own unique structure, 
relationships and geography. 

It recognises that tackling inactivity requires a 
root and branch approach; it is not simply within 
the individual’s power to change but requires 
actions across the range of influencers.

4. Our approach
The biggest gain and best value for society is achieved by  
engaging people who are least active in becoming active in 
daily life.  

Reduce health  
inequalities


Improve population 
health & wellbeing


Promote community  

resourcefulness


Increase active  

travel



We want to get more people undertaking the 
levels of physical activity that are recommended 
for good health and well-being but with a 
determined focus on those who are currently 
inactive. The strategic aims are to:  

Page 29



Exeter Live Better and Move More: Physical Activity Strategy July 2019

Whole Systems Approach  

Policy
Environmental
Social
Organisational
Individual

Source: Socio-Ecological Model

Policy
Local strategy, policy, laws, rules, codes, regulations

Physical Environment
Built, natural, transport links

Organisations  
& Institutions

Schools, health care, businesses, faith  
organisations, charities, clubs

Social Environment
Individual relationships, families,  
support groups, social networks

Individual
Individual attitudes, beliefs,  

knowledge, needs,  
behaviours

Page 30



Page 21

Guiding principles for action

1. Build from the bottom up: 
adopt an asset based community 
development approach

2. Reduce inequality in participation: 
focussed approach which recognises that the 
largest health gain occurs with improvements 
made by the least active 

3. Equal and inclusive approach: 
everyone should have accessible, safe 
convenient and affordable choices for  
physical activity

4. Connect people with physical activity: 
ensure physical activity opportunities are 
available and promoted for all ages

5. Whole systems approach: 
address the policy, environmental, social, 
organisational and individual factors that 
influence physical activity

6. Create a physical activity habit: 
recognise the importance of habit formation 
and behaviour change required for least active 
residents 

7. Make it fun: 
encourage providers of physical activity  
to promote fun and enjoyment, helping 
people to build it into their everyday lives

8. Consistent Communications: 
clear messages about the benefits, 
opportunities and support available for 
physical activity choices in Exeter

9. Make it visible: 
portray physical activity as a normal part  
of everyday life

10. Work together: 
recognise that no single organisation can 
effectively change the physical activity 
behaviour of the population alone

11. Evidence and evaluation: 
embed an analytical approach to programme 
design and implement a robust evaluation 
process

Taking an evidenced based approach to achieving population level change 
we are proposing that all interventions aimed at increasing physical activity 
in Exeter, including the Sport England Pilot are underpinned by the following 
evidenced based principles.3

 3 Adapted from More People Active for a Healthier World 2018/2030 (WHO) and Creating a Culture of Physical Activity Sheffield City Council 2015

Page 31



5
Exeter Live Better and Move More: Physical Activity Strategy July 2019Page 32



Page 23

5. Delivering this strategy

Using data from a number of sources we can 
show that those at most risk of inactivity and 
poor health outcomes are clustered into  
pockets that in the main form Exeter’s 
“deprivation crescent”. 

This map shows these top 20 target areas 
grouped into population groups called Lower 
Super Output Areas (LSOAs).  These are the 
areas where we need to focus efforts to increase 
physical activity levels.

Physical Activity Target Areas

Taking a Whole System Change Approach underpinned by the 
guiding principles we will focus activity and resources in the 
areas of greatest need. 

City Boundary  
Priority Areas
Ward Boundaries
LSOA Boundary
 

Pennsylvania

Mincinglake  
& Whipton

Pinhoe

Heavitree

St Loyes

Duryard  
& St James

Exwick

St Thomas

St Davids

Alphington

Newtown  
& St Leonard’s

Priory

Topsham111

16

4

3

7
18

15
1013

2

19

6

5
128

920
14

17

Source: Public Health Devon (October 2018)

Rank Discription

1 Burnthouse Lane (Trees)

2 Lancelot Road

3 Whipton (Leypark Road & Bramley 
Avenue)

4 Burnthouse Lane (Rifford Road)

5 Sidwell Street & Clifton Road

6 Cathedral & City Centre (East)

7 Whipton (Hillyfield Road)

8 Exwick (Cemetry)

9 Cowick (Newman Road)

10 Beacon Heath

11 Burnthouse Lane (Poets)

12 City Centre (West)

13 Stoke Hill

14 Exwick (Redhills)

15 Summerway

16 Countess Wear (Lower)

17 Exwick (Farm Hill)

18 Hamlins Lane & Honeylands

19 Alphington Road (Ebrington Road)

20 Cowick (Barley Farm Road)

Page 33



Exeter Live Better and Move More: Physical Activity Strategy July 2019

Active Travel to Work Target Areas

City Boundary  
Ward Boundaries (Pre 2017)
Travel Direction
Worst Performing Car Travel 
(Ranked by Potential Active Trip 
Substitution)
 

Pennsylvania

Beacon Heath

Pinhoe

Heavitree N

Sowton

Exwick

St Thomas

Redhills

Marsh Barton

Newtown  
& St Leonard’s

Wonford

Topsham
9

17

5

8

23

6

7

1

4
16

19

15

14

18

11

20
13

10

12

0

Rank Origin Destination Distance Absolute 
Trip No. Drive % Expected 

Drive %
Difference 
%

Potential  
Active Travel  
Substituion

1 Whipton Sowton 1671 575 61.70% 34.00% 27.70% 96

2 Wonford Sowton 1793 592 52.50% 35.80% 16.70% 55

3 Redhills St Thomas 846 209 35.40% 19.90% 15.60% 38

4 Pinhoe Sowton 2697 641 62.60% 47.20% 15.30% 36

5 Topsham Sowton 2458 370 67.80% 44.60% 23.30% 35

6 Redhills Marsh Barton 2446 463 62.30% 44.40% 18.00 34

7 Whipton Heavitree N 996 124 42.70% 22.70% 20.10 25

8 Wonford Marsh Barton 1901 251 53.80% 37.40% 16.40 22

9 Sowton Marsh Barton 3516 308 78.60% 54.30% 24.30 21

10 Marsh Barton Sowton 3516 490 68.00% 54.30% 13.60 19

11 Marsh Barton Wondford 1901 207 54.60% 37.40% 17.20 19

12 Beacon Heath Pinhoe 1618 115 56.50% 33.20% 23.30 17

13 St Thomas Marsh Barton 2061 474 46.60% 39.60% 7.00 16

14 St Leonards Sowton 2742 352 59.10% 47.70% 11.40 15

15 Heavitree N Sowton 2409 555 50.10% 44.00% 6.10 14

16 Sowton Pinhoe 2697 108 80.60% 47.20% 33.30% 13

17 Topsham Marsh Barton 3445 189 75.10% 53.80% 21.30% 12

18 Wonford St Leonards 1036 171 30.40% 23.40% 7.00% 12

19 Whipton Pinhoe 1600 122 46.70% 32.90% 13.80% 11

20 Marsh Barton St Leonards 1741 108 50.90% 35.10% 15.90% 10

Whipton

Experian Mosaic used under license to Devon County Council

Page 34



Page 25

More physically active  
residents in Exeter  

& Cranbrook 

Physically Active

+5,750 +10,000
Residents at highest risk of 

inactivity becoming  
active.

Physically Active Lives

+4,250
More residents choosing  

active travel within  
Exeter

Active Travel

We also want to focus on getting more people 
who live and work in the city to commute by 
cycling, walking and public transport. This will 
help us to reduce congestion and promote active 
environments across the city as well as overall 
improvements in individual and community 
health and wellbeing. 

According to the 2011 Census, 46% (17,380) 
Exeter residents drive to work within the city or 
are car passengers.  However local data shows 
that there is still more that could be achieved 
with lots of people making short distance trips  
to work. 

Sport England is investing around £100 million 
across 12 local pilots over 4 years to create 
innovation solutions making it easier for people 
to become physically active for life. Having been 
selected as one of the 12 pilots, along with 
our neighbour the NHS Healthy New Town of 
Cranbrook, our aim is to take the opportunity of 
the Sport England Pilot to deliver on our physical 
activity strategy.

Working with Sport England we want to 
understand how local identities and structures 
can be used to deliver sustainable increases 
in physical activity levels. As a Pilot we will test 
whether taking a whole system and behaviour 
change approach in a place could really unlock 
something ground breaking for the whole 
country. Over the 3 years of the Sport England 
Pilot we intend to achieve population level 
change by encouraging 10,000 of the least active 
residents to lead regular active lifestyles. We are 
aiming for around 5,750 people becoming active 

and around 4,250 more commuters choosing 
active travel for their daily commute. 

We will use investment and expertise from the 
Sport England Pilot to ensure that the “Liveable 
Exeter” Transformational Housing Delivery 
Programme for the city is underpinned by the 10 
Active Design Environmental Principles advocated 
by Sport England and Public Health England 
(Active Design Planning for health and wellbeing 
through sport and physical activity).

 These principles will also be used to influence 
a new project aimed at tackling our strategic 
infrastructure issues announced in December 
2018 by the National Infrastructure Commission. 
Exeter is one of the five cities selected to work 
with the Commission to help us to develop 
strategies to improve local transport connections, 
unlock job opportunities and deliver much 
needed new homes.   

The key delivery platforms the Council will use to 
deliver our contribution to this strategy are:   

• Sport England Local Delivery Pilot 

• Wellbeing Exeter 

• Active Exeter Network 

• Swimming Pools, Sports and Leisure Centres 

• Playing pitches, playgrounds, parks 
   and open spaces 

• Canal, quayside and waterways

• Walking and cycling through the Exeter       
   Transport Strategy

  
Page 35



Exeter Live Better and Move More: Physical Activity Strategy January 2019

Redcar, Cleveland  
& Middlesbrough 
Population: 274,800

Bradford 
Population: 132,800

Withernsea 
Population: 6,000

Doncaster 
Population: 304,800

Essexs 
Population: 1,443,200

Hackney 
Population: 269,000

Southhall 
Population: 71,200

Greater Exeter 
Population: 139,200

Birmingham & Solihull 
Population: 471,400

Greater Manchester 
Population: 2,756,200

Calderdale 
Population: 208,400

Pennine Lancashire 
Population: 532,500

New Approach to Delivering Physical Activity Locally

Locations  J Rural Places
 J Coastal Communities

 J Big Cities
 J Small Towns

of National Lottery money 
across 12 local pilots

113 Applications

19 Proposals Shortlisted

12 Places Selected

£100m
 


J

Reaching
People from some  
ethnic minorities
Women
Disabled People 

People on Lower  
incomes
Older People
Families








 

For healthier, happier communities and to discover a blueprint for tackling inactivity locally 
www.sportengland.org/localpilots

Source: Sport England

Page 36



 J Big Cities
 J Small Towns

Page 27Page 37



Exeter Live Better and Move More: Physical Activity Strategy July 2019

EXETER LIVE BET TER & MOVE MORE

exeter city council 
civic centre 
Paris street 
exeter 
eX1 1JN 
united Kingdom

www.exeter.gov.uk

Physical activity strategy
July 2019
Page 38



APPENDIX A

1

P
age 39



Exeter Live Better & Move More 

Physical Activity Strategy

Report on representative face to face survey of Exeter 

residents - including data from online survey

Chris Bowden - Marketing MeansChris Bowden - Marketing Means

Paul Samuels – Exeter City Council

April/May 2019

2

P
age 40



Context and Objectives

• Exeter City Council has the vision of Exeter becoming the most physically active city in England , 

encouraging those most at risk of inactivity to become active in everyday life.

• The Council’s 2018-21 Corporate Plan focuses on three key areas:

– Tackling congestion and accessibility

– Promoting active and healthy lifestyles

– Building great neighbourhoods

• The Council is working in partnership with Sport England to encourage active lifestyles through the Exeter & 

Cranbrook  Local Delivery Pilot, and with Devon County Council improve mobility across the city.Cranbrook  Local Delivery Pilot, and with Devon County Council improve mobility across the city.

• Exeter City Council’s Exeter Live Better and Move More Draft Physical Activity Strategy (PAS) describes 

current activity levels and proposes priorities and principles for encouraging active lifestyles.

• The Draft Report on Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play Areas, Parks and Open Spaces sets out in 

more detail how the Council intends to promote physical activity.

• Both documents are being consulted on.  In March 2019. the Council commissioned Marketing Means to 

undertake a face-to-face representative survey of Exeter residents regarding their reactions to key 

elements of both the PAS and the Draft Report.  When we refer to Exeter Residents we mean those that 

took part in the representative survey.

3

P
age 41



Survey Method

• Marketing Means interviewers conducted all interviews face-to-face and in-street in locations in central Exeter and in 

other parts of the city:

– Fore Street area 

– Guildhall area

– Sidwell Street area Exeter College/ Clock Tower area 

– Exeter University area 

– Heavitree - Fore Street

– St. Thomas (Exeter) - Cowick Street 

– Topsham - Fore Street– Topsham - Fore Street

• All interviews were conducted on tablets using a questionnaire designed with the Council’s project team.  Interviewers 

aimed to achieve a reasonably representative sample by age and gender.

• The average interview length was intended to be no longer than 10 minutes.  

• Interviewers showed respondents a series of three summary cards containing key information drawn from the Physical 

Activity Strategy, and on two topics from the report, namely Built Facilities and Community Play Areas.  Respondents 

gave their responses to a short series of questions having had time to read through each summary.  Other questions 

collected information on personal physical activity and demographics.

• The questionnaire was also made available online, attracting 218 responses from residents, while further consultation 

work was also conducted with stakeholders. Those results have been included for comparison purposes.

4

P
age 42



Key Point Summary 

• The draft Physical Activity Strategy received strong backing among Exeter residents with 94% 

stating they support it.  Nearly three-quarters of residents gave a ‘Top 2 Box’ score (9 or 10 

/10) which indicates the strength of positive feeling. Top or Bottom 2 Box scores are 

frequently used in commercial research to differentiate ‘advocates’ from those who are more 

passive.

– This support extends across age groups, family types and activity levels of residents.  The 

over 65s are the least positive but even this has to judged in context with nearly nine in 

ten in favour.ten in favour.

• Few improvements were suggested which in part reflects the level of support but also the 

limitations of such questions in surveys. Accessibility and active or sustainable travel related 

suggestions were the most frequent.  4% felt unable to comment without more specific 

detail.

• On the whole the Built Facilities Proposals were supported by residents – 85% in support 

(60% top 2 box).  However, some of the specific ideas divided residents.

5

P
age 43



Response to 

Draft Physical Activity Strategy (PAS)Draft Physical Activity Strategy (PAS)

6

P
age 44



Draft Physical Activity Strategy - Summary

7

P
age 45



How much would you agree or disagree with 

these statements about the draft PAS? - Summary

0%1%1%

3%

25% 70%
The aims and approach recommended are 

fair and reasonable 

8

1%

1%

1%

2%

1%

4%

6%

20%

26%

74%

65%

Overall, I support the draft Strategy  

These are the right priorities for Exeter

Don't know/ Refused Very low: 0 or 1 2 to 4 5 6 to 8 Very high: 9 or 10

Source: Marketing Means 2019                     Base: All  respondents (999)

P
age 46



How much would you agree or disagree with these statements 

about the draft PAS? – Summary:  In-street vs Online survey 

responses

1%

5%

0%

2%

4%

1%

1%

5%

6%

12%

3%

26%

45%

25%

65%

31%

70%

These are the right priorities for Exeter  -
IN_STREET

ONLINE

The aims and approach recommended are 
fair and reasonable  - IN_STREET 

9

5%

1%

6%

7%

1%

5%

9%

0%

10%

5%

4%

7%

39%

20%

42%

35%

74%

30%

ONLINE

Overall, I support the draft Strategy  -
IN_STREET

ONLINE

Don't know/ Refused Very low: 0 or 1 2 to 4 5 6 to 8 Very high: 9 or 10

Source: Marketing Means 2019                     Base: All  respondents (999 in-street, 218 online)

P
age 47



Variations by sub-group in agreement (score 6-10) 

with statements about the draft PAS? 

Aims and approach 

fair & reasonable

Right priorities for 

Exeter

Overall, I support the 

draft strategy

ALL Respondents 95% 90% 94%

Age:                                       16-34

35-54

97%↑

95%

95%↑ 97%↑

93%

• Listed below are the proportions of each sub-group giving a score of 6-10 for each statement.  Statistically 

significant differences are marked by a green arrow (↑ significantly higher) or red arrow (↓ significantly lower)

10

35-54

55-64

65+

95%

94%

91%↓

87%↓

91%

85%↓

93%

93%

89%↓

Activity Level:                     Active

Inactive

96%

94%

90%

91%

94%

93%

Family with children?             Yes

No

96%

94%

85%

92%

97%↑

93%↓

Use Built Facilities? Yes

No

96%

94%

91%

90%

95%

93%

P
age 48



Variations by sub-group in disagreement

(score 0-4) with statements about the draft PAS? 

Aims and approach 

fair & reasonable

Right priorities for 

Exeter

Overall, I support the 

draft strategy

ALL Respondents 1% 3% 2%

Age:                                       16-34

35-54

0.5%↓

1%

0.5%

4%↑

0.5%

2%

• Listed below are the proportions of each sub-group giving a score of 0-4 for each statement.  Statistically 

significant differences are marked by a green arrow (↑ significantly higher) or red arrow (↓ significantly lower)

11

35-54

55-64

65+

1%

2%

3%↑

4%↑

3%

8%↑

2%

2%

3%

Activity Level:                     Active

Inactive

1%

2%

3%

3%

2%

2%

Family with children?             Yes

No

0.4%

2%

2%

3%

1%

2%

Use Built Facilities? Yes

No

1%

2%

3%

3%

1%

2%

P
age 49



To what extent you agree or disagree that these 

are the right priorities for Exeter? - Summary

1%

1%

1%

1%

0%

0%

1%

1%

1%

4%

3%

4%

20%

20%

18%

74%

75%

75%

Promoting community resourcefulness 

Reducing health inequalities 

Improving the population’s health & well-
being

12

1%

1%

1%

1%

1%

1%

1%

2%

1%

3%

4%

4%

20%

24%

20%

74%

68%

74%

Adopting a “Whole System Approach"

Increasing active travel as a means of 
reducing congestion

Promoting community resourcefulness 

Don't know/ Refused Very low: 0 or 1 2 to 4 5 6 to 8 Very high: 9 or 10

Source: Marketing Means 2019                     Base: All  respondents  (999)

P
age 50



To what extent you agree or disagree that these are the right 

priorities for Exeter? - Summary :  In-street vs Online survey 

responses

1%

2%

1%

2%

1%

1%

1%

0%

1%

0%

4%

1%

1%

1%

4%

6%

3%

6%

4%

20%

25%

20%

27%

18%

74%

63%

75%

63%

75%

Promoting community resourcefulness  - IN-STREET

ONLINE

Reducing health inequalities  - IN-STREET

ONLINE

Improving the population’s health & well-being - IN-
STREET

13

3%

1%

2%

1%

2%

1%

4%

1%

4%

1%

4%

1%

5%

1%

6%

2%

6%

4%

3%

6%

4%

4%

4%

28%

20%

23%

24%

32%

56%

74%

59%

68%

53%

74%

ONLINE

Adopting a “Whole System Approach" - IN-STREET

ONLINE

Increasing active travel as a means of reducing 
congestion - IN-STREET

ONLINE

Promoting community resourcefulness  - IN-STREET

Don't know/ Refused Very low: 0 or 1 2 to 4 5 6 to 8 Very high: 9 or 10

Source: Marketing Means 2019                     Base: All  respondents  (999 in-street, 218 online)

P
age 51



Variations by sub-group in agreement (score 6-10) 

with statements about the draft PAS 

Improving 

pop’n health/

wellbeing

Reducing 

health 

inequalities 

Promoting 

community 

resourcefulness 

Increasing 

active travel

Adopting 

Whole System 

Approach

ALL Respondents 93% 94% 94% 92% 94%

Age:                               16-34 97%↑ 97%↑ 96%↑ 96%↑ 97%↑

• Listed below are the proportions of each sub-group giving a score of 6-10 for each statement.  Statistically 

significant differences are marked by a green arrow (↑ significantly higher) or red arrow (↓ significantly lower)

14

Age:                               16-34

35-54

55-64

65+

97%↑

92%↓

92%

90%↓

97%↑

95%

94%

89%↓

96%↑

93%

91%

89%↓

96%↑

91%

90%

88%↓

97%↑

92%

91%↓

92%

Activity Level:              Active

Inactive

94%

93%

95%

93%

93%

94%

93%

92%

94%

94%

Family with children?      Yes

No

96%

93%

97%↑

93%↓

95%

93%

93%

92%

96%

93%

Use Built Facilities? Yes

No

95%

92%

97%↑

93%↓

94%

93%

93%

92%

96%↑

93%↓

P
age 52



Variations by sub-group in disagreement (score 0-

4) with statements about the draft PAS 

Improving 

pop’n health/

wellbeing

Reducing 

health 

inequalities 

Promoting 

community 

resourcefulness 

Increasing 

active travel

Adopting 

Whole System 

Approach

ALL Respondents 2% 1% 2% 3% 2%

Age:                               16-34 0.5% 1% 0.5% 1%↓ 0.5%↓

• Listed below are the proportions of each sub-group giving a score of 0-4 for each statement.  Statistically 

significant differences are marked by a green arrow (↑ significantly higher) or red arrow (↓ significantly lower)

15

Age:                               16-34

35-54

55-64

65+

0.5%

2%

2%

3%

1%

1%

1%

3%

0.5%

3%

3%

3%

1%↓

5%↑

4%↑

7%↑

0.5%↓

3%↑

4%↑

2%

Activity Level:              Active

Inactive

1%

2%

1%

1%

2%

1%

3%

4%

2%

2%

Family with children?      Yes

No

1%

2%

1%

1%

2%

2%

3%

4%

1%

2%

Use Built Facilities? Yes

No

1%

2%

1%

2%

2%

2%

3%

4%

1%

2%

P
age 53



How could the draft strategy be improved?  What 

else would you like it to cover?

2%

2%

3%

4%

4%

5%

7%

9%

Improve pedestrian walk ways / places to walk

Improve public transport / make public transport cheaper

Greater awareness / more publicity

Reducing / restricting cars and traffic

Need more information / detail or see it in practice

Improve / better or more cycle lanes

Needs to be accessible / have facilities for all

Nothing / Fine as it is

16

12%

37%

14%

1%

1%

1%

1%

2%

2%

2%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Don't know / No idea

No / No comment

Other

More / improve swimming pools

Better sport / leisure facilities (general)

Get more people moving / walking / exercise (motivation)

Stop closing facilities / reopen

Improve school facilities / more active education in schools

More bike facilities / infrastructure e.g. storage on buses

It's a good idea

Improve pedestrian walk ways / places to walk

Source: Marketing Means 2019              Base: All  respondents (999)

P
age 54



Demographics

17

P
age 55



Response and Weighting

• The interviewing team achieved 999 interviews with Exeter residents between 3rd April and 5th May 2019.

• The full set of data captured was checked and edited after uploading to Marketing Means

• To allow for any biases in the profile of the sample of residents interviewed, the demographic profile of the 

data were weighted to National Statistics 2017 mid-year population estimates for Exeter, by gender and by 

age group (16-24, 25-34, 35-44, 45-54, 55-64 and 65+).  

• Rounding - The percentage figures quoted in the charts and tables in this report have been rounded to the • Rounding - The percentage figures quoted in the charts and tables in this report have been rounded to the 

nearest whole number value.  In some cases, adding these rounded values will not total exactly 100%.

• Online survey results:  At some points in this report, we include a comparison of the in-street survey results 

with those from the online survey of Exeter residents.  As the online survey was open for anyone to complete 

it was also therefore self-selecting and open to a disproportionate level of response from groups with a 

particular interest in some aspect of the PAS and related topics.  We have not therefore merged this with our 

‘main’ in-street survey dataset.  We also provide a comparison of the unweighted profiles of the in-street and 

online survey datasets vs National Statistics’ population profiles for Exeter at the end of the report.

18

P
age 56



Home postcode

27%

21%

EX2 (southern)

EX1 (central & eastern)

19

10%

37%

5%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

Refused/ Not stated

EX4 (northern)

EX3 (Topsham)

Source: Marketing Means 2019                 Base: All respondents (999)

P
age 57



Home postcode (comparison of Exeter Representative 

Survey  & Online Survey with Royal Mail residential 

address file)

6%

47%

19%

5%

27%

21%

3%

33%

19%

EX3 (Topsham)

EX2 (southern)

EX1 (central & eastern)

20

0%

0%

2%

26%

6%

10%

0%

0%

37%

0%

0%

0%

45%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

Refused/ Not stated

Other

EX6

EX4 (northern)

Royal Mail residential postcodes (60,634 h'holds)

In-street (999)

Online (218)

Source: Marketing Means 2019                 Base: All respondents

P
age 58



Employment Status

1%

5%

6%

46%

On a government scheme for 
employment training    

Unemployed   

Self-employed   

Employed / working full or part time    

21

0%

15%

20%

4%

3%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Not stated

Student  

Retired    

Unable to work    

Caring for family members / home   

employment training    

Source: Marketing Means 2019                 Base: All respondents (999)

P
age 59



Current occupation, or job when last employed

14%

27%

16%

7%

Skilled manual worker

Supervisory or clerical /junior managerial / 
professional / administrative

Intermediate managerial / professional / 
administrative

Higher managerial / professional / administrative

22

3%

14%

4%

16%

14%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Unable to classify

Student/ In full-time education      

Never worked / Long-term sick      

Semi-skilled or unskilled manual work

Skilled manual worker

Source: Marketing Means 2019                 Base: All respondents (999)

P
age 60



Gender

51%

49%

Female

Male

23

0%

0%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

Not stated

Other

Source: Marketing Means 2019                 Base: All respondents (999)

P
age 61



Age

14%

20%

23%

45-44

25-34

16-24

24

0%

19%

11%

14%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Not stated

65-74

55-64

45-54

Source: Marketing Means 2019                 Base: All respondents (999)

P
age 62



Comparison of In-street sample and Online 

sample with National Statistics Exeter profile

58%

40%

23%

57%

43%

23%

51%

49%

16-24

Female

Male

• The chart below compares the age/gender profile of the in-street and online survey samples with the National 

Statistics profile for Exeter (2017 mid-year population estimates)

25

21%

20%

17%

28%

11%

3%

19%

14%

12%

15%

17%

23%

19%

11%

14%

14%

19%

23%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70%

65+

55-64

45-54

35-44

25-34

16-24

National Statistics -
Exeter

In-street survey 
(unweighted - 999)

Online survey 
(unweighted - 218)

Source: Marketing Means 2019                 Base: All respondents

P
age 63



Any children aged 0 to 18 living in household?

10%

73%

Yes – aged 0 to 4

No children in household

26

1%

12%

11%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80%

Prefer not to say/ Refused

Yes – aged 11 to 18

Yes- aged 5 to 10

Source: Marketing Means 2019                 Base: All respondents (999)

P
age 64



Ethnic background

1%

3%

92%

Black or Black British   

Asian or Asian British   

White   

27

2%

1%

2%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Prefer not to say  

Other ethnic background   

Mixed ethnic background   

Source: Marketing Means 2019                 Base: All respondents (999)

P
age 65



Disability

1%

8%

86%

Sensory impairment

Physical impairment

No disability

28

0%

3%

1%

3%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Not stated

Long standing illness or condition

Learning disability

Mental health condition

Source: Marketing Means 2019                 Base: All respondents (999)

P
age 66



Does disability/condition have substantial effect 

on ability to do normal daily activities?

19%

79%

No

Yes

29

3%

19%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80%

Prefer not to say

No

Source: Marketing Means 2019                 Base: All respondents with a  long-term disability or health condition (134)

P
age 67



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

1

P
age 69



Exeter Live Better & Move More 

Physical Activity Strategy

Online Consultation with Stakeholders

Hosted and reported by Marketing Means Hosted and reported by Marketing Means 

April/May 2019

2

P
age 70



Context and Objectives

• Exeter City Council has the vision of Exeter becoming the most physically active city in England , 

encouraging those most at risk of inactivity to become active in everyday life.

• The Council’s 2018-21 Corporate Plan focuses on three key areas:

– Tackling congestion and accessibility

– Promoting active and healthy lifestyles

– Building great neighbourhoods

• The Council is working in partnership with Sport England to encourage active lifestyles through the Exeter & 

3

• The Council is working in partnership with Sport England to encourage active lifestyles through the Exeter & 

Cranbrook  Local Delivery Pilot, and with Devon County Council improve mobility across the city.

• Exeter City Council’s Exeter Live Better and Move More Draft Physical Activity Strategy (PAS) describes 

current activity levels and proposes priorities and principles for encouraging active lifestyles.

• The Draft Report on Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play Areas, Parks and Open Spaces sets out in 

more detail how the Council intends to promote physical activity.

• Both documents are being consulted on.  In March 2019, the Council commissioned Marketing Means to 

collect responses to key elements of both the PAS and the Draft Report from two key groups:

a) Exeter residents, via a face-to-face survey conducted in-street;

b) Stakeholders via an online survey

P
age 71



Survey Method

• The survey was run as an online consultation, open to any stakeholder to participate by accessing an open 

web-link prepared by Marketing Means and hosted in Snap Surveys software.

• The questionnaire was designed by Exeter City Council and Marketing Means.  Included at key points of the 

questionnaire were verbal and graphic summaries containing key information drawn firstly from the 

Physical Activity Strategy (PAS) and then on four topics from the Report, namely Built Facilities, Community 

Play Areas, Playing Fields & Pitches, and Parks & Open Spaces.  Respondents gave their responses to several 

questions, mainly open-ended in nature, after reading each summary (and potentially having followed a link 

to read the full PAS and/or Report documents).  

• Exeter City Council promoted the web-link to stakeholders, and the link was open from 26th March 2019.

• The average interview length was intended to be no longer than about 15 minutes, but given its online 

nature the stakeholder respondents were able to save their progress and return to the link later.  They 

could then provide further thoughts having had more time to consider the topics in question.  

• Marketing Means received 50 responses from stakeholders by the final deadline of 7th May 2019.  A further 

52 stakeholders opened the questionnaire but provided no responses beyond the first few questions.

• Not all provided their views on each section, so base sizes for the charts and tables included in this report 

vary across the different topic areas covered within the consultation.

4

P
age 72



Stakeholder characteristics

5

P
age 73



Type of organisation

6%

10%

14%

16%

64%

Focus on older people

Promote physical activity other than 
recognised sports

Within wider aim of health improvement/ 
advocating a healthy lifestyle

Watersports 

Sports Club

6

2%

2%

2%

4%

6%

6%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70%

Not stated

Focus on vulnerable groups/ deprived areas

Focus on children/ families

Focus on supporting activity for disabled 
people

Promoting protecting parks/ green spaces

Focus on older people

Source: Marketing Means 2019                        Base: All  respondents  (50)

P
age 74



Role of respondent

8%

12%

28%

38%

Coach

Member

Chair

Committee member/ Director/ 
Organiser

7

2%

4%

8%

8%

8%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Regional rep/co-ordinator

Founder

Secretary

Specialist/ Service lead

Coach

Source: Marketing Means 2019                        Base: All  respondents (50)

P
age 75



Response to statements about the 

Draft Physical Activity Strategy (PAS)Draft Physical Activity Strategy (PAS)

8

P
age 76



Draft Physical Activity Strategy - Summary

9

P
age 77



How likely would you and your organisation be to 

commit to the Draft Physical Activity Strategy?

6% 2%2% 14% 10% 65%

10

Don't know/ Refused Very low: 0 or 1 2 to 4 5 6 to 8 Very high: 9 or 10

Source: Marketing Means 2019                     Base: All  respondents  (49)

P
age 78



Reasons for views on committing to PAS

Comment # of mentions

To increase sports participation/ physical activity 20

As part of a whole system approach/ Will improve health & wellbeing of 

community
15

We are committed/ Share aims of the PAS 11

To make sports/physical activity accessible to all/ Reduce barriers to 

participation
10

11

participation

Facilities for sport/leisure need improvement/ Support improved built facilities 7

Focus too narrow/ Doesn't relate to our activity 6

Not my decision/ Not involved in decisions about that 4

To support families/children become more active 3

To maintain/increase our membership 3

Needs to include watersports 2

P
age 79



Reasons for views on committing to PAS: 

Examples of comments frequently made

Comment # of mentions

To increase sports participation/ physical activity

“One of our aims is to get more people active and physically and mentally 'well‘.”

“We would love to see more people get back into/start the sport new.”

“Shared commitment to promote physical activity & recreation.”

20

As part of a whole system approach/ Will improve health & wellbeing of community

“Any sort of initiative which improves the general health of Exeters population is bound to have a positive 

effect on our take-up of players.”

“(Our group) appreciate the importance of physical activity and its attendant benefits of friendship and 

15

12

“(Our group) appreciate the importance of physical activity and its attendant benefits of friendship and 

wellbeing.”

We are committed/ Share aims of the PAS

“We are already promoting an active life style.”

“We are aware of the positive impact that increased physical activity can have on individual health and 

wellbeing outcomes, particularly for those people who are the most inactive.”

11

To make sports/physical activity accessible to all/ Reduce barriers to participation

“The community club would also develop other diversities e.g. womens football, veterans football and 

walking football etc.”

“We know the value of participation in these activities which for those on a low income are low cost.”

10

P
age 80



What role would you/your organisation like to play in 

developing the Live Better Move More Draft Physical 

Activity Strategy?

Comment # of mentions

Can offer activities to those looking to become active 26

To help communicate the strategy to members/partner organisations 12

Help improve pitches/playing fields/parks/  built facilities (or advise on what 

needs improving) 8

Any role/ Not specific 4

13

Any role/ Not specific 4

Would like our views/ experiences to be heard in consultation process 4

Can offer venues/ facilities 2

Training provider for volunteers/ coaches 2

Promote via social media 1

OTHER 8

Needs to include watersports 2

P
age 81



What role would you/your organisation like to play in developing 

the Live Better Move More Draft Physical Activity Strategy?: 

Examples of comments frequently made

Comment # of mentions

Can offer activities to those looking to become active

“There are initiatives such as walking hockey that would encourage inactive adults to take up hockey.”

“We would like to grow our clubs to encourage more residents of Exeter to partake in our sports in and 

around the City of Exeter.”

“We would simply like to be able to continue to do what we have done for the last 50 years  at no cost to 

the Council - provide a valued facility and service to all members of the Exeter community, including 

disadvantaged groups, in order for them to be able to live better and move more.”

“We could potentially organise, or help with games or activities related to it, and we have spaces in our 

14

“We could potentially organise, or help with games or activities related to it, and we have spaces in our 

group that children could be encouraged to take up.” 26

To help communicate the strategy to members/partner organisations

“We would be very happy to encourage all our members to take part in other sporting activities that 

become available on the arena site.”

“To communicate your work to our clubs, contacts, workforce, schools and other partners we work with.” 12

Help improve pitches/playing fields/parks/  built facilities (or advise on what needs improving)

“We'd like to be consulted about the strategy and the success we've had with community led, free activity 

in an amazing green space”

“The club currently feels let down by the available facilities in and around Exeter. All Exeter based pitches 

are in dire need of repair / upgrade.” 8

P
age 82



What support would you/your organisation need 

from Exeter City Council in order to do so?

Comment # of mentions

Improvement of facilities in Exeter/ Additional facilities to boost capacity/ Expand 

capacity of pitches 28

Find ways to secure additional funding/ Offer grants or subsidies to support physical 

activity opportunities 12

Include our sport/activity in the PAS 8

Communication/ Keep us informed 5

15

Communication/ Keep us informed 5

Council support/co-ordinate promotion of our sport/physical activity 5

Support what we already do 4

Supported already 2

Training of staff 2

Maintain current green spaces 1

OTHER 6

P
age 83



What support would you/your organisation need from 

Exeter City Council in order to do so?: Examples of 

comments frequently made

Comment # of mentions

Improvement of facilities in Exeter/ Additional facilities to boost capacity/ Expand capacity of pitches

“Eventually, we would like to be able to have a home on one of the sports pitches in Exeter.”

“A better understanding of the facilities Exeter needs to advance a healthy attitude.”

“To deliver our development plan and get more local children active, we need access to better facilities, football 

pitches and training pitches. ” 28

Find ways to secure additional funding/ Offer grants or subsidies to support physical activity opportunities

“To unlock funding from Sport England the sports of canoeing; rowing; dragon boat racing; and SCUBA diving 

need to be mentioned in the City of Exeter Physical Activity Strategy”

“Funding or ways to find funding for a parks sport and activity coordinator 

16

“Funding or ways to find funding for a parks sport and activity coordinator 

“We would appreciate it if the council would work with our club so that we can find the best way to raise funds 

to install a top hockey surface.” 12

Include our sport/activity in the PAS

“To be included in information put out by ECC, so that the profile of our club and the sport is raised within the 

Greater Exeter Area.”

“Inclusion of watersports facilities currently and potentially available in Exeter to be included in the Strategy.”

8

P
age 84



Views on Whole System Approach both as an idea and 

what would need to be done to make it a success

Comment # of mentions

Good idea 15

Active travel needs to be promoted/supported 15

Coordinate different organisations efficiently/ Ensure stakeholders are fully involved 8

Need to support community-led activities/initiatives 5

Improve built facilities/ playing pitches 5

Broad communication/ accessibility is good 4

17

Broad communication/ accessibility is good 4

Provide facilities locally to reduce travel 4

Get the public onside/ Communicate well to public/ Convey how to become more 

active/ Listen to the public
3

Encourage/Develop/Protect use of parks/green spaces 3

Make best use of the water activity opportunities 2

Make good use of volunteers 2

OTHER 17

P
age 85



Views on Whole System Approach both as an idea and 

what would need to be done to make it a success:

Examples of comments frequently made

Comment # of mentions

Good idea

“This is a good idea. Success depends of effective coordination and adequate resource.”

“Happy to support the ideas/vision already created by ECC.”

“A good start- and good for our sport.”

“Providing enjoyable and health benefitting activities would only enhance the enjoyment we get from our City.”

15

Active travel needs to be promoted/supported

“It has to be better than it is now, the commute through Exeter is terrible at both ends of the day. To alter this 

through the idea of healthy lifestyles would be great.”

“In summer it's nice to drive as far as Cranbrook, park my van and cycle the rest of the way to work at Sowton. I look 15

18

“In summer it's nice to drive as far as Cranbrook, park my van and cycle the rest of the way to work at Sowton. I look 

forward to the Park & Change hub that I believe you're building. I think the cycle tracks around Exeter are nice to 

have.”

“Until we treat the cause of the traffic problems in Exeter you cannot improve people’s lives.”

15

Coordinate different organisations efficiently/ Ensure stakeholders are fully involved

“Would be good to see the council having meetings with organisations like ourselves being smaller than the main 

ones such as football and rugby and also linking to some of the work for example other partners are doing such as 

the work I do with the University and other groups such as disability groups so improve partnership work for a range 

of partners rather than the select few”

“You desperately need to get some delivery partners on board that have a proven track record of success, are 

innovative and encouraging and have the support of their local community.”

8

P
age 86



.

www.marketingmeans.co.uk

Telephone: 01364 654485 

E-mail: chris@marketingmeans.co.uk

19

P
age 87



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C – ACTIVE INBOX EMAIL RESPONSES
Consultee Category Strand You said Key Points & Themes Our Response

Retain and enhance existing green 
spaces

Provide more land for green 
spaces & parksExeter 

Trees UK
Community 
Group

Parks & 
Open 
Spaces

I am interested to learn more of the future plans for our parks and green spaces. I already have several 
concerns around the future of our existing green spaces such as Bull Meadow park. If you are aware 
about this park - part of it will be sold to accommodate a new development (more flats) and 5 trees and 
many shrubs will go along with it.

We should be looking at buying more land for green spaces and parks and not selling it for profit at the 
loss of public benefit.

Trees play a vital role - anywhere - but we certainly need to ensure we are looking after our trees and 
planting new ones when mature ones are felled.

Please keep me posted about the live consultation.

Preserve, maintain and plant new 
trees

New Health & Wellbeing Hub 
(Wonford) 
Replacement for lost community 
centre facilities

New Health & Wellbeing Hub 
(Wonford) 
Community Asset Transfer to local 
communities to develop own 
facilities

Exeter 
Green 
Party (1)

Political 
Party

Built 
Leisure

As the prospective Green Party candidates for Wonford, we are naturally interested in the proposals for 
the Wonford area, set out in the Council’s draft Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, play areas parks 
and open spaces report.

The detail of what is being proposed is perhaps inevitably rather sketchy and there are some things 
missing and /or unclear which hinder understanding the reality of what is being proposed.
We therefore have a number of questions regarding what is being proposed which we hope you can 
answer in a timely way, ie to allow us to make our responses within the consultation period deadline.

1. The proposal for a new Wonford centre means removing the existing Community Centre/Phoenix. 
This is naturally of concern, given the real shortage of meeting spaces for local people in the Wonford 
area. This leads us to ask:
a. Can you explain what, if anything, will be offered to Wonford residents, to make up for this loss?
b. Can you confirm whether Exeter City Council will be prepared to offer a Community Asset Transfer 
of some land, to enable the community to build a new community centre or similar building?
c. The Report states (p13) that the new centre ‘could’ include : “Flexible community spaces linking 
indoor and outdoor spaces to promote healthy active lifestyles such as community kitchen, gardens 
and allotments. “. Could you clarify what this means please ie what a „community space‟ means, what 
a ‘community kitchen’ means, and who you envisage would have ownership /management rights over 
these ‘community’ elements of the building?
d. Do you mean that ‘allottments and gardens’ would be provided as part of the new Centre?

2. Traffic and car parking. At the meeting of Wonford COGS, James Bogue mentioned that the working 
assumption at present was that the new centre would have car parking as part of it, as this linked to 
Sport England’s criteria for allocating funding. People at the meeting were very clear that a large 
increase in people driving through Wonford’s residential streets to reach a new „super centre‟ was not 
an attractive option, particularly as there is no access road that is not a basic, residential road, heavily 
used by pedestrians and cyclists moving around their locality, as well as being on a well used bus, 
walking and cycling commuter through route, particularly for hospital and County Hall staff.
Any such increase in traffic would work directly against not only quality of life ie having pleasant „living 
streets‟, but would increase air pollution and road safety risks for local people. Those driving in would 
be almost entirely people from outside the area.
a. Can you therefore please confirm whether or not a generous sized car park is part of the City 

Council’s plan for this new Centre?

New Health & Wellbeing Hub 
(Wonford) 
Increased congestion, parking 
issues and impact on air quality

P
age 89



APPENDIX C – ACTIVE INBOX EMAIL RESPONSES
Consultee Category Strand You said Key Points & Themes Our Response

New Health & Wellbeing Hub 
(Wonford)
Ownership & management

Consultation process and Council’s 
decision making policy

Sport England Funding Timetable

Alternatives to proposals in the 
draft Report.

3. At the COGS meeting held to discuss the new centre, Dawn Rivers and James Bogue were keen to 
talk about the „wellness centre‟ aspects, citing places like the Bromley by Bow centre. When asked, 
they confirmed that centres such as Bromley by Bow are run by charities or other not for profits with 
well established track records regarding their community, values driven stance. James Bogue further 
commented on the potential conflict between a traditional profit-driven company running such a 
centre, and the community, wellbeing aspects that people in the room were interested in. It is certainly 
hard to imagine a straight „down the line‟ profit driven organisation having much truck with activities 
that don’t generate income.

Can you clarify what the City Council is planning to do regarding the ownership and management of 
any new centre at Wonford? Who will it belong to, what kind of organisation will be considered to run 
it, (assuming that the council won’t be running it), and will the same company be chosen to run as will 
run the other two new centres?

4. The Council’s decision making process on this Strategy. The council’s „consultation calendar‟ says 
that the public will see “findings” in July 2019, but there is no further information about the decision-
making timescale for the council, nor what these „findings‟ refer to. Please can you clarify the Council’s 
decision-making timetable for this draft Report ie which committee(s )the final report will go, and what 
will be shared with the public in July?

5. The report implies that the ambition for the new centres depends on receiving external funding from 
Sport England and other sources. We understand from meetings you held with some Wonford 
residents in recent months, that the City Council is proposing to put in a bid for these new facilities to 
Sport England in June or July 2019. Could please clarify/confirm the timetable for Exeter City Council’s 
submission of a funding bid to Sport England, towards the new proposed centres

6. Alternatives to proposals in the draft Report. The draft Report, and Sport England’s prospectus for 
councils seeking funding for new built facilities, make much of the need to secure local buy in. Can you 
please clarify:
a. Any plans to understand what people in Wonford think of the proposal to build a new Centre? (One 
consultation meeting was held at a Wonford COGS meeting, but we are assuming that this cannot 
represent the whole local consultation process)
b. What alternative vision for sports facilities are being considered if Sport England funding is not 
forthcoming?
c. If local people show that they do not want the new Centre, (for example, because of the implications 
of loss of community space and increased traffic in the area), will the City Council amend the proposed 
approach for Wonford?

Future community consultation

Exeter 
Green 
Party (2)

Political 
Party

Built 
Facilities

Dear Ms Yelland, We sent you a letter (8th April) asking for answers to some clarification questions 
arising from the draft Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Parks and Open Spaces draft Strategy.
You replied, (April 10th): “Our policy is not to respond to further questions and requests for detail at 
this early stage of the consultation process but to gather all the feedback received and respond to 
common themes and issues in a final report back at the end of the process which will be placed on the 
Council website” 

Following a further request for a response to his own clarification questions, you replied by email to Cllr 
Musgrave, (April 10th) with answers to the questions in our letter, (we were not copied in) who 
forwarded them on to us. Thank you for replying, albeit not to us.

We have three further questions arising from your email to us and the one sent to Cllr Musgrave.

P
age 90



APPENDIX C – ACTIVE INBOX EMAIL RESPONSES
Consultee Category Strand You said Key Points & Themes Our Response

Question 1
With regard to your reply about having a policy to not respond to questions about detail (and by 
assumption, clarification of anything), please can you explain:
• When and how that policy was agreed?
• Where it is set out in writing?

Question 2 
In our letter of 8th April, we asked you : “The proposal for a new Wonford centre means removing the 
existing Community Centre/Phoenix. This is naturally of concern, given the real shortage of meeting 
spaces for local people in the Wonford area. This leads us to ask:
a. Can you explain what, if anything, will be offered to Wonford residents, to make up for this 
loss? 

In your reply to this question (in email to Cllr Musgrave), you say : “1a. The stated intention is for 
flexible community spaces so there would not be a deficit”
Your reply is hard to understand because in your reply to Cllr Musgrave, with regard to our querying 
what the phrases “‘flexible community space, community kitchen’” actually meant, you were not able 
to explain, saying “1 c No discussion have taken place on this issue as yet as it is too soon in the 
process.”
So it seems you are saying that:
a) A flourishing and growing independently run community centre, run on a not for profit for 
basis, will be removed
b) The Council does not yet know who will be running the new leisure centre ie on what basis –for 
profit, not for profit – and your own staff told a meeting of Wonford residents that this would be a 
significant factor in the nature of the facility and how far community-led activities would take place in 
it.
c) The Council say that there will be “flexible community spaces” and “community kitchen” 
provided in the new leisure centre, but cannot provide any explanation at all as to what this really 
means – neither the extent or nature of the provision, or the terms on which it or they will be provided
d) Despite these huge uncertainties, the Council states that there will be ‘no deficit’ to the 
community.

We believe that this is a very worrying position for the Council to take as it is patently not the case that 
you are able to guarantee ‘no deficit’ to the community at this time. Closing down Wonford Community 
and Learning Centre represents the major loss of a community asset and this is particularly ironic given 
your numerous statements about being committed to the Asset Based Community Development 
approach. We therefore believe that the idea of going ahead with closing the Centre, without any 
concomitant offer to replace this asset amounts to the Council entirely failing to comply with either the 
Sport England pilot approach of being community-led, or the Council’s own official Asset Based 
Community Development approach.

We therefore put this further question (question 2) to you:
Can you provide any rationale or evidence supporting your statement that there will be no ‘deficit’ in 
terms of community asset /community-run space and facilities, if a new Leisure Centre is built on the 
site of the current buildings?

Question 3
We asked you what the City Council is planning to do regarding the future management of the new 
Centres, and you have replied “No discussions about this have taken place as it is too soon in the 
process”. However, it has now been brought to our attention that the minutes of Leisure Centre and 
Bus Station programme board meeting, October 30th 2018 state: 

P
age 91



APPENDIX C – ACTIVE INBOX EMAIL RESPONSES
Consultee Category Strand You said Key Points & Themes Our Response

"The Director responded to Councillor Mrs Thompson’s question in relation to the timeline and OJEU 
process, and confirmed that the leisure operator would operate the multi sites for a period of 15 
years."
The minutes set out clearly that the Council’s policy is that one private leisure company will operate all 
of the new sites for a 15 year period and that, by implication, the council have ruled out running the 
leisure centres in-house. There is no reference in the minutes to any consideration of favouring a not-
for-profit operator. This level of minuted agreements rather contradicts your reply to our question ie 
that ‘no discussions have taken place”. On the contrary, it seems that the Council has already taken a 
clear position. 
Please can you explain what the current situation is regarding council policy on who will manage and 
own the proposed three new leisure facilities ie do the minutes of October 2018 still represent the 
Council’s official policy on who will manage the new leisure centres, or has something changed since 
then?

More local facilities as opposed to 
3 super centres

Community Asset Transfer to local 
communities to develop own 
facilities

Asset Based Community 
Development Approach 

Exeter 
Green 
Party (3)
 

Political 
Party

Physical 
Activity

Exeter Green Party welcomes the high level goals of both draft strategies, but believes that the 
proposed delivery mechanisms are inconsistent with and sometimes actively opposing the stated 
strategic aims. 

1. Three new ‘super centres’ versus wider spread of neighbourhood facilities. 

The strategy proposes three new ‘super centres’, with the concomitant assumption that people will be 
travelling miles across the city to access them. But the City Council’s own Corporate Strategy theme of 
‘great neighbourhoods’ 1 highlights the need for local facilities that people can access easily on foot, by 
bike and public transport. We believe that this Strategy should be revised to cover smaller scale 
localised provision of less expensive sports facilities, particularly modest sports halls. Obviously, 
expensive and specialised facilities can’t be provided across the city, but with imagination and working 
with communities and existing assets -based on the ABCD approach, much could be done with existing 
and modest new provision. A Community Asset Transfer Policy in place would also help to facilitate and 
secure opportunities for local provision of lower level leisure and movement activities such as exercise 
and dance classes, increased community input to the management and running of facilities and 
opportunities to access third party investment not open to Councils. The potential to provide space for 
a fully independent community centre in Wonford, or to hand the existing building over for asset 
transfer, is just one example of such potential. The Council should grant realistic long term leases to 
community owned not for private profit enterprises within green spaces, notably community cafes, 
where local users agree that this would be a good addition to their park. The Strategy also fails to deal 
with the needs of future residents - people who will be living in the very large new developments on 
the eastern and western sides of the city, where there are no community facilities at all. The Strategy 
has to consider providing more localised, smaller facilities for these new communities. 
1 “balanced and connected neighbourhood that supports wellbeing and reduces social isolation with new communities built around hubs of 
activity, workspaces, schools, community spaces and local shops”. Exeter Corporate Strategy, 2018 - 21 

2. Base provision on need and consulting the public 

The Strategy appears to be overly driven by a wish to secure funding for new ‘mega-centres’. This 
approach of investing in three large new centres is not based on any public consultation, but on a 
report from consultants. Where is the evidence that this is what people want? Page 2 

Base provision on need and 
consulting the public

 

P
age 92



APPENDIX C – ACTIVE INBOX EMAIL RESPONSES
Consultee Category Strand You said Key Points & Themes Our Response

Failure to link to other key 
strategies and Corporate Plan 
goals

Ownership & Management of new 
centres

Oppose closure and sale of 
Northbrook Golf Course

No mention of River Exe and the 
Canal

3. Failure to link to other key strategies and Corporate Plan goals 

The timescale, level of change and scale of financial investment implied by both documents make them 
highly significant to Exeter’s people, spaces and environment, in both the medium and long term. As 
such, it is essential to future proof both of these strategies – and that means they must mesh fully with 
current and soon to be agreed strategies. In particular, future land use planning policies, (the emergent 
Greater Exeter Strategic Plan process), future housing and other development, the soon to be finalised 
Exeter Transport Strategy, the Council’s Climate Change statements, and the City Council’s Air Quality 
Action Plan are all highly relevant to the proposals in these two draft documents. 
None of these documents are referenced though. This omission masks serious clashes of corporate 
goals. For example, if the three proposed new leisure facilities are built with large car parks ie based on 
the assumption that significant numbers of users will arrive by car, this puts the strategy in direct 
conflict with the stated goals of both the draft Exeter Transport Strategy (which Exeter City Council has 
said has its “wholehearted support”2 -) ) the City Council’s Corporate Strategy goal of ‘tackling 
congestion and accessibility” and the City’s Air Quality Action Plan goals to reduce air pollution from 
traffic. If the city is serious about moving to a near future where cars are used less in favour of public 
transport, walking and cycling, a future with cleaner air and reduced greenhouse gas emissions, then 
building 3 flagship centres based on people arriving by car is clearly not a viable policy. 

2 https://www.devonnewscentre.info/have-your-say-on-future-transport-plans-for-exeter/ 3 Master Plan for Ludwell and River Valley Parks, 
2016. Page 69 

4. Ownership and management of the new Centres 

We believe that any new Centres should be owned and run by either the council or a community 
owned and led organisation with a track record in supporting genuine community-based and 
community -led activities. This commitment should be part of the revised Strategy as it is fundamental 
to securing long term management styles and values that will deliver on the ambitious strategy goals. 
The past decade has shown the serious risks and limitations of handing over management of valuable 
public assets to companies that only care about their bottom line. 

5. Selling off of Northbrook pitch and putt 

We oppose the idea of selling off the Northbrook pitch and putt. The Riverside and Ludwell Valley 
Masterplan, commissioned and signed off by the City Council in 2016, highlighted the potential of this 
space for improved walking and cycling links, better use of the space for leisure, in short “a key landing 
pad for the both the Riverside Park and Ludwell”3. The Council should set a goal of increasing green 
space available and enhancing existing green space, not selling off irreplaceable sites like this. We note 
that the impact on the loss of biodiversity has not been stated. Finally, the air pollution on Topsham 
Road is already at close to illegal levels from Acorn Junction to the Countess Wear roundabout – and 
that is without the large new development on the Deaf School site, and the proposed development of 
further housing on behind St Leonard’s school on the Deaf School field. Further housing on this already 
polluted and congested road, that is difficult for cyclists and pedestrians, flies in the face of the 
corporate goals of reducing congestion and enabling more active travel. 

6. River Exe and Canal as leisure and active travel spaces 

Evaluate usage of play areas and 
consult with local communities

P
age 93



APPENDIX C – ACTIVE INBOX EMAIL RESPONSES
Consultee Category Strand You said Key Points & Themes Our Response

Destination parks will increase 
driving and reduce physical 
activity

Provide more pocket parks or local 
mini green space

Strong biodiversity policy and 
clear link to new Tree Strategy

Reduce use of pesticides & 
herbicides in parks & open spaces

None of the draft documents even reference the River Exe / Canal, yet both are important for both 
leisure activities (water-based and walking and cycling in the River Valley Park) and active travel – the 
River Valley Park is a key commuter routes for cyclists. Page 3 
It would be helpful if the strategy were to show how the canal and river contribute to the active goals. 

7. Play areas 

We accept that the current provision of parks has developed in too random a way, driven by what is 
easy for developers to offer under Section 106 money. However, before any play areas are shut down 
there should be a study of the level of usage and proper consultation of the community. Just because 
there are play areas near one another doesn't mean that they're not both valued or used by many and 
/or different groups in the community. 

We are concerned that the creation of so called ‘destination’ parks means that parents are less likely to 
let their children go those places alone, and/or or will take to driving them further away to a 
'destination park'. This will of course act against the physical activity strategy as well as the Council’s 
corporate goals of reducing traffic and improving air quality. 

As Exeter grows in size and density more neighbourhood green spaces and informal ways of using them 
are needed ie places accessible easily on foot and by bike, for play, dog walking and biodiversity. 
The Council should consider creating ‘pocket parks’ as another way of increasing locally available mini-
green space. This could be combined with the promise of bringing in filtered permeability in residential 
streets - a couple of trees and a bench in a quiet street all add to quality of life. 

8. Parks and open spaces 

A parks and open spaces strategy must have a strong biodiversity policy integrated within it. This policy 
must in turn be fully integrated with the new Trees Strategy that the City Council is currently 
developing. 

The strategy should also include positive and clear statements about encouraging community and not 
for profit groups to take up activities that benefit local green space and its users, including a 
Community Asset Transfer policy, and the Council committing to ongoing dialogue with green space 
groups. 

The Strategy should include a commitment to seeking to continually reduce the use of pesticides and 
herbicides, and prohibit the widespread use of glyphosate. by both changed management regimes and 
changed use of products and methods for weed and pest control. 

Opportunities for using parks and open spaces to develop skills and learning and social enterprise, 
through volunteering, apprenticeships and paid posts -perhaps working with a third part community 
enterprise should be explored. There are plenty of examples around the country of such initiatives. 
The Council should also include the insurance of volunteers helping with the maintenance and 
enhancement of parks and open spaces on their corporate insurance as other councils do.

Use spaces to develop skills, 
learning & social enterprise

Exeter 
Green 
Space 
Network
 

Community 
Group

Parks & 
Open 
Spaces

Strongly opposed to any further selling off of green space within the city and the consultation draft 
report’s proposal to sell off the Northbrook pitch and putt, which has great value not just as a leisure 
facility but as a valuable link – for wildlife, and for walkers and cyclists –between Riverside Valley Park 
and Ludwell Valley Park.

A parks and open spaces strategy should commit to enhancing and increasing Exeter's green spaces, 

Oppose closure and sale of 
Northbrook Golf Course

 

P
age 94



APPENDIX C – ACTIVE INBOX EMAIL RESPONSES
Consultee Category Strand You said Key Points & Themes Our Response

Retain and enhance existing green 
spaces

Recognise importance of green 
spaces for wildlife

Reduce use of pesticides & 
herbicides in parks & open spaces

Importance of using parks and 
open spaces for multiple uses

Strong biodiversity policy and 
clear link to new Tree Strategy

whether owned by the Council or others.

A revised parks and open spaces strategy must include clear policies aiming for less use of pesticides 
and herbicides in public parks and open spaces. Including constructive and positive ways to change 
management regimes, such that few chemicals are used and more habitat is created by leaving more 
areas untouched or cut less often.

A parks and open spaces strategy must acknowledge the importance of multiple uses for these spaces, 
i.e. quiet enjoyment, strolling, playing, dog walking, as well as structured physical activities and sports. 
This means actively managing the potential conflicts between these uses through signage and other 
methods. 

Parks and open spaces must be underpinned by a strong biodiversity policy, so that all planting and 
management regimes comply with that policy. Must also be explicitly and clearly linked to the in-
development new Tree Strategy for the Council.

Exeter City Council has made clear that it wants to take an Asset Based Community Development 
approach to parks and open spaces, as well as physical activities. This means not selling off public 
assets, being prepared to work constructively with not-for-profit organisations that seek to undertake 
activities in parks and open spaces that are congruent with everyone’s use and enjoyment of them. In 
particular, not for profit food-related offers would be very welcome and would add real amenity and 
community value to our parks and open spaces. Retain public assets and work with 

not for profit organisations or 
community groups to adopt an 
Asset Based Community 
Development approach

Oppose closure and sale of 
Northbrook Golf Course

Retain and enhance existing green 
spaces

Reduce use of pesticides & 
herbicides in parks & open spaces

Strong biodiversity policy and 
clear link to new Tree Strategy

Ludwell 
Life
 

Community 
Group

Northbrook

Completely opposed to the proposed sell-off of the green space that is currently the Northbrook pitch 
and putt site. The River Valley and Ludwell Masterplan, signed off the City Council in 2016, highlighted 
this space as having great potential for walking and cycling routes, leisure activities and forming a much 
better known and signed link between the two valley parks. There is no rationale given for selling this 
site other than raising money.

Appreciate that the management regime for Ludwell Valley Park is now in the hands of Devon Wildlife 
Trust, but in relation to Wonford playing fields, a parks and open spaces strategy must contain a clear 
position on reducing the use of pesticides and herbicides, seeking to completely phase out the use of 
glyphosate in particular. 

Would like to see a biodiversity and trees policy within a new parks and open spaces strategy, to avoid 
the mistakes of the past - planting non-native species where native species give a better result for 
wildlife and so on. 

The Northbrook stream's water quality is classified as 'poor' by the Environment Agency. We 
understand that water quality falls across many agencies, including the Environment Agency, South 
West Water, and Devon County Council. However, the City Council does have its role to play, so we 
would like to see a commitment to actively working with these agencies to find the causes of pollution 
and taking action to stop the pollution. 

Work with appropriate agencies to 
improve water quality at 
Northbrook

Save the 
Clifton Hill 
Green 
Space

Community 
Group Parks & 

Open 
Spaces

In the section ‘Parks and Priority Actions’, please make reference to the inherent value of Green space, 
not just as a resource to be exploited by humans for their own activities, but as a valuable natural 
reserve for biodiverse fauna and flora. This natural attribute is a crucial consideration when 
determining the future of all Green Spaces. 

Retain and enhance existing green 
spaces

 

P
age 95



APPENDIX C – ACTIVE INBOX EMAIL RESPONSES
Consultee Category Strand You said Key Points & Themes Our Response

Strong biodiversity policy and 
clear link to new Tree Strategy

Recognise importance of green 
spaces for wildlife

Following on from this point, please link explicitly to the importance of preserving and enhancing 
biodiversity and specifically the highly successful and much appreciated flagship ‘Wild Exeter’ initiative.

Oppose any development that involves buildings on Green Space, exempting tracks, cycle paths and 
measures to improve accessibility and activity listed in the document.

On Page 31, the reference to health and well-being is somewhat vague. Please stress that research has 
consistently found a link between improved health, wellbeing and time spent in outdoor environments, 
especially those managed for wildlife.

Links to health & wellbeing

Exeter 
Civic 
Society
 

Community 
Group

Built 
Leisure

The Society is pleased that Exeter City Council is moving towards establishing a sports strategy which is 
long overdue. The Society is concerned with the built environment, highway issues, and the strategic 
planning of facilities for those residing in the city, so will reserve comment to these matters rather than 
sporting activity.

There is nothing to disagree with in respect of the draft Physical Activity Strategy and it is hoped that 
the Council is successful in achieving the aims. We are pleased to note in section 5 that it is intended to 
increase the number of people actively travelling to work rather than to use their car. It is noted that it 
is intended to enable 4,250 more commuters to choose active travel to work, but this lacks ambition. 
Statistics are based on 2011 census data, but with about 7,000 homes built since then, and a further 
12,000 proposed in ECC’s next strategic plan, the council should be more ambitious in developing 
opportunities for people to travel to work other than by car, particularly by identifying more cycle 
routes. It is hoped that ECC will be pro-active in developing these proposals rather than to wait for DCC 
to find funding for such infrastructure.

Built Facilities.

The report dated January 2019 and presented to council on 12 February makes many proposals to 
consolidate facilities at Exeter Arena and Wonford, together with new housing at these sites, 
presumably to either support social housing or to raise funds to fund new sports facilities. Whilst there 
may be land available to develop housing in the vicinity of Exeter Arena, we believe that this is not the 
case at Wonford, and will lead to overdevelopment of the site or the loss of essential green space.

There are many suggestions in the Council’s report (based on Max Associates Report ‘Built Indoor 
Sports Facilities Strategy’, October 2018) but these fail to provide data relating to current demand for 
such facilities, or any attempt to quantify the number of users now, or in the future once new homes 
are built in the city. This information should be either developed or published so that councillors, 
officers, and organisations can make better informed decisions based on need rather than an idea that 
it would be nice to provide these facilities. It also appears likely to us that these new facilities will be 
used by those living in urban extensions to Exeter in East Devon and Teignbridge, yet they will not 
contribute towards such facilities through their Council Tax – we recommend that these councils are 
asked to contribute towards these facilities.

There are proposals from East Devon District Council to include a Sports Village in proposals for the 
GESP, which could include a competition size swimming pool and other yet to be defined facilities close 
to the M5. If built, this could have an impact on possible revenues for facilities within Exeter and affect 

 

 

P
age 96



APPENDIX C – ACTIVE INBOX EMAIL RESPONSES
Consultee Category Strand You said Key Points & Themes Our Response

the justification for the proposals. Any revised report to Council should include the possibility of 
facilities close to the city.

The Council makes it clear in the introduction to these consultation documents that it has no statutory 
responsibility to provide sporting facilities, and yet there are suggestions for the provision of non-core 
facilities for gymnastics, boxing and skiing. There is no mention of badminton as a sport, or of water 
based sports, despite there being very healthy water based clubs based on the river.

The report by Max Associates highlighted that Council run facilities are poorly maintained because of a 
lack of revenue funding, so why develop such facilities while the shortage of revenue funding persists? 
It is essential that if the council recommend the development of any facilities that this is accompanied 
by a publicly available business plan that clearly demonstrates how the facilities will be funded and 
maintained during their lifetime (60 years is normal), including major expenditure such as replacing 
roofs etc.. And it is essential that the Max Associates Report is updated to consider whether some clubs 
could relocate to halls owned by privately run organisations that would benefit from revenue from 
small sports clubs that may rely on cheap rents rather than the high cost of purpose built facilities.

The council should focus on that which people need that is uneconomic for the private sector and 
impossible for clubs to do as it requires a lot of land and capital investment. This situation has been 
reinforced by the Council (Labour party) reminding us in election leaflets that it is short of revenue 
funding, so should it be spending any tax-payers money on flagship sporting and leisure built facilities? 
Would the council be better working with these groups to encourage/ enable the clubs and the private 
sector to seek funding for such facilities from sport associations and the Lottery? Clubs and the private 
sector can operate facilities so much better and get participants far more enthused, from local football 
teams, scouts & guides and the canoe club to David Lloyd and Exeter Golf & Country Club. 

We believe that the development of additional facilities at Exeter Arena will result in the loss of playing 
pitches but this is not noted in the report, or how these pitches will be replaced. There are proposals 
for four new major facilities, a swimming pool, Sports Hall, Gymnastic facilities, and a boxing facility. 
However, access to this area is not good from the south, particularly if it is expected that competitive 
events are intended with visiting teams. Vehicular access is from Summer Lane but due to a low railway 
bridge, coaches and large delivery lorries must access the area via Mount Pleasant Road and then the 
Beacon Heath area. To improve access, the council should consider a new road access from Exhibition 
Way for visiting coaches and service vehicles at least. If it is not possible to achieve this, and 
competitive sports are intended at these facilities, perhaps some would be better located at the 
Wonford Centre which has good highway access.  

There are two school sports halls close to the Exeter Arena area at St James and St Luke’s secondary 
schools as well as many primary schools with school halls, but these are not included in any analysis by 
Max Associates. The usage of these facilities should be analysed, and It may be better if the Council 
invest in these facilities rather than build another sports hall which may not be adequately used.

For proposals at the Wonford Sports Centre we are concerned by suggestions in the Report, and 
recommended by Max Associates, for ‘An innovative, new build integrated community health and 
wellbeing centre to replace the existing Wonford Sports and community centres.’ The sports facilities 
and community hall at Wonford were purpose built in the mid-1980s so are only about 30 years old, 
and have many years life left in them. It should be perfectly feasible to adapt and refurbish these 
facilities to achieve the integrated community and wellbeing centre that is suggested. This will be 

P
age 97



APPENDIX C – ACTIVE INBOX EMAIL RESPONSES
Consultee Category Strand You said Key Points & Themes Our Response

achieved at much less cost than building new. Councillors should be reminded that these buildings are 
built over contaminated land so construction is not straightforward. 

The report makes no mention of school sports halls at Isca and St Peter’s secondary schools which are 
located at each end of the Wonford community. It would be helpful if activity there was included to 
determine what sporting activities should be included at Wonford.

The proposed closure of Northbrook Golf course is a surprise proposal. The report does not 
demonstrate that this facility is not sufficiently used or financially unviable so we would urge the 
council to publish such information to support proposals to redevelop the area. With the course being 
an important green link between Ludwell Valley Park and the River Valley Park it is a very important 
green space. The Council has highlighted its desire to retain public green spaces within the city, but the 
possible development of housing on some or the entire site will result in a permanent loss that can 
never be regained once built on. The River, Canal and Quayside Group within ECS wish particularly to 
oppose the sale of Northbrook pitch-and-putt golf course. It should be better promoted and 
administered as a sports facility, or re-purposed as a green space with more varied use and 
active landscaping. Re-purposing would, for instance, enable it to be developed as a wildlife corridor, 
with areas of denser, wilder vegetation than at present.

It might be possible, within a strategy along these lines to sell a proportion of the current area –
we would suggest a third or less, concentrated on the higher ground and nearer Topsham Road for 
residential development. This green link should be connected to cycle and pedestrian routes over 
Topsham Road so users face minimal disruption to their enjoyment of the area. 

Playing Fields and Pitches Needs Assessment.

At the time of responding to this consultation the author has not had an opportunity to read 
Continuum Leisure’s report which we hope includes quantative analysis about the size of population to 
establish the number of pitches required.

It is reassuring to read that the consultant’s assessment of need includes that as a result of planned 
housing and population growth, although it is noted that this will only extend to proposals to 2026. 
With the Council about to announce plans for a further 12,000 homes (about 24,000 people) in the city 
as part of the GESP to be developed to 2014, it would be prudent to also look at needs up to 2040 to 
ensure sufficient pitches/land is protected for future residents.

There is no mention of provision for Tennis or Lawn Bowles, which is odd considering the Council 
controls such facilities. To ensure that these sports and facilities are considered for development, and 
any others within council ownership (cycle tracks?); such facilities should be included in the overall 
sports strategy for the city. This will ensure that these facilities are included within maintenance and 
investment plans for sports provision, and demonstrate to users that such facilities will be retained (or 
not).

We must point out some possible conflicts with plans for pitches in the vicinity of the canal (Bromhams 
Farm and Grace Road Fields). In the Council’s current Strategic Plan there are proposals to establish a 
city centre camp site in this vicinity, and for a ‘marina’ off the canal. Both of these will need access by 
car / boat, and possibly the use of Grace Road Fields. Proposals in the council’s recently commissioned 

P
age 98



APPENDIX C – ACTIVE INBOX EMAIL RESPONSES
Consultee Category Strand You said Key Points & Themes Our Response

canal development plan must also be considered to ensure there are no conflicts of use in this area. 
Secondly, the Council’s Riverside & Ludwell Valley Parks Masterplan 2016-2026 highlights the 
Bromhams Farm area as a new outdoor activities hub, as well as a location for a visitor centre. In 
addition, it proposes that Grace Road Playing Fields are developed as a picnic and camping area, as well 
as Clapperbrook Lane being a primary access to the Valley Park from the west. We hope that the 
council will take these conflicting matters into account and amend all proposals accordingly to ensure 
there are consistent and complimentary masterplans.

We would like to comment on three of the proposed actions:

 Action 2 highlights the need to plan ahead for adequate provision as a result of proposals 
within the GESP which we wholeheartedly support.

 Action 6 suggests developing existing grass pitches into AWPs to increase use/activity. 
However, we would urge the council not to do this because such pitches are expensive to 
maintain and regularly need rebuilding. The council’s lack of revenue funding to maintain 
existing facilities is highlighted throughout recent reports.

 Action 9 suggests developing masterplans for the two strategic sports hubs which we support. 
However, we must urge the council to engage in further early consultation with users and 
communities rather than to produce a fete-a-compli. Whole life maintenance plans should also 
be developed alongside such masterplans to ensure facilities can be maintained.

Community Play Areas.

The author is responding without having had the opportunity to read the council’s Review of Play Areas 
before completing this response.

At a time when many in society are concerned about the amount of time children seem to spend 
indoors using electronic play equipment rather than playing and socialising outside, we do hope that 
the council will ensure that there is a network of localised play areas for all children. All future plans 
should include consultation with local families and community leaders before final decisions are made 
to close or change any local provision.

The report highlights that many new play areas are developer driven, but much of this is as a result of 
the Council’s planning policies requiring play areas to be developed in new housing developments. If 
the council then adopts these facilities it is odd that through the planning process officers have not 
negotiated or dictated the appropriate quality and level of play equipment. It is surely possible to 
ensure that any new developments that come before planning officers are subject to better scrutiny to 
ensure any new play areas fit in with any agreed strategy.

Parks and Greenspaces.

Large parks are places where communities can come together for fetes, social activities, a place for 
relaxation, and often combine and link with play and recreation areas. Parks such as Heavitree Park, St 
Thomas Park, and Rougemont Gardens are characterised by mature trees and plants with wildlife, and 
seating suitable for all age groups. Most parks have been established for some time, hence the mature 
trees that are admired and enjoyed.

P
age 99



APPENDIX C – ACTIVE INBOX EMAIL RESPONSES
Consultee Category Strand You said Key Points & Themes Our Response

As Exeter has expanded new communities have been provided with a range of green spaces from small 
parks to open lawned areas, but no new parks have been established that may allow greater 
community gatherings and enjoyment, as well as the provision of mature trees and planting. Much of 
the land where this could have been achieved has now been developed either for new homes or 
employment, and there may not now be any opportunities to establish such a park to support new 
communities within the city, particularly to the east of the city.

The council should now consider how a new park could be developed on the boundary of the city, 
perhaps working with neighbouring councils where significant new housing is being developed.

In paragraph 5.2 it is stated that budgetary pressures in the short and medium term requires the 
council to consider innovative approaches to developing greenspaces in the future. Whilst it is 
recognised that austerity measures are having an impact upon the council’s revenue budget, it is crucial 
that the council should be ambitious and plan for the future, especially for the large projects that 
require planning policies and strategies, and capital funding.

We do not have any comments in respect of sections 6 and 7 of the draft report.

Destination park for Exwick

Clear timeframe for delivery of 
strategy

Kirsty Hill Local 
Government

Physical 
Activity

One area we have highlighted was around the reduction in parks in the Exwick area when this is one of 
the areas highlighted as a priority. Part of the problem with access on the west of the river is the 
topography and this needs to be considered as well as density. It is clear the site of the destination park 
is yet to be decided but with closures in Exwick we would want to see the park placed close to this 
priority area to support physical activity of people of all ages in the area. 

It would also be useful to include a timeframe for which the strategy will be worked on to be able to 
assess progress towards the outcomes over time, and also to align other strategies and work 
programmes to. 

The King George’s playing field play area is highlighted as expired but it is not clear whether it is this 
one that is due to close. If it is the park which contains the equipment which is wheelchair accessible 
then this equipment is not removed and refurbished if required as it is really important that all children 
are able to access play equipment and there is currently very limited access to play equipment for 
children who require wheelchairs and inclusive play should be supported to reduce inequalities.

Refurbish and maintain play 
equipment particularly wheelchair 
accessible sites

 

Insufficient all-weather pitches
Exeter 
TAG 
Rugby 
Club
 

Sports 
Club/Assoc

Physical 
Activity

I do feel our club genuinely has something unique and of real value to offer the whole of our 
community of Exeter however the main issue we are faced with is that of a regular and suitable venue. 
For the last 14 years we have from September to the start of the athletics season in April used the 
floodlit grass pitch at the Exeter Athletics Arena after which we lose this facility and switch to the 3G 
pitch at Exeter University from April to the end of July. 

Although I would like to think we have always had a very good relationship over the years with both our 
venues each does has its own particular drawbacks which I believe has a real negative impact on the 
expansion of our club. The Arena because it is weather dependant and sessions there are often 
cancelled at late notice due to the weather. Not being reliant on the weather the 3G pitch at the 
university is obviously our much preferred venue but we are restricted to its use to the summer months 

High venue hire fees

 

P
age 100



APPENDIX C – ACTIVE INBOX EMAIL RESPONSES
Consultee Category Strand You said Key Points & Themes Our Response

due to the high demand from its students during term time. The high cost of its hire is also a real issue 
for us. 

As a club we do feel we have something different and of value that we offer the people of Exeter and 
would very much like to have a regular venue of a 3G floodlight pitch which we could have use off each 
Friday evening throughout the year to help us fulfil this. If the proposed 3G community pitch at the 
University’s Topsham Sports Ground goes ahead we would very much hope we could be considered for 
this.

Secure future playing pitch 
provision at Topsham Sports 
Ground

Supports Move More Live Better 
Draft Physical Activity Strategy

Secure future playing pitch 
provision at Topsham Sports 
Ground

University 
of Exeter
 

Education 
Sector

Built 
Leisure

We are fully supportive of the Move More strategy and look forward to working with the Council and 
other partners to deliver on the outcomes. 

With regards to the Built facilities strategy, securing the future of playing pitch provision at Topsham 
Sports Ground which provides high quality rugby, football, cricket and lacrosse facilities and is a key 
asset for the City, is important. To ensure participation in sport can continue and develop, 
improvements in Pavilion and changing are needed together with investment in artificial surfaces and 
critically floodlighting of the site.  The support of the City Council in enabling this is critical.

The University would like to discuss further the St Sidwells Point development and how this can deliver 
on student needs. 

Improvement needed in Pavilion, 
changing facilities, artificial 
surfaces and floodlighting

 

Supports Move More Live Better 
Draft Physical Activity Strategy

Supports Exeter Move More Draft 
Built Facilities, Playing Fields, 
Pitches, Play Areas, Parks and 
Open Spaces Report

Commends analytical approach 
and inclusion in the Corporate 
Strategy and Housing Vision

Use plain & consistent language

Sport 
England
 

National 
Bodies

Physical 
Activity

Sport England are hugely excited and supportive of the suggested approach that Exeter City Council are 
taking in their new Physical Activity strategy and their plans around the built and natural environment 
in the city.

We are really encouraged that the council recognise the positive and wide ranging impact that 
population level increases in physical activity can have on the city as a whole. Tackling some of the big 
strategic challenges that are facing the city by getting more people to move more every day.

We’re glad that the council have taken an analytic approach to targeting the places and people that are 
set to benefit the most from their vision. Recognising that there are huge stubborn inequalities that 
exist in why some people are less physically active than others.

It’s also fantastic to see that the role of physical activity has extended into other strategies across the 
place including the corporate strategy and new housing plan. Taking a long term approach to this is 
what Sport England are hoping to see from Local Authorities.

Overall we are highly supportive of the plans being consulted on and we look forward to working 
closely and alongside the city council and other key organisations in the delivery of the vision set out. 

That said, Sport England do have a few areas that we would like the council to consider when finalising 
these strategies:

 It would be helpful to be clearer on the relationship between the strategy and the LDP rather 
than referring to the pilot as an entity – is the pilot the way of working and approach and the 
priorities within it the strategy priorities. 

 Could the strategy and it’s associated documents use more plain and consistent language? Is 
the strategy intended to be understood and consumed by the general public?

 To use the most up to date data, insight and evidence - Particularly with regards activity levels 

Use most current data, insight & 
evidence

 

P
age 101



APPENDIX C – ACTIVE INBOX EMAIL RESPONSES
Consultee Category Strand You said Key Points & Themes Our Response

within the identified target localities and the information for future active environments plans. 

 Can the council be clearer on how it will work with other key organisations to support the 
existing and further sporting system in Exeter. Clearly this is a strategy for physical activity in its 
broadest sense but the approach does feel to move the council away from any Sport provision, 
I think we’d all accept that an active environment is supportive of both formal and informal 
sport and physical activity as a spectrum. What role does the Council play in this and who else 
does this fall to? Are other partners signed up to the emerging strategies in a shared way?

 We would welcome the opportunity to join up our local and national expertise in facility and 
planning work with the emerging plans, ensuring latest methodologies and processes (in an 
evolving policy environment) are used to finalise the strategic approach across the city.

Clarify working relationships with 
other organisations and external 
bodies

Exeter 
Cycling 
Campaign
 

Community 
Group

Physical 
Activity

13 page document submitted with 11 recommendations and supporting evidence and date=a.
Recommendations itemised below:

1. As a result, we would suggest amending the vision to the following:
“Our vision is for Exeter to continue to be the most active city in England, and to enable
those most at risk of inactivity to become active in everyday life.”

2. For ECC to work with Devon County Council (DCC) to roll out the modal filters identified by
community members in our Living Streets report.

3. All new housing developments in the District must be served by public transport and
connected with paths that give people walking and cycling priority. Provision should be made
for secure bicycle storage in all new housing developments.

4. ECC should work with DCC to design and agree a dense network of paths, making the city
permeable for people walking and cycling: including children, the disabled and the quarter of
car-free households.

5. ECC to publicly support a 20mph speed limit within Exeter and work with DCC to make it
happen.

6. ECC to fund a pilot of temporary road closures or no parking/drop off during school start/leave
times.

7. ECC should work with DCC to provide segregated cycle routes on the arterial routes within
half a mile of any redevelopment.

8. ECC to charge parking at the same rate as public car parks for built leisure facilities.
9. An equivalent amount of covered bicycle parking should be provided at all ECC leisure

facilities and sites.
10. ECC should review the annual cost of accessing leisure centre facilities versus investing in

cycling infrastructure for people on low incomes in the target LSOAs.
11. ECC to review the cycle path provision covered by the report area to ensure that it is all a

minimum of 3 metres wide, or that full segregation is provided. ECC to review all of the
access points for cycle paths within the report area so that physical barriers which mean
cyclists have to dismount, or are forced into conflict with pedestrians, are removed.

 

 

P
age 102



APPENDIX D: Stakeholder Organisations Participating in Draft PAS Consultation

Organisation Role Commitment to 
Strategy?

Active Devon NGO Yes

Badminton England
National / Regional 
Association

Don’t know / Can’t Say

Chestnut Children's Centre Neutral
Devon Community Foundation NGO Yes
Devon County Council Public Health Local Government Yes
East Devon Hockey Club Sport Club Neutral
ECFC AND CCT Sport Club Yes
Exe Hockey Club Sport Club Yes

Exe Water Sports Association
National / Regional 
Association

Yes

Execalibre Dragon Boat Club, Exeter Sport Club Yes

Exeter & District Netball League
National / Regional 
Association

Yes

Exeter Adaptive Ski Club Sport Club Yes
Exeter Athletic RFC Sport Club Yes

Exeter Bridge Club and Devon Bridge Association
National / Regional 
Association

Yes

Exeter Canoe Club Sport Club Neutral
Exeter Civic Society Community Group Yes
Exeter Council for Sport and Recreation Neutral
Exeter Cycling Campaign Campaign Group Don’t know / Can’t say
Exeter Eagles BMX Club Sport Club Yes
Exeter Green Party Political Party Don’t know / Can’t say
Exeter Green Space Network Community Group Don’t know / Can’t say
Exeter Netball Club Sport Club Yes
Exeter Rowing Club Sport Club Yes
Exeter Ski Club Sport Club Yes
Exeter Spitfires Baseball & Softball Club Sport Club Yes
Exeter Strollers Walking Football Club Sport Club Yes
Exeter Sub-Aqua Club Sport Club Don’t know / Can’t Say
Exeter TAG Rugby Club Sport Club Don’t know / Can’t say
Exeter Trees UK Community Group Don’t know / Can’t say
Exeter Triathlon Club Sport Club Blank
Exeter Wheelers Youth Academy Sport Club Yes
Exwick Cricket Club Sport Club Yes
Freemoovement Community Group Yes
Friends of Eastern Fields Community Group Neutral
Friends of Exeter Ship Canal Community Group Yes
Isca Hockey Club Sport Club Yes
Ludwell Life Community Group Don’t know / Can’t say
Park Life Heavitree Community Group Yes

Ramblers Association, Exeter & District Group
National / Regional 
Association

Yes

Save the Clifton Hill Green Space Community Group Don’t know / Can’t say
South West Athletics Academy Sport Club Yes

Sport England
National / Regional 
Association

Yes

St Leonards Neigbourhood Association Community Group Yes
Taylormade Performance & Rehabilitation Clinic Business Yes
U3A Short Weekly Walks Community Group Yes

Page 103



University of Exeter Education Yes
Wellbeing Exeter NGO Yes

West Exe Pioneers (Woodcraft Folk)
National / Regional 
Association

Yes

Whipton and Pinhoe Football Club.  Sport Club Yes
Whipton Youth FC Sport Club Yes

Wonford Community & Learning Centre Limited
Community Group Yes

Page 104



APPENDIX E

Summary of Revisions

Following the analysis of consultation feedback the Council is recommending the following 
revisions to the Draft Physical Activity Strategy

Current 
Page no.

Current Proposed

Front 
Cover

Draft Physical Activity Strategy January 
2019

Physical Activity Strategy July 2019
Photo updated

2 Photo Foreword from the Leader

4 Photo Photo updated

5
An additional document Exeter City 
Council’s Built Facilities, Playing Fields, 
Pitches, Parks and Open Spaces Report 
(Jan 2019) sets out how the City Council 
intends to promote physical activity 
through exercise and sport in its own built 
facilities, pitches, playing fields, parks and 
open spaces. This will be consulted on 
alongside this strategy.

We will promote the benefits of active 
environments as a way to encourage 
physical activity in everyday life through 
‘Liveable Exeter’ our transformational 
housing vision.  We will apply active 
design principles within our own 
developments and will encourage others 
to do so.

7 children and adolescents young people

8 UK guidelines Chief Medical Officer guidelines

12 Added

(Accurate at time of going to press)

13 Location of high-risk mosaic types 
containing high levels of working age 
adults with no dependent children, 
deprivations and / or physical activity

Locations containing high levels of working 
age adults with no dependent children, 
deprivation and / or physical activity

Simplified maps and legend removed

14 Location of high-risk mosaic types 
containing high levels of frailer individuals, 
deprivations and / or physical inactivity

Locations containing high levels of frailer 
individuals, deprivation and / or physical 
inactivity

Simplified maps and legend removed

2. Reduce inequality in participation:
when planning and prioritising 
interventions recognise that the largest 
health gain occurs
with improvements made by the least 
active

2. Reduce inequality in participation:
focussed approach which recognises that 
the largest health gain occurs with 
improvements made by the least active

21

4. Connect people with physical 
activity:

4. Connect people with physical 
activity:

Page 105



ensure physical activity opportunities are 
available and promoted across the life 
course

ensure physical activity opportunities are 
available and promoted for all ages

6. Create a physical activity habit:
recognise the importance of habit 
formation and the contextual nature of 
physical activity behaviour in the design of 
interventions

6. Create a physical activity habit:
recognise the importance of habit 
formation and behaviour change required 
for least active residents

7. Make it fun:
encourage providers of physical activity to 
promote fun, enjoyment and autonomy, 
helping people to build it into their 
everyday lives

7. Make it fun:
encourage providers of physical activity to 
promote fun and enjoyment, helping 
people to build it into their everyday lives

8. Consistent Communications:
about the benefits, opportunities and 
support available for physical activity 
choices in Exeter

8. Consistent Communications:
clear messages about the benefits, 
opportunities and support available for 
physical activity choices in Exeter

9. Make it visible:
Portray physical activity as a normal part 
of everyday life across the lifespan

9. Make it visible:
Portray physical activity as a normal part 
of everyday life 

11. Evidence and evaluation:
ensure interventions are underpinned by 
best practices and the impact of service 
delivery is robustly evaluated using 
process, output and outcome measures.

11. Evidence and evaluation:
embed an analytical approach to 
programme design and implement a 
robust evaluation process

Sport England is investing around £100 
million across 12 local pilots over 4 years 
to create innovative solutions making it 
easier for people in communities to access 
physical activity,

Sport England is investing around £100 
million across 12 local pilots over 4 years 
to create innovative solutions making it 
easier for people to become physically 
active.

We will use the opportunity of the 
investment and expertise from the Sport 
England Pilot to ensure that the long term 
Housing Transformation Plan for the city is 
underpinned by the 10 Active Design 
Environmental Principles advocated by 
Sport England and Public Health England 
(Active Design Planning for health and 
wellbeing through sport and physical 
activity).

We will use investment and expertise from 
the Sport England Pilot to ensure that the 
“Liveable Exeter” Transformational 
Housing Delivery Programme for the city is 
underpinned by the 10 Active Design 
Environmental Principles advocated by 
Sport England and Public Health England 
(Active Design Planning for health and 
wellbeing through sport and physical 
activity).

25

These principles will also be used to 
influence a new project aimed at tackling 
our strategic infrastructure issues 
announced in December 2018 by the 
National Infrastructure Commission (an 
independent body tasked with providing 
clear advice to the Government on how 
best to meet the country’s long-term 
infrastructure needs). Exeter is one of the 

These principles will also be used to 
influence a new project aimed at tackling 
our strategic infrastructure issues 
announced in December 2018 by the 
National Infrastructure Commission.
Exeter is one of the five cities selected to 
work with the Commission to help us to 
develop strategies to improve local 

Page 106



five cities selected to work with the 
Commission to help us to develop 
strategies to improve local transport 
connections, unlock job opportunities and 
deliver much-needed new homes.

transport connections, unlock job 
opportunities and deliver much
needed new homes.

The key delivery platforms the Council will 
use to deliver our contribution to this 
strategy are:
• Sport England Local Delivery Pilot , 
Wellbeing Exeter and Active Exeter 
Network
• Swimming Pools, Sports and Leisure 
Centres
• Playing pitches, playgrounds, parks and
open spaces
• Walking and Cycling through Exeter
Transport Strategy

The key delivery platforms the Council will 
use to deliver our contribution to this 
strategy are:

• Sport England Local Delivery Pilot
• Wellbeing Exeter
• Active Exeter Network
• Swimming Pools, Sports and Leisure 
Centres
• Playing pitches, playgrounds, parks and 
open spaces
• Canal, quayside  and waterways
• walking and cycling through the Exeter
Transport Strategy

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



Final

REPORT to Council 23rd July 2019
REPORT to Executive 9th July 2019
REPORT to Place Scrutiny 25th June 2019 
 
Report of:  Director, Communities Health Wellbeing Sport and Leisure 

Title: Exeter Live Better and Move More Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play 
Areas, Parks and Green Spaces Report

Is this a Key Decision? 

Yes
Yes/No
* One that affects finances over £1m or significantly affects two or more wards. If this is a 
key decision then the item must be on the appropriate forward plan of key decisions.

Is this an Executive or Council Function?

1. What is the report about?

1.1 This report describes the public consultation on the draft report, proposes changes to 
the original proposals following feedback and recommends the next steps for the 
delivery of the strategies proposed within the report.

2. Recommendations: 

It is recommended that: 

2.1 Place Scrutiny Committee considers the revised Exeter Live Better and Move More 
Built Facilites, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play Areas, Parks and Open Spaces Strategy    
in the light of the feedback from the comprehensive public consultation process and 
the subsequent changes made to the original proposals.  

2.2 Executive Committee considers the report and recommends that Council adopts the 
revised Exeter Live Better and Move More Built Facilites, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play 
Areas, Parks and Green Spaces Strategy.   

3. Reasons for the recommendation:

3.1 The draft report sets out how the Council built leisure facilities, playing fields, play 
areas, parks and green spaces could be developed in future so that they can 
contribute to the vision of Exeter becoming the most physically active city in England 
by encouraging those most at risk of inactivity to become active in everyday life. 

3.2 An eight week consultation process has been undertaken on the draft report, which 
alongside the consultation on the Draft Physical Activity Strategy, attracted over 1,650 
responses from residents and stakeholders.  The consultation included a mixture of 
methodologies to ensure a cross section of views and opinions were taken into 
account.

Page 109

Agenda Item 7



 
3.3 The draft report received high levels of support from residents as well as sporting, 

health and community organisations who responded to the survey, attended meetings 
and/or submitted responses. However there were some significant areas where 
responders disagreed with the Council proposals, these are summarised below.

3.4 The feedback on the built facilities proposals to sell the green space at Northbrook for 
development to raise a capital receipt for investment in Council priorities including 
improved built leisure facilities, was not supported.  The feedback on this issue has 
been very clear and the Council is not taking forward any plans to sell or build on this 
site. The proposal to consider a ski simulator as part of the Exeter Arena 
developments was not supported so is not being taken forward

3.5 The feedback on priorities for Playing Pitches recognised that the earlier needs 
assessment requires some updating and better connecting, resulting in some changes 
to the priority action areas, most notably the need to commission a more recent needs 
assessment and to work with local stakeholders, the Football Association and Football 
Foundation to produce a Local Football Facility Plan. This has the potential to unlock 
significant investment to improve football facilities and is now included in the priority 
actions. 

3.6 Having listened to the consultation feedback in relation to Play Areas we are changing 
our focus on key priorities with a more fundamental shift towards further engagement 
with local communities to help inform future developments. We will not be closing any 
of the play areas without prior consultation with users (unless there is an overriding 
health and safety reason to do so). We are not bringing forward proposals for 
developing Destination Parks. New priorities in the strategy are to:

 
 Establish a task group to design a strategic framework and high level priorities 

for the future development of play areas across the city.
 Engage local residents and grass roots organisations in the Sport England 

Local Delivery Pilot areas to understand current usage and help inform future 
plans for local play areas within communities at highest risk of inactivity and 
poor health outcomes.

 Embed active design and play principles into planning policy and guidance in 
respect of parks and play areas for new developments.

3.7 The key message from the feedback in relation to Parks and Green Spaces is the 
importance of recognising the need for green spaces in the city to be protected and 
maintained. There was a general consensus that parks & green spaces should be 
accessible for all and that biodiversity is as important as accessibility. There is a need 
to balance physical activity, horticulture and wildlife in the development of parks and 
green spaces.

3.8 A number of changes have now been made to the original proposals to take into 
account the consultation feedback and a revised set of priorities is now being 
proposed in the final strategy document attached to this report.

4. What are the resource implications including non financial resources.

4.1 Existing resources will be used to complete an outline Business Case for the 
development of the Community Sports Village proposal at Exeter Arena site and the 
development of the blueprint for an Integrated Health and Wellbeing Centre in Wonford.  
Funding is also in place for the completion of the further development of the Playing 
Pitches Strategy and the production of a Local Football Facility Plan. 

Page 110



 

4.2 Further resources will need to be identified to engage communities in devising an 
alternative strategy for play areas and for the development of the parks and green spaces 
principles into a clear future strategy. Directors will consider, with portfolio holders current 
operational priorities to release appropriate staff time to undertake this work.

4.3 A funding strategy will need to be developed to support the proposed investments this will 
need to consider the issues raised in the table below:

4.4 There are a number of assumptions in relation to the high level financial strategy that 
underpin the recommendations and action plan these are:

 Capital funding from the sale of identified leisure sites: Clifton Hill Sports Centre 
and Pyramids Swimming Pool and Leisure Centre.

 Capital funding directly from residential development opportunities at specific sites 
is channelled directly towards new facilities at Wonford and Exeter Arena.

 Designated funding from Section 106 and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) to 
be directed at priority built facility, playing pitch, play area and parks & green 
spaces projects.  Specific flagship programmes to be highlighted in the CIL 
Regulation 123 list.

 Council funding to be used to attract strategic finance from external stakeholders 
such as Sport England and Sport National Governing Bodies. 

Funding Route Recommendations 
Community 
Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL)

The current Regulation 123 List indicates 
that CIL may be spent on ‘public realm 
enhancements’. (CIL) receipts do not 
have to be spent in any particular locality, 
and there is consequently more 
geographical flexibility around investment 
decision making.

Amend the Regulation 123 List 
to refer more specifically to the 
priorities identified in this report 
and thereby communicate 
more clearly the intention to 
fund these through CIL.  

Section 106 
Agreements 

S106 funding has been geographically 
linked to the development, resulting in 
more recent years in an abundance of 
play areas to the east of the city, but 
virtually no contributions to new or 
upgraded play areas to the west

Review options for improved 
S106 agreements particularly 
in relation to play areas and 
playing pitch enhancements in 
context of the revised Local 
Plan.

Rationalising 
provision and 
reducing the 
number of  
sites 

Reduced burden of outdated leisure 
facilities and buildings alongside 
improving procurement and sustainability 
options will reduce revenue costs of 
maintenance in real terms.

Re-siting of leisure facilities 
may offer the release of assets 
for development and capital 
receipts. The funds raised may 
contribute to improved facilities 
elsewhere in line with priorities.

External 
funding 
sources-

By refocussing provision to achieve wider 
aims in terms of a more active and healthy 
lifestyle, and through partnering with 
community groups, stakeholders and 
strategic partners.  There is a wealth of 
good practice emerging in the city with 
local community groups accessing 
significant funds through grants, trusts 
and other external sources.

Adopting alternative models of 
community ownership & 
management – through a 
future Council Community 
Asset Transfer model, local 
community groups can explore 
the potential of owning, 
managing and developing play 
areas themselves

Page 111



 
 Revenue from the provision of services on the leisure sites will need to, at a 

minimum, generate sufficient revenue to cover the cost of any capital borrowing 
for the developments.

4.4 Further business cases will need to set out financial strategies for the capital and revenue 
consequences of the proposals for Council to consider in due course.

5. Section 151 Officer comments:

5.1 The report (and strategy) set out a number of aspirations for the Council going forward.  
The financial implications of each aspiration will be considered when the feasibility and 
outline business cases are presented.  It is important for members to consider each of 
these in the context of the Council as a whole and the potential financial requirements 
for other services and their assets.

5.2 Members are reminded that certain capital expenditure has already been approved 
with the expectation of funding being delivered by the sale of Clifton Hill.  Additionally 
part of the funding strategy for St Sidwells Point is reliant upon the sale of the 
Pyramids Leisure Centre.

6. What are the legal aspects?

6.1 There are no specific legal aspects to consider in adopting the recommended strategy.

7. Monitoring Officer’s comments:

7.1 This report raises no issues for the Monitoring Officer.

8. Report details:

8.1 The  Draft Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play Areas, Parks and Open Spaces 
Report establishes a clear need for the Council to set out an integrated strategy for the 
future these assets because: 

 Delivery of sport and leisure facilities is a discretionary area for the Council 
however it is important that the overarching Physical Activity Strategy is 
underpinned by a sustainable approach that provides good quality, accessible, 
community based built sports and leisure facilities as well as protecting and 
enhancing play areas, parks and green spaces.

 With on-going funding cuts to Councils we need to balance residents’ 
expectations with the funding and resources available to the Council and to 
consult as openly as possible with the compromises and choices we have to 
make.

 With the exception of the planned new build St Sidwell’s Point Leisure 
Complex, we have an ageing and poor quality built estate. This needs a 
strategic approach to determine areas for future investment that will best meet 
the needs of residents in the context of the overall resources available to the 
Council.

 We need to plan for and invest in our local facilities in the context of 
developments within the Greater Exeter Strategic Partnership (GESP).

Page 112



 
 The growth in Play Areas across the city has largely been development-led as 

opposed to needs led, resulting in an uneven distribution and increasing 
unsustainable repair and maintenance costs to the Council.

 We have statutory duties as a local planning authority in relation to playing 
pitches and are required to publish an assessment of current and future needs 
for playing fields and pitches to inform, provide evidence for and make 
recommendations in relation to planning policies and delivery models.  

8.2 The draft report was launched in April 2019 and a public consulation exercise was 
undertaken between April 2019 and May 2019 to gather views and opinions from the 
public and stakeholders on the future development of the Council’s: 

 Built Leisure Facilities 
 Playing Fields and Pitches
 Play Areas, and 
 Parks and Green Spaces

8.3 The public consulation, alongside the consultation on the Draft Physical Activity 
Strategy, included:

 Targeted engagement with key partners and stakeholder bodies with an 
interest in physical activity.

 Online publication of the draft strategy with printed and accessible versions 
available from the Civic Centre.

 Launch of an online resident & stakeholder questionnaire along with a specific 
active@exeter.gov.uk ‘have you say’ mailbox.

 A face to face in-street resident survey commissioned with an independent 
agency.

 Two public consultation events held in the Guildhall at which residents and 
stakeholders could formally provide their views, answer the survey and leave 
comments with council officers.

8.4 Alongside the consultation on the draft Physical Activity Strategy over 1,650 general 
responses from individuals and organisations were received. 

 
 Over 1,000 residents took part in a representative face to face survey 
 218 residents completed the on-line questionnaire 
 50 stakeholders completed the on-line questionnaire 
 90 direct responses to active@exeter.gov.uk 
 300 visitors to the Guildhall 

The Marketing Means on-line questionnaire and resident survey results can be seen in 
full in Appendix A.

8.5 Built Leisure Facilites 

8.6 Independent experts Max Associates, were commissioned to co-ordinate the 
consulation on the Built Leisure Facilites proposals.  The Max Associates full report 
including the details of responses from around 50 organisations is in Appendix B to 
this report and the following is a summary of the key findings.  

Page 113

mailto:active@exeter.gov.uk
mailto:active@exeter.gov.uk


 
8.7 1,008 residents commented on the Built Leisure Facilities proposals through the on-

line survey. Respondents were asked to identify the current facilities in a typical month 
that they or their family use within Exeter. Table 1 below shows the responses 
received.

8.8 62% of resident respondents stated that they didn’t use any built leisure facilities in or 
outside of Exeter and 1% didn’t answer the question. 15% of responders said they 
used built facilities within Exeter not provided by the Council and 4% said they used 
other built leisure facilities outside of Exeter.  1% of responders said they used 
facilities provided privately at Clifton Hill Driving Range and Clifton Hill Ski Slope.

8.9   The Pyramids Swimming Pool and Leisure Centre is the Council facility most used by 
responders (13%) followed by the Riverside Pool and Leisure Centre (8%); Exeter 
Arena (4%); Wonford Sports Centre (3%), Northbrook Swimming Pool (3%) with ISCA 
Centre and the Northbrook Pitch and Putt least used by responders (1%). 

Table 1: Current Use of Built Facilities in Exeter

1%

62%

1%

1%

1%

1%

3%

3%

4%

4%

8%

13%

15%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70%

Don’t know / Refused

None

ISCA Centre

Northbrook Golf Course

Clifton Hill Driving Range

Clifton Hill Ski Slope

Northbrook Swimming Pool

Wonford Sports Centre

Other built leisure facilities outside Exeter

Exeter Arena

Riverside Pool and Leisure Centre

Pyramids Pool and Leisure Centre

Other built leisure facilities within Exeter

Source: Marketing Means 2019                 Base: All respondents (1,008)

.8.10 Respondents were asked how much they agreed or disagreed with three key 
statements:

Statement Response
The aims and approach 
recommended are fair and 
reasonable

87% (59% very good and 29% good) considered 
the aims and approach recommended as fair and 
reasonable.

These are the right priorities 
for Exeter

82% (54% very good and 28% good) considered 
these are the right priorities for Exeter

Overall, I support these 
proposals

85% (60% very good and 25% good) considered 
that overall they could support the proposals.

Page 114



 

8.11 90 people sent emails to the ‘have your say’ inbox. 60% were from residents 
concerned about the potential loss of the open green space at the Northbrook Golf 
Course site.  A small number of residents stated their concern was the potential loss 
of the golf provision on the site, but many more said they could accept the loss of the 
golf but not the open green space.  

8.12 The resident survey shows support for the Council’s aims, priorities and proposals in 
relation to the Built Leisure Facilites but there is also a genuine concern about the 
potential loss of the Northbrook site as an open green space. 

8.13 50 organisations or groups responded to the online survey. However, only 46 actually 
completed the questionnaire.  59% (33% very highly and 26% highly) said they were 
highly likely or very likely to commit to the proposals. 11% responded with low ratings 
and would be unlikely to commit to the proposals for built facilities. 24% rated the 
question neither high nor low. It could be said that this 24% have an open mind about 
the Council’s proposals.

Table 11. How likely would you and your organisation be to commit to the proposals 
for Built Facilities for Sports and Leisure in the city?

7% 7% 4% 24% 26% 33%

Don't know/ Refused Very low: 0 or 1 2 to 4 5 6 to 8 Very high: 9 or 10

Source: Marketing Means 2019                     Base: All  respondents (46)

8.14 The following themes have been identified from the feedback from the 50 
organisations/groups from the survey, emails and face to face meetings:

 There is a clear need for Exeter City Council to listen to stakeholders 
concerns. 

 The majority (59%) said they were highly likely or very likely to commit to the 
proposals. 

 The majority have said they support the future plans and others have stated 
they would like to be consulted with, and work in collaboration with, the 
Council on developing the plans.

 A desire to see further investment in the Council’s built leisure facilities. 
 An understanding of the need for a range of flexible multi-use facilities.
 Consideration for enhanced cycling provision, including potential 

consideration for Exeter Arena to be a strategic cycling hub.
 On-going community engagement and co-design in the development of the 

proposals for Wonford. 
 General continued consulation and communication on the future 

developments for the built facilities. 

Page 115



 
 Promotion of active travel to leisure facilities through improved accessibility 

walking & cycling infrastructure. 
 Recognition of the role of the quayside and canal as a destination and 

resource to promote physical activity.
 Desire for investment in water sports.
 General opposition to the selling of Northbrook Golf Course site for 

development.
 No appetite for a virtual ski simulator within the city.

8.15 The final strategy sets out a revised set of priority actions based on the consultation 
feedback.

8.16 Playing Fields and Pitches

8.17 During the consultation period council officers engaged with Sport England and key 
National Governing Bodies (NGBs) and local stakeholders on the priority actions 
being proposed for playing pitches. NGBs highlighted that that here has not been a 
significant shift in the playing pitch data or the priorities presented in the draft report 
however there was some concern that the future forecasts were out of date and a 
refresh is recommended. 

8.18 Feedback received from Devon FA (football), RFU (rugby), DCB (cricket) and 
England Hockey is now being compiled to Sport England PPS methodology and will 
provide an updated evidence base against current and future population projections 
in Exeter.  This will identify the current shortfall in playing pitches across the city, both 
grass and artificial grass pitch requirements  

8.19  The priority actions have been revised to focus on setting up a formal steering group 
to review the updated needs assessment and prepare a strategy with priority playing 
pitch development projects from autumn 2019 onwards

8.20 We have incorporated a new priority: alongside the development of the Playing Pitch 
Strategy, to work with the FA and Football Foundation to produce a Local Football 
Facility Plan with the potential to unlock significant investment to improve football 
facilities. 

8.21 In addition to the above other themes have been identified during the consultation 
period which will be explored by the steering group:

 There is a shortage of both grass and artificial grass pitches in Exeter to meet 
the needs of current demand and expanding population growth.

 The need to work with neighbouring councils, particularly in regard to sports 
where there is significant boundary crossover.

 There is significant potential to improve community access on education sites 
and further work should be done to unlock this capacity.

 Local stakeholders are interested in exploring alternative community 
management models or community asset transfer for specific sites.

 Detailed playing pitch needs assessment should be undertaken as part of wider 
master planning of the Exeter Arena and Wonford sites.

 There is a need to develop more detailed feasibility of playing field sites with 
more than 3 pitches and multiple changing room/pavilion buildings.

Page 116



 
 We have not included Bowls or Tennis in our PPS or Built Facilities report, yet 

we have a significant stock on our sites and well established community & club 
provision.

8.22 The final strategy sets out a revised set of priority actions based on this consultation 
feedback.

8.23 Play Areas

8.24 999 residents commented on the Play Area proposals through the on-line survey. 
Alongside commenting on proposals residents were asked how often they use 
council play areas and how they travel to access them. The full details are in 
Appendix A but specific headlines for play areas include:

 37% of residents use play areas at least once a month, with 8% using them on 
a daily basis.

 67% of young families (with children aged 0-10) use play areas at least once a 
week.

 90% residents walk to their local play area.
 67% travel less than 10 minutes to get to their local play area.
 Generally residents are willing to travel up to 15 minutes to their local play area. 
 95% residents would like the Council to continue to provide free, inclusive, well 

equipped play areas.

This shows the high value people in Exeter place on local play areas and the ability 
to be able to walk to their local play area.

8.25 RedQuadrant were commissioned to co-ordinate listening exercises on the Play Area 
proposals: a full report including the details of responses from residents is in 
Appendix C. 

8.26 Respondents were asked how much they agreed or disagreed with some key 
statements

Statement Response
The aims and approach 
recommended are fair and 
reasonable

86% (59% very high and 27% high) considered the aims 
and approach recommended as fair and reasonable.

These are the right 
priorities for Exeter

80% (55% very high and 25% high) considered these are 
the right priorities for Exeter

Overall, I support these 
proposals

83% (60% very high and 25% high) considered that 
overall they could support the proposals.

Statement Response
The City Council should continue to 
provide free, inclusive, well equipped 
play and recreational areas for all ages

95% (88% very high and 7% high) of 
residents agreed with this proposal

In certain smaller play areas, old and 
unsafe play equipment should not be 
replaced in order to allow other larger 
play areas to be improved

33% (55% very high and 25% high) of 
residents agreed with this proposal

Page 117



 

8.27 In addition over 90 people sent emails to the ‘have your say’ inbox:
. 

 10% were from residents concerned about the potential closure of their local play 
area.

  A petition with 101 signatures was received on behalf of local residents 
campaigning to continue the maintenance and equipment replacement for 
Fleming Way and Gras Lawn play areas.

 Over 50 residents provided comments as part of open public listening events in 
Whipton (Exeter Arena) and St Thomas (Pleasure Ground).

8.28 Bringing together the feedback from multiple sources it is clear that residents 
overwhelmingly support the Council continuing to provide well equipped, inclusive 
play provision.  People also told us that:

 There is general opposition to closing or not renewing equipment in smaller play 
areas. 

 Local community organisations and residents would like further engagement on 
the future of their local play area and are willing to work in partnership with the 
Council to improve provision.

 Communities are interested in playing a greater role in the future management of 
their local play area, for example: exploring asset transfer, volunteering and 
fundraising.

 Respondents to the survey supported the approach to invest in Strategic Play 
Areas and new Destination Parks.

 The listening exercise and responses to the ‘have your say’ inbox showed some 
concern for Destination Parks citing further travelling distances and impact on 
local play areas.

8.29 It is clear from the feedback that further work is required to understand the amount 
and type of usage of local play areas and there is a need for continued consultation 
and communication on the future developments for play areas.

Increasing the number of Strategic 
Parks and creating new Destination 
Play Parks will enhance play area 
provision for everyone

83% (60% very good and 25% good) 
considered that overall they could support 
the proposals.

Page 118



 
8.30 Having listened to the consultation feedback in relation to Play Areas we are 

changing our focus on key priorities with a more fundamental shift towards further 
engagement with local communities to help inform future developments. We will not 
be closing any of the play areas without prior consultation with users (unless there is 
an overriding health and safety reason to do so. We are not bringing forward 
proposals for developing Destination Parks. New priorities in the strategy are to:

 
 Establish a task group to design a strategic framework and high level priorities 

for the future development of play areas across the city.
 Engage local residents and grass roots organisations in the Sport England 

Local Delivery Pilot areas to understand current usage and help inform future 
plans for local play areas within communities at highest risk of inactivity and 
poor health outcomes.

 Embed active design and play principles into planning policy and guidance in 
respect of parks and play areas for new developments.

8.31 Parks and Green Spaces

8.32 RedQuadrant were commissioned to host two parks & green spaces focus groups 
with key local stakeholders and their full report is in Appendix D. 

8.33 The purpose of the focus groups was to review the priorities in the draft strategy and 
to set out some principles and a potential approach for future engagement with 
residents and communities. 25 representatives of local community organisations 
attended the sessions. The focus groups identified some key emerging strategic 
priorities:

 Commit to maintaining and protecting green spaces in the city.
 Develop a clear policy on Community Asset Transfer.
 Align with Exeter’s health and wellbeing strategies.
 Make biodiversity a key theme.
 Commit to making parks and green spaces accessible to all.

8.34 Key themes that have been identified include:

 An obvious passion for Exeter’s parks and green spaces and a clear 
determination from local organisations to retain and develop them.

 Understanding of the need to do things differently in the context of the Councils 
budgetary pressures.

 Commitment and willingness to support the council with current maintenance 
and future development of parks.

 Communication could be improved and ongoing engagement with residents 
and communities would bring greater benefit.

 Strong wish to involve young people in engagement and future development
 The need to strike a clear balance between physical activity, horticulture and 

wildlife.
 Strong agreement to see less grass cutting and more wild spaces.
 Need to improve positive signage and accessibility for parks & green spaces.
 Community Builders (as party of the Wellbeing Exeter programme) have an 

important role to play in engaging communities with their local green space.

8.35 The revised strategy takes into account this feedback.

Page 119



 
8.36 Next Steps

8.37 Following adoption of the revised strategy the key milestones for delivery are set out 
in the table below.

Area Timeframe
Exeter Arena Community Sports Village 
including new Community Swimming Pool

Outline Business case November 
2019

Wonford Integrated Community Health and 
Wellbeing Centre

Blueprint and site master plan 
December 2019

Community Asset Transfer Policy Draft for Consultation October 
2019

Playing Pitch Strategy and Artificial Grass 
Pitches’ Investment Plan

Strategy and Report October 
2019

Local Football Facility Plan and investment 
Priorities Report

Strategy and Report October 
2019

Play Area Strategic Framework  Draft for Consultation  2020
Parks and Green Spaces  Strategy Draft for Consultation  2020

9. How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?

9.1 The Strategy will contribute to the Corporate Plan objectives of tackling congestion and 
accessibility; promoting active and healthy lifestyles and building great 
neighbourhoods.

10. What risks are there and how can they be reduced?

10.1 The risks to the successful implementation of the Strategy include lack of stakeholder 
engagement and the investment required to deliver on the strategy.  Significant 
investment in built facilities is already in place from the Council and additional 
investment is anticipated for community developments through the Sport England 
Local Delivery Pilot. The partnership approach implicit in the Pilot may identify other 
funding opportunities and priorities in order to deliver the goals of the Pilot. These risks 
will be monitored as the plan develops, and steps taken to mitigate as appropriate.

10.2 Individual business cases will be bought forward for further consideration in due 
course.

11. What is the impact of the decision on equality and diversity; health and 
wellbeing; safeguarding children, young people and vulnerable adults, 
community safety and the environment?

11.1 There is no specific identified negative impact on people with protected characteristics 
as set out in the Disability ACT (2010) created as a result of this strategy.  Therefore 
an Equalities Impact Assessment is not required. However physical activity and sport 
participation levels for some groups with protected characteristics can be lower than in 
other groups of the population. Therefore operational delivery plans connected to this 
strategy will assess and take into account impacts for those particular groups. The 
intended re-procurement of the leisure operator contract during 2019/20 will be 
particularly relevant in this context.

Page 120



 
11.2 It is worth noting that areas with high levels of physical inactivity are more deprived. 

There are higher incidences amongst deprived populations of the types of conditions / 
diseases caused by inactivity. There are some pockets in the city where deprivation 
levels are amongst the top 20% of deprived areas in the Country.  The Physical 
Activity strategy identifies these are priority areas for community development 
programmes and they will be a focus for the Sport England Local Delivery Pilot.  Both 
the Exeter Area and the Wonford site proposed for development are located within 
some of these designated areas in the city.

12. Are there any other options?

12.1 The proposals in the draft strategy have been widely endorsed through the 
consultation process with changes made following consultation feedback so no 
alternative options are being considered.

Director

Jo Yelland

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:-
None

Contact for enquires: 
Democratic Services (Committees)
Room 2.3
01392 265275

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1

Built Facilities, Playing Fields,
Pitches, Play areas, 

Parks & green sPaces strategy
July 2019

EXETER LIVE BET TER & MOVE MORE

Page 123



Foreword

Our leisure centres, playing pitches, community play areas and parks run by the Council 
are a significant asset that promote health and wellbeing and provide great spaces for 
people to come together and enjoy the fantastic environment we have in our city. How 
these facilities are maintained and developed for the benefit of residents and visitors 
alike really matters to us. This is why we are pleased that so many people took the time 
and effort to tell us what they think and we hope that the changes we have made to our 
original proposals and priorities reflect the things you told us. 

We are delighted that so many individuals and groups, passionate about sport and 
leisure, and those who play in our parks and green spaces, are willing to work with 
us. We are committed to working with communities to develop better strategies to 
safeguard these assets for the future. We look forward to seeing the impacts of the 
priority actions set out in this strategy and will keep both groups and individuals 
informed and engaged as plans unfold.

Cllr Ollie Pearson

Portfolio Holder 
Leisure & Physical Activity

Cllr David Harvey

Portfolio Holder 
Environment & City Management 

Page 124



Page 3

Contents

1. The purpose of this strategy    Page 5

2. Built Sports and Leisure Facilities   Page 11 

3. Playing Fields and Pitches     Page 17
     Needs Assessment

4. Community Play Areas     Page 21

5. Parks and Green spaces     Page 29

6. Asset Based Community     Page 33
     Development & Community 
     Sport & Physical Activity

7. Investment Strategy      Page 37  

Page 125



1
Exeter Live Better & Move More: Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play Areas, Parks & Green Spaces Strategy July 2019Page 126



Page 5

1.  The purpose of this strategy
This document sets out how our built facilities, playing fields, 
play areas and parks could be developed in future so that they 
can contribute to the strategic vision of Exeter becoming the 
most physically active city in England and encouraging those 
most at risk of inactivity to become active in everyday life.   

Tackling  
congestion &  
accessibility


Promoting  

active & healthy 
lifestyles


Building great  

neighbourhoods



The Council recognises and actively encourages 
the sporting excellence achieved by local clubs 
and individuals, not only is this good for the 
City in economic terms, but sporting excellence 
motivates people to take up sport and continue 
to participate at all levels.

Increasing physical activity of all kinds, sustaining 
participation, and achieving wider health and 
social outcomes are the challenges we face 
locally and nationally and this is what the Physical 
Activity Strategy sets out to address. 

The Council, along with the wider public sector, is 
facing continued challenges of austerity alongside 
growing demand, expectation and a widening 
inequality gap. Sport, leisure and recreation 
provision are discretionary areas for local 
authorities and it is a measure of the significance 

that this Council places on the health and 
wellbeing of citizens that there continues to be a 
range of sport, leisure and recreation provision 
from the Council.  

Informal play provides the building blocks for 
families to be active, with our youngest residents 
expected to be active for 3 hours a day to realise 
the wide health, social and developmental 
benefits of physical activity.  Community play 
areas and parks are pivotal in providing the 
places for families to meet, be active together, 
learn new skills and receive the wider wellbeing 
benefits of being outdoors.

This document supports the Council’s 2018-2021 
corporate plan (Exeter Corporate Plan 2018-2021)  
which describes the key priorities for the City 
Council and its three strategic programmes:

Page 127



Exeter Live Better & Move More: Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play Areas, Parks & Green Spaces Strategy July 2019

Reduce health  
inequalities


Improve population 
health & wellbeing


Promote community  

resourcefulness


Increase active  

travel



Sport England 
Local Delivery Pilot

  Improving population health & wellbeing
  Reducing health inequalities
  Promoting community resourcefulness
  Increasing active travel

Physical Activity

Built Sports and 
Leisure Facilities

Playing Fields  
and Pitches

Parks, Play Areas 
and Green Spaces

Asset Based Community Development 
Community Sport & Physical Activity

Traditionally these resources have all been 
considered separately and this document is a 
first attempt to draw them together as part of the 
Whole System Change Approach advocated by 
Sport England and proposed within the Physical 

Activity Strategy. There is a clear need  
for the Council to set out an integrated strategy 
for the future of built sports facilities, playing 
fields, pitches, play areas, parks and green 
spaces.

The supporting pillars:

The strategic aims of this report are aligned to those 
of the Physical Activity Strategy which aim to:  

Page 128



Page 7

The main reasons for this are:

1. Delivery of sport and leisure facilities is a 
discretionary area for the Council however it is 
important that the Physical Activity Strategy is 
underpinned by a sustainable approach that 
provides good quality, accessible, community 
based built sports and leisure facilities as well 
as protecting and enhancing play areas, parks 
and open spaces.

2. With on-going funding cuts to councils, we 
need to balance residents' expectations with 
the funding and resources available to the 
Council and to consult as openly as possible 
with the compromises and choices we have to 
make.

3. With the exception of the planned new build 
St Sidwell’s Point Leisure Complex, we have 
an ageing and poor quality built estate. This 
needs a strategic approach to determine areas 
for future investment that will best meet the 
needs of residents in the context of the overall 
resources available to the Council.

4. We need to plan for and invest in our local 
facilities in the context of developments within 
the Greater Exeter Strategic Partnership (GESP)

5. The growth in Play Areas across the city has 
largely been development-led as opposed to 
needs led resulting in an uneven distribution 
and increasing unsustainable repair and 
maintenance costs to the Council.

6. We have statutory duties as a local planning 
authority in line with National Planning Policy 
Framework, updated by the Government 
in February 2019 (chapters 8, 9 and 12 are 
particularly relevant to this report) for the 
provision and protection of sport, green 
spaces and recreation facilities. We are also 
required to publish an assessment of current 
and future needs for playing fields and pitches 
to inform, provide evidence for and make 
recommendations in relation to planning 
policies and delivery models.  

7. In planning terms, there are no specific 
requirements within legislation for 
the provision of play areas as part of a 
development, but guidance within the Exeter 
Local Plan (1995-2011 Section DG5), states: 

National Planning Policy Framework  
(paras 96 & 97)    

“Access to a network of high quality open spaces 
and opportunities for sport and physical activity 
is important for the health and well-being 
of communities. Planning policies should be 
based on robust and up-to-date assessments of 
the need for open space, sport and recreation 
facilities (including quantitative or qualitative 
deficits or surpluses) and opportunities for 
new provision. Information gained from the 
assessments should be used to determine what 
open space, sport and recreational provision 
is needed, which plans should then seek to 
accommodate. 

Existing open space, sports and recreational 
buildings and land, including playing fields, 
should not be built on unless:

• An assessment has been undertaken which 
has clearly shown the open space,

• Buildings or land to be surplus to 
requirements; or

• The loss resulting from the proposed 
development would be replaced by equivalent 
or better provision in terms of quantity and 
quality in a suitable location; or

• The development is for alternative sports and 
recreational provision, the benefits

• Of which clearly outweigh the loss of the 
current or former use. 

“Family housing proposals should provide 10% of 
the gross development area as a level open space 
including equipped children’s play space, unless 
there is open space and play provisions in the 
area which is well located and of sufficient size 
and quality to service the development”.

Page 129



Exeter Live Better & Move More: Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play Areas, Parks & Green Spaces Strategy July 2019

As we embark on this exciting journey we have 
a lot to build on; important foundations are the 
sports and leisure facilities, playing fields and 
pitches, parks, play areas and green spaces 
that are owned and run by the Council as well 
as those that are provided by schools, clubs, 
colleges, university and private sector partners.  

Strategic needs assessments and analysis of 
current facilities, future needs and demands have 
been undertaken by independent consultants 
to inform consultation with key communities, 
stakeholders, Sport England and National 
Governing Bodies.

1. Exeter Built Indoor Sports and Leisure Facilities 
Review, October 2018, Max Associates 

2. Exeter City Council Playing Pitch Strategy 2017 
to 2026 Final Draft February 2018 Continuum 
Sport and Leisure Ltd 

3. Exeter Draft Play Report 2017 

(These reports can be found on the Council 
website)

The purpose of this document is to set the 
framework for how the Council will develop its 
existing resources, in partnership with others, to 
contribute to improving physical activity levels in 
the population. It describes high level proposals 
for making the best use of the existing council 
assets taking into account future aspirations for 
the city.  

The proposals in the draft document were widely 
consulted upon during March to May 2019.  

Having listened to stakeholders, communities and 
residents we have made changes to our original 
proposals and these are reflected in this final 
strategy.   

Exeter Built Indoor  
Sports and Leisure  
Facilities Review

Exeter Draft Play  
Report 2017

Exeter City Council  
Playing Pitch Strategy  

2017-2026 

    

Page 130



Page 9Page 9Page 131



2
Exeter Live Better & Move More: Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play Areas, Parks & Green Spaces Strategy July 2019Page 132



Page 11

2. Built Sport and Leisure 
Facilities
Proposals for the Council’s future built sport and leisure facilities 
take into account the facilities we own and lease to others and were 
published in February 2019 for a wide ranging public consultation. 

With the construction of the new flagship St Sidwell’s Point Leisure 
Complex underway, the Council needs to set out sustainable plans for 
the development of other leisure sites in the context of:

• making best use of existing sites at Exeter 
Arena, Wonford and Riverside;

• understanding the key facility needs and 
demands within Exeter;

• planning for the replacement of ageing and in 
some cases poor quality leisure buildings;

• looking to the most effective ways to deliver 
future facilities;

• ensuring affordability and sustainability by 
maximising the income of future sites, and 

• meeting the changing needs of Exeter’s 
growing population.

Through the consultation stakeholders told us 
that they want to help the Council in developing 
its plans and the majority support the approach 
that the Council is taking.  

Whilst people generally understand the financial 
constraints the Council faces they would like to 
see continued investment in built leisure facilities. 

Protecting open green spaces was a major theme 
in the feedback as is the promotion of active 
travel. 

The need to promote water sports in the city 
and the use of the quay and canal side were 
highlighted. 

Our idea for a virtual ski facility as part of the 
Exeter Arena developments is not supported. 

A specific idea for the creation of a strategic 
cycling hub in the city was highlighted and this is 
being taken forward. 

Page 133



Exeter Live Better & Move More: Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play Areas, Parks & Green Spaces Strategy July 2019

Based on an objective needs analysis, the 
conclusion is that, alongside the development of 
the St Sidwell’s Point Leisure Complex to replace 
Pyramids, there is an opportunity to develop 
improved quality facilities across key sites in the 
city. 

These outline proposals provide a framework 
to enable Members to explore a strategy for the 
future which has the delivery of the new leisure 
complex at St Sidwell’s Point at its centre. Whilst 
this reduces the number of sites, it enables 
the Council to improve the overall quality and 
offer of facilities and creates opportunities for 
the Greater Exeter Strategic Sports Board and 
other stakeholders, including local communities 
themselves, to collaborate to enhance our offer 
even further.  

It is clear that consumer choice and opportunities 
continue to widen as the supply of private sector 
provision of fitness facilities continues to grow, 
with the expectation that this will continue until 
the market is saturated. The Council’s facilities 

offering operates within this context, and whilst 
suitable financial performance is essential in 
obtaining best value, it is clear that health and 
wellbeing, physical activity, social inclusion 
and sport as specific drivers all have a place in 
shaping our city-wide facility provision over the 
next decade. 

The Council will need to replace outdated 
facilities and modernise and refurbish some 
sites to improve quality, accessibility and 
variety to support and encourage increasing 
participation, particularly amongst inactive 
groups. Comprehensive business cases, detailed 
feasibility and investment strategies to support 
the proposals will now need to be developed. 

The ability of the Council to provide quality leisure and sport facilities for 
communities in and across the city, in the face ongoing budgetary pressures,       
is a significant challenge. 

Built Sports and Leisure Facilities Needs 
Assessment Summary 

Page 134



Page 13Page 13Page 135



Exeter Live Better & Move More: Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play Areas, Parks & Green Spaces Strategy July 2019

Built Sports and Leisure Facilities Priority Actions
Following feedback on our draft proposals, the following priority actions will be 
taken forward:

1. We will provide St Sidwell’s Point Leisure 
Complex as a replacement for Pyramids 
Swimming and Leisure Centre. Construction 
work has now commenced and opening is 
planned for winter 2020/21.

2. We recognise the importance of the Riverside 
Leisure Centre and Swimming Pool and the 
Council is committed to ensuring it fully 
re-opens. Once re-opened with a new roof, 
health spa and pool we will ensure a rolling 
programme of refurbishment with a long 
term building replacement plan developed to 
ensure sustainability.

3. We will no longer provide pitch and putt 
facilities at  the Northbrook  Approach Golf 
Course, however the Council is not taking 
forward plans to  sell or build on this site. We 
will work with Exeter Golf & Country Club to 
promote affordable membership costs for 
junior golf as part of their expansion plans.

4. We will prioritise plans to provide for a new 
and improved community swimming pool to 
replace the ageing Northbrook Pool.  This will 
be taken forward as part of the developments 
on the Exeter Arena site.

5.  We will bring forward an outline business 
case for the redevelopment of the Exeter 
Arena and ISCA Centre into a Community 
Sports Village. This will  include retention 
of the existing athletics track, playing 
pitches, skate park, indoor bowls and fitness 
facilities alongside new core indoor facilities 
of a new community swimming pool and 
community leisure centre with a sprung 
sports hall and group exercise studios.                                                            

We will also consider the potential inclusion 
of: 

• A strategic cycling hub in partnership with 
British Cycling, national stakeholders and local 
clubs.  This could include an off road cycling 
track, local club provision and a free to use 
outdoor pump track attracting families and 
children to the village.

• Commercial leisure, with possible options to 
include soft play, Junior Tag/Tag Active and 
tenpin bowling facility. 

• Gymnastics centre with a potential lease/
partnership with local clubs. 

• Boxing and martial arts studio with flexible 
space that could be used by a variety of clubs.

• An artificial grass pitch 

• Multi-use changing pavilion/club house 
                                                                                  
The aim is that this mix of facilities, including 
both traditional and innovative facilities will 
make Exeter Arena a destination facility, with a 
focus on young people and family participation. 

There will be activity to suit all age groups and 
abilities, from babies and toddlers using the 
pool or soft play to older people playing bowls.  
The space available on site and level of parking 
is deemed sufficient for this proposed facility 
mix.

6. We will continue to work with Devon County 
Council to improve access to the site through 
walking and cycling and connecting new 
housing developments to the E4 Strategic 
Cycling route.

We will also consider the potential inclusion of:

Page 136



Page 15

7.  We will continue to work with local residents, 
community groups, Sport England and 
other stakeholders to co-design a blue print 
and outline business case for a flagship 
Community Health and Wellbeing Centre to 
replace the Wonford Sports and Community 
Centres.                                                                      
 
The co-design process now underway with 
local residents, community groups, elected 
members and other stakeholders will define 
the exact purpose and facility mix.  This has 
the potential to include:

• Enhanced, flexible & inclusive community 
spaces designed by, and meeting the needs of, 
local residents (this could include space for a 
community kitchen, gardens and café amongst 
a range of other community facilities.)

• Re-provision of a sports hall, group exercise 
space and fitness.  These could be built 
as flexible spaces with a moveable wall to 
allow different activities and classes to be 
delivered in the space, including health related 
programmes.  

• A new primary care centre in partnership with 
Wonford Green GP Practice.

• A new design which connects the centre to the 
adjacent green space including playing pitches, 
play areas, walking & cycling networks and 
Ludwell Valley Park

• Enhancement of the playing pitch provision 
through existing specific Section 106 funding 
for Wonford Playing Fields

8. We will continue to help Exeter Ski Club to 
identify potential future alternative sites for 
relocation from the Clifton Hill site. There is 
no appetite from the club for a ski simulator 
at the Exeter Arena site.

9. We will continue to provide engagement 
opportunities for residents, communities 
and stakeholders to input into future 
built facility development plans.  We will 
communicate regularly to ensure the public 
are well informed and have the opportunity 
to contribute to any future consultation 
regarding specific sites and plans as they 
emerge.

New four court 
sports hall 

New community health and  
wellbeing centre

Cycling Hub



Better swimming 
pools

Group Exercise 
Studios


Page 137



3
Exeter Live Better & Move More: Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play Areas, Parks & Green Spaces Strategy July 2019Page 138



Page 17

It is based on historic data collected between 
2014 and 2017 from site visits and consultation 
with sports bodies, education providers and 
community sports clubs. 

During the consultation period council officers 
held discussions with Sport England, National 
Governing Bodies (NGBs) and local stakeholders 
with a significant interest in the future provision 
of playing pitches

The needs assessment:

• Identifies to what extent there is a need to 
continue to protect the city’s overall supply  
of playing fields suitable for playing  
pitch-based outdoor sports. 

• Highlights where there is a need to enhance 
the quality at several playing field sites as 
resources allow. 

• Sets out an emerging need for increased 
provision to meet future demand as a result  
of planned housing growth.

The recommendations take into account 
council owned facilities, leases to others and 
those owned privately and by schools, colleges, 
university, clubs and Devon County Council. 

The playing pitch needs forecast to 2026 based 
on the historic assessments are in this table:

Pitch Sport* No. of Secured 
Pitches

No. Required 
by 2026 Difference

Cricket 11 13 +2

Adult Football 25 27 +2

Youth Football 6 13 (mix of 9v9,11v11) +7

Mini Soccer 12 14 (mix of 5v5, 7v7) +2

Adult/Youth Rugby 6 7/8 +1/2

Midi/Mini Rugby 3 6 +3

Hockey 8 8 0

Table 3: Playing Pitch Needs Forecast

Source: Continuum Leisure Report 2018  
*All hockey play takes place on Artificial Grass Pitches (AGPs). There is sufficient supply of hockey AGPs in the City    
(8 full size pitches) to meet forecast needs to 2026.

3. Playing Fields & Pitches Needs 
Assessment
The Council commissioned a detailed needs assessment from 
Continuum Leisure, which was completed in 2018.  This used 
the ten step approach recommended in the Sport England 
Playing Pitch Strategy Guidance (October 2013).

Page 139



Exeter Live Better & Move More: Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play Areas, Parks & Green Spaces Strategy July 2019

Community Access Playing Pitches

City Boundary
Ward Boundaries
Industrial Estates
Valley Parks

Football
Cricket
Rugby
Hockey
Other 

Legend: Type

This map shows the 
locations of community 
access playing pitches across 
the city and the breakdown 
by sport

Although NGBs highlighted there has not been 
a significant shift in data and priorities in recent 
years, there was a clear consensus that more 
recent data should be used for analysis.  

The following themes were also identified 
through the feedback: 

•  A shortage of both grass and artificial grass    
pitches to meet current demand and expanding 
population growth.

•  Joint work needed with neighbouring councils 
in regard to sports where there is significant 
boundary crossover.

•  Significant potential to improve community 
access on education sites and further work could 
be done to unlock this capacity.

•  An interest in exploring alternative community 
management models or community asset 
transfer for specific sites.

•  Special consideration given to the feasibility of 
playing field sites with more than 3 pitches and 
multiple changing room/pavilion buildings.

•  The need to include bowls and tennis in our 
plans given the number of council owned sites 
and well established community & club provision.

Pennsylvania

Mincinglake  
& Whipton

Pinhoe

Heavitree

St Loyes

Duryard  
& St James

Exwick

St Thomas

St Davids

Alphington

Newtown  
& St Leonard’s Priory

Topsham

Page 140



Page 19

Playing Pitch Priority Actions 
Following the consulation feedback our priority actions have been revised.

1. Create a new Playing Pitch Strategy in partnership 
with Sport England, National Governing Bodies 
and local stakeholders. We will commission 
an updated needs assessment and establish a 
Playing Pitch Steering Group to review the needs 
assessment, adopt the strategy and set priority 
projects for development.  Longer term they will 
meet annually to review progress and update 
the prioritisation of projects to reflect material 
changes in the picture of supply and demand and 
changing scenarios for playing pitches during the 
preceding 12 months

2.  Alongside the development of the Playing Pitch 
Strategy, we will continue working with local 
stakeholders, leagues, clubs and football providers 
to identify key priorities for future investment in 
partnership with the FA and Football Foundation 
to produce a Local Football Facility Plan.  This has 
the potential to unlock significant investment to 
improve football facilities. This will create a short, 
focussed investment plan that will set a vision to 
improve Exeter’s grass roots football facilities.  It 
will prioritise on 4 key areas:

    • New 3G Artificial grass pitches for football
    • Improved changing pavilions/clubhouses
    • Improved grass pitches
    • Better small sided facilities

3. Ensure that the new evidence base is used to 
inform planning applications that affect the use 
of playing fields and formal sports pitches and 
influence future planning policy through the 
developing Exeter Local Plan and Greater Exeter 
Strategic Plan.

4. Ensure that the subsequent evidence base is 
used to inform the priorities for investment from 
external funding agencies, and local authority 
budgets via Section 106 agreements and 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).

5. Enhance the quality of playing fields as resources 
allow by supporting the improvement of, and 
investment into, outdoor pitch facilities and 

clubhouses/pavilions to promote multi-sport 
community use for a wide range of participation in 
activities, meetings and social events.

6. Take a Whole System Change approach to improve 
provision of playing pitch facilities for inactive 
populations in Exeter by identifying the potential 
for extended community use at stakeholder led 
sites, in particular facilities managed by schools 
and colleges.

7. Enhance the quality of playing pitches by 
developing an annual investment plan, as 
resources allow, for the conversion of existing 
pitches into artificial grass pitches to increase 
community physical activity in priority target areas 
identified through the Physical Activity Strategy. 

8. Review current asset management, maintenance 
regimes and pricing structures of all council owned 
and leased pitches to promote community use 
and ensure alignment  with other outdoor sports 
facilities in existing playing field sites, particularly 
bowls, tennis, cycling and street sports (e.g. 
skateboarding).

9. Develop a Community Asset Transfer policy and 
toolkit to support community organisations and 
groups to take ownership and responsibility for 
facilities where it makes sense to do so.                                                                                    

     Develop a masterplan for key strategic sites 
at Wonford and Exeter Arena, and establish 
development plans for all sites with 3 or more 
playing pitches. Ensure the formal playing pitch 
offer fits with the wider active environment of built 
leisure facility, parks & open spaces in the local 
area.

10.

Page 141



4
Destination Play Park  
Victoria Park, Bath

Exeter Live Better & Move More: Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play Areas, Parks & Green Spaces Strategy July 2019Page 142



Page 21

4. Community Play Areas
The Council is committed to ensuring its community play 
areas contribute to helping build a culture of families  
being active together and support children to lead happy, 
healthy lives.
However with on-going austerity measures and 
reducing council budgets we need to ensure 
there is a balanced portfolio of good quality play 
areas across the city. 

In 2019, the Council consulted with residents, 
communities and stakeholders on the future of 
play areas based on these proposals made in an 
independent report commissioned in 2017.

Community Play Areas Needs Assessment 
Summary 

Whilst the drivers for increasing play provision 
in this way has some merit, most often this has 
been connected to new housing developments 
and not against any broader needs basis. 
In the context of council budget pressures, 
an increasingly ageing stock, and escalating 
maintenance costs, the current and continuing 
increase in numbers is unsustainable. The 
increasing requirement to safely manage and 
maintain such equipment, compounded by the 

recent move towards wood-based equipment 
which, particularly when mounted in the 
ground, has a shorter life span than that of steel 
equipment, places great strain on council annual 
revenue budgets. 

The national play categories used in Planning 
Guidance are based upon the Fields in Trust 
definitions. These are:

The draft report explained that local play areas have almost doubled in the last 
30 years with further increases forecast over the next 2 years and beyond. 

Local Areas for Play Aimed at very young children (not necessarily with equipment).

Locally Equipped Areas for Play Aimed at children who can go out to play independently.

Neighbourhood Equipped Areas  
for Play

Aimed at older children.

The National Play Categories

Page 143



Exeter Live Better & Move More: Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play Areas, Parks & Green Spaces Strategy July 2019

Local Play Areas 
Equipment should be provided 
to cater for children of up to 
6-7 years of age.

There should usually be an area up to 400m2 activity area, however, 
larger areas with limited play equipment provision can still be 
categorised as a Local Play Area.  These areas will almost always be 
fenced off, a litter bin should always be provided, and in most cases 
seating as well.

Neighbourhood Play Areas
Equipment should be provided 
to cater for children of up to at 
least 8 years old.

A minimum of 400m2 activity area must be provided.  These areas 
must contain at least five types of play equipment, of which at least 
two items are individual pieces rather than part of a combined multi 
play unit.

Major Play Areas
Equipment should be provided 
to cater for children of up to at 
least 12 years of age.

A minimum 1000m2 activity area must be provided.  At least five 
items should encourage more adventurous play e.g. climbing, 
swinging, balancing, rotating or gliding (cableway), and at least 
three of these should be individual items and not part of combined 
multi play unit.

Strategic Play Areas

Strategic Play Areas will be sites within the ‘Major’ category that are 
of particular importance to a specific ward, an area, or the city as 
a whole.  These sites will often have multi use games area facilities 
for ball games, and perhaps skate provision or other facilities for 
older children and teenagers.

The Council currently maintains 83 equipped play 
areas, including other play related facilities such 
as water play, Multi-Use Games Areas (MUGAs), 
basketball hoops, kick-about goals and skate 

parks. These vary in size, age of equipment, and 
targeted age groups. The table below shows the 
breakdown of existing play areas in the city and 
those currently in the planning stages.

The Council uses a simplified categorisation tool:

Exeter City Play Areas 2017 2018 2019 2020
Local Play Areas 25 27 29 32

Neighbourhood Play Areas 24 24 24 27

Major Play Areas 12 12 12 12

Strategic Play Areas 7 7 7 7

MUGAs 10 11 11 11

Skate Parks 5 5 5 5

Total 83 86 88 94

Table 3: Breakdown of Play facilities within Exeter

Source: Play Area Report 2017

Page 144



Page 23Page 23Page 145



Exeter Live Better & Move More: Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play Areas, Parks & Green Spaces Strategy July 2019

City Boundary
Ward Boundaries
Industrial Estates
Valley Parks
Ancient Woodland
University Campus

Local Play Areas
Neighbourhood Play Areas
Major Play Areas
Strategic Play Areas
MUGAs
Skateparks
Private Play Areas

 

Pennsylvania

Mincinglake  
& Whipton

Pinhoe

Heavitree

St Loyes

Duryard  
& St James

Exwick

St Thomas

St Davids

Alphington

Newtown  
& St Leonard’s Priory

Topsham

Legend: Type

Play Area Locations

The current provision of 
play areas across the city is 
shown in the map above. 

Page 146



Page 25

 

Pinhoe

Heavitree

St Loyes

Topsham

Play Areas for priority action Life expectancy of equipment

Alphington Playing Field Play Area IMMEDIATE

Greenway Play Area IMMEDIATE

King George V Playing Field Play Area IMMEDIATE

Lloyd's Crescent Play Area IMMEDIATE

Tappers Close Play Area IMMEDIATE

Addison Close Play Area 1-2 YEARS

Burrator Drive Play Area 1-2 YEARS

Gloucester Road Play Area 1-2 YEARS

Knights Crescent Play Area 1-2 YEARS

Monkerton Play Area 1-2 YEARS

Mulberry Close Play Area 1-2 YEARS

Fleming Way Play Area 2-3 YEARS

Lancelot Road Play Area 2-3 YEARS

Haccombe Close Play Area 3-5 YEARS

Gras Lawn Play Area 5-10 YEARS

Hylton Gardens Play Area 5-10 YEARS

The report proposed a rationalisation of play   
areas based on three criteria and the introduction 
of a new concept of the “Destination Play Park”.  
The proposed criteria for rationalising Play Areas 
are:

    •  Proximity to local community, and to other 
       play areas.

    •  Play value of the equipment, based on Fields   
        in Trust criteria. 

    •  Designed lifespan & age groups.

Further criteria for evaluating the play value of 
equipment used in the proposed model have 
followed guidelines from Fields in Trust and 
BS EN 1176 as close as reasonably possible. 
In coming to the recommendations for 
rationalisation and enhancements each piece 
of equipment was assessed and this produced 
a relative score used to compare all council play 
areas. 

Page 147



Exeter Live Better & Move More: Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play Areas, Parks & Green Spaces Strategy July 2019

The consultation in 2019 gathered the views 
of residents and communities on three key 
statements.

•  The City Council should continue to provide     
   free, inclusive, well equipped play and 
   recreational areas for all ages.

•  In certain smaller play areas, old and unsafe   
   play equipment should not be replaced in order 
   to allow other larger play areas to be improved.

•  Increasing the number of Strategic Parks and   
   creating new Destination Play Parks will 
   enhance play area provision for everyone.

Whilst the general feedback was overwhelming 
regarding the need for the Council to continue 
providing local play areas, there were challenges 
around the future approach to smaller play areas 
and establishing new Destination Parks.  53% of 
survey respondents disagreed with the proposed 
approach for rationalising smaller play areas in 
favour of improving larger play areas.

Different survey methods produced conflicting 
results on a key aspect of the proposal to invest 
in larger Destination Play Parks and Strategic Play 
Areas by dis-investing in local play areas. Whilst 
survey responders supported the concepts of the 
strategy there was concern about the impacts 
of larger Destination Parks on congestion and 
parking. 

However there is no doubt, from the feedback 
that residents place a very high value on local 
play areas and their ability to be able to walk to 
their local play park.  For example of the 999 
responses to the survey 90% walk to their local 
play area and 67% travel less than 10 minutes to 
get to their local play area.  95% of responders 
said they would like the Council to continue to 
provide free, inclusive, well equipped, local play 
areas. 

Overall, the feedback has identified key priorities 
for future action from community groups and 
play area users proposing for the Council to:

•  Improve inclusivity and access. 

•  Improve usage and broaden diversity of 
    residents and communities accessing 
    play areas.

•  Provide a play offer that meets the needs 
   of a wider range of ages.
 
People told us:

•  That they would like the Council to enable  
    local communities to have a greater say in the 
    future of their play area and people are willing    
    to work in partnership with the Council to 
    improve provision.

•  Communities are interested in playing a greater   
    role in the future management of their local 
    play area, for example: exploring asset transfer, 
    volunteering and fundraising.

•  Further work is required to understand the 
    amount and type of usage of local play areas. 

•  There is general opposition to closing or not 
    renewing equipment in smaller play areas.

Page 148



Page 27

Play Area Priority Actions

1. We will not close any play areas without 
further engagement with local communities.  
We will introduce a more fundamental 
shift towards further engagement with 
local communities to help inform future 
developments.

2.  In the short term where health and safety 
risks are identified and repairs cannot be done 
safely within existing budgets, individual pieces 
of equipment may need to be removed.

3. We will establish a Task Group to agree a new 
strategic framework and high level priorities 
for the future development of play areas 
across the city.

4.  We will focus on developing those play areas 
in communities at highest risk of inactivity 
and poor health outcomes.  These areas have 
been identified through our work with the 
Sport England Local Delivery Pilot and we will 
work with families in these areas to help them 
access their local play area.

5.  We will engage local residents and grass 
roots organisations through an Asset Based 
Community Development approach to 
understand current usage and help inform 
future plans for local play areas.  

6.  We will focus on areas of significant housing 
development and embed active design 
principles into planning policy in respect of 
parks and play areas.  We will publish an 
‘Exeter Design Guide’ for play areas that will 
provide a framework for local communities to 
take more ownership and involvement in their 
local play area.

7.  We will ensure that the evidence base and 
needs assessment is used to support future 
policy and practice to ensure that Local Play 
Areas secured by developments through 
Section 106, or other planning arrangements, 
meet the long term needs of local residents. 

8. We will enhance the quality of community 
play areas as resources allow, ensuring 
effective and sustainable asset management 
programmes are in place.

The Council has listened to the consultation feedback from residents and 
community groups. 

Page 149



5
Exeter Live Better & Move More: Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play Areas, Parks & Green Spaces Strategy July 2019Page 150



Page 29

5. Parks and Green spaces
Public parks are in the main owned and managed by Local 
Authorities, providing publicly-accessible green space for 
recreation for the whole population.
Today, as garden space for modern housing 
decreases, there is a greater need for recreational 
space for people to be outdoors and experience 
the positive mental and physical wellbeing 
benefits of parks and green spaces. The Council’s 
recreational green space land holdings have 
increased to around 177 hectares. 13 acres of 
additional green space have been purchased 
by the Council in the last 18 months. This 
comprises of a wide range of land use definition, 
including formal parks, playing fields, allotments, 
woodlands and informal green space such as 
pocket parks. 

Current objectives in the Exeter Local Plan 
(Section 7.0) are to:

• resolve any deficiencies in the quantity, quality 
and accessibility of sports, green spaces and 
recreation facilities; 

• protect or enhance green space and recreation 
provision that is, or has the potential to be,  
of value to the community; 

• locate green space, sports and recreation 
facilities where they are accessible by a choice 
of modes of transport and especially by foot, 
bicycle or public transport; 

• provide good quality green space and built 
recreational facilities as an integral part of new 
or expanding communities. 

In that context, we wish to ensure our parks and 
green spaces continue to provide a place for 
people to connect, enjoy the environment and 
lead active lifestyles through the broad range 
of free, informal and formal activities on offer. 
However the budget pressures facing the council 
in the short and medium term require us to look 
at innovative, collaborative and community led 
approaches to managing and developing our 
parks & green spaces in the future. 

We have a wealth of community expertise, 
passion and drive within the city and some 
excellent current practice from which to learn 
and develop alternative models to improving 
our green space. Our parks and green spaces 
provide a fundamental plank of our ambition 
to be an active city and contribute towards 
improved health and wellbeing of residents and 
communities across the city.

Our current intelligence and mapping identifies 
the following council owned sites:

26 
allotment sites 

(1500 plots)

12
Formal parks &  

pocket parks

9 
Playing  
fields

39
hectares of 
woodlands 

 
Page 151



Exeter Live Better & Move More: Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play Areas, Parks & Green Spaces Strategy July 2019

1. Work with existing local community 
organisations passionate about parks & 
open spaces to implement a programme of 
engagement to help shape the future of green 
space in Exeter.  

2. Undertake a current audit and needs 
assessment of the City’s green space, 
including those in the ownership of other 
bodies which have existing or potential public 
access.

3. Map and develop linkage of parks and 
green space with cycle and footpaths as 
part of a Green Corridor network across the 
city, providing safe off-road travel within 
communities.  

4.  Develop a plan to improve walking and 
cycling infrastructure, positive signage and 
accessibility to local parks and green spaces 
to enable and encourage more residents to 
enjoy the benefits of green space.

5. Provide support and opportunity to grass 
roots community groups wishing to take on 
more responsibility in managing, maintaining 
and developing parks & green spaces.

The consultation in 2019 gathered the views of 
residents, key local stakeholders and community 
organisations interested in the future of parks 
& open spaces.  25 representatives from local 
groups and organisations provided feedback 
on key strategic themes, proposed priorities 
and ideas for how to engage communities and 
residents in shaping future plans for green space.

Overall the feedback has identified a clear 
understanding of the need to do things 
differently in the context of the council’s 
budgetary pressures and some key themes for 
future development of parks and open spaces:  

•  Green spaces in the city should be protected    
    and maintained.

•  Parks & green spaces should be 
    accessible to all. 

•  Biodiversity is as important as accessibility:          
    there is need to balance physical activity,  
    horticulture and wildlife.  

•  Community groups and organisations should     
    have a greater say in the future development of        
    parks and green spaces.  

•  Communities are interested in playing a greater   
    role in the future management of parks and 
    open spaces; a clear asset transfer policy is 
    needed to support them.  

•  Communication could be improved and   
    ongoing engagement with residents and 
    communities would bring greater benefit.  

•  Community Builders (as part of the Wellbeing      
    Exeter programme) have an important role to 
    play in engaging communities, in particular 
    young people with their local green space.

Parks and Green Spaces Priority Actions
The previous Parks and Green Spaces Strategy dates back to 2005. There is now  
a need to renew this in consultation with communities and other stakeholders. 
During 2019/20, priority actions are to:

Page 152



Page 31

City Boundary
Ward Boundaries
Priority LSOA's
Formal Parks

Woodland
Allotments
Playing Fields
Open Space Areas 

Legend: Type

Pennsylvania

Mincinglake  
& Whipton

Pinhoe

Heavitree

St Loyes

Duryard  
& St James

Exwick

St Thomas

St Davids

Alphington

Newtown  
& St Leonard’s Priory

Topsham

Parks & Green spaces

Page 153



6
Exeter Live Better & Move More: Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play Areas, Parks & Green Spaces Strategy July 2019Page 154



Page 33

6. Asset Based Community 
Development and Community 
Sport & Physical Activity
The Council is committed to the principles of community–led 
development in its support for local communities. 
These principles are described in the 
Exeter Community Strategy (http://
exetercommunityforum.net/doing-3/community-
strategy) published by the Exeter Community 
Forum and adopted by the Council in March 
2016. Asset Based Community Development 
(ABCD) builds on the assets that are found 
in the community and mobilises individuals, 
associations, and institutions to come together to 
realise and develop their strengths.

An ABCD approach spends time identifying the 
assets of individuals, associations and institutions 
that form the community. 

The identified assets from an individual are 
matched with people or groups who have an 
interest in or need for those strengths. The 
key is beginning to use what is already in the 
community. Then to work together to build on 
the identified assets of all involved.  

Wellbeing Exeter

Wellbeing Exeter is a partnership of the public, 
voluntary and community sector working 
together to help people from dependence on 
services into increased involvement within their 
community and provides the foundations for 
individuals and communities to improve and 
promote their own health and wellbeing.  

Wellbeing Exeter is funded by Exeter City Council, 
Devon County Council and NEW Devon Clinical 
Commissioning Group. It started in 2015 with 
one GP and now all 139 GPs in the 16 Exeter GP 
Practices and the NHS Community Rehabilitation 
Team refer patients who they believe will benefit 
to one of 17 local Community Connectors.  

A Community Connector works with the person 
to identify what matters to them and plan a way 

forward. Together, they start to engage with 
their local community with a level of support 
that reflects the individuals’ needs and wishes.  
Simultaneously, 13 Ward-based Community 
Builders are working with and listening to 
communities, identifying social resources, 
stimulating activity, and supporting those 
communities to do more together. 

Wellbeing Exeter has been nationally recognised 
for its good work and has been featured in recent 
reports by Public Health England and Office for 
Civil Society, Department for Digital, Culture, 
Media and Sport as an exemplar. In 2019, 
through the Sport England Local Delivery Pilot 
further investment will go into Wellbeing Exeter 
to support communities and individuals to get 
more active.

The Council will continue to lead and develop Wellbeing Exeter as the main 
mechanism to support communities to do more to help themselves.

Page 155



Exeter Live Better & Move More: Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play Areas, Parks & Green Spaces Strategy July 2019

Community Sport

Sport plays a significant part in people’s choice 
to be active, from participating in a club, 
attending regularly co-ordinated sessions, playing 
informally with friends through to becoming an 
elite athlete in your chosen sport.

In recent history the role of partnerships and 
networks in the city has helped grass roots 
community sport grow.  Support from the Greater 
Exeter Strategic Sports Board, the Exeter Health 
& Wellbeing Board and the Active Exeter network 
has helped to bring a range of organisations and 
expertise together to help with the aspiration of 
Exeter being the most active city.

The Local Active Partnership, Active Devon, 
our two professional sports club community 
programmes: Exeter City Football Club, City 
Community Trust and Exeter Chiefs Community 
Department, work alongside education, health, 
community & voluntary sector groups to provide 
a range of targeted programmes and campaigns 
to help more people lead active lives.

Recently the Get Active Exeter, Sport England 
funded community programme sponsored by the 
Exeter Health and Wellbeing Board, has enabled 
over 2,000 residents to join a range of physical 
activity and sport sessions aimed at helping less 
active adults to move more every week.   

It is collaborative programmes such as these 
that help bring resources, expertise and energy 
together in the city to engage communities, 
volunteers and residents to help people lead 
more active lifestyles.

The community sport landscape is underpinned 
by local clubs, groups and their army of hard 
working volunteers that provide countless 
hours of their time to deliver high quality sports 
sessions. There are hundreds of these sports 
clubs and groups in the city affiliated to National 
Governing Bodies, more informally constituted 
or simply a connection of people meeting on a 
regular basis to enjoy their favourite sport.

The challenges of everyday life, changing 
attitudes of how people choose to be active 
and a range of barriers to participating in sport 
continue to make it a tough task for voluntary 
clubs to administer and deliver their activities.  
Through the community based programmes 
within the Sport England Local Delivery Pilot  
we will identify how to support, develop & grow  
the community physical activity and sport 
system by pooling together the resources, 
intelligence and expertise of all the professional 
organisations, voluntary clubs, grass roots 
community groups and volunteers across the city.

Exeter has a long and successful tradition of community sport with a vast array 
of community organisations, charities, local clubs, informal groups offering a 
range of opportunities for people to access more formal sport and physical 
activity opportunities. 

Page 156



Page 35

Asset Based Community Development  
and Community Sport & Physical Activity  
Priority Actions

1. In partnership with Sport England and local 
GPs we will develop a physical activity based 
social prescribing programme within Wellbeing 
Exeter. 

2. In partnership with Devon County Council and 
NEW Devon Clinical Commissioning Group we 
will secure long term funding for the growth 
and development of Wellbeing Exeter.

3. In partnership with Active Devon and the 
Active Exeter Network we will provide support, 
develop and grow community sports and 
physical activity groups by;

• Identifying the workforce development 
requirements across the sport and physical 
activity network.

• Connecting clubs and groups locally with 
professional support, resources and training 
and identify collaborative approaches within 
the community sport network.

• Helping clubs & groups access existing digital 
communities of learning and resources to 
support improvement and sustainability – e.g. 
https://www.sportengland.org/our-work/club-
matters/ 

• Helping clubs reach out to new communities 
and residents across Exeter, particularly those 
populations under-represented in community 
sport (disabled people, BME groups, street 
attached).

•  Exploring alternative models for clubs and 
groups to become financially sustainable.

During 2019/20 officers are recommending the following actions:

 
Develop a physical 

activity social prescribing 
programme

Secure long term funding 
for the growth of Wellbeing 

Exeter

Provide support, develop 
and grow community sports 

and physical groups

Page 157



7
Exeter Live Better & Move More: Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play Areas, Parks & Green Spaces Strategy July 2019Page 158



Page 37

7. Investment Strategy
The Physical Activity Strategy (2019) sets out the  
wider societal benefits of living an active lifestyle.
Sport England have also highlighted the  
economic value of sport for Exeter, the 2017 
headlines include:

• Gross Value Added for sports participation in 
Exeter totals £34.2 million per year, this covers 
subscription fees, equipment and sportswear 

•  Gross Value Added for non-participation 
related sports totals £14.9 million, this includes 
spectator sport and subscriptions Sports.

• Total value of the industry to Exeter totals 
£49.1 million employing around 1,467 people.

TICKET

  

Source: Sport England Mini Sports Profiles

£34.2m
per year for sports participation

£14.9m
per year for non-participation sports

£49.1m
in total for the industry

1,467 people
employed within the industry

Page 159



Exeter Live Better & Move More: Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play Areas, Parks & Green Spaces Strategy July 2019

The growth of Exeter provides the Council with 
the opportunity to generate capital funding from 
development that can be channelled into meeting 
the growing needs of the City. An investment 
strategy will need to be put place to support the 
proposed actions.  

A funding strategy will need to be developed to 
support the proposed investments, this will need 
to consider the issues raised in the table below:

Funding Route Recommendations

Community 
Infrastruc-
ture Levy 
(CIL)

The current Regulation 123 List indicates 
that CIL may be spent on ‘public realm 
enhancements’. (CIL) receipts do not have to 
be spent in any particular locality, and there 
is consequently more geographical flexibility 
around investment decision making.

Amend the Regulation 123 List to 
refer more specifically to the priorities 
identified in this report  and thereby 
communicate more clearly the 
intention to fund these through CIL.  

Section 106 
Agreements

S106 funding has been geographically linked 
to the development, resulting in more recent 
years in an abundance of play areas to the 
east of the city, but virtually no contributions 
to new or upgraded play areas to the west.

Review options for improved S106 
agreements particularly in relation 
to play areas and playing pitch 
enhancements in the context of the 
revised Local Plan.

Rationalising 
provision and 
reducing the 
number of  
sites

Reduced burden of outdated leisure 
facilities and buildings alongside improving 
procurement and sustainability options will 
reduce revenue costs of maintenance in real 
terms.

Re-siting of leisure facilities may offer 
the release of assets for development 
and capital receipts. The funds raised 
may contribute to improved facilities 
elsewhere in line with priorities.

External  
funding  
sources

By refocussing provision to achieve wider 
aims in terms of a more active and healthy 
lifestyle, and through partnering with 
community groups, stakeholders and 
strategic partners.  There is a wealth of 
good practice emerging in the city with local 
community groups accessing significant 
funds through grants, trusts and other 
external sources.

Adopting alternative models 
of community ownership & 
management through a future 
Council Community Asset Transfer 
model, local community groups can 
explore the potential of owning, 
managing and developing play areas 
themselves.

Issues with proposed investments:

Page 160



Page 39

Further detailed feasibility and outline business cases will now be drawn 
up and presented to Council during 2019/20.  

There are a number of assumptions in relation  
to the high level financial strategy that underpin 
the recommendations and action plan, these are:

1. Capital funding from the sale of identified 
leisure sites: Clifton Hill Sports Centre and 
Pyramids Swimming Pool and Leisure Centre.

2.  Capital funding directly from residential 
development opportunities at specific sites is 
channelled directly towards new facilities at 
Wonford and Exeter Arena.

3.  Designated funding from Section 106 and 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) to be 

directed at priority built facility, playing pitch, 
play area and parks & open spaces projects.  
Specific flagship programmes to be highlighted 
in the CIL Regulation 123 list.

4.  Council funding to be used to attract strategic 
finance from external stakeholders such as 
Sport England and Sport National Governing 
Bodies. 

5.  Revenue from the provision of services on 
the leisure sites will need to, at a minimum 
generate sufficient revenue to cover the cost 
of capital borrowing for the developments. 

 Area Timeframe

Exeter Arena Community Sports Village including 
new Community Swimming Pool

Outline Business case 
November 2019

Wonford Integrated Community Health 
and Wellbeing Centre

Blueprint and site master plan 
December 2019

Community Asset Transfer Policy
Draft for Consultation
October 2019

Playing Pitch Strategy and Artificial Grass Pitches’ 
Investment Plan

Strategy and Report 
October 2019

Local Football Facility Plan and investment 
Priorities Report

Strategy and Report 
October 2019

Play Area Strategic Framework  Draft for Consultation  
2020

Parks and Green Spaces  Strategy Draft for Consultation  
2020

Page 161



Exeter Live Better & Move More: Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play Areas, Parks & Green Spaces Strategy July 2019

EXETER LIVE BET TER & MOVE MORE

exeter city council 
civic centre 
Paris street 
exeter 
eX1 1Jn 
united kingdom

www.exeter.gov.uk

Built Facilities, Playing Fields,
Pitches, Play areas, 

Parks & green sPaces strategy
July 2019Page 162



Appendix A

Exeter Live Better & Move More 

Physical Activity Strategy

Report on representative survey of Exeter residents 

Chris Bowden - Marketing Means

Paul Samuels – Exeter City CouncilPaul Samuels – Exeter City Council

April/May 2019

1

P
age 163



Context and Objectives

• Exeter City Council has the vision of Exeter becoming the most physically active city in England , 

encouraging those most at risk of inactivity to become active in everyday life.

• The Council’s 2018-21 Corporate Plan focuses on three key areas:

– Tackling congestion and accessibility

– Promoting active and healthy lifestyles

– Building great neighbourhoods

• The Council is working in partnership with Sport England to encourage active lifestyles through the Exeter & 

Cranbrook  Local Delivery Pilot, and with Devon County Council improve mobility across the city.Cranbrook  Local Delivery Pilot, and with Devon County Council improve mobility across the city.

• Exeter City Council’s Exeter Live Better and Move More Draft Physical Activity Strategy (PAS) describes 

current activity levels and proposes priorities and principles for encouraging active lifestyles.

• The Draft Report on Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play Areas, Parks and Open Spaces sets out in 

more detail how the Council intends to promote physical activity.

• Both documents are being consulted on.  In March 2019. the Council commissioned Marketing Means to 

undertake a face-to-face representative survey of Exeter residents regarding their reactions to key 

elements of both the PAS and the Draft Report.  When we refer to Exeter Residents we mean those that 

took part in the representative survey.

2

P
age 164



Survey Method

• Marketing Means interviewers conducted all interviews face-to-face and in-street in locations in central Exeter and in 

other parts of the city:

– Fore Street area 

– Guildhall area

– Sidwell Street area Exeter College/ Clock Tower area 

– Exeter University area 

– Heavitree - Fore Street

– St. Thomas (Exeter) - Cowick Street 

– Topsham - Fore Street– Topsham - Fore Street

• All interviews were conducted on tablets using a questionnaire designed with the Council’s project team.  Interviewers 

aimed to achieve a reasonably representative sample by age and gender.

• The average interview length was intended to be no longer than 10 minutes.  

• Interviewers showed respondents a series of three summary cards containing key information drawn from the Physical 

Activity Strategy, and on two topics from the report, namely Built Facilities and Community Play Areas.  Respondents 

gave their responses to a short series of questions having had time to read through each summary.  Other questions 

collected information on personal physical activity and demographics.

• The questionnaire was also made available online, attracting 218 responses from residents, while further consultation 

work was also conducted with stakeholders. Those results have been included for comparison purposes.

3

P
age 165



Key Point Summary 

Draft Physical Activity Strategy

• The draft Physical Activity Strategy received strong backing among Exeter residents with 94% 

stating they support it.  Nearly three-quarters of residents gave a ‘Top 2 Box’ score (9 or 10 

/10) which indicates the strength of positive feeling. Top or Bottom 2 Box scores are 

frequently used in commercial research to differentiate ‘advocates’ from those who are more 

passive.

– This support extends across age groups, family types and activity levels of residents.  The – This support extends across age groups, family types and activity levels of residents.  The 

over 65s are the least positive but even this has to judged in context with nearly nine in 

ten in favour.

• Few improvements were suggested which in part reflects the level of support but also the 

limitations of such questions in surveys. Accessibility and active or sustainable travel related 

suggestions were the most frequent.  4% felt unable to comment without more specific 

detail.

• On the whole the Built Facilities Proposals were supported by residents – 85% in support 

(60% top 2 box).  However, some of the specific ideas divided residents.

4

P
age 166



Key Point Summary 

Built Facilities Proposals

• On the whole the Built Facilities Proposals were supported by residents – 85% in support 

(60% top 2 box).  However, some of the specific ideas divided residents suggesting that 

further ECC should engage further on the more divisive ones.

– Riverside Refurbishment & the new Wonford Health & Wellbeing Centre both received  

clear green lights from residents (85% and 66% in favour respectively.

– Closure of Northbrook Golf Course and use of proceeds to enhance City Infrastructure 

narrowly achieved majority support with 51% agreeing (30% top 2 box). 25% oppose this 

(17% bottom 2 box). There is a high level of mid-point and don’t know/refuse responses.

– Closure of Northbrook swimming pool and gym and re-provision at the Arena was 

backed by 41% (21% top 2 box) with 21% opposed.  Again there was a high level of mid-

point and don’t know/refuse responses.

• There are few specific improvements proposed. Those that were provided tend to focus on 

improving existing facilities.  12% of residents ask that ECC stop closing facilities. 

5

P
age 167



Key Point Summary 

Play Area Proposals

• As was the case with Built Facilities, the Play Area Proposals were endorsed in general– 83% 

in support (59% top 2 box).

• Nearly all residents support free, inclusive, well-equipped play provision for all ages (95%  

support). Similarly, nearly eight in ten (78%) support Strategic and Destination Parks.

• However, just over half (53%) oppose the idea of not replacing play equipment in smaller • However, just over half (53%) oppose the idea of not replacing play equipment in smaller 

parks with 33% in favour.  Opposition is highest among families with children under ten years 

(63%).

• Aside from the point above there were few clear suggested improvements to the Proposals.

6

P
age 168



Response to 

Draft Physical Activity Strategy (PAS)Draft Physical Activity Strategy (PAS)

7

P
age 169



Draft Physical Activity Strategy - Summary

8

P
age 170



How much would you agree or disagree with 

these statements about the draft PAS? - Summary

0%1%1%

3%

25% 70%
The aims and approach recommended are 

fair and reasonable 

9

1%

1%

1%

2%

1%

4%

6%

20%

26%

74%

65%

Overall, I support the draft Strategy  

These are the right priorities for Exeter

Don't know/ Refused Very low: 0 or 1 2 to 4 5 6 to 8 Very high: 9 or 10

Source: Marketing Means 2019                     Base: All  respondents (999)

P
age 171



How much would you agree or disagree with these statements 

about the draft PAS? – Summary:  In-street vs Online survey 

responses

1%

5%

0%

2%

4%

1%

1%

5%

6%

12%

3%

26%

45%

25%

65%

31%

70%

These are the right priorities for Exeter  -
IN_STREET

ONLINE

The aims and approach recommended are 
fair and reasonable  - IN_STREET 

10

5%

1%

6%

7%

1%

5%

9%

0%

10%

5%

4%

7%

39%

20%

42%

35%

74%

30%

ONLINE

Overall, I support the draft Strategy  -
IN_STREET

ONLINE

Don't know/ Refused Very low: 0 or 1 2 to 4 5 6 to 8 Very high: 9 or 10

Source: Marketing Means 2019                     Base: All  respondents (999 in-street, 218 online)

P
age 172



Variations by sub-group in agreement (score 6-10) 

with statements about the draft PAS? 

Aims and approach 

fair & reasonable

Right priorities for 

Exeter

Overall, I support the 

draft strategy

ALL Respondents 95% 90% 94%

Age:                                       16-34

35-54

97%↑

95%

95%↑ 97%↑

93%

• Listed below are the proportions of each sub-group giving a score of 6-10 for each statement.  Statistically 

significant differences are marked by a green arrow (↑ significantly higher) or red arrow (↓ significantly lower)

11

35-54

55-64

65+

95%

94%

91%↓

87%↓

91%

85%↓

93%

93%

89%↓

Activity Level:                     Active

Inactive

96%

94%

90%

91%

94%

93%

Family with children?             Yes

No

96%

94%

85%

92%

97%↑

93%↓

Use Built Facilities? Yes

No

96%

94%

91%

90%

95%

93%

P
age 173



Variations by sub-group in disagreement

(score 0-4) with statements about the draft PAS? 

Aims and approach 

fair & reasonable

Right priorities for 

Exeter

Overall, I support the 

draft strategy

ALL Respondents 1% 3% 2%

Age:                                       16-34

35-54

0.5%↓

1%

0.5%

4%↑

0.5%

2%

• Listed below are the proportions of each sub-group giving a score of 0-4 for each statement.  Statistically 

significant differences are marked by a green arrow (↑ significantly higher) or red arrow (↓ significantly lower)

12

35-54

55-64

65+

1%

2%

3%↑

4%↑

3%

8%↑

2%

2%

3%

Activity Level:                     Active

Inactive

1%

2%

3%

3%

2%

2%

Family with children?             Yes

No

0.4%

2%

2%

3%

1%

2%

Use Built Facilities? Yes

No

1%

2%

3%

3%

1%

2%

P
age 174



To what extent you agree or disagree that these 

are the right priorities for Exeter? - Summary

1%

1%

1%

1%

0%

0%

1%

1%

1%

4%

3%

4%

20%

20%

18%

74%

75%

75%

Promoting community resourcefulness 

Reducing health inequalities 

Improving the population’s health & well-
being

13

1%

1%

1%

1%

1%

1%

1%

2%

1%

3%

4%

4%

20%

24%

20%

74%

68%

74%

Adopting a “Whole System Approach"

Increasing active travel as a means of 
reducing congestion

Promoting community resourcefulness 

Don't know/ Refused Very low: 0 or 1 2 to 4 5 6 to 8 Very high: 9 or 10

Source: Marketing Means 2019                     Base: All  respondents  (999)

P
age 175



To what extent you agree or disagree that these are the right 

priorities for Exeter? - Summary :  In-street vs Online survey 

responses

1%

2%

1%

2%

1%

1%

1%

0%

1%

0%

4%

1%

1%

1%

4%

6%

3%

6%

4%

20%

25%

20%

27%

18%

74%

63%

75%

63%

75%

Promoting community resourcefulness  - IN-STREET

ONLINE

Reducing health inequalities  - IN-STREET

ONLINE

Improving the population’s health & well-being - IN-
STREET

14

3%

1%

2%

1%

2%

1%

4%

1%

4%

1%

4%

1%

5%

1%

6%

2%

6%

4%

3%

6%

4%

4%

4%

28%

20%

23%

24%

32%

56%

74%

59%

68%

53%

74%

ONLINE

Adopting a “Whole System Approach" - IN-STREET

ONLINE

Increasing active travel as a means of reducing 
congestion - IN-STREET

ONLINE

Promoting community resourcefulness  - IN-STREET

Don't know/ Refused Very low: 0 or 1 2 to 4 5 6 to 8 Very high: 9 or 10

Source: Marketing Means 2019                     Base: All  respondents  (999 in-street, 218 online)

P
age 176



Variations by sub-group in agreement (score 6-10) 

with statements about the draft PAS 

Improving 

pop’n health/

wellbeing

Reducing 

health 

inequalities 

Promoting 

community 

resourcefulness 

Increasing 

active travel

Adopting 

Whole System 

Approach

ALL Respondents 93% 94% 94% 92% 94%

Age:                               16-34 97%↑ 97%↑ 96%↑ 96%↑ 97%↑

• Listed below are the proportions of each sub-group giving a score of 6-10 for each statement.  Statistically 

significant differences are marked by a green arrow (↑ significantly higher) or red arrow (↓ significantly lower)

15

Age:                               16-34

35-54

55-64

65+

97%↑

92%↓

92%

90%↓

97%↑

95%

94%

89%↓

96%↑

93%

91%

89%↓

96%↑

91%

90%

88%↓

97%↑

92%

91%↓

92%

Activity Level:              Active

Inactive

94%

93%

95%

93%

93%

94%

93%

92%

94%

94%

Family with children?      Yes

No

96%

93%

97%↑

93%↓

95%

93%

93%

92%

96%

93%

Use Built Facilities? Yes

No

95%

92%

97%↑

93%↓

94%

93%

93%

92%

96%↑

93%↓

P
age 177



Variations by sub-group in disagreement (score 0-

4) with statements about the draft PAS 

Improving 

pop’n health/

wellbeing

Reducing 

health 

inequalities 

Promoting 

community 

resourcefulness 

Increasing 

active travel

Adopting 

Whole System 

Approach

ALL Respondents 2% 1% 2% 3% 2%

Age:                               16-34 0.5% 1% 0.5% 1%↓ 0.5%↓

• Listed below are the proportions of each sub-group giving a score of 0-4 for each statement.  Statistically 

significant differences are marked by a green arrow (↑ significantly higher) or red arrow (↓ significantly lower)

16

Age:                               16-34

35-54

55-64

65+

0.5%

2%

2%

3%

1%

1%

1%

3%

0.5%

3%

3%

3%

1%↓

5%↑

4%↑

7%↑

0.5%↓

3%↑

4%↑

2%

Activity Level:              Active

Inactive

1%

2%

1%

1%

2%

1%

3%

4%

2%

2%

Family with children?      Yes

No

1%

2%

1%

1%

2%

2%

3%

4%

1%

2%

Use Built Facilities? Yes

No

1%

2%

1%

2%

2%

2%

3%

4%

1%

2%

P
age 178



How could the draft strategy be improved?  What 

else would you like it to cover?

2%

2%

3%

4%

4%

5%

7%

9%

Improve pedestrian walk ways / places to walk

Improve public transport / make public transport cheaper

Greater awareness / more publicity

Reducing / restricting cars and traffic

Need more information / detail or see it in practice

Improve / better or more cycle lanes

Needs to be accessible / have facilities for all

Nothing / Fine as it is

17

12%

37%

14%

1%

1%

1%

1%

2%

2%

2%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Don't know / No idea

No / No comment

Other

More / improve swimming pools

Better sport / leisure facilities (general)

Get more people moving / walking / exercise (motivation)

Stop closing facilities / reopen

Improve school facilities / more active education in schools

More bike facilities / infrastructure e.g. storage on buses

It's a good idea

Improve pedestrian walk ways / places to walk

Source: Marketing Means 2019              Base: All  respondents (999)

P
age 179



Response to 

Built Facilities ProposalsBuilt Facilities Proposals

18

P
age 180



Draft Built Facilities Proposals - Summary

19

P
age 181



How much would you agree or disagree with 

these statements about Built Facilities? -Summary

2%

2%

5%

2%

4%

3%

6%

6%

28%

29%

54%

58%

These are the right priorities for Exeter

The aims and approach recommended are 
fair and reasonable 

20

2%

2%

4%

5%

3%

4%

6%

6%

25%

28%

60%

54%

Overall, I support these proposals

These are the right priorities for Exeter

Don't know/ Refused Very low: 0 or 1 2 to 4 5 6 to 8 Very high: 9 or 10

Source: Marketing Means 2019                     Base: All  respondents (999)

P
age 182



How much would you agree or disagree with these statements 

about Built Facilities? -Summary :  In-street vs Online survey 

responses

2%

6%

2%

5%

15%

2%

4%

17%

3%

6%

10%

6%

28%

31%

29%

54%

22%

58%

These are the right priorities for Exeter  -
IN_STREET

ONLINE

The aims and approach recommended are 
fair and reasonable  - IN_STREET 

21

6%

2%

6%

19%

4%

15%

19%

3%

21%

10%

6%

11%

25%

25%

28%

22%

60%

20%

ONLINE

Overall, I support these proposals  -
IN_STREET

ONLINE

IN_STREET

Don't know/ Refused Very low: 0 or 1 2 to 4 5 6 to 8 Very high: 9 or 10

Source: Marketing Means 2019                     Base: All  respondents (999 in-street, 218 online)

P
age 183



Variations by sub-group in agreement (score 6-10) 

with statements about Built Facilities 

Aims and approach 

fair & reasonable

Right priorities for 

Exeter

Overall, I support 

these proposals

ALL Respondents 87% 82% 85%

Age:                                       16-34 93%↑ 90%↑ 92%↑

• Listed below are the proportions of each sub-group giving a score of 6-10 for each statement.  Statistically 

significant differences are marked by a green arrow (↑ significantly higher) or red arrow (↓ significantly lower)

22

35-54

55-64

65+

85%↓

87%

76%↓

77%↓

80%↓

73%↓

81%↓

83%↓

74%↓

Activity Level:                     Active

Inactive

87%

86%

83%

81%

86%

83%

Family with children?             Yes

No

92%↑

85%↓

86%

81%

89%↑

83%↓

Use Built Facilities? Yes

No

90%↑

85%↓

84%

81%

86%

84%

P
age 184



Variations by sub-group in disagreement

(score 0-4) with statements about Built Facilities 

Aims and approach 

fair & reasonable

Right priorities for 

Exeter

Overall, I support 

these proposals

ALL Respondents 5% 9% 7%

Age:                                       16-34 3%↓ 5%↓

11%↑

4%↓

• Listed below are the proportions of each sub-group giving a score of 0-4 for each statement.  Statistically 

significant differences are marked by a green arrow (↑ significantly higher) or red arrow (↓ significantly lower)

23

35-54

55-64

65+

4%

5%

10%↑

11%↑

9%

16%↑

9%↑

7%

13%↑

Activity Level:                     Active

Inactive

4%

6%

9%

10%

7%

8%

Family with children?             Yes

No

3%

6%

7%

10%

6%

8%

Use Built Facilities? Yes

No

4%

5%

9%

10%

9%

7%

P
age 185



Approve/disapprove of the Council’s priorities for 

built facilities for sports & leisure? - Summary

15%

14%

17%

8%

8%

6%

9%

6%

21%

23%

30%

43%

Consider closure of Northbrook Approach 
Golf Course and utilise sale proceeds for 
City Infrastructure to include: improved 

walking, cycling, sport and leisure facilities

Create a flagship new Community Health 
and Wellbeing Centre to replace the 
existing Wonford Sports & Community 

Centre

24

22%

7%

15%

2%

9%

2%

13%

4%

20%

19%

21%

66%

Consider closure of Northbrook Swimming 
Pool and Gym Facility and re-provide at a 
developed Exeter Arena Community Sports 

Village

Continue to refurbish Riverside Leisure 
Centre and develop a long term building 

replacement plan

Don't know/ Refused Very low: 0 or 1 2 to 4 5 6 to 8 Very high: 9 or 10

Source: Marketing Means 2019                     Base: All  respondents (999)

P
age 186



Approve/disapprove of the Council’s priorities for built facilities for 

sports & leisure? - Summary :  In-street vs Online survey responses

11%

15%

14%

14%

34%

17%

14%

8%

14%

8%

8%

6%

3%

9%

12%

6%

20%

21%

29%

23%

17%

30%

22%

43%

ONLINE

Consider closure of Northbrook Approach Golf Course and utilise sale 
proceeds for City Infrastructure to include: improved walking, cycling, 

sport and leisure facilities - IN-STREET

ONLINE

Create a flagship new Community Health and Wellbeing Centre to 
replace the existing Wonford Sports & Community Centre - IN-STREET

25

15%

22%

7%

7%

13%

15%

7%

2%

12%

9%

4%

2%

11%

13%

6%

4%

30%

20%

31%

19%

20%

21%

44%

66%

ONLINE

Consider closure of Northbrook Swimming Pool and Gym Facility and 
re-provide at a developed Exeter Arena Community Sports Village - IN-

STREET

ONLINE

Continue to refurbish Riverside Leisure Centre and develop a long term 
building replacement plan - IN-STREET

Don't know/ Refused Very low: 0 or 1 2 to 4 5 6 to 8 Very high: 9 or 10

Source: Marketing Means 2019                     Base: All  respondents (999 in-street, 218 online)

P
age 187



Variations by sub-group in approval (score 6-10) 

of Council priorities for built facilities

Flagship new 

Community 

Health and 

Wellbeing Centre

Consider closure 

of Northbrook 

Approach Golf 

Course

Continue to 

refurbish 

Riverside Leisure 

Centre

Consider closure 

of Northbrook 

Swimming Pool & 

Gym

ALL Respondents 66% 51% 84% 41%

• Listed below are the proportions of each sub-group giving a score of 6-10 for each statement.  Statistically 

significant differences are marked by a green arrow (↑ significantly higher) or red arrow (↓ significantly lower)

26

ALL Respondents 66% 51% 84% 41%

Age:                               16-34

35-54

55-64

65+

71%↑

61%↓

64%

60%↓

57%↑

47%↓

46%↓

44%↓

89%↑

84%

77%↓

80%↓

47%↑

37%↓

36%↓

35%↓

Activity Level:              Active

Inactive

66%

66%

51%

50%

83%

87%

41%

40%

Family with children?      Yes

No

67%

66%

50%

51%

88%↑

83%↓

41%

41%

Use Built Facilities? Yes

No

69%↑

63%↓

51%

50%

88%↑

82%↓

45%↑

38%↓

P
age 188



Variations by sub-group in disapproval (score 0-4) 

of Council priorities for built facilities

Flagship new 

Community 

Health and 

Wellbeing Centre

Consider closure 

of Northbrook 

Approach Golf 

Course

Continue to 

refurbish 

Riverside Leisure 

Centre

Consider closure 

of Northbrook 

Swimming Pool & 

Gym

ALL Respondents 14% 25% 5% 24%

• Listed below are the proportions of each sub-group giving a score of 0-4 for each statement.  Statistically 

significant differences are marked by a green arrow (↑ significantly higher) or red arrow (↓ significantly lower)

27

ALL Respondents 14% 25% 5% 24%

Age:                               16-34

35-54

55-64

65+

10%↓

16%

13%

20%↑

16%↓

29%↑

30%↑

36%↑

4%

4%

5%

7%

16%↓

31%↑

29%↑

29%↑

Activity Level:              Active

Inactive

11%↓

18%↑

24%

28%

5%

4%

21%↓

29%↑

Family with children?      Yes

No

12%

14%

26%

25%

3%

5%

26%

23%

Use Built Facilities? Yes

No

12%

15%

24%

26%

4%

5%

23%

25%

P
age 189



How could these proposals for Built Sports and Leisure 

Facilities be improved?  What else would you like them 

to cover?

2%

3%

3%

3%

4%

8%

9%

12%

Too much proposed / Better money spent elsewhere

It's a good idea / Positive remark about proposals

Need more information

Improved swimming pool facilities / make priority

Ensure they are affordable e.g. have deals or discounts

Improve and use existing facilities

Nothing / Strategy is okay as it is

Stop closing or selling facilities / reopen

28

14%

30%

13%

1%

1%

1%

2%

2%

2%

2%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Don't know / No idea

No / No comment

Other

As long as cycle lanes are improved

Create / maintain green and outdoor spaces

Ensure they are inclusive i.e. all hours or fitness abilities

As long as this happens? Something else doesn't take priority

Improve public transport / transport links/ Reduce congestion

Ensure they are local not centralised / need local facilities

Ensure they are accessible e.g. elderly and disabled can't )

Source: Marketing Means 2019              Base: All  respondents (999)

P
age 190



Response to  

Play Area ProposalsPlay Area Proposals

29

P
age 191



Draft Play Area Proposal - Summary

30

P
age 192



How much would you agree or disagree with 

these statements about Play Areas? -Summary

3%3%2% 6% 27% 59%
The aims and approach recommended are 

fair and reasonable 

31

4%

5%

5%

5%

2%

4%

6%

6%

24%

25%

59%

55%

Overall, I support these proposals

These are the right priorities for Exeter

Don't know/ Refused Very low: 0 or 1 2 to 4 5 6 to 8 Very high: 9 or 10

Source: Marketing Means 2019                     Base: All  respondents (999)

P
age 193



How much would you agree or disagree with these statements 

about Play Areas? -Summary :  In-street vs Online survey responses

5%

8%

3%

5%

11%

3%

4%

13%

2%

6%

13%

6%

25%

38%

27%

55%

17%

59%

These are the right priorities for Exeter  -
IN-STREET

ONLINE

The aims and approach recommended are 
fair and reasonable  - IN_-STREET 

32

8%

4%

8%

15%

5%

14%

12%

2%

11%

11%

6%

14%

36%

24%

35%

17%

59%

18%

ONLINE

Overall, I support these proposals  - IN-
STREET

ONLINE

Don't know/ Refused Very low: 0 or 1 2 to 4 5 6 to 8 Very high: 9 or 10

Source: Marketing Means 2019                     Base: All  respondents (999 in-street, 218 online)

P
age 194



Variations by sub-group in agreement (score 6-10) 

with statements about Community Play Areas

Aims and approach 

fair & reasonable

Right priorities for 

Exeter

Overall, I support 

these proposals

ALL Respondents 86% 80% 83%

Age:                                       16-34

35-54

91%↑

83%↓

85%↑

77%

90%↑

77%↓

• Listed below are the proportions of each sub-group giving a score of 6-10 for each statement.  Statistically 

significant differences are marked by a green arrow (↑ significantly higher) or red arrow (↓ significantly lower)

33

35-54

55-64

65+

83%↓

83%

80%↓

77%

80%

74%↓

77%↓

81%

74%↓

Activity Level:                     Active

Inactive

84%

88%

78%

83%

81%

85%

Family with children?      

Yes, aged 0-10

Yes, 11-18 only

No

87%

86%

86%

82%

78%

81%

82%

81%

83%

Use Built Facilities? Yes

No

85%

86%

78%

82%

81%

83%

P
age 195



Variations by sub-group in disagreement (score 0-

4) with statements about Community Play Areas

Aims and approach 

fair & reasonable

Right priorities for 

Exeter

Overall, I support 

these proposals

ALL Respondents 5% 8% 7%

Age:                                       16-34

35-54

1%↓

7%↑

5%↓

9%

4%↓

10%↑

• Listed below are the proportions of each sub-group giving a score of 0-4 for each statement.  Statistically 

significant differences are marked by a green arrow (↑ significantly higher) or red arrow (↓ significantly lower)

34

35-54

55-64

65+

7%↑

7%↑

10%↑

9%

8%

14%↑

10%↑
9%

12%↑

Activity Level:                     Active

Inactive

6%

4%

9%

8%

8%

7%

Family with children?      

Yes, aged 0-10

Yes, 11-18 only

No

5%

5%

5%

7%

13%

8%

6%

9%

8%

Use Built Facilities? Yes

No

7%↑

4%↓

10%

7%

10%↑

6%↓

P
age 196



Approve/disapprove of the Council’s priorities for 

built facilities for Play Areas? - Summary

2%1%0%2% 7% 88%

In certain smaller play areas, old and 
unsafe play equipment should not be 

The City Council should continue to 
provide free, inclusive, well-equipped play 

and recreational areas for all ages

35

7%

7%

6%

39%

4%

14%

4%

7%

26%

14%

52%

19%

Increasing the number of Strategic Parks 
and creating new Destination Play Parks 
will enhance play area provision for 

everyone

unsafe play equipment should not be 
replaced in order to allow other larger play 

areas to be improved

Don't know/ Refused Very low: 0 or 1 2 to 4 5 6 to 8 Very high: 9 or 10

Source: Marketing Means 2019                     Base: All  respondents (999)

P
age 197



Approve/disapprove of the Council’s priorities for built facilities for 

Play Areas? - Summary :  In-street vs Online survey responses

7%

3%

2%

39%

0%

1%

14% 7%

0%

2%

14%

21%

7%

19%

75%

88%

In certain smaller play areas, old and unsafe play 
equipment should not be replaced in order to allow 
other larger play areas to be improved - IN_STREET

ONLINE

The City Council should continue to provide free, 
inclusive, well-equipped play and recreational areas 

for all ages - IN_STREET

36

6%

7%

5%

12%

6%

33%

16%

4%

22%

14%

4%

8%

29%

26%

22%

22%

52%

9%

ONLINE

Increasing the number of Strategic Parks and creating 
new Destination Play Parks will enhance play area 

provision for everyone - IN_STREET

ONLINE

other larger play areas to be improved - IN_STREET

Don't know/ Refused Very low: 0 or 1 2 to 4 5 6 to 8 Very high: 9 or 10

Source: Marketing Means 2019                     Base: All  respondents (999 in-street, 218 online)

P
age 198



Variations by sub-group in agreement (score 6-10) 

with statements about Community Play Areas

Council should continue to 

provide free, inclusive, well-

equipped play & rec areas for 

all ages

In certain smaller play areas, 

old/unsafe equipment 

shouldn’t be replaced, to 

allow larger play areas to be 

improved

Increasing the number of 

Strategic Parks and creating 

new Destination Play Parks 

will enhance play area 

provision for all

ALL Respondents 95% 38% 79%

• Listed below are the proportions of each sub-group giving a score of 6-10 for each statement.  Statistically 

significant differences are marked by a green arrow (↑ significantly higher) or red arrow (↓ significantly lower)

37

ALL Respondents 95% 38% 79%

Age:                               16-34

35-54

55-64

65+

96%

96%

89%↓ 

92%

38%

37%

40%

38%

85%↑

74%↓

73%↓

74%↓

Activity Level:              Active

Inactive

94%

96%

39%

35%

78%

79%

Family with children?      

Yes, aged 0-10

Yes, 11-18 only

No

97%

94%

95%

29%↓

32%

41%↑

78%

77%

80%

Use Built Facilities? Yes

No

96%

94%

40%

36%

79%

78%

P
age 199



Variations by sub-group in disagreement (score 0-

4) with statements about Community Play Areas

Council should continue to 

provide free, inclusive, well-

equipped play & rec areas for all 

ages

In certain smaller play areas, 

old/unsafe equipment 

shouldn’t be replaced, to 

allow larger play areas to be 

improved

Increasing the number of 

Strategic Parks and creating 

new Destination Play Parks 

will enhance play area 

provision for all

1% 54% 10%

• Listed below are the proportions of each sub-group giving a score of 0-4 for each statement.  Statistically 

significant differences are marked by a green arrow (↑ significantly higher) or red arrow (↓ significantly lower)

38

1% 54% 10%

Age:                            16-34

35-54

55-64

65+

1%

1%

2%

3%

55%

55%

50%

52%

5%↓

14%↑

9%

15%↑

Activity Level:          Active

Inactive

1%

2%

51%↓

58%↑

10%

11%

Family with children?      

Yes, aged 0-10

Yes, 11-18 only

No

2%

0%↓

1%

64%↑

58%

51%↓

12%

9%

10%

Use Built Facilities? Yes

No

1%

1%

53%

55%

10%

10%

P
age 200



How could these proposals for Community Play Areas be 

improved?  What else would you like them to cover?

2%

2%

3%

4%

4%

5%

6%

11%

Ensure they are inclusive i.e. all age ranges / teenagers

Safe environment/ monitored and upkeep e.g. lighting

Transport links / location of parks being near for all

Concerns prioritising some play areas over others - unfair

Stop closing parks / building on green spaces

Need more information

Improve / maintain existing facilities

Nothing / Strategy is okay as it is

39

15%

38%

10%

1%

2%

2%

2%

2%

2%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Don't know / Don't use to know

No / No comment

Other

As long as this happens/ ensure nothing else takes priority

Ensure they are accessible e.g. disabled children

It's a good idea / Positive remark about proposals

Create more parks / more locations / green spaces

Provision for adults/ whole community (e.g. seating, café)

Ensure they are inclusive i.e. all age ranges / teenagers

Source: Marketing Means 2019              Base: All  respondents (999)

P
age 201



APPENDIX

40

P
age 202



Physical Activity in Exeter

41

P
age 203



Would you like to do more physical activity or 

exercise?

61%

49%

16-34 (396)

ALL (999)

42

25%

41%

50%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

65+ (194)

55-64 (138)

35-54 (271)

Source: Marketing Means 2019                        Base: All  respondents 

P
age 204



What stops you from doing more physical 

activity or exercise?

14%

16%

18%

19%

50%

Health problems/ Disability

Not enough motivation

Not enough time – due to home life

Costs involved

Not enough time – due to work

43

9%

3%

3%

8%

9%

14%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

Other reason(s)

Not sure how to start/ what to do

Lack of confidence

Not enough time – due to childcare

No convenient/ accessible facilities

Health problems/ Disability

Source: Marketing Means 2019              Base: All  respondents who would like to do more physical activity/ exercise (489)

P
age 205



Why don’t you want to do more physical activity 

or exercise?

6%

12%

12%

18%

59%

Costs involved

Not enough time – due to home life

Health problems/ Disability

Not enough time – due to work

No need to do more/ Do enough already

44

7%

1%

3%

5%

5%

6%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

Other reason(s)

Not sure how to start/ what to do

Not enough time – due to childcare

Can’t be bothered/ Not interested/ Lack 
of motivation

Not important to me

Costs involved

Source: Marketing Means 2019              Base: All  respondents who would like to do more physical activity/ exercise (510)

P
age 206



Current use of Built Facilities for Physical Activity 

in Exeter

• In a typical month, do you or your family use any Exeter City Council-owned built facilities for sport and 

leisure?

4%

4%

8%

13%

15%

Other built leisure facilities outside Exeter

Exeter Arena

Riverside Pool and Leisure Centre

Pyramids Pool and Leisure Centre

Other built leisure facilities within Exeter

45

1%

62%

1%

1%

1%

1%

3%

3%

4%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70%

Don’t know / Refused

None

ISCA Centre

Northbrook Golf Course

Clifton Hill Driving Range

Clifton Hill Ski Slope

Northbrook Swimming Pool

Wonford Sports Centre

Other built leisure facilities outside Exeter

Source: Marketing Means 2019                 Base: All respondents (999)

P
age 207



Current use of Community Play Areas in Exeter

• How often do you or other members of your household use community play areas in Exeter, for example, a 

playground or play park? 

1%

1%

10%

50%

9%

11%

14%

10%

49%

19%

18%

8%

Families with young 
children 0-10 (166)

ALL (999)

46

1%

1%

61%

43%

10%

15%

9%

15%

13%

15%

6%

12%

No dependent children 

(728)

Families with only older 
children 11-18 (99)

Don’t know/ Refused Never Sometimes, but less often than once a month Less often but at least once month Not daily, but at least once a week Daily

Source: Marketing Means 2019                     Base: All  respondents

P
age 208



How travel to use Community Play Areas in 

Exeter

• How do you or they normally travel to use a play area?  

10%

90%

Drive by car

Cycle

Walk

47

0%

1%

3%

11%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Don’t know

Other

Public Transport

Drive by car

Source: Marketing Means 2019                 Base: All respondents/households who use play areas (487)

P
age 209



Travel time to Community Play Areas in Exeter

• How long does it normally take to get there?

12%

19%

34%

33%

Longer, up to 30 minutes

Longer, up to 15 minutes

Longer, up to 10 minutes

Up to 5 minutes

48

1%

2%

12%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

Don’t know

Longer than 30 minutes 

Longer, up to 30 minutes

Source: Marketing Means 2019                 Base: All respondents/households who use play areas (487)

MODE ALL Walk Cycle Car Public 

Transport

Other

Mean travel 

time (mins)
9.2 ± 0.3 8.9 ± 0.4 12.0 ± 1.3 10.6 ± 1.0 17.2 ± 3.2 7.4 ± 6.0

P
age 210



Time willing to spend travelling to use a good 

Community Play Area in Exeter

• How long would you (or they) be willing to travel to use a good play area? 

28%

31%

25%

8%

Longer, up to 30 minutes

Longer, up to 15 minutes

Longer, up to 10 minutes

Up to 5 minutes

49

MODE ALL Walk Cycle Car Public 

Transport

Other

Mean travel 

time (mins)
15.3 ± 0.5 15.2 ± 0.5 17.9 ± 1.7 16.5 ± 1.6 19.5 ± 3.5 10.8 ± 5.6

3%

6%

28%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

Don’t know

Longer than 30 minutes 

Longer, up to 30 minutes

Source: Marketing Means 2019                 Base: All respondents/households who use play areas (487)

P
age 211



Demographics

50

P
age 212



Response and Weighting

• The interviewing team achieved 999 interviews with Exeter residents between 3rd April and 5th May 2019.

• The full set of data captured was checked and edited after uploading to Marketing Means

• To allow for any biases in the profile of the sample of residents interviewed, the demographic profile of the 

data were weighted to National Statistics 2017 mid-year population estimates for Exeter, by gender and by 

age group (16-24, 25-34, 35-44, 45-54, 55-64 and 65+).  

• Rounding - The percentage figures quoted in the charts and tables in this report have been rounded to the • Rounding - The percentage figures quoted in the charts and tables in this report have been rounded to the 

nearest whole number value.  In some cases, adding these rounded values will not total exactly 100%.

• Online survey results:  At some points in this report, we include a comparison of the in-street survey results 

with those from the online survey of Exeter residents.  As the online survey was open for anyone to complete 

it was also therefore self-selecting and open to a disproportionate level of response from groups with a 

particular interest in some aspect of the PAS and related topics.  We have not therefore merged this with our 

‘main’ in-street survey dataset.  We also provide a comparison of the unweighted profiles of the in-street and 

online survey datasets vs National Statistics’ population profiles for Exeter at the end of the report.

51

P
age 213



Home postcode

27%

21%

EX2 (southern)

EX1 (central & eastern)

52

10%

37%

5%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

Refused/ Not stated

EX4 (northern)

EX3 (Topsham)

Source: Marketing Means 2019                 Base: All respondents (999)

P
age 214



Home postcode (comparison of Exeter Representative 

Survey  & Online Survey with Royal Mail residential 

address file)

6%

47%

19%

5%

27%

21%

3%

33%

19%

EX3 (Topsham)

EX2 (southern)

EX1 (central & eastern)

53

0%

0%

2%

26%

6%

10%

0%

0%

37%

0%

0%

0%

45%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

Refused/ Not stated

Other

EX6

EX4 (northern)

Royal Mail residential postcodes (60,634 h'holds)

In-street (999)

Online (218)

Source: Marketing Means 2019                 Base: All respondents

P
age 215



Employment Status

1%

5%

6%

46%

On a government scheme for 
employment training    

Unemployed   

Self-employed   

Employed / working full or part time    

54

0%

15%

20%

4%

3%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Not stated

Student  

Retired    

Unable to work    

Caring for family members / home   

employment training    

Source: Marketing Means 2019                 Base: All respondents (999)

P
age 216



Current occupation, or job when last employed

14%

27%

16%

7%

Skilled manual worker

Supervisory or clerical /junior managerial / 
professional / administrative

Intermediate managerial / professional / 
administrative

Higher managerial / professional / administrative

55

3%

14%

4%

16%

14%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Unable to classify

Student/ In full-time education      

Never worked / Long-term sick      

Semi-skilled or unskilled manual work

Skilled manual worker

Source: Marketing Means 2019                 Base: All respondents (999)

P
age 217



Gender

51%

49%

Female

Male

56

0%

0%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

Not stated

Other

Source: Marketing Means 2019                 Base: All respondents (999)

P
age 218



Age

14%

20%

23%

45-44

25-34

16-24

57

0%

19%

11%

14%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Not stated

65-74

55-64

45-54

Source: Marketing Means 2019                 Base: All respondents (999)

P
age 219



Comparison of In-street sample and Online 

sample with National Statistics Exeter profile

58%

40%

23%

57%

43%

23%

51%

49%

16-24

Female

Male

• The chart below compares the age/gender profile of the in-street and online survey samples with the National 

Statistics profile for Exeter (2017 mid-year population estimates)

58

21%

20%

17%

28%

11%

3%

19%

14%

12%

15%

17%

23%

19%

11%

14%

14%

19%

23%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70%

65+

55-64

45-54

35-44

25-34

16-24

National Statistics -
Exeter

In-street survey 
(unweighted - 999)

Online survey 
(unweighted - 218)

Source: Marketing Means 2019                 Base: All respondents

P
age 220



Any children aged 0 to 18 living in household?

10%

73%

Yes – aged 0 to 4

No children in household

59

1%

12%

11%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80%

Prefer not to say/ Refused

Yes – aged 11 to 18

Yes- aged 5 to 10

Source: Marketing Means 2019                 Base: All respondents (999)

P
age 221



Ethnic background

1%

3%

92%

Black or Black British   

Asian or Asian British   

White   

60

2%

1%

2%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Prefer not to say  

Other ethnic background   

Mixed ethnic background   

Source: Marketing Means 2019                 Base: All respondents (999)

P
age 222



Disability

1%

8%

86%

Sensory impairment

Physical impairment

No disability

61

0%

3%

1%

3%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Not stated

Long standing illness or condition

Learning disability

Mental health condition

Source: Marketing Means 2019                 Base: All respondents (999)

P
age 223



Does disability/condition have substantial effect 

on ability to do normal daily activities?

19%

79%

No

Yes

62

3%

19%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80%

Prefer not to say

No

Source: Marketing Means 2019                 Base: All respondents with a  long-term disability or health condition (134)

P
age 224



Religion

1%

0%

39%

57%

Hindu

Buddhist

Christian

No religion

63

2%

0%

1%

0%

1%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

Any other religion

Sikh

Muslim

Jewish

Hindu

Source: Marketing Means 2019                 Base: All respondents (999)

P
age 225



Willing to be re-contacted?

30%
Yes - for ECC to keep you informed 

about this research

64

29%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Yes - to link details to answers given 
in case of re-contact

Source: Marketing Means 2019                        Base: All  respondents (999) 

P
age 226



Appendix B

Max Associates – Private and Confidential 
1

Summary of Consultation to Test the 
Assumptions and Proposals of the Exeter City 

Council Built Sports Facility Strategy

5th June 2019 
Draft V5

Page 227

http://max-associates.com/


Appendix B

Max Associates – Private and Confidential 
2

Contents

1. Context and Objectives ..................................................................................................3
2. Residents online survey consultation ..........................................................................3
3. Stakeholder Survey - On Line Built Facilities Strategy .............................................12
4 General Emerging Themes, Recommendations and Priority Actions .....................16

 Appendix 1: Exeter Built Facility Strategy Face to Face, On-Line Consultation, Letter, and 
Email Correspondence

Page 228



Appendix B

Max Associates – Private and Confidential 
3

1. Context and Objectives

1.1 The Exeter Built Facilities Strategy has assumptions and proposals that have been subject 
to test through an online consultation with stakeholders and residents. The consultation 
process has included face to face meetings and emails and letters that have been received 
as part of the consultation process.

1.2 This report provides the results of the consultation.

2. Residents online survey consultation

2.1. The online consultation received a response from 1008 residents.

2.2. The respondents were asked to identify the current facilities in a typical month that they or 
their family use within Exeter. Table1 below shows the responses received.

Table 1: Current Use of Built Facilities in Exeter

1%

62%

1%

1%

1%

1%

3%

3%

4%

4%

8%

13%

15%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70%

Don’t know / Refused

None

ISCA Centre

Northbrook Golf Course

Clifton Hill Driving Range

Clifton Hill Ski Slope

Northbrook Swimming Pool

Wonford Sports Centre

Other built leisure facilities outside Exeter

Exeter Arena

Riverside Pool and Leisure Centre

Pyramids Pool and Leisure Centre

Other built leisure facilities within Exeter

Source: Marketing Means 2019                 Base: All respondents (1,008)

2.3 Of the 1008 respondents to the resident’s survey, 15% use other built facilities within Exeter. 
The highest use of Exeter built facilities is Pyramids Pool and Leisure Centre (13%) followed 
by Riverside Pool and Leisure Centre (8%). 4% of respondents use Exeter Arena and other 
built leisure facilities outside Exeter. 3% of respondents use Wonford Sports Centre and 
Northbrook Swimming Pool. The remaining facilities Clifton Hill Ski Slope, Clifton Hill Driving 
Range, Northbrook Golf Course, and the ISCA Centre are used by 1% of respondents.

2.4 62% of respondents stated that they didn’t use any built leisure facilities in or outside of 
Exeter and 1% didn’t answer the question.

2.5 Residents were asked to complete a survey based on specific questions around the 2 Built 
Facility Proposal Posters below:

Page 229



Appendix B

Max Associates – Private and Confidential 
4

2.6 The respondents were asked how much they agreed or disagreed with the following 
statements:

 The aims and approach recommended are fair and reasonable;
 These are the right priorities for Exeter; and
 Overall, I support these proposals.

2.7 The results of this are provided in Table 2 below.

Table 2. How much would you agree or disagree with these statements about 
Built Facilities? –Summary

Overall, I support these proposals

These are the right priorities for Exeter

The aims and approach recommended are 
fair and reasonable 

2%

2%

2%

4%

5%

2%

3%

5%

3%

6%

6%

7%

25%

28%

29%

60%

54%

58%

Don't know/ Refused Very low: 0 or 1 2 to 4 5 6 to 8 Very high: 9 or 10

Source: Marketing Means 2019                     Base: All  respondents (1,008)

2.8 87% (59% very good and 29% good) considered the aims and approach recommended are 
fair and reasonable, 82% (54% very good and 28% good) considered these are the right 
priorities for Exeter and 85% (60% very good and 25% good) considered that overall they 
could support the proposals.

Page 230



Appendix B

Max Associates – Private and Confidential 
5

2.9 Table 3 shows the responses by age for respondents when considering if the aims and 
approach recommended are fair and reasonable.

Table 3. The aims and approach recommended are fair and reasonable 
(Responses by AGE)

65+ (194)

55-64 (139)

45-54 (124)

35-44 (151)

25-34 (171)

16-24 (229)

ALL (1,008)

2%

3%

2%

2%

1%

2%

2%

7%

4%

1%

2%

1%

0%

2%

4%

1%

2%

3%

4%

1%

3%

12%

5%

12%

5%

4%

3%

7%

27%

35%

27%

30%

23%

32%

29%

48%

52%

56%

58%

67%

62%

58%

Don't know/ Refused Very low: 0 or 1 2 to 4 5 6 to 8 Very high: 9 or 10

Source: Marketing Means 2019                     Base: All  respondents

2.10 The highest % of respondents considering the aims and approach recommended are fair 
and reasonable are those aged 16 -24 years (94%) and 25 -34 years (90%) followed by 
those aged 35 – 44 years (88%). These 3 age ranges are most likely to make use of built 
sports facilities. The next highest are aged 55 – 64 years (87%), followed by 45 – 54-year-
olds (85%) and then those aged 65+ (75%).

2.11 The survey asked if the priorities were right for Exeter. The different age ranges responses 
are in Table 4 below.

Page 231



Appendix B

Max Associates – Private and Confidential 
6

Table 4. Are these the right priorities for Exeter (responses by AGE?)

65+ (194)

55-64 (139)

45-54 (124)

35-44 (151)

25-34 (171)

16-24 (229)

ALL (1,008)

2%

5%

1%

5%

1%

2%

2%

7%

5%

10%

6%

2%

1%

5%

9%

4%

4%

3%

4%

4%

5%

9%

6%

14%

3%

4%

3%

6%

26%

32%

19%

30%

31%

29%

28%

47%

47%

52%

54%

57%

60%

54%

Don't know/ Refused Very low: 0 or 1 2 to 4 5 6 to 8 Very high: 9 or 10

Source: Marketing Means 2019                     Base: All  respondents
 

2.12 The highest % of respondents that considered that these are the right priorities for Exeter 
are aged 16 -24 years (89%) and 25 -34 years (88%) followed by those aged 35 – 44 years 
(84%). These 3 age ranges are most likely to make use of built sports facilities. The next 
highest are aged 55 – 64 years (79%) followed by the 65+ (73%) and then those aged 45 
– 54 years (75%).

2.13 The different age range response to “overall, I support these proposals” are shown in the 
Table below.

Page 232



Appendix B

Max Associates – Private and Confidential 
7

Table 5. Overall, I support these proposals (responses by AGE)

65+ (194)

55-64 (139)

45-54 (124)

35-44 (151)

25-34 (171)

16-24 (229)

ALL (1,008)

1%

4%

3%

2%

1%

2%

2%

8%

4%

7%

6%

2%

1%

4%

6%

3%

3%

3%

2%

2%

3%

12%

5%

12%

3%

5%

2%

6%

25%

23%

25%

27%

27%

22%

25%

49%

60%

51%

60%

63%

71%

60%

Don't know/ Refused Very low: 0 or 1 2 to 4 5 6 to 8 Very high: 9 or 10

Source: Marketing Means 2019                     Base: All  respondents

2.14 The highest % of respondents that considered that overall, they support these proposals 
are from those aged 16 -24 years (93%) and 25 -34 years (90%), followed by those aged 
35 – 44 years (87%). These 3 age ranges are most likely to make use of built sports 
facilities. The next highest are aged 55 – 64 years (83%) followed by those aged 45 - 54 
years (76%) and then those aged 65+ (74%).

2.15 The next section of questions asked for specific responses around individual facilities and 
whether respondents approved or disapproved of the proposals.

2.16 The responses to approve/disapprove the Council’s built facilities for sports and leisure 
summary are shown in Table 6 below.

Page 233



Appendix B

Max Associates – Private and Confidential 
8

Table 6. Approve/disapprove of the Council’s built facilities for sports & 
leisure? – Summary 

Consider closure of Northbrook Swimming 
Pool and Gym Facility and re-provide at a 

developed Exeter Arena Community Sports 
Village

Continue to refurbish Riverside Leisure 
Centre and develop a long term building 

replacement plan

Consider closure of Northbrook Approach 
Golf Course and utilise sale proceeds for 
City Infrastructure to include: improved 

walking, cycling, sport and leisure facilities

Create a flagship new Community Health 
and Wellbeing Centre to replace the 

existing Wonford Sports & Community 
Centre

22%

7%

15%

14%

15%

2%

17%

8%

9%

2%

8%

6%

13%

4%

9%

6%

20%

19%

21%

23%

21%

66%

30%

43%

Don't know/ Refused Very low: 0 or 1 2 to 4 5 6 to 8 Very high: 9 or 10

Source: Marketing Means 2019                     Base: All  respondents

2.17 The highest support 85% is for the proposal to continue to refurbish Riverside Leisure 
Centre and develop a long-term building plan.

2.18 The creation of a flagship new community health and wellbeing centre to replace the 
existing Wonford Sports Centre and Community Centre has the next highest support 66%. 
This is followed by 51% approving of the consideration to close Northbrook Approach Golf 
Course and utilise the sale of proceeds for City Infrastructure to include improved walking, 
cycling and sport, and leisure facilities. The low (8%) and very low (17%) responses indicate 
that 25% disapprove of the proposal.

2.19 41% of respondents indicated approval to consider the closure of Northbrook Swimming 
Pool and Gym facility and re-provide at a developed Exeter Arena Community Sports 
Village. The low (9%) and very low (15%) responses indicate that 24% disapprove of the 
proposal. 13% of respondents scored a 5 and 22% didn’t respond.

2.20 The responses indicate that the survey respondents are happy to progress with all 4 
proposals. The 2 lowest Northbrook Approach Golf Course and closure and replacement 
of Northbrook Swimming Pool merely received disapproval from 25% and 24% of 
respondents respectively.

2.21 The approval level to the proposals to create a flagship new Community Health and 
Wellbeing Centre are shown in table 7 below.

Page 234



Appendix B

Max Associates – Private and Confidential 
9

Table 7. Approval level: Create a flagship new Community Health and 
Wellbeing Centre (by AGE)

65+ (194)

55-64 (139)

45-54 (124)

35-44 (151)

25-34 (171)

16-24 (229)

ALL (1,008)

15%

17%

10%

20%

11%

14%

14%

13%

9%

8%

6%

8%

3%

8%

7%

4%

11%

7%

5%

3%

6%

5%

6%

8%

6%

6%

6%

6%

21%

16%

16%

19%

28%

29%

23%

38%

48%

47%

42%

42%

44%

43%

Don't know/ Refused Very low: 0 or 1 2 to 4 5 6 to 8 Very high: 9 or 10

Source: Marketing Means 2019                     Base: All  respondents

2.22 The highest % of responses for approval by age to create a new Community Health and 
Wellbeing Centre are those aged 16 -24 years (73% high + very high) and 25 -34 years 
(70% high + very high). The remainder are fairly near each other with those aged 55 – 64 
years (64% high + very high), 45 – 54 years (63% high + very high),    35 – 44 years (61% 
high+ very high) and then those aged 65+ (59% high + very high).

2.23 Table 8 below shows the approval level for consideration of the Northbrook Approach Golf 
Course by age.  

2.24 The highest % of responses for approval by age for considering the closure of Northbrook 
Approach Golf Course are those aged 16 -24 years (61% high + very high) and 25 -34 years 
(52% high = very high). The remainder is all fairly close with those aged 35 – 44 years (48% 
high + very high), 45 – 54 years and 55 – 64 years (46% high + very high), and then those 
aged 65+ (44% high + very high).

Page 235



Appendix B

Max Associates – Private and Confidential 
10

Table 8. Approval level: Consider closure of the Northbrook Approach Golf Course 
... (by AGE)

65+ (194)

55-64 (139)

45-54 (124)

35-44 (151)

25-34 (171)

16-24 (229)

ALL (1,008)

14%

16%

13%

18%

17%

15%

15%

29%

23%

22%

16%

8%

8%

17%

8%

7%

10%

7%

11%

7%

8%

6%

9%

8%

10%

12%

9%

9%

20%

14%

19%

18%

20%

29%

21%

24%

32%

27%

30%

32%

32%

30%

Don't know/ Refused Very low: 0 or 1 2 to 4 5 6 to 8 Very high: 9 or 10

Source: Marketing Means 2019                     Base: All  respondents

2.25 The approval level by age to continue to refurbish Riverside Leisure Centre is shown in 
table 9 below.

Table 9. Approval level: Continue to refurbish Riverside Leisure Centre ... (by 
AGE)

65+ (194)

55-64 (139)

45-54 (124)

35-44 (151)

25-34 (171)

16-24 (229)

ALL (1,008)

8%

14%

6%

10%

2%

6%

7%

5%

3%

1%

3%

1%

1%

2%

2%

1%

3%

1%

5%

1%

2%

5%

5%

4%

4%

2%

5%

4%

17%

12%

19%

16%

16%

26%

19%

62%

65%

66%

66%

74%

62%

66%

Don't know/ Refused Very low: 0 or 1 2 to 4 5 6 to 8 Very high: 9 or 10

Source: Marketing Means 2019                     Base: All  respondents

Page 236



Appendix B

Max Associates – Private and Confidential 
11

2.26 The highest % of respondents by age for approval to continue to refurbish Riverside Leisure 
Centre are those aged 25 -34 years (90% high + very high), 16 -24 years (88% high + very 
high) , 35 – 44 years and 45 – 54 years (85% high + very high), 65+ (79% high + very high) 
and 55 – 64 years (77% high + very high).

2.27 The approval level by age considering the closure of Northbrook Swimming Pool and Gym 
facility and re-provide a developed Exeter Arena Community Sports Village is shown in 
table 10 below.

Table 10. Approval level: Consider closure of Northbrook Swimming Pool and 
Gym Facility and re-provide a developed Exeter Arena Community Sports 
Village (by AGE)

65+ (194)

55-64 (139)

45-54 (124)

35-44 (151)

25-34 (171)

16-24 (229)

ALL (1,008)

24%

23%

16%

25%

21%

22%

22%

20%

22%

21%

19%

11%

5%

15%

9%

7%

14%

8%

12%

7%

9%

12%

12%

10%

13%

14%

16%

13%

16%

14%

16%

20%

19%

28%

20%

20%

22%

24%

14%

24%

23%

21%

Don't know/ Refused Very low: 0 or 1 2 to 4 5 6 to 8 Very high: 9 or 10

Source: Marketing Means 2019                     Base: All  respondents

2.28 The highest % of respondents by age for approval to consider the closure of Northbrook 
Swimming Pool and Gym Facility are those aged 16 -24 years (51% high + very high), 
followed by 25 -34 years (43% high + very high), and 45 – 54 years (40% high + very high), 
55 – 64 years (38% high + very high),  65+ (36% high + very high) and 35 – 44 years (34% 
high + very high),

2.29 The resident survey has clearly shown support for the Council’s Plans and Priority actions 
for the Built Sports Facility Strategy. The same can be said for the proposed plans and 
actions for facility closure and development.

Page 237



Appendix B

Max Associates – Private and Confidential 
12

3. Stakeholder Survey - On Line Built Facilities Strategy

3.1 The responses in the stakeholder section relate to a summary card shown, relating to built 
facilities. This card can be seen below.

3.2 50 stakeholders responded to the online survey. However, only 46 respondents completed 
the questionnaire. The results of the 46 completed questionnaires are considered below. 

3.3 Table 11 shows how likely respondents or their organisation would be to commit to the 
proposals for Built Facilities for Sports and Leisure in the City.

Table 11. How likely would you and your organisation be to commit to the 
proposals for Built Facilities for Sports and Leisure in the city?

7% 7% 4% 24% 26% 33%

Don't know/ Refused Very low: 0 or 1 2 to 4 5 6 to 8 Very high: 9 or 10

Source: Marketing Means 2019                     Base: All  respondents (46)

3.4 59% (33% very highly and 26% highly) said they were highly likely or very likely to commit 
to the proposals. 11% responded with low ratings and would be unlikely to commit to the 
proposals for built facilities. 24% rated the question neither high nor low. It could be said 
that this 24% have an open mind about the council’s proposals.

3.5 The reasons for respondents’ views on committing to the proposals for Built Facilities for 
Sports and Leisure are shown in table 12 below.

Page 238



Appendix B

Max Associates – Private and Confidential 
13

Table 12.

3.6 The majority of mentions 12 were stakeholders requesting ‘Exeter City Council to listen to 
their concerns re specific issues’. The next highest mentions 11 were the ‘need for a good 
range of facilities offering a wide range of activities’. This was followed by 3 mentions each 
for the following:

 The need for flexible/ multi-use facilities;
 The need for facilities in Exeter to be improved; and
 Will promote sports participation and physical activity and help clubs to develop.

3.7 The next 6 mentions were the importance to have outdoor facilities/playing pitches.

3.8 3 mentions requested water-sports provision.       

3.9 There were an additional 9 other mentions. 6 mentions were not able to comment or not in 
a position to give a view.

3.10 Table 13 shows the stakeholders views on what role they or their organisation would like to 
play in developing the proposals for Built Facilities for Sports and Leisure in the City. 

Page 239



Appendix B

Max Associates – Private and Confidential 
14

Table 13.

3.11 22 mentions stated they would ‘help to advise/ be consulted re the new facilities'. 14 
mentions stated they would use the new facilities/pitches. 13 mentions stated they would 
‘provide general support/ involvement in developing the plans'. There were 3 mentions each 
for ‘help to ensure multi-use/ venues suitable for different sports’ and ‘help to involve local 
communities’.

3.12 There were 3 other views mentioned and 7 were not sure, need to know more or had no 
particular view.

3.13 Table 14 shows respondent’s mentions to what support they or their organisation needs 
form Exeter City Council to carry out the roles they have stated.

3.14 The highest mentions 15 in table 14 relate to ‘improvement of facilities in Exeter/ additional 
facilities to expand capacity/expand the capacity of pitches.

3.15 13 mentions stated the need for them to be involved in consultation and collaboration on 
developing plans. 9 mentions related to communication and keeping us informed. 4 
mentions related to finding ways to secure additional funding/ offer grants or subsidies to 
support physical activity opportunities.

3.16 3 mentions want ‘their sport/ activity included in the proposals’. A further 3 mentions state 
a need for ‘Council support/ co-ordinate promotion of their sport / physical activity’. Another 
3 mentions would like ‘financial support’.    

3.17 There are 2 mentions with the view the Council should ‘support what we already do' and 2 
mentions of maintaining current green space/ restrict building development on spaces used 
for leisure.                                                        

Page 240



Appendix B

Max Associates – Private and Confidential 
15

Table 14.

3.18 When answering the question do the majority of players at your club or organisation live 
within Exeter 40 respondents said yes, 1 replied no and 9 replied not applicable. The 
majority of respondents represent Exeter residents.

3.19 Of the 50 stakeholder responses to the online survey 45 have said they would be willing to 
take part in further research or consultation with the project.

3.20 In answering does your club or organisation plan to increase teams 28 respondents said 
yes, 5 respondents said no and 17 replied not applicable.

3.21 Nearly all clubs have stated they have plans to develop participation and increase 
membership numbers. Some clubs have facility development aspirations and plan to 
develop new facilities and storage facilities.

3.22 Clubs have identified issues that may threaten their development or prevent them from 
increasing use of their current facilities. These threats are primarily the lack of current 
suitable available facilities and storage. Others quoted poor facilities, lack of maintenance 
of facilities and insecurity of use and tenure. The lack of funds and the cost of hiring facilities 
is another issue as is the need for more volunteers and coaches.

Page 241



Appendix B

Max Associates – Private and Confidential 
16

4 General Emerging Themes, Recommendations and Priority Actions

4.1 The online survey for stakeholders is complemented by a number of face to face 
consultations, email and letter responses. Along with the online responses, the face to face 
responses and email responses have been placed in Appendix 1 under the heading of 
individual sports or organisations. 

4.2 The general emerging themes coming from the National Governing Bodies of Sport show 
support for the Council’s Built sports Facility Plans. These are:

 British Cycling – highlights priority for a strategic cycling hub in Exeter and supports 
the development of cycling facilities at Exeter Arena in partnership with local clubs

 British Swimming – supports the proposals to develop swimming facilities in Exeter

 Badminton England – supports the proposals and wishes to be consulted further on 
facility design.

4.3 The resident survey has clearly shown support for the Council’s Plans and Priority actions 
for the Built Sports Facility Strategy. The same can be said for the proposed plans and 
actions for facility closure and development.

4.4 There is a commitment by stakeholders 59% (33% very highly and 26% highly) who have 
said they were highly likely or very likely to commit to the proposals and a further 25% who 
have an open mind about the Council’s proposals.

4.5 Stakeholders have stated they would provide general support/involvement in developing 
the plans. Others have stated they would like to be consulted and work in collaboration with 
the Council on developing the plans. Stakeholders understand the need for a good range 
of flexible multi-use facilities and that those existing facilities in the City need to be improved 
watersports and the Quayside & waterways should be included in the proposals.

4.6 There is a clear need for Exeter City Council to listen to stakeholders concerns. There are 
specific issues, such as consulting, communicating and keeping stakeholders informed. 
Stakeholders want to help and advise the Council and be consulted on the proposals for 
the new facilities.

4.7 Some stakeholders object to some proposals namely the closure of the Ski Slope and the 
closure of Northbrook Approach Golf Course. It is important to emphasise that the 
objections regarding Northbrook Approach Golf Course are mostly concerning the loss of 
open & green space and not the golf facility itself. 

4.8 Other stakeholders have emphasised the need for a locally driven solution and community 
led design for Wonford Community Health and Wellbeing Centre. 

4.9 Exeter Water Sports Association lease the Water Sports Centre at Haven Road, from 
Exeter City Council. The Council should hold discussions with Exe Water Sports 
Association and member clubs in the City to identify current and future needs for facilities 
and identify how best to work towards meeting those needs in the future.

4.10 Some stakeholders and clubs are keen to explore the development of AGP provision at 
Exeter Arena to enhance the playing pitch provision

Page 242



Appendix B

Max Associates – Private and Confidential 
17

Recommendations from the General Emerging Themes

4.11 It is recommended that further discussions are held with stakeholders and community 
groups with objections and concerns to work with them throughout any future developments 
of the Built Facilities strategy

4.12 It is recommended that all stakeholders that have made known their interest in being 
consulted on the proposals for the Built Facility Strategy are kept informed and consulted 
on developments as they progress.

4.13 Following the consultation process and the support shown for the proposals at Exeter Arena 
and Wonford Community Health and Wellbeing Centre, it is recommended that the Council 
move forward by developing an outline business case for Exeter Arena and Wonford 
Community Health and Wellbeing Centre. 

4.14 It is recommended that the Council endorse the core facility mix at Exeter Arena and in 
addition consider strategic cycling facility opportunities in partnership with British Cycling 
and local stakeholders

4.15 The Council should recognise from the consultation that a ski simulator will not be suitable 
as a replacement for the ski slope and hold discussions with the ski club to seek an 
alternative and appropriate site.

4.16 The Council should consider the closure of Northbrook Approach Pitch and Putt Golf 
Course. However, in response to public feedback we recommend that the Council retains 
the Northbrook site as an open green space.  

4.17 The key priority actions are set against the draft proposals that were consulted on in the 
table below:

Draft proposals Priority Actions

Exeter Arena and ISCA Centre

Redevelopment into a Community Sports 
Village. 

We recommend the Council engages with key stakeholders in the 
production of an outline business case for the development of the 
Exeter Arena and ISCA site into a Community Sports Village.  

This will retain existing athletics track, playing pitches, skate park, 
indoor bowls and fitness facilities alongside new core indoor facilities 
of:

 New community swimming pool to replace the aging Northbrook 
pool.

  New sports hall to replace Clifton Hill Sports Centre sports hall.

 Group exercise  studios 

We recommend the Council also considers the potential inclusion of:

 Developing a strategic cycling hub in partnership with 
British Cycling, key national stakeholders and local clubs.  
This could include an off road cycling track, local club 
provision and a free to use outdoor pump track attracting 
families and children to the village

 Commercial Leisure, with possible options to include soft 
play, Junior Tag/Tag Active and tenpin bowling facility. 

Page 243



Appendix B

Max Associates – Private and Confidential 
18

Draft proposals Priority Actions

Gymnastics centre with a potential lease/partnership with Exeter 
Gymnastics Club. (Awaiting contact from Gymnastics Club (Several 
attempts made throughout May/June)

 Boxing and martial arts studio with flexible space that could 
be used by a variety of clubs.

 An artificial grass pitch depending the outcome of the 
Playing Pitch Strategy

 Multi-use changing pavilion/club house

The aim is that this mix of facilities, including both traditional and 
innovative facilities will make Exeter Arena a destination facility, with a 
focus on young people and family participation. There will be activity 
to suit all age groups and abilities, from babies and toddlers using the 
pool or soft play to older people playing bowls.  The space available 
on site and level of parking is deemed sufficient for this proposed 
facility mix.

We recommend the Council continues to work with Devon County 
Council to improve access to the site through walking and cycling and 
connecting new housing developments to the E4 Strategic Cycling 
route.

Riverside Leisure Centre and Swimming Pool

This community swimming pool and leisure 
centre needs to be maintained to provide 
access on this side of the river. A rolling 
programme of refurbishment with a long term 
building replacement plan is required to 
ensure sustainability

The Council has funding in place to refurbish the Riverside Swimming 
Pool and Leisure Centre and to develop a long term building 
replacement plan. 

Refurbishment work is now well underway and an opening date for the 
swimming pool and health suite will be announced in June 2019

Wonford Sports Centre:

Innovative new build integrated community 
health and wellbeing centre to replace existing 
Sports and Community Centres. This should 
be designed with the local community

We recommend that the Council continues to work with the local 
community, Sport England and other stakeholders to co-design an 
outline business case for a flagship Community Health and Wellbeing 
Centre to replace the Wonford Sports and Community Centres. The 
co-design process now underway with local residents, community 
group and other stakeholders will define the exact purpose and facility 
mix.  This has the potential to include:

 Enhanced, flexible community spaces to meet the needs of local 
residents which could include space for a community kitchen, 
gardens and café amongst a range of other community facilities.

 As well as community space there is the potential for re-provision 
of a sports hall, group exercise space and fitness.  These could 
be built as flexible spaces with a moveable wall to allow different 
activities and classes to be delivered in the space, including 
health related programmes.  

 A new primary care centre in partnership with Wonford Green GP 
Practice.

 A new design which connects the centre to the adjacent green 
space including playing pitches, play areas, walking & cycling 
networks and Ludwell Valley Park

Northbrook Swimming Pool:

Closure and removal from restrictive lease.

We recommend that the Council re-provides the Northbrook Swimming 
Pool at the Exeter Arena and ISCA site. In partnership with the 
trustees, the Council should consider future closure of the Northbrook 

Page 244



Appendix B

Max Associates – Private and Confidential 
19

Draft proposals Priority Actions
Gym and the re-provision of boxing & martial arts facilities at Exeter 
Arena and ISCA site.

Northbrook Approach Pitch and Putt Golf 
Course:

Closure and disposal of site

We recommend that the Council removes the Northbrook Approach 
pitch and putt golf course from its leisure provision.  However, in 
response to public feedback we recommend that the Council retains 
the Northbrook site as an open green space.  

Exeter Ski Club We recommend that the Council continues to hold discussions with 
Exeter Ski Club to help them identify alternative sites for the future re-
location of the Ski Slope at Clifton Hill

Page 245



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C

Exeter City Council

Play Areas consultation report

Report from RedQuadrant 

May 2019

©RedQuadrant 2019 Sue Mckenzie

Page 247



 
1. Introduction

RedQuadrant were commissioned to carry out a consultative exercise with Exeter residents 
on Exeter’s Community Play Areas in order to:

 Get people’s views on draft proposals for how play areas can be developed across 
the city in future to help Exeter become the most physically active city in England

 Hear people’s views on how play areas can be managed effectively as inclusive, safe 
and accessible places for children, young people and families

 Communicate the Council’s expressed need for an integrated and sustainable 
strategy for the future of built sports facilities, playing fields, pitches, play areas, 
parks and open spaces

 Explain how people can have their say on the draft Move More Strategy and draft 
Built Facilities Report.

In parallel to our consultation, the council was also consulting on the overall Physical 
Activity Strategy, including some specific questions on play areas. We have incorporated 
some of the findings of the survey into this report.

2. Background to the consultation

The Council is committed to ensuring its community play areas contribute to building a 
culture of families being active together and support children to lead happy, healthy lives. 
Play area numbers have doubled in the last thirty years but too many of them are small, 
basic, and only suitable for a narrow age range. There are not enough larger, more involving 
and challenging, play areas that cover a wider age range. 
The distribution of play facilities is not even across the city as a result of past growth having 
been largely development led, rather than needs led. Increased repair and maintenance 
costs are unsustainable in the context of Council budget pressures.
A strategic review undertaken in 2017 proposed a new model for the City, based on national 
play categories used in Planning Guidance. It is proposed that play areas will be assessed on 
how close they are to local communities and other play areas; value of the play equipment; 
and lifespan of the equipment and the age groups

The Priority Actions for the council are:

 Use an evidence led approach to ensure that Local Play Area policy and Community 
Infrastructure Levy receipts meet people’s long-term needs

 Protect and enhance the overall supply of community play areas by promoting Active 
Design principles 

Page 248



 
 Invest in sustainable equipment with long life spans based on local community need

 Ensure an equitable distribution across the city with close alignment to the Move 
More strategy using land that is, where possible, already owned by the Council and is 
a suitable size for developing flagship play areas.

Initial proposals are:

 To create three strategically located Destination Play Parks close to communities 
identified as having the greatest health needs. These would be at Arena Park in 
Pinhoe, Wonford Playing Area in Priory, and at a yet to be determined site in the 
Exwick/Cowick area

 To revitalise and/or upgrade eight local play areas (based on an analysis of local 
need) to strategic play area status. These would be the play areas at Cemetery Field, 
Cowick Barton, Exwick Station Road, George’s Close, Pendragon Road, Pinhoe Station 
Road, Powlesland Road, and Wyvern Park

 To rationalise existing provision by considering not renewing play equipment in up to 
sixteen lower quality or older play areas, as identified in the Play Area report: 
Alperton, Greenway, King George V, Lloyd’s Crescent, Tappers Close, Addison Close, 
Burrator Drive, Gloucester Road, Knights Crescent, Monkerton, Mulberry Close, 
Fleming Way, Lancelot Road, Haccombe Close, Gras Lawn, and Hylton Gardens.

3. The consultation

We held two, day long, drop-in sessions at two different locations:

 The ISCA Centre at Arena Park
 St Thomas Pleasure Ground

Exeter officers publicised the two sessions and the wider consultation programme via a 
range of media, including an intensified social media campaign in the two weeks running up 
to the sessions
Display boards were produced to communicate the headline points.  
Below are the key points from the discussions we had with people visiting the drop-in 
sessions. Over the two days, we spoke to about 50 people.

Day 1 ISCA Centre 

Whipton Barton school group with head teacher

They take a different approach to play at the school. They use recycled material and the 
children use their imagination. People have donated, teachers bring things in. Comments 
from pupils and head:

 Trolleys from Screwfix and wheelbarrows for pushing each other around

Page 249



 
 Suitcases to get inside and be carried around, or for playing with dolls
 Foam poles for play battles
 Crutches to pretend you’ve got a broken leg
 Big red stilts for walking around in
 School also has an adventure playground, where kids practise parkour
 Trees that can be climbed
 A huge sandpit, very popular
 A pebble beach 
 A ‘mud kitchen’ digging area with spades

Recommends Two Moors at Tiverton as a good example of creative and innovative play.

The head is keen to open up the school out of hours and in the holidays for children to play. 
This could be potentially managed as a community project.

Asked the children where they play outside of school:

 A mini play area with swings
 Some of the parks have scary big kids, so we don’t go
 I’ve got climbing ropes on trees outside my house
 Heavitree park is great

Asked children what they would like to see in their local parks:

 Spaces to play football and basketball
 Trampolines in the floor
 Climbing bars
 Obstacle courses

Conversations with individuals:

Woman with two boys, one of them is autistic

Hard to know where to go for play, goes to the less used play parks as her son can’t cope 
with crowds. Mostly King George. There is an all abilities park off Topsham road that was 
fundraised by someone.

She is also a Community Psychiatric Nurse and sees the importance of local play areas, 
particularly for low income families. The people who need these parks aren’t involved or 
engaged in community activity.

Woman with children

After the Belmont Park consultation, the swings were removed, even though they were 
identified as a priority.

Asked what she thought of the destination parks. Replied that people need a park you can 
walk to.

Not replacing equipment is a bit desperate.

Page 250



 
Anxiety that small green spaces would be sold off.

Likes the idea of school play areas opening up out of school hours.

Separation from dog walkers is needed

Make parks less secluded so people can’t gather for drinking, drug taking

The issue of closed public toilets is very serious

Man passing by 

Commented on the need for plain English in consultation documents and pointed out a lot 
of jargon in them.

Day 2 St Thomas Pleasure Ground

Conversations with individuals

Mother of two boys

Concerns about destination parks and the high cost of public transport in Exeter

Those families who are less well off don’t have the time or money to travel and will 
therefore be isolated and left out. People with social anxiety or special needs (her son has 
autism and needs quieter spaces to play)

Gets the impression that the council is focused on flashy stuff: swimming pools, eating 
places etc and neglecting the outer lying areas.

Kate Wilder, chair of Park Life

Heavitree Park Life has raised a lot of funding and is keen to work in partnership with the 
Council going forward. They would like to look at play equipment and plan with ECC.

The community working closely with the Council, depends upon the motivation of local 
people. In Heavitree we are motivated. Our success has been due to the relationships we 
have built. E.g. the ‘couch to 5k’ has come about because we have engaged people.

We have activities every day at Heavitree Park.

Housing development is a sore point. There’s been a huge amount of building and people 
are protective of green space.

Two women who use Cowick Barton Fields regularly

It’s important that Cowick Barton Fields is upgraded - so we’re not fully behind the strategy 
for community play areas. We need more seats for older people. We have been told several 
times in the past that we would be getting more seats but it’s never happened. Last time, 
the money for our seats was used to put seating around the trees in the middle of town.

We’d be more than happy to get involved. We could get a group together and organise 
jumble sales and tea parties for the local community. 

Page 251



 
Please contact us to discuss how we can work together: RedQuadrant have given her 
number to the local Community Builder, who will contact her.

Woman from Exwick

Burrator Drive in Exwick is one of the 16 earmarked. It’s five minutes from a school and is 
packed late afternoon. Would be sad for children to lose ‘outside time’

Kinnerton is a multi-use games area, not really for play

Definite need to look at these places on the ground rather than a map. Some alternatives 
will not be suitable. Some look nearby but are over a steep hill, busy road etc. Some are on 
the way home from schools.

Felt like there were a lot of closures in Exwick. 

What happens to the land? Worried about loss of green space.

Asked about asset transfer: depends on active communities, they are not everywhere.

Two women with children

The Dino Park in Exmouth is very popular

You could generate money with cafes and coffee stands in parks

Woman with two small children

Problem with the seesaw in St Thomas play area, dangerous

Lots of services for parents are going - children’s centres, swimming pool and crèche, soft 
play.

These activities combat social isolation, especially for families moving to Exeter

Community takeover has its limitations

There’s nothing in the city centre for children to let off steam, open spaces have problems 
with needles and bottles

The cost of the buses is so high for a family 

St Thomas is better for a destination park

Learn from examples in Exeter and Teignmouth

Take the National Trust Wild Park approach, forest play, nature, wilderness areas.

Sustainability is important, hates the Clifton Hill project

Couple with children

Walks past Hylton Gardens play area every day and it is very busy after school

The Flowerpot area is for older kids and near the river, so not suitable for small children

Page 252



 
Would pay more council tax for better facilities

Could charge for public toilets

Wants to keep green spaces.

Issue of steep hills and busy roads that make alternatives inaccessible

Local residents would be willing to fundraise for new equipment

St Thomas splash area is always packed

Man walking dog

Make the good parks bigger and better. Enforce regulations in parks, especially cars being 
driven into St Thomas. What about dog wardens?

Couple who are active in their community

Destination park should be in Cowick Barton rather than Exwick. There has been some 
investment already but not in play areas. High levels of child obesity there. Poor quality 
facilities in a highly populated area.

Closure of small play areas is not good, they are the community ones

Money spent on swimming pool project should be spent of play areas.

High costs of public transport

There are a lot of teenagers hanging about in parks because there is no youth strategy

St Thomas resident with small children

Has a small garden but the park is like an extension, is very lucky. The splash park is great 
but parking around the park has become an issue on good days. Cowick Barton good for a 
destination park

Grandparents

Grandparents in the play park at St Thomas asked for another seat in the play park for 
grandparents accompanying their grandchildren.

Previous organisers of St Thomas Festival

Local residents are happy to work with the council where they can. E.g. they have previously 
offered power (running a wire from their electricity supply) for music in the park for ‘play 
days’.

We would like to see some of these initiatives back:

 Play rangers, who facilitated more creative play
 Other ideas include
 Private businesses might be interested in partnering with local play days

Page 253



 
 The Council could provide public liability insurance for play days and other local 

events
 A youth worker would make things a bit safer – or a ‘snack shack’ could be ‘eyes’ for 

the Council. It would put drug dealers off.
 Grass cutting
 What limits others volunteering to become involved in active play includes:
 People are in their own little bubble
 They don’t want to tread on others’ shoes
 Too much stress
 People don’t want to go to committee meetings
 People don’t want to get roped in to key positions like chairperson or treasurer.

4. Results of the survey

Marketing Means carried out a survey of residents and stakeholders (both online and face t 
face) on the Council’s overall Physical Activity Strategy, with some specific questions about 
play areas. The report is attached as appendix ?.

Generally, there is a positive response to the proposals. Stakeholders and residents mostly 
agreed with the Council’s aims and priorities and thought the approach was generally 
reasonable. 

Proposals were supported with the significant exception of not replacing play equipment in 
smaller parks. This is the only proposal that is soundly rejected.  

One other significant result that links with the conversations we had at the drop in sessions was that 
the majority of people walk to play areas, with the normal journey being five to ten minutes.

Page 254



 
5. Key messages from the consultation

Below we have extracted what we perceive to be the key messages for the council to 
consider.

Destination Parks

The proposed development of three Destination Parks across the city was raised by several 
people. Most people were generally in favour of the new developments and were excited to 
see photographs of a similar facility in Bath. Some people expressed a desire to be involved 
in the consultation process from an early stage.

However, although no direct objections were raised to this concept in principle, concerns 
were expressed about potential negative impacts on local parks and play areas. These 
included:

 Less money and time may be expended on local spaces in order to develop, operate 
and maintain three high profile parks

 Destination Parks would provide good facilities for many people but residents place 
a high value on their local parks, green spaces and play areas and the contribution 
they make to community wellbeing

 Public transport access and costs of travelling to the Destination Parks could be 
prohibitive for some families. The survey showed that most people walk to play 
areas.

 Local play areas are crucial for day in, day out regular activity: Destination Parks are 
great facilities for a wide range of people would be for special day outs and family 
trips

 Destination Parks may not be suitable for autistic children and or for young people 
with special needs

 Splash parks are excellent, heavily used facilities and should be available in more 
local play areas/parks

One or two people raised the following issues:

 Exeter Arena is not really in Pinhoe, as most people think of it
 If the decision has yet to be made on the location of the third Destination Park, why 

is a location marked in the consultation documentation?
 Plain English should be used throughout the consultation process, so that people are 

clear about what is being proposed

Rationalisation of play areas

Although some people accepted that the Council needs to reduce costs and work differently 
in some areas, the loss of community play areas was opposed by the large majority of 
people. The reasons given included:

Page 255



 
 Anecdotal evidence that some of the 16 play areas under review are well used and 

highly valued by residents. Hylton Gardens was mentioned by several people, 
Haccombe Close and Burrator Drive were both mentioned by a few people

 The upgrading of eight play areas was broadly welcomed with the caveat that 
promises have been made in the past and then not delivered

 Quieter play areas are highly suitable for children with disabilities or specific needs
 Play areas for “all abilities” can work well for some children 
 Public transport links and costs are also prohibitive in the context of using alternative 

play areas in neighbouring areas
 Alternative play areas may look to be within easy reach on the map but in some 

cases steep climbs or busy traffic levels lie between two areas
 Reduction of green space should be avoided wherever possible, given its 

contribution to health and wellbeing
 Community groups and individuals may be able to work in partnership with the 

Council to find a way forward on the future management of some play areas

Community Asset Transfer (CAT)

On the understanding that the Council is seeking to clarify and strengthen its policy on CATs, 
a number of people were interested in exploring possible options for a mutually agreeable 
way forward:

 Formal asset transfer procedure for a fixed period of time
 Increased volunteering and fundraising activity by community, provided that 

insurance arrangements are in place
 A hybrid solution, somewhere between a formal asset transfer and increased 

voluntary activity

Partnership working

 Representatives from Heavitree Park Life reaffirmed their commitment to 
developing the park and their willingness to work with the Council on new projects 
and initiatives. They would like to kept informed on the decision-making process for 
the new strategy and for community engagement to be ongoing

 Residents who use Cowick Barton are keen to work with the Council and their 
Community Builder to develop a programme of events and increase volunteer 
activities. Contact details have been provided.

Operational management of play areas

The following views emerged from a cross section of people

 There is an overall willingness for the Council to cut the grass less often in parks 
generally and for volunteers to help with the maintenance of parks and play areas

 Dog control orders, or an equivalent mechanism, should be implemented across all 
parks and play areas in Exeter.

Page 256



Appendix D

Exeter City Council

Report from focus groups on Parks and Open Spaces

Report from RedQuadrant 

May 2019

©RedQuadrant 2019 Sue Mckenzie

Page 257



2

1. Introduction and context

As part of the work on the Council’s overall Physical Activity Strategy, 
RedQuadrant were commissioned to facilitate two focus groups with 
stakeholders on Exeter’s parks and open spaces.

The previous Parks and Open Spaces Strategy dates from 2005. There is now a 
need to renew this in consultation with communities and other stakeholders. 
During 2019/20, officers are recommending the following actions:

 Through a series of community and stakeholder workshops identify 
priorities for the future development of parks and green space strategies 
and action plans;

 Undertake a current audit and needs assessment of the City’s green 
space, including those in the ownership of other bodies which have 
existing or potential public access, with a particular focus on the latent 
activity opportunities that could be developed;

 Map and develop linkage of parks and green space with cycle and 
footpaths as part of a Green Corridor network across the city, providing 
safe off-road travel within communities;

 In principle, subject to resources, provide support and opportunity to 
“start-up” groups wishing to undertake and develop low key but valued 
activities and social interaction in local parks and green spaces that 
promote physical activity.

This report sets out the key findings from the focus groups.

Page 258



3

2. Focus groups – Parks and Open Spaces

We held two focus groups on 12th April 2019, at Exeter Community Centre with 25 people 
attending in total. People and groups who were involved in some way with parks and open 
spaces were invited by the council to participate.

The aims for the sessions were:

o To get stakeholder views on existing parks and green spaces

o To begin to identify future priorities

o To identify how parks and green spaces can be used to promote physical 
activity and social interaction

o To establish how best to get a wide range of views in community consultation

At the beginning of each session, Paul Faulkner, Head of Parks, introduced the context for 
the development of a parks strategy, stressing that there are opportunities for the Council 
to:

 Work more closely with other local authorities

 Obtain community focused funding through new health and wellbeing strategies

 Work in partnership with community groups to protect and develop green spaces

 Be involved in village green and similar community development projects

 Make Exeter the most active city in England
 
The tables below show the key points from the subsequent discussions:

Development of a strategic approach

There was strong agreement on the following points:

 Process for next steps of developing the strategy needs to be widely and clearly 
communicated

 Ask the community for help at an early stage and involve them in developing 
initiatives/plans

 Speak to community forums (e.g. open event on 29/6/19) regularly and work 
closely with Active Devon, Devon Wildlife Trust, Ludwell Life and Friends groups 

Page 259



4

 Improve communication with residents and stakeholders, e.g. direct mailing, more 
use of the Exeter Citizen, social media

 Align the new strategy with the NHS strategy for wellbeing 

 No more green space should be lost. It would be detrimental to the whole city and 
to Council priorities

 Need to have a clear and robust Community Asset Transfer policy

 Green spaces improve mental health: include as a key theme

 Have fitness equipment, outdoor gyms and ping pong tables in parks as installed in 
many authorities across England

 The parks strategy needs some clear principles to shape its development including 
biodiversity, accessibility, green space within x distance of all home

 Need to strike a balance between physical activity and horticulture and wildlife

 Locally developed solutions delivered with volunteers can offset costs e.g. litter 
picking and guerrilla gardening

 Establish clear boundaries and publish guidelines on the role and remit of 
volunteers and how they work with council officers

 Community Builders have an important role to play in the development of green 
spaces in local communities

A number of people agreed with the following points:

 Use Plain English in all communications to residents

 Ensure teenagers feel welcome in parks

 Set up focus groups in the colleges to get the views of young people

 Expand the Exeter Green Space Network

 Parks play an important role in reducing pollution levels

Page 260



5

 ECC to support long term leases for appropriate amenities e.g. community cafes

 Communicate benefits of volunteering in parks, including increased well-being, 
social interaction, reduction of isolation as well as physical benefits

 Clarify what the council will do and what volunteers can do. These boundaries to 
be guidelines but permeable by agreement 

 Develop a programme of wide-ranging community events in parks, including 
toddler activities and bingo sessions

 Farmers’ markets in parks can link to allotments, food growing and healthy eating

The following points were made by one or two individuals

 The Council is at risk of selling off the family silver.

 Important for ECC departments to work together and not in the existing silos e.g. 
ECC planning policy not to build cul-de-sacs in new developments is wrong. 
Children living in new developments, can’t play in the street

 People who are happy with their parks are happy with their council

 ECC boasts it has the lowest Council Tax in the Country. Why not put it up?

 Balance in how money is spent e.g. £52m for new leisure centre but no money for 
maintaining local assets

 There should be an opportunity to respond directly to councillors on the draft 
policy: that they should have attended the consultation meeting.

 The Council promotes Exeter to employers and prospective students to attract 
people from outside the city; this needs to be balanced with the needs of local 
residents. 

 Make ‘going for a stroll’ or going for a ride on a disability scooter a valid (listed) 
activity for parks and open spaces as otherwise it may be taken for granted 

 New sports facilities could be in direct competition with businesses

Page 261



6

Operational management of parks and open spaces

There was strong agreement on the following points:

 Create more wild spaces in parks

 Cut the grass less often in some instances

 Don’t use so much weed killer and, when it is used, take care how and where

 Improve signage to parks and green spaces

 Events in parks run by community groups need to be centrally coordinated

 Consider implementing a community warden scheme

A number of people agreed on the following points

 It would be helpful to know the running costs of parks e.g. staff and equipment

 Introduce dog control orders for the number of dogs one person can walk.

 Promote use of social media to draw attention to problems in parks and open 
spaces 

 Volunteer led fitness activities increase participation levels in parks

 Explore options for a roving ranger service

The following points were made by one or two individuals

 Introduce an on-demand grass-cutting service

 Local residents are willing to help with grass cutting

 All trees should have Tree Protection Orders

 Developers put in new play areas and leave them to the community to maintain

 Introduce a network/system for contact with the Council e.g. who to contact for 
grass-cutting, needle removal, planting planning, fire hazards

Page 262



7

 Explore possibilities for an umbrella insurance to cover risks of residents 
gardening/working in parks (like the RHS ‘Exeter in Bloom’ insurance)

 Use park noticeboards to create dialogue between council workers and 
volunteers. 

 Volunteer community wardens are in place in a few parks: this could be expanded

3. Conclusions

The discussions were lively and stimulating, there is an obvious passion for Exeter’s parks 
and open spaces and a determination to retain and develop them. Participants understood 
the financial situation the Council is in and are willing to help by being involved in the 
maintenance and development of parks and open spaces.

Below are the key issues we believe need to be addressed:

Community involvement in the strategy
We spoke to two groups of people who represent a powerful community network. They 
understood the key issues and have much to contribute in terms of ideas and resources.
During our discussions we identified several emerging strategic objectives:

 Commit to maintaining and protecting green spaces in the city
 Develop a clear policy on Community Asset Transfer
 Align with Exeter’s health and wellbeing strategies
 Make biodiversity a key theme
 Commit to making parks and opens paces accessible to all

People are keen to be involved in the development of the strategy, co-creating with the 
council.

Communication
The groups felt that communication could be better, and regular engagement would bring 
benefits to the council. See below.

Community involvement in managing parks
There is a clear need to develop a more joined up approach to how the council/community 
maintains green spaces. Communities are willing to take responsibility for tasks such as 
grass cutting, planting and litter picking, as well as activities. There is also a strong wish to 
involve young people.

Community asset transfer
This area needs clarification by the council, as there were conflicting perceptions. 

Page 263



This page is intentionally left blank



Stakeholder Feedback 2019                                                                                  Appendix E

Stakeholder Category You said

Exeter Trees 
UK

Community 
Group

I am interested to learn more of the future plans for our parks and green spaces. I already have several concerns around the future of our existing green spaces such as Bull Meadow park. If you are 
aware about this park - part of it will be sold to accommodate a new development (more flats) and 5 trees and many shrubs will go along with it.

We should be looking at buying more land for green spaces and parks and not selling it for profit at the loss of public benefit.

Trees play a vital role - anywhere - but we certainly need to ensure we are looking after our trees and planting new ones when mature ones are felled.

Please keep me posted about the live consultation.

Exeter Green 
Party (1)

Political 
Party

As the prospective Green Party candidates for Wonford, we are naturally interested in the proposals for the Wonford area, set out in the Council’s draft Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, play areas 
parks and open spaces report.

The detail of what is being proposed is perhaps inevitably rather sketchy and there are some things missing and /or unclear which hinder understanding the reality of what is being proposed.
We therefore have a number of questions regarding what is being proposed which we hope you can answer in a timely way, ie to allow us to make our responses within the consultation period 
deadline.

1. The proposal for a new Wonford centre means removing the existing Community Centre/Phoenix. This is naturally of concern, given the real shortage of meeting spaces for local people in the 
Wonford area. This leads us to ask:

a. Can you explain what, if anything, will be offered to Wonford residents, to make up for this loss?

b. Can you confirm whether Exeter City Council will be prepared to offer a Community Asset Transfer of some land, to enable the community to build a new community centre or similar 
building?

c. The Report states (p13) that the new centre ‘could’ include : “Flexible community spaces linking indoor and outdoor spaces to promote healthy active lifestyles such as community kitchen, 
gardens and allotments. “. Could you clarify what this means please ie what a „community space‟ means, what a ‘community kitchen’ means, and who you envisage would have ownership 
/management rights over these ‘community’ elements of the building?

d. Do you mean that ‘allottments and gardens’ would be provided as part of the new Centre?

2. Traffic and car parking. At the meeting of Wonford COGS, James Bogue mentioned that the working assumption at present was that the new centre would have car parking as part of it, as this 
linked to Sport England’s criteria for allocating funding. People at the meeting were very clear that a large increase in people driving through Wonford’s residential streets to reach a new „super 
centre‟ was not an attractive option, particularly as there is no access road that is not a basic, residential road, heavily used by pedestrians and cyclists moving around their locality, as well as being 
on a well used bus, walking and cycling commuter through route, particularly for hospital and County Hall staff. 

Any such increase in traffic would work directly against not only quality of life ie having pleasant „living streets‟, but would increase air pollution and road safety risks for local people. Those driving 
in would be almost entirely people from outside the area.

a. Can you therefore please confirm whether or not a generous sized car park is part of the City Council’s plan for this new Centre?

3.     At the COGS meeting held to discuss the new centre, [Council officers] were keen to talk about the „wellness centre‟ aspects, citing places like the Bromley by Bow centre. When asked, they 
confirmed that centres such as Bromley by Bow are run by charities or other not for profits with well established track records regarding their community, values driven stance. [The Council officer] 
further commented on the potential conflict between a traditional profit-driven company running such a centre, and the community, wellbeing aspects that people in the room were interested in. 
It is certainly hard to imagine a straight „down the line‟ profit driven organisation having much truck with activities that don’t generate income.

Can you clarify what the City Council is planning to do regarding the ownership and management of any new centre at Wonford? Who will it belong to, what kind of organisation will be 
considered to run it, (assuming that the council won’t be running it), and will the same company be chosen to run as will run the other two new centres?

P
age 265



Stakeholder Feedback 2019                                                                                  Appendix E

Stakeholder Category You said
4.    The Council’s decision making process on this Strategy. The council’s „consultation calendar‟ says that the public will see “findings” in July 2019, but there is no further information about the 

decision-making timescale for the council, nor what these „findings‟ refer to. Please can you clarify the Council’s decision-making timetable for this draft Report ie which committee(s )the final 
report will go, and what will be shared with the public in July?

5.     The report implies that the ambition for the new centres depends on receiving external funding from Sport England and other sources. We understand from meetings you held with some Wonford 
residents in recent months, that the City Council is proposing to put in a bid for these new facilities to Sport England in June or July 2019. Could please clarify/confirm the timetable for Exeter City 
Council’s submission of a funding bid to Sport England, towards the new proposed centres

6.     Alternatives to proposals in the draft Report. The draft Report, and Sport England’s prospectus for councils seeking funding for new built facilities, make much of the need to secure local buy in. 
Can you please clarify:

a. Any plans to understand what people in Wonford think of the proposal to build a new Centre? (One consultation meeting was held at a Wonford COGS meeting, but we are assuming that this 
cannot represent the whole local consultation process)

b. What alternative vision for sports facilities are being considered if Sport England funding is not forthcoming?

c. If local people show that they do not want the new Centre, (for example, because of the implications of loss of community space and increased traffic in the area), will the City Council amend 
the proposed approach for Wonford?

Exeter Green 
Party (2)
 

Political 
Party

Exeter Green Party welcomes the high level goals of both draft strategies, but believes that the proposed delivery mechanisms are inconsistent with and sometimes actively opposing the stated 
strategic aims. 

1. Three new ‘super centres’ versus wider spread of neighbourhood facilities. 

The strategy proposes three new ‘super centres’, with the concomitant assumption that people will be travelling miles across the city to access them. But the City Council’s own Corporate Strategy 
theme of ‘great neighbourhoods’ 1 highlights the need for local facilities that people can access easily on foot, by bike and public transport. We believe that this Strategy should be revised to cover 
smaller scale localised provision of less expensive sports facilities, particularly modest sports halls. Obviously, expensive and specialised facilities can’t be provided across the city, but with imagination 
and working with communities and existing assets -based on the ABCD approach, much could be done with existing and modest new provision. A Community Asset Transfer Policy in place would also 
help to facilitate and secure opportunities for local provision of lower level leisure and movement activities such as exercise and dance classes, increased community input to the management and 
running of facilities and opportunities to access third party investment not open to Councils. The potential to provide space for a fully independent community centre in Wonford, or to hand the 
existing building over for asset transfer, is just one example of such potential. The Council should grant realistic long term leases to community owned not for private profit enterprises within green 
spaces, notably community cafes, where local users agree that this would be a good addition to their park. The Strategy also fails to deal with the needs of future residents - people who will be living in 
the very large new developments on the eastern and western sides of the city, where there are no community facilities at all. The Strategy has to consider providing more localised, smaller facilities for 
these new communities. 
1 “balanced and connected neighbourhood that supports wellbeing and reduces social isolation with new communities built around hubs of activity, workspaces, schools, community spaces and local shops”. Exeter Corporate Strategy, 2018 - 21 

2. Base provision on need and consulting the public 

The Strategy appears to be overly driven by a wish to secure funding for new ‘mega-centres’. This approach of investing in three large new centres is not based on any public consultation, but on a 
report from consultants. Where is the evidence that this is what people want? Page 2 

3. Failure to link to other key strategies and Corporate Plan goals 

The timescale, level of change and scale of financial investment implied by both documents make them highly significant to Exeter’s people, spaces and environment, in both the medium and long 
term. As such, it is essential to future proof both of these strategies – and that means they must mesh fully with current and soon to be agreed strategies. In particular, future land use planning policies, 

P
age 266



Stakeholder Feedback 2019                                                                                  Appendix E

Stakeholder Category You said
(the emergent Greater Exeter Strategic Plan process), future housing and other development, the soon to be finalised Exeter Transport Strategy, the Council’s Climate Change statements, and the City 
Council’s Air Quality Action Plan are all highly relevant to the proposals in these two draft documents. 
None of these documents are referenced though. This omission masks serious clashes of corporate goals. For example, if the three proposed new leisure facilities are built with large car parks ie based 
on the assumption that significant numbers of users will arrive by car, this puts the strategy in direct conflict with the stated goals of both the draft Exeter Transport Strategy (which Exeter City Council 
has said has its “wholehearted support”2 -) ) the City Council’s Corporate Strategy goal of ‘tackling congestion and accessibility” and the City’s Air Quality Action Plan goals to reduce air pollution from 
traffic. If the city is serious about moving to a near future where cars are used less in favour of public transport, walking and cycling, a future with cleaner air and reduced greenhouse gas emissions, 
then building 3 flagship centres based on people arriving by car is clearly not a viable policy. 

2 https://www.devonnewscentre.info/have-your-say-on-future-transport-plans-for-exeter/ 3 Master Plan for Ludwell and River Valley Parks, 2016. Page 69 

4. Ownership and management of the new Centres 

We believe that any new Centres should be owned and run by either the council or a community owned and led organisation with a track record in supporting genuine community-based and 
community -led activities. This commitment should be part of the revised Strategy as it is fundamental to securing long term management styles and values that will deliver on the ambitious strategy 
goals. The past decade has shown the serious risks and limitations of handing over management of valuable public assets to companies that only care about their bottom line. 

5. Selling off of Northbrook pitch and putt 

We oppose the idea of selling off the Northbrook pitch and putt. The Riverside and Ludwell Valley Masterplan, commissioned and signed off by the City Council in 2016, highlighted the potential of this 
space for improved walking and cycling links, better use of the space for leisure, in short “a key landing pad for the both the Riverside Park and Ludwell”3. The Council should set a goal of increasing 
green space available and enhancing existing green space, not selling off irreplaceable sites like this. We note that the impact on the loss of biodiversity has not been stated. Finally, the air pollution on 
Topsham Road is already at close to illegal levels from Acorn Junction to the Countess Wear roundabout – and that is without the large new development on the Deaf School site, and the proposed 
development of further housing on behind St Leonard’s school on the Deaf School field. Further housing on this already polluted and congested road, that is difficult for cyclists and pedestrians, flies in 
the face of the corporate goals of reducing congestion and enabling more active travel. 

6. River Exe and Canal as leisure and active travel spaces 

None of the draft documents even reference the River Exe / Canal, yet both are important for both leisure activities (water-based and walking and cycling in the River Valley Park) and active travel – the 
River Valley Park is a key commuter routes for cyclists. Page 3 
It would be helpful if the strategy were to show how the canal and river contribute to the active goals. 

7. Play areas 

We accept that the current provision of parks has developed in too random a way, driven by what is easy for developers to offer under Section 106 money. However, before any play areas are shut 
down there should be a study of the level of usage and proper consultation of the community. Just because there are play areas near one another doesn't mean that they're not both valued or used by 
many and /or different groups in the community. 

We are concerned that the creation of so called ‘destination’ parks means that parents are less likely to let their children go those places alone, and/or or will take to driving them further away to a 
'destination park'. This will of course act against the physical activity strategy as well as the Council’s corporate goals of reducing traffic and improving air quality. 

As Exeter grows in size and density more neighbourhood green spaces and informal ways of using them are needed ie places accessible easily on foot and by bike, for play, dog walking and biodiversity. 
The Council should consider creating ‘pocket parks’ as another way of increasing locally available mini-green space. This could be combined with the promise of bringing in filtered permeability in 
residential streets - a couple of trees and a bench in a quiet street all add to quality of life. 

8. Parks and open spaces 

A parks and open spaces strategy must have a strong biodiversity policy integrated within it. This policy must in turn be fully integrated with the new Trees Strategy that the City Council is currently 
developing. 

The strategy should also include positive and clear statements about encouraging community and not for profit groups to take up activities that benefit local green space and its users, including a 

P
age 267



Stakeholder Feedback 2019                                                                                  Appendix E

Stakeholder Category You said
Community Asset Transfer policy, and the Council committing to ongoing dialogue with green space groups. 

The Strategy should include a commitment to seeking to continually reduce the use of pesticides and herbicides, and prohibit the widespread use of glyphosate. by both changed management regimes 
and changed use of products and methods for weed and pest control. 

Opportunities for using parks and open spaces to develop skills and learning and social enterprise, through volunteering, apprenticeships and paid posts -perhaps working with a third part community 
enterprise should be explored. There are plenty of examples around the country of such initiatives. 

The Council should also include the insurance of volunteers helping with the maintenance and enhancement of parks and open spaces on their corporate insurance as other councils do.

Exeter Green 
Space 
Network
 

Community 
Group

Strongly opposed to any further selling off of green space within the city and the consultation draft report’s proposal to sell off the Northbrook pitch and putt, which has great value not just as a leisure 
facility but as a valuable link – for wildlife, and for walkers and cyclists –between Riverside Valley Park and Ludwell Valley Park.

A parks and open spaces strategy should commit to enhancing and increasing Exeter's green spaces, whether owned by the Council or others.

A revised parks and open spaces strategy must include clear policies aiming for less use of pesticides and herbicides in public parks and open spaces. Including constructive and positive ways to change 
management regimes, such that few chemicals are used and more habitat is created by leaving more areas untouched or cut less often.

A parks and open spaces strategy must acknowledge the importance of multiple uses for these spaces, i.e. quiet enjoyment, strolling, playing, dog walking, as well as structured physical activities and 
sports. This means actively managing the potential conflicts between these uses through signage and other methods. 

Parks and open spaces must be underpinned by a strong biodiversity policy, so that all planting and management regimes comply with that policy. Must also be explicitly and clearly linked to the in-
development new Tree Strategy for the Council.

Exeter City Council has made clear that it wants to take an Asset Based Community Development approach to parks and open spaces, as well as physical activities. This means not selling off public 
assets, being prepared to work constructively with not-for-profit organisations that seek to undertake activities in parks and open spaces that are congruent with everyone’s use and enjoyment of 
them. In particular, not for profit food-related offers would be very welcome and would add real amenity and community value to our parks and open spaces.

Ludwell Life
 

Community 
Group

Completely opposed to the proposed sell-off of the green space that is currently the Northbrook pitch and putt site. The River Valley and Ludwell Masterplan, signed off the City Council in 2016, 
highlighted this space as having great potential for walking and cycling routes, leisure activities and forming a much better known and signed link between the two valley parks. There is no rationale 
given for selling this site other than raising money.

Appreciate that the management regime for Ludwell Valley Park is now in the hands of Devon Wildlife Trust, but in relation to Wonford playing fields, a parks and open spaces strategy must contain a 
clear position on reducing the use of pesticides and herbicides, seeking to completely phase out the use of glyphosate in particular. 

Would like to see a biodiversity and trees policy within a new parks and open spaces strategy, to avoid the mistakes of the past - planting non-native species where native species give a better result for 
wildlife and so on. 

The Northbrook stream's water quality is classified as 'poor' by the Environment Agency. We understand that water quality falls across many agencies, including the Environment Agency, South West 
Water, and Devon County Council. However, the City Council does have its role to play, so we would like to see a commitment to actively working with these agencies to find the causes of pollution and 
taking action to stop the pollution. 

P
age 268



Stakeholder Feedback 2019                                                                                  Appendix E

Stakeholder Category You said

Save the 
Clifton Hill 
Green Space

Community 
Group

In the section ‘Parks and Priority Actions’, please make reference to the inherent value of Green space, not just as a resource to be exploited by humans for their own activities, but as a valuable natural 
reserve for biodiverse fauna and flora. This natural attribute is a crucial consideration when determining the future of all Green Spaces. 

Following on from this point, please link explicitly to the importance of preserving and enhancing biodiversity and specifically the highly successful and much appreciated flagship ‘Wild Exeter’ initiative.

Oppose any development that involves buildings on Green Space, exempting tracks, cycle paths and measures to improve accessibility and activity listed in the document.

On Page 31, the reference to health and well-being is somewhat vague. Please stress that research has consistently found a link between improved health, wellbeing and time spent in outdoor 
environments, especially those managed for wildlife.

Exeter Civic 
Society
 

Community 
Group

The Society is pleased that Exeter City Council is moving towards establishing a sports strategy which is long overdue. The Society is concerned with the built environment, highway issues, and the 
strategic planning of facilities for those residing in the city, so will reserve comment to these matters rather than sporting activity.

There is nothing to disagree with in respect of the draft Physical Activity Strategy and it is hoped that the Council is successful in achieving the aims. We are pleased to note in section 5 that it is 
intended to increase the number of people actively travelling to work rather than to use their car. It is noted that it is intended to enable 4,250 more commuters to choose active travel to work, but 
this lacks ambition. Statistics are based on 2011 census data, but with about 7,000 homes built since then, and a further 12,000 proposed in ECC’s next strategic plan, the council should be more 
ambitious in developing opportunities for people to travel to work other than by car, particularly by identifying more cycle routes. It is hoped that ECC will be pro-active in developing these proposals 
rather than to wait for DCC to find funding for such infrastructure.

Built Facilities.

The report dated January 2019 and presented to council on 12 February makes many proposals to consolidate facilities at Exeter Arena and Wonford, together with new housing at these sites, 
presumably to either support social housing or to raise funds to fund new sports facilities. Whilst there may be land available to develop housing in the vicinity of Exeter Arena, we believe that this is 
not the case at Wonford, and will lead to overdevelopment of the site or the loss of essential green space.

There are many suggestions in the Council’s report (based on Max Associates Report ‘Built Indoor Sports Facilities Strategy’, October 2018) but these fail to provide data relating to current demand for 
such facilities, or any attempt to quantify the number of users now, or in the future once new homes are built in the city. This information should be either developed or published so that councillors, 
officers, and organisations can make better informed decisions based on need rather than an idea that it would be nice to provide these facilities. It also appears likely to us that these new facilities will 
be used by those living in urban extensions to Exeter in East Devon and Teignbridge, yet they will not contribute towards such facilities through their Council Tax – we recommend that these councils 
are asked to contribute towards these facilities.

There are proposals from East Devon District Council to include a Sports Village in proposals for the GESP, which could include a competition size swimming pool and other yet to be defined facilities 
close to the M5. If built, this could have an impact on possible revenues for facilities within Exeter and affect the justification for the proposals. Any revised report to Council should include the 
possibility of facilities close to the city.

The Council makes it clear in the introduction to these consultation documents that it has no statutory responsibility to provide sporting facilities, and yet there are suggestions for the provision of non-
core facilities for gymnastics, boxing and skiing. There is no mention of badminton as a sport, or of water based sports, despite there being very healthy water based clubs based on the river.

The report by Max Associates highlighted that Council run facilities are poorly maintained because of a lack of revenue funding, so why develop such facilities while the shortage of revenue funding 
persists? It is essential that if the council recommend the development of any facilities that this is accompanied by a publicly available business plan that clearly demonstrates how the facilities will be 
funded and maintained during their lifetime (60 years is normal), including major expenditure such as replacing roofs etc.. And it is essential that the Max Associates Report is updated to consider 
whether some clubs could relocate to halls owned by privately run organisations that would benefit from revenue from small sports clubs that may rely on cheap rents rather than the high cost of 
purpose built facilities.

The council should focus on that which people need that is uneconomic for the private sector and impossible for clubs to do as it requires a lot of land and capital investment. This situation has been 
reinforced by the Council (Labour party) reminding us in election leaflets that it is short of revenue funding, so should it be spending any tax-payers money on flagship sporting and leisure built 
facilities? Would the council be better working with these groups to encourage/ enable the clubs and the private sector to seek funding for such facilities from sport associations and the Lottery? Clubs 
and the private sector can operate facilities so much better and get participants far more enthused, from local football teams, scouts & guides and the canoe club to David Lloyd and Exeter Golf & 

P
age 269



Stakeholder Feedback 2019                                                                                  Appendix E

Stakeholder Category You said
Country Club. 

We believe that the development of additional facilities at Exeter Arena will result in the loss of playing pitches but this is not noted in the report, or how these pitches will be replaced. There are 
proposals for four new major facilities, a swimming pool, Sports Hall, Gymnastic facilities, and a boxing facility. However, access to this area is not good from the south, particularly if it is expected that 
competitive events are intended with visiting teams. Vehicular access is from Summer Lane but due to a low railway bridge, coaches and large delivery lorries must access the area via Mount Pleasant 
Road and then the Beacon Heath area. To improve access, the council should consider a new road access from Exhibition Way for visiting coaches and service vehicles at least. If it is not possible to 
achieve this, and competitive sports are intended at these facilities, perhaps some would be better located at the Wonford Centre which has good highway access.  

There are two school sports halls close to the Exeter Arena area at St James and St Luke’s secondary schools as well as many primary schools with school halls, but these are not included in any analysis 
by Max Associates. The usage of these facilities should be analysed, and It may be better if the Council invest in these facilities rather than build another sports hall which may not be adequately used.

For proposals at the Wonford Sports Centre we are concerned by suggestions in the Report, and recommended by Max Associates, for ‘An innovative, new build integrated community health and 
wellbeing centre to replace the existing Wonford Sports and community centres.’ The sports facilities and community hall at Wonford were purpose built in the mid-1980s so are only about 30 years 
old, and have many years life left in them. It should be perfectly feasible to adapt and refurbish these facilities to achieve the integrated community and wellbeing centre that is suggested. This will be 
achieved at much less cost than building new. Councillors should be reminded that these buildings are built over contaminated land so construction is not straightforward. 

The report makes no mention of school sports halls at Isca and St Peter’s secondary schools which are located at each end of the Wonford community. It would be helpful if activity there was included 
to determine what sporting activities should be included at Wonford.

The proposed closure of Northbrook Golf course is a surprise proposal. The report does not demonstrate that this facility is not sufficiently used or financially unviable so we would urge the council to 
publish such information to support proposals to redevelop the area. With the course being an important green link between Ludwell Valley Park and the River Valley Park it is a very important green 
space. The Council has highlighted its desire to retain public green spaces within the city, but the possible development of housing on some or the entire site will result in a permanent loss that can 
never be regained once built on. The River, Canal and Quayside Group within ECS wish particularly to oppose the sale of Northbrook pitch-and-putt golf course. It should be better promoted and 
administered as a sports facility, or re-purposed as a green space with more varied use and active landscaping. Re-purposing would, for instance, enable it to be developed as a wildlife corridor, with 
areas of denser, wilder vegetation than at present.

It might be possible, within a strategy along these lines to sell a proportion of the current area –we would suggest a third or less, concentrated on the higher ground and nearer Topsham Road for 
residential development. This green link should be connected to cycle and pedestrian routes over Topsham Road so users face minimal disruption to their enjoyment of the area. 

Playing Fields and Pitches Needs Assessment.

At the time of responding to this consultation the author has not had an opportunity to read Continuum Leisure’s report which we hope includes quantative analysis about the size of population to 
establish the number of pitches required.

It is reassuring to read that the consultant’s assessment of need includes that as a result of planned housing and population growth, although it is noted that this will only extend to proposals to 2026. 
With the Council about to announce plans for a further 12,000 homes (about 24,000 people) in the city as part of the GESP to be developed to 2014, it would be prudent to also look at needs up to 
2040 to ensure sufficient pitches/land is protected for future residents.

There is no mention of provision for Tennis or Lawn Bowles, which is odd considering the Council controls such facilities. To ensure that these sports and facilities are considered for development, and 
any others within council ownership (cycle tracks?); such facilities should be included in the overall sports strategy for the city. This will ensure that these facilities are included within maintenance 

P
age 270



Stakeholder Feedback 2019                                                                                  Appendix E

Stakeholder Category You said
and investment plans for sports provision, and demonstrate to users that such facilities will be retained (or not).

We must point out some possible conflicts with plans for pitches in the vicinity of the canal (Bromhams Farm and Grace Road Fields). In the Council’s current Strategic Plan there are proposals to 
establish a city centre camp site in this vicinity, and for a ‘marina’ off the canal. Both of these will need access by car / boat, and possibly the use of Grace Road Fields. Proposals in the council’s recently 
commissioned canal development plan must also be considered to ensure there are no conflicts of use in this area. Secondly, the Council’s Riverside & Ludwell Valley Parks Masterplan 2016-2026 
highlights the Bromhams Farm area as a new outdoor activities hub, as well as a location for a visitor centre. In addition, it proposes that Grace Road Playing Fields are developed as a picnic and 
camping area, as well as Clapperbrook Lane being a primary access to the Valley Park from the west. We hope that the council will take these conflicting matters into account and amend all proposals 
accordingly to ensure there are consistent and complimentary masterplans.

We would like to comment on three of the proposed actions:

 Action 2 highlights the need to plan ahead for adequate provision as a result of proposals within the GESP which we wholeheartedly support.
 Action 6 suggests developing existing grass pitches into AWPs to increase use/activity. However, we would urge the council not to do this because such pitches are expensive to maintain and 

regularly need rebuilding. The council’s lack of revenue funding to maintain existing facilities is highlighted throughout recent reports.
 Action 9 suggests developing masterplans for the two strategic sports hubs which we support. However, we must urge the council to engage in further early consultation with users and 

communities rather than to produce a fete-a-compli. Whole life maintenance plans should also be developed alongside such masterplans to ensure facilities can be maintained.

Community Play Areas.

The author is responding without having had the opportunity to read the council’s Review of Play Areas before completing this response.

At a time when many in society are concerned about the amount of time children seem to spend indoors using electronic play equipment rather than playing and socialising outside, we do hope that 
the council will ensure that there is a network of localised play areas for all children. All future plans should include consultation with local families and community leaders before final decisions are 
made to close or change any local provision.

The report highlights that many new play areas are developer driven, but much of this is as a result of the Council’s planning policies requiring play areas to be developed in new housing developments. 
If the council then adopts these facilities it is odd that through the planning process officers have not negotiated or dictated the appropriate quality and level of play equipment. It is surely possible to 
ensure that any new developments that come before planning officers are subject to better scrutiny to ensure any new play areas fit in with any agreed strategy.

Parks and Greenspaces.

Large parks are places where communities can come together for fetes, social activities, a place for relaxation, and often combine and link with play and recreation areas. Parks such as Heavitree Park, 
St Thomas Park, and Rougemont Gardens are characterised by mature trees and plants with wildlife, and seating suitable for all age groups. Most parks have been established for some time, hence the 
mature trees that are admired and enjoyed.

As Exeter has expanded new communities have been provided with a range of green spaces from small parks to open lawned areas, but no new parks have been established that may allow greater 
community gatherings and enjoyment, as well as the provision of mature trees and planting. Much of the land where this could have been achieved has now been developed either for new homes or 
employment, and there may not now be any opportunities to establish such a park to support new communities within the city, particularly to the east of the city.

The council should now consider how a new park could be developed on the boundary of the city, perhaps working with neighbouring councils where significant new housing is being developed.

In paragraph 5.2 it is stated that budgetary pressures in the short and medium term requires the council to consider innovative approaches to developing greenspaces in the future. Whilst it is 
recognised that austerity measures are having an impact upon the council’s revenue budget, it is crucial that the council should be ambitious and plan for the future, especially for the large projects 
that require planning policies and strategies, and capital funding.

We do not have any comments in respect of sections 6 and 7 of the draft report.

P
age 271



Stakeholder Feedback 2019                                                                                  Appendix E

Stakeholder Category You said

Kirsty Hill Local 
Government

One area we have highlighted was around the reduction in parks in the Exwick area when this is one of the areas highlighted as a priority. Part of the problem with access on the west of the river is the 
topography and this needs to be considered as well as density. It is clear the site of the destination park is yet to be decided but with closures in Exwick we would want to see the park placed close to 
this priority area to support physical activity of people of all ages in the area. 

It would also be useful to include a timeframe for which the strategy will be worked on to be able to assess progress towards the outcomes over time, and also to align other strategies and work 
programmes to. 

The King George’s playing field play area is highlighted as expired but it is not clear whether it is this one that is due to close. If it is the park which contains the equipment which is wheelchair 
accessible then this equipment is not removed and refurbished if required as it is really important that all children are able to access play equipment and there is currently very limited access to play 
equipment for children who require wheelchairs and inclusive play should be supported to reduce inequalities.

Exeter TAG 
Rugby Club
 

Sports 
Club/Assoc

I do feel our club genuinely has something unique and of real value to offer the whole of our community of Exeter however the main issue we are faced with is that of a regular and suitable venue. For 
the last 14 years we have from September to the start of the athletics season in April used the floodlit grass pitch at the Exeter Athletics Arena after which we lose this facility and switch to the 3G pitch 
at Exeter University from April to the end of July. 

Although I would like to think we have always had a very good relationship over the years with both our venues each does has its own particular drawbacks which I believe has a real negative impact on 
the expansion of our club. The Arena because it is weather dependant and sessions there are often cancelled at late notice due to the weather. Not being reliant on the weather the 3G pitch at the 
university is obviously our much preferred venue but we are restricted to its use to the summer months due to the high demand from its students during term time. The high cost of its hire is also a 
real issue for us. 

As a club we do feel we have something different and of value that we offer the people of Exeter and would very much like to have a regular venue of a 3G floodlight pitch which we could have use off 
each Friday evening throughout the year to help us fulfil this. If the proposed 3G community pitch at the University’s Topsham Sports Ground goes ahead we would very much hope we could be 
considered for this.

University of 
Exeter
 

Education 
Sector

We are fully supportive of the Move More strategy and look forward to working with the Council and other partners to deliver on the outcomes. 

With regards to the Built facilities strategy, securing the future of playing pitch provision at Topsham Sports Ground which provides high quality rugby, football, cricket and lacrosse facilities and is a key 
asset for the City, is important. To ensure participation in sport can continue and develop, improvements in Pavilion and changing are needed together with investment in artificial surfaces and 
critically floodlighting of the site.  The support of the City Council in enabling this is critical.

The University would like to discuss further the St Sidwells Point development and how this can deliver on student needs. 

Sport 
England
 

National 
Bodies

Sport England are hugely excited and supportive of the suggested approach that Exeter City Council are taking in their new Physical Activity strategy and their plans around the built and natural 
environment in the city.

We are really encouraged that the council recognise the positive and wide ranging impact that population level increases in physical activity can have on the city as a whole. Tackling some of the big 
strategic challenges that are facing the city by getting more people to move more every day.

We’re glad that the council have taken an analytic approach to targeting the places and people that are set to benefit the most from their vision. Recognising that there are huge stubborn inequalities 
that exist in why some people are less physically active than others.

It’s also fantastic to see that the role of physical activity has extended into other strategies across the place including the corporate strategy and new housing plan. Taking a long term approach to this 
is what Sport England are hoping to see from Local Authorities.

Overall we are highly supportive of the plans being consulted on and we look forward to working closely and alongside the city council and other key organisations in the delivery of the vision set out. 

That said, Sport England do have a few areas that we would like the council to consider when finalising these strategies:

P
age 272



Stakeholder Feedback 2019                                                                                  Appendix E

Stakeholder Category You said
 It would be helpful to be clearer on the relationship between the strategy and the LDP rather than referring to the pilot as an entity – is the pilot the way of working and approach and the 

priorities within it the strategy priorities. 

 Could the strategy and it’s associated documents use more plain and consistent language? Is the strategy intended to be understood and consumed by the general public?

 To use the most up to date data, insight and evidence - Particularly with regards activity levels within the identified target localities and the information for future active environments plans. 

 Can the council be clearer on how it will work with other key organisations to support the existing and further sporting system in Exeter. Clearly this is a strategy for physical activity in its 
broadest sense but the approach does feel to move the council away from any Sport provision, I think we’d all accept that an active environment is supportive of both formal and informal sport 
and physical activity as a spectrum. What role does the Council play in this and who else does this fall to? Are other partners signed up to the emerging strategies in a shared way?

 We would welcome the opportunity to join up our local and national expertise in facility and planning work with the emerging plans, ensuring latest methodologies and processes (in an 
evolving policy environment) are used to finalise the strategic approach across the city.

Exeter 
Cycling 
Campaign
 

Community 
Group

13 page document submitted with 11 recommendations and supporting evidence. Recommendations itemised below:

1. As a result, we would suggest amending the vision to the following:
“Our vision is for Exeter to continue to be the most active city in England, and to enable those most at risk of inactivity to become active in everyday life.”

2. For ECC to work with Devon County Council (DCC) to roll out the modal filters identified by community members in our Living Streets report.
3. All new housing developments in the District must be served by public transport and connected with paths that give people walking and cycling priority. Provision should be made for secure 

bicycle storage in all new housing developments.
4. ECC should work with DCC to design and agree a dense network of paths, making the city permeable for people walking and cycling: including children, the disabled and the quarter of car-free 

households.
5. ECC to publicly support a 20mph speed limit within Exeter and work with DCC to make it happen.
6. ECC to fund a pilot of temporary road closures or no parking/drop off during school start/leave times.
7. ECC should work with DCC to provide segregated cycle routes on the arterial routes within half a mile of any redevelopment.
8. ECC to charge parking at the same rate as public car parks for built leisure facilities.
9. An equivalent amount of covered bicycle parking should be provided at all ECC leisure facilities and sites.
10. ECC should review the annual cost of accessing leisure centre facilities versus investing in cycling infrastructure for people on low incomes in the target LSOAs.
11. ECC to review the cycle path provision covered by the report area to ensure that it is all a minimum of 3 metres wide, or that full segregation is provided. ECC to review all of the access points 

for cycle paths within the report area so that physical barriers which mean cyclists have to dismount, or are forced into conflict with pedestrians, are removed.

Active 
Devon VSO

Thank you for inviting Active Devon to contribute feedback to the draft consultation document. We would offer the following comments:

1. Active Devon welcomes ECC’s obvious commitment to the importance of physical activity and its contribution to so many wider societal outcomes. In times of challenged and constrained public 
sector resources it is particularly encouraging and forward sighted of the Council to have identified active and healthy lifestyles as a core strategic programme in its corporate plan. We therefore 
strongly endorse the overall approach and intent set out.
2. We are delighted to see the close alignment with Active Devon’s own strategy, in particular:
a. The document’s broad and inclusive interpretation of physical activity across both the whole lifestyle and the whole life-course
b. The recognition of the biggest gains coming from focusing on tackling inactivity
c. The clear intent towards collaboration and partnership across the strategy and the explicit inclusion of ‘working together’ as a guiding principle
d. The recognition of both the complexity and necessity to focus on and achieve behavioural change in order to achieve success
3. Active Devon will be delighted to work closely with ECC and its broad range of partners locally to achieve our mutual ambitions set out in the strategy.
We would also like you to consider the following:
4. Is the strategy sufficiently aspirational in its intent? Page 5 sets out a vision for Exeter to become the most physically active city in England and on page 12 Exeter is cited as the most physically active 
local authority. Perhaps revisit this and clearly define what ‘taking it to the next level’ should look like.
5. Does the document act as a sufficiently strong ‘call to action’ for partners? The importance of physical activity to wider societal outcomes is set out as part of the rationale and evidence but more 
could be done to seek and secure the genuine buy in of partners across the wider system. This is particularly true of health. It may be that this strategy document is not the place for the detail of that 

P
age 273



Stakeholder Feedback 2019                                                                                  Appendix E

Stakeholder Category You said
but there should be a clear opportunity / expectation laid out that invites partners to ‘join the movement’ and sign up to the strategy and its ambitions.
6. Formatting and imagery within the document can be improved. Imagery, whilst positive in respect of not solely being about sport / recreation, is quite one dimensional (lots of walking group 
pictures). It would be good to use imagery to reinforce key agendas such as activity in the workplace and disabled people. It is good that the importance of consistent communications and make it 
visible are set out as guiding principles – the current format misses an opportunity to reinforce them. This is even more important for more overtly public facing / promotional material which must 
feature and speak to ‘people like me’ in its design.
7. Page 25 reads contradictorily in respect of length of Sport England Pilot (3 or 4 years)
8. Page 26 it would be better to use the space to provide a summary of what the Exeter & Cranbrook pilot will deliver and provide a link to where people can find out about the other sites. Alternatively 
scrap this page and use if for the ‘call to action’ (as comments in para 5 above).

P
age 274



Stakeholder Feedback 2019                                                                                  Appendix E

Key Points & Themes:

 Adapt and refurbish Wonford Sports & Community Centres
 Align parking charges
 Alternatives to proposals in the draft Report.
 Asset Based Community Development Approach
 Base provision on need and consulting the public
 Clarify working relationships with other organisations and external bodies
 Clear timeframe for delivery of strategy
 Commends analytical approach and inclusion in the Corporate Strategy and 

Housing Vision
 Community Asset Transfer to local communities to develop 

own facilities
 Consultation process and Council’s decision making policy
 Create a green link to improve journeys for pedestrians and cyclists
 Destination park for Exwick
 Destination parks will increase driving and reduce physical activity
 Encourage clubs to access alternative funding and the role of private sector 

operators
 Ensure there are consistent and complementary masterplans
 Evaluate usage of play areas and consult with local 

communities
 Failure to link to other key strategies and Corporate Plan goals
 Formatting & imagery could be improved
 Future community consultation
 High venue hire fees
 Importance of using parks and open spaces for multiple uses
 Improve access to Exeter Arena
 Improve and invest in walking & cycling infrastructure
 Improvement needed in Pavilion, changing facilities, artificial 

surfaces and floodlighting
 Increased congestion, parking issues and impact on air quality
 Insufficient all-weather pitches
 Introduce 20mph speed limit city wide
 Links to health & wellbeing
 More local facilities as opposed to 3 super centres
 New Health & Wellbeing Hub (Wonford)
 No mention of badminton or water based sports

 No mention of River Exe and the Canal
 No mention of Tennis or Lawn Bowls
 Oppose closure and sale of Northbrook Golf Course
 Ownership & management
 Pilot temporary road closures during school drop off/pick up times
 Preserve, maintain and plant new trees
 Provide more land for green spaces & parks
 Provide more pocket parks or local mini green space
 Publish clear business plans outlining how facilities will be funded and 

maintained
 Publish or develop information so decisions can be better informed
 Recognise importance of green spaces for wildlife
 Recommends a strong call to action to engage partners
 Reduce use of pesticides & herbicides in parks & open spaces
 Refurbish and maintain play equipment particularly wheelchair accessible 

sites
 Replacement for lost community centre facilities
 Retain and enhance existing green spaces
 Retain public assets and work with not for profit 

organisations or community groups to adopt an Asset Based 
Community Development approach

 Review usage of school facilities
 Secure future playing pitch provision at Topsham Sports Ground
 Seek financial contributions from neighbouring authorities
 Sport England Funding Timetable
 Strong biodiversity policy and clear link to new Tree Strategy
 Supports ambitions but needs to be clearer
 Supports Exeter Move More Draft Built Facilities, Playing 

Fields, Pitches, Play Areas, Parks and Open Spaces Report
 Supports Move More Live Better Draft Physical Activity 

Strategy
 Use most current data, insight & evidence
 Use plain & consistent language
 Use spaces to develop skills, learning & social enterprise
 Work with appropriate agencies to improve water quality at Northbrook
 Work with DCC to make city more pedestrian & cyclist friendly

P
age 275



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Final

EXETER CITY COUNCIL

REPORT TO: PLACE SCRUTINY 
Date of Meeting: 25 June 2019

REPORT TO: EXECUTIVE
Date of Meeting: 9 July 2019 

REPORT TO: COUNCIL
Date of Meeting: 23 July 2019 

Report of: Growth & Commercialisation Manager
Title: INExeter Business Improvement District Business Plan 2020 - 2025

Is this a Key Decision
Yes
 
Is this an Executive or Council Function? 
Council

1. What is the report about? 

1.1 The report sets out the process and proposals for a second term of the InExeter Business 
Improvement District (BID), as well as the 5 year Business Plan which businesses within 
the BID area vote upon, October 2019. 

2. Recommendations

2.1 That Place Scrutiny comments on the proposals of the BID Board and supports the 
recommendation that the City Council votes in favour of continuing the InExeter 
Improvement District (BID) for a second term, covering the period 2020-2025.

2.2 That Place Scrutiny recommends to Executive that members approve the City Council 
casting its votes in favour of continuing the BID in the forthcoming ballot in October 2019.

2.3 That Council approve a budget of £5,000 to undertake the ballot to be funded from General 
Fund reserves.

2.3 That the Portfolio Holder for Environment & City Management is appointed to sit on the 
InExeter Board, with the support of the Growth & Commercialisation Manager, to oversee 
the interests of the City Council and wider city centre through activity undertaken by 
InExeter.

2.4 The BID boundary is extended to include businesses located on Magdalen Road, at the 
request of the businesses association and businesses located on Magdalen Road. 

2.5 That Exeter City Council charge a true cost of supporting InExeter in collecting the BID 
levy, calculated at £12,000 + VAT per annum, from £1,500 + VAT per year. 

2.6 The Growth & Commercialisation Manager draws up contingency plans, to be implemented 
as a result of a no vote in October 2019. 

3. Reasons for the recommendation 

3.1 It is important to maintain the competitive position and economic strength of the city centre 
in the face of changing consumer behaviour in the retail sector, investments being made in 

Page 277

Agenda Item 8



Final

other locations and the realities of a continuing reduction to public sector finance and 
services.  The continuation of the BID is important to provide the focus for a concerted 
effort to face up to these challenges and to secure sufficient resource to be able to take 
appropriate action.

3.2 There is a focus going forward on supporting businesses within the city centre to ensure a 
strong and vibrant economy.  

4. What are the resource implications including non financial resources?

4.1 The City Council has previously contributed up to £25,000 towards the £50,0000 costs of 
the preparation of the first term Business Plan 2015-2020 and holding of the ballot for the 
first term of the BID. The costs of work towards developing the second term BID 2020-2025 
are being met by the current BID funds and voluntary contributions from property owners in 
the BID area.

4.2 The cost of holding the ballot is a local authority cost and will be met from General Fund 
reserves.

4.3 At the time of writing this report and if the vote is successful, the City Council’s annual 
liability for the levy payment for the City Council hereditaments would be £21,734.38, this 
has increased from £15,593.62.

4.4 Due to the extension of the BID boundary, two new properties being added to the BID area: 

Car Park at Fair Park Gardens, Magdalen Road Yearly BID payable £1,031.25
Car Park at Magdalen Street Yearly BID Payable £893.75

This would increase the City Council BID Levy to £23,659.38 per annum for 5 years, 
starting 1 April 2020.  This could fluctuate through the years, if we have vacancies within 
property we own.

4.5 The reason for an increase in City Council costs is due to the levy increasing from 1% to 
1.25% and the BID boundary changing.  The BID is being extended to include Sidwell 
Street (part), Magdalen Road (part), Longbrook Street (part), New North Road (part), West 
Street (part) and Barthlomew Street (part), Queen Street (Part), Fairpark Road. 

The BID levy rules have been amended from the next BID term and are included in 
Appendix A InExeter Business Plan.  

4.6 The final ballot list will be closed early September 2019. 

5. Section 151 Officer comments: 

5.1 The costs associated with the ballot can be funded from General Fund reserves and are a 
requirement of the scheme.  If successful, the budgets for 2020-21 will be adjusted to add 
in the additional costs to the Council arising from the scheme.

5.2 If the ballot is unsuccessful, any Council support will either have to be managed within 
existing budgets or will require a further report to Council seeking additional funds.  Given 
the Council’s current financial position, any such report will have to identify ongoing savings 
to offset the additional expenditure.

6. What are the legal aspects? 

6.1 None identified

Page 278



Final

7. Monitoring officer Comments 

7.1 This report raises no issues for the Monitoring Officer.

8. Background

8.1 Members previously supported the development of a BID for Exeter City Centre in 2015.  
There are currently around 300 formal BIDs across the UK and Republic of Ireland, 
supporting their local business community.  

8.2 The number of BIDs are growing, with successful BID’s located in Plymouth (Waterfront 
and City Centre), the English Riviera, Falmouth, Southampton and Bristol.

8.3 BIDs have been delivering a wide range of improvements to local areas from town/city 
centres and business parks to complete market towns.  InExeter have delivered a range of 
projects, services and initiatives to support business and enhance the city centre.  Projects 
completed over the previous 5 years include:
 An enhanced, reactive cleansing service, helping to jet wash pavements and hot 

spots, remove waste and drug related items, pick up waste, remove graffiti (Exeter 
City Council were contracted to provide this work);

 Free training and development courses in accredited subjects such as First Aid, 
H&S, COSHH, Customer Service and Digital Marketing; 

 Better connected business community with regular meetings, communication and 
networking;

 Christmas lights across the city with a switch on event and city dressing (bunting, 
umbrellas, Chinese lanterns); 

 City centre management;
 Free collections of waste electrical and electronic equipment;
 Free business photography session;
 Free Meercat service which will benchmark your utility costs, merchant fees and 

waste and help reduce your business costs; 
 Publications and campaigns such as the Eat & Drink Guide to the city (10,000 print), 

Christmas campaigns and StyleinExeter programme; 
 Social media campaigns such #FinditinExeter which profiles a business each week 

across all digital platforms;
 £30,000 allocated to a new Independents Group which meets on a 3-monthly basis 

to deliver projects that advertise, promote and support the independent sector, 
including a new gift card, publication, trail map, FB page and market research;

 £8,000 annual spend supporting community groups, arts and culture including 
RAMM 150thFestival, Arts Week Exeter and Streets Arts Festival; 

 Support area events such as Fore Street Flea – with road closures and marketing 
and Gandy Street Summer Fete and Countdown to Christmas; 

 Creation of www.inexeter.com which includes a free business listing and 
management of all social and media channels.

A full description of projects completed by the current Business Plan is located within 
Appendix B, InExeter Key Highlights 2015 – 2020.

8.4 The proposed BID Business Plan (not in design format) is included in Appendix A which 
sets out the intended approach and range of projects to be delivered.  The projects have 
been determined through consultation with business within the BID boundary – surveys and 
networking events. 

8.5 Funds collected will be held by the InExeter Company run by a Board made up of elected 
business representatives, as well as representatives from the City Council and County 
Council.  These funds are only for the projects agreed and voted for by the participating 
businesses in line with their agreed business plans.  Each year all businesses / 

Page 279

http://www.inexeter.com/


Final

organisations paying the levy will receive a ‘Billing Leaflet’ and set of accounts that will set 
out clearly how the BID fund has been spent in the previous year and plans for the next 
financial year. 

8.6 Following a successful  vote, all business premises within the BID area will be sent an 
annual invoice equivalent to 1.25% of the rateable value on 5 April 2019 for the duration of 
the BID (five years).  Exeter City Council will be responsible for invoicing and collecting the 
BID levy, as a collection agent, from every BID levy payer in the InExeter BID area.  That 
money will be ring-fenced and passed to the InExeter Company for the exclusive use of 
delivering the business plan.

8.7 The InExeter BID area is illustrated in Appendix A, it will contain over 700 business 
addresses.  The BID levy at 1.25% will generate in excess of £560,000 per annum totalling 
£2.8 million over five years. The second term of the BID proposes a rise in the BID 
multiplier from 1% in term 1 to 1.25% in term 2, but levies from the current rateable value 
list rather than the 2010 list. 

8.8 The proposal for the second term of the BID is to extend the area of the BID to include a 
wider area and also the key traders area of Magdalen Road.  InExeter has been 
approached by businesses located on Magdalen Road to extend the BID area. The full levy 
rules are detailed in the business plan.

8.9 On a successful BID vote, InExeter and the City Council will sign an Operations Agreement 
which will set out in detail the obligations on each party for the collection and management 
of this fund.  Exeter City Council is obliged to use the same powers of enforcement to 
recover the BID levy as for payment of Business Rates. Non-payment could result in court 
action being taken. The BID levy will be payable by the liable party.

8.10 The BID Company (InExeter) will continue be a company limited by guarantee.  The 
InExeter Board of Directors will be responsible for the delivery of projects ensuring that they 
are delivered on time and on budget to the highest standards possible.  The Board will be 
responsible for recruiting and managing a management team. This role will be crucial to the 
coordination of the BID and the delivery of the BID Business Plan.  The Portfoloio Holder for 
Environment & City Management has been nominated to represent the City Council on the 
BID Board, with support from the Growth & Commercialisation Manager as a non-voting 
attendee. 

8.11 If successful with the BID vote this October, a better working relationship should be 
established with InExeter to achieve a great outcome for all concerned.  At times, 
communication has been limited.  

8.12 InExeter will be the first point of contact for day-to-day queries relating to the management 
of the city.  It will act as the conduit to all the organisations operating in the city and ensure 
that there is a ‘joined–up’ and business focused approach to all operational and strategic 
issues affecting the city centre.  The projects and services a BID delivers will be new or in 
addition to Council services but are not allowed to be a replacement for them offering 
additionality to Local Authority services. 

8.13 Development of the Business Plan has included the preparation of baseline statements 
covering services provided by the City Council, Devon County Council and other 
organisations responsible for services and activities in the city centre.  The BID Business 
Plan includes proposals to enhance these services funded by the BID levy and will not fund 
existing services provided by the public sector.  Considering austerity and future budget 
savings, baseline statements will be reviewed on an annual basis.    

8.14 The performance of the BID and its impact on the city centre will be monitored through 
measures listed in the business plan.

Page 280



Final

8.15 The management of the BID will be held to account through:
 business surveys
 ongoing business engagement and dialogue 
 the BID Annual Review, Report and accounts (available to all BID levy payers) 
 an AGM - open to all BID levy payers

9. Contingency 

9.1 Over the previous 12 months, there has been significant changes in how the City Council 
supports businesses.  The Growth team has significantly reduced in numbers and with a 
change in emphasis of focus.  The role of the Growth & Commercialisation Manager has 
changed to be more focused on supporting a city centre economy, in light of changes in the 
retail economy.

9.2 During this summer, the City Council will be working on contingencies, just in case of a no 
vote in October 2019.  This will take into account what InExeter has previously delivered 
and what the City Council will be able to deliver, in light of a reduced team and significantly 
smaller budget to InExeter and reducing budgets going forward.

10. How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan? 

10.1 The BID will be a vital and key partner with the City Council in aiming to improve the 
economic health of the city centre and Exeter’s attraction of investment and visitors 
supporting employment and the quality of the city centre for the benefit of residents.

11.  What risks are there and how can they be reduced? 

11.1 The key risk at this point is a negative vote at ballot.  A successful renewal is imperative to 
the health of the city centre.  A new position of Business Engagement Project Officer, 
temporarily employed by InExeter, is being recruited to.  This post will be working with the 
BID Manager to engage with businesses to support a yes vote October 2019.

12 What is the impact of the decision on equality and diversity; health and wellbeing; 
safeguarding children, young people and vulnerable adults; economy; safety and the 
environment? 

12.1 A successful BID will involve a stronger city centre maintaining, if not improving business 
success, and consequent employment opportunities for young people and others.  
Improvement to the safety of those using the city centre and to the public realm are 
important priorities for a successful city centre and feature highly in proposed projects 
within the Business Plan.

12.2 An EQIA has been completed on InExeter activity, see attached Appendix D.  There is 
more work to complete in terms of impact on residents and visitors on the work they plan to 
undertake within the proposed Business Plan.

13.  Are there any other options? 

13.1 At this point and in terms of the nature of the opportunity presented by the BID, there are no 
comparable options.

13.2 If the BID vote is unsuccessful, the Growth & Commercialisation Manger will work the 
relevant Director and Portfolio Holder to address the decision and draw up plans to support 
the city centre and businesses located within in. 

Page 281



Final

Victoria Hatfield
Growth & Commercialisation Manager

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:-
None 

Contact for enquires: Sharon Sissons, Democratic Services (Committees), Room 2.3, 01392 265275

Page 282



Final

Appendix A
InExeter Business Plan 2020 – 2025

Appendix B
InExeter Key Highlights 2015 – 2020

Appendix C
Baseline statements 

Appendix D
Equality Impact Assessment

Page 283



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

1

InExeter Business Plan 2020-2025
Foreword

InExeter is moving from strength to strength, delivering events to encourage footfall, campaigns to promote the 
city, programmes to support business initiatives to enhance our streets and running sessions to connect our 
member businesses.  Over the last 5 years, InExeter is proud to have invested more than £2.4million in projects 
and services to support business and improve the city centre and we look forward to the next term 2020-2025 to 
further extend our work.

The InExeter area hosts a rich mix of shops, boutiques, cafés, restaurants, venues and commercial offices. Exeter’s 
diverse mix of businesses, tourists, students, residents and shoppers gives the area a rich character. Demands on 
the area are high, with services, the public realm and amenities under pressure. InExeter have a pivotal role in 
ensuring the success of the city, driving change and activating space.

Our drive to ensure a cleaner, better promoted and exciting Exeter has not changed, and we will continue to invest 
in these initiatives, but these core services will be enhanced by collaborative working, greater engagement with 
businesses and stakeholders and new initiatives to support business.

BIDs succeed because they are focused, responsive, innovative and cost effective. We are not a replacement for 
local authority or police services, instead offering additional support and tangible benefit to you and your business. 
With public finances continuing to be placed under pressure, we can ensure secured funding raised locally in 
Exeter is spent locally, safeguarding and improving your business environment.

Exeter is a city on the rise, enjoying the prestige of a historic city, the beauty of a setting between moors and quay, 
the reputation of a Russell Group University and excelling College and a healthy high street which combines a 
diverse range of independents with national retailer names and a growing leisure offer. Indeed, Exeter was listed 
as one of the fastest growing cities in 2017, by Centre 4 Cities.  But we cannot remain complacent and stand still. 
Consumer habits have changed, both in terms of footfall to our city and spending and we must continue to invest 
in our city to ensure its continuing success. 

Exeter is seeing immense transformation, evidenced by; ‘Liveable Exeter, a transformation housing plan’ 
developed by Exeter City Council; with the opening of first-class leisure development in the heart of the city; the 
redevelopment of Exeter College; investment in the Harlequins Centre and the ‘Air Quality Action Plan.’  Changes 
such as these will transform Exeter bringing more people into the city to live, work and socialise.

Exeter is a creative, entrepreneurial and ambitious city and we are home to diverse mix of businesses.
Collaboration, connections and communication are key to help drive new ideas and schemes for the city as this 
transformation takes place. InExeter is well placed to encourage dialogue between partners and stakeholders, 
support business and ensure the business voice is heard.

Our plans within this document respond to a call from businesses to activate the city more of the year with events, 
festivals and markets; promote businesses and activities; support work around helping the less advantaged; ensure 
those who use the city feel safe; offer ways to connect businesses and build networks; and enhance the look and 
feel of our streets. Together, we can ensure a stronger future for Exeter.

 “In the face of the public sector cuts that eliminate virtually all discretionary and non-essential spend, the things 
which actually contribute to making our town and city centres vibrant, attractive places, the existence and purpose 
of city centre BID initiatives are more important than ever.” Andrew McNeilly, Centre Manager, Guildhall Shopping 
and Dining

Chairs Statement, Patrick Cunnigham, Exeter Phoenix. (design document)

Page 285



2

Engagement 

Your city, your business, your thoughts.

In setting out the priorities for 2020-2025, InExeter have undertaken extensive consultation and gathered opinions 
and comments from our member businesses and businesses in the newly proposed streets on key priorities for the 
next term.  Engagement consisted of:

 All InExeter member businesses received a posted business engagement survey in October 2018.
 Have your Say general priorities survey posted to all member businesses in March 2019 also available online, 

via survey monkey mailchimp and available to request.
 A Business Crime survey launched in early April 2019 via post also available online, via survey monkey 

mailchimp and available to request.
 www.inexeter.com updated with Ballot information, links to surveys and contact information for the team
 Communications about InExeter ballot released in printed newsletters posted in March and April 2019.
 One to one engagement meetings with Exeter Cathedral, Exeter College, Exeter Chamber of Commerce and 

Exeter City Council.
 Area group meetings with Gandy Street, Upper Paul and Queen Street, Sidwell and Paris Street and Fore 

Street.
 Focused discussions at Independent Group meeting in February and May 2019 and National Retailers group 

March and May 2019.
 Magdalen Road trader meetings and engagement, February, May and June 2019.
 Engagement letters to businesses in the proposed extension area.
 BID Board of Directors Ballot working group.
 Princesshay retailers meeting, March 2019.

Key priorities

The key priorities highlighted by business engagement of our current projects and services were noted as:

 Marketing and promotion of Exeter businesses and events (64%)
 Enhancing the cleaning and cleansing programme in the city (63%)
 Marketing and advertising for your business across social media and publications (57%)
 Enhancing the appearance of the city (city dressing, hanging baskets, bunting, Christmas lights) (47%)

Suggestions for new initiatives included:

 Further enhancing the cleansing and cleaning programme (57%)
o “Looking after the city and keeping it clean is a key priority”
o “clean the gum off pavements and more cigarette bins”
o “cosmetic improvements for example trees, repair, street art”

 Business & staff savings (57%)
o “car parking is expensive”
o “Parking reduction scheme for businesses and staff”

Page 286

http://www.inexeter.com/


3

o “helping business to become more energy efficient, solar opportunities”
o “free recycling for businesses and more bins around the city”
o “small business Saturday”
o “knowledge sharing database for businesses who wish to share advice”
o “designated busker areas”

 Providing crime prevention support and initiatives (Best Bar None and Purple Flag) (53%)
o “promoting the city as a safe nigh time economy”
o “security needs upping there is too much anti-social behaviour”
o “anti-social behaviour and aggressive begging is a problem”
o “improved street lighting”
o “more Police presence”

 Increasing the number of activities, events, festivals and markets across the city (51%)

Business viewed the following current marketing activities as a high priority:

 Christmas in Exeter (49%)
 Social media campaigns (50%)
 Local area events (46%)
 InExeter Social media channels (49%)

Ideas for future events, activities and marketing were recorded as:

 More activities and events to draw footfall (56%)
o “Literary events”
o “Exeter art week with an art trail”
o “Fun Palaces, first weekend in October which will engage the widest community”
o “Farmers Markets and more food events”
o “I think Exeter should have something major every month to drive footfall to the city”
o “A summer market” & “spring, early summer could do with events, it would be good to do a 

campaign after February”
o “more attention to the history of Exeter”
o “a shopping 'safari' or 'trail' style event – a day/weekend on which shoppers are encouraged to 

move from shop to shop around the city to discover new places and enjoy added perks on the 
day – shops could be handing out samples, glasses of fizz, discounts”

 Greater links with students (Exeter University and Exeter College) (45%)
 Greater funding for community events and activities (37%)

o “more community events, craft markets & exciting events to pull in the crowds”

Priorities will be illustrated with % engagement in the design document. 

“The accredited training sessions run by InExeter have been really great for our business. The courses are arranged 
to suit us and run in-house which is really convenient. Our business saves and our employees gain skills and 
professional development. Sitel support the work of InExeter.” Matt Cleveland, Sitel (design document)

“81% of visitors felt that decorating the Exeter with Christmas lights as important or very important” Visitor Survey, 
October 2018 (1100 respondents) (design document)

Page 287



4

2020 - 2025 

InExeter over the next five-year term will deliver projects under the key themes of:

 Experiences
 Welcoming & attractive streets
 Supporting & informing 

The initiatives noted below are in addition to the current projects and services delivered by InExeter which will 
continue on successful ballot of InExeter.

All businesses within the InExeter benefit from this collective fund. The monies raised from businesses ensures a 
guaranteed investment in the city centre and continued improvements, enhancement works, and business support 
initiatives ensure the economy in Exeter thrives for commercial, retail and service businesses.

Experiences
To drive footfall and encourage longer dwell times, the city needs a busy calendar of activity, animation and 
experiences throughout the year.  InExeter will support the delivery of the Exeter Culture Strategy, of which we 
have been a key funding partner.

 Increase the annual grant to support local community grants to encourage more local events and 
festivities in Exeter.

 Recruit a member of staff who work proactively with business to communicate and promote business 
activities, workshops, events and information.

 Activate the city centre more evenly across the calendar, delivering more events in the first half of the 
year, January to June to attract footfall and increase dwell time in the city.

 Recruit a member of staff to deliver a programme of events for the city working in close partnership with 
community groups, businesses and stakeholders.

 Build on enhancing the quality and experience around Christmas.
 Invest in new Christmas experiences such as light projections
 Heritage is interwoven into the fabric of Exeter and InExeter will deliver initiatives such as public 

exhibitions on the streets showcasing art, history and culture.
 Drive community engagement and reach new audiences through new technology, apps and digital 

innovations.
 Explore closer links to Exeter University.
 Collaborate with community and cultural organisations.
 Put a strong focus on promoting Exeter's diverse offer.
 Run sector specific campaigns including independents and the and music economy.
 Celebrate the business community.

This theme will be monitored by: 
Website and social media analytics on views and social reach 
Value of PR generated by the BID’s PR and Marketing campaigns 
Number of articles published and their reach
Footfall counts from events held 
Levy payer surveys and visitor feedback following events 
Media coverage 
Number of events supported and the impact on businesses
Community grants awarded 

Page 288



5

Welcoming & attractive streets 
InExeter has a vital role to play in helping shape the future of Exeter including schemes such as the South Street 
works. The gateways to the quarters of Exeter shape the experience of people working in and visiting the area. 
Experiences in the city should be positive and encourage people to return and remain in the area.

 Invest in initiatives such as lighting schemes and directional street art to help brighten areas and attract 
footfall.

 Further enhance the cleaning of the city with more regular jet washing and deep cleaning.
 Tackle removal of chewing gum.
 Add seasonal planting and landscaping to enhance vibrancy with a Greenery Action Plan for Exeter in 

partnership with stakeholders such as Exeter in Bloom.
 Continue the successful city dressing to add colour and decoration to our streets.
 Environmental sustainability is a growing agenda item for the city, and we will deliver initiatives such as 

plastic audits and connect businesses with local sustainable suppliers.
 Campaign for and deliver free parking evenings, Sunday car parking and at key campaign periods
 Continue to strengthen our partnership with local police team and have a place on the Community Safety 

Partnership Board, Evening and nighttime economy group and Best Bar None.
 Continue membership of Exeter Business Against Crime and explore subsided or tiered membership for 

our member businesses.
 Explore options for investing in additional Police support and presence for the city centre.

This theme will be monitored by: 
Attractiveness and tidiness of the city measured by levy payer or visitor feedback 
‘Before’ and ‘after’ pictures of problem areas 
The quality and frequency of cleaning carried out 
Additional planting introduced and maintained 
Number, length and quality of flags, Christmas lighting, trees and bunting

Supporting & informing
InExeter is a hub of local information. We represent members on panels and forums that make decisions affecting 
local businesses.

 Share crime and intelligence through National Business Crime Solutions.
 Explore options for a haven and first aid provision providing a welcome to those who are in need
 Continue to work with our partners to bid for grants and additional contributions.
 Offer more channels of business recycling to supplement are current collections of food waste and waste 

electrical and electronic equipment.
 Data and footfall to key to understanding trends and InExeter will continue to invest in footfall cameras 

and insight reports.
 InExeter will continue to be responsive and reactive to projects and services that are raised or suggested 

throughout the term 2020-2025.

This theme will be monitored by: 
Intelligence shared 
Grant funding secured
Recycling volumes
Data analysis and reports 

Magdalen Road (see InExeter BID area)
Magdalen Road traders approached InExeter in February 2019 about how the businesses could collectively join 
InExeter and work together to enhance Magdalen Road, receive the InExeter communications and benefit from 
the projects, services and programmes delivered in the city. The levy raised from Magdalen Road will be ringfenced 
in the InExeter budget and allocated to projects and programmes agreed by Magdalen Road members. A 
representative from the businesses in this area will have a voting place on the InExeter Board of Directors.

Page 289



6

The traders and business on Magdalen Road will work closely with InExeter and benefit from a range of projects 
and services including:

 Access to accredited training and development courses;
 PR and marketing support;
 Features in marketing and promotion campaigns;
 Additional cleaning and cleansing visits;
 Membership of the independents networking group;
 Photography for business;
 Communications.

Magdalen Road will run a separate budget from InExeter to deliver extended projects that include as a priority:
 Greening and planting schemes;
 Cycle parking stands;
 Street decorations, light projections and dressing including Christmas decorations;
 Wayfinding and signage; 
 Magdalen Road events, activities, festivals and markets;
 Food waste and waste electrical and electronic equipment with glass collections to be explored;
 Exploring options to enhance the public realm, access and travel through Magdalen Road.

Reporting progress to the business community

Communication is key and InExeter will use a number of channels to communicate back to the business community 
and seek your opinions on our work.  We will ensure the views of businesses are heard and represented. Regular 
member events are a useful way for those working in the area to develop and maintain relationships with other 
local companies.

 Email updates;
 Printed newsletters;
 Your views business surveys;
 Regular project events;
 Area group meetings;
 Annual BID events, AGM and audited financial reports;
 Billing Leaflets; 
 One to one engagement.

Baseline Statements

The BID levy will not go towards things that the local authority has agreed to fund as per the baselines prepared. 
The services provided by the statutory agencies that have a correlation to the projects that InExeter will deliver 
have been documented and will continue to be reviewed throughout the BID term. InExeter will monitor these 
baselines to ensure that the services you are already paying for through your business rates are being delivered in 
line with agreed standards.  InExeter will fund projects and initiatives which are additional to or above and beyond 
the statutory services delivered by the local authority. (Attached for reference as Appendix A but not included in 
the design document. Baseline Statement will be available to access from the InExeter website.)

The BID Levy 

Arrangements for the BID Levy proposed for InExeter are:

1. The BID term will be for 5 years from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2025.
2. The BID levy will be a daily charge, paid annually in advance.
3. The BID levy will be based upon the current Rateable Value multiplied by the BID Multiplier which is 

set at 1.25% for the term of the BID.

Page 290



7

4. The BID levy will be charged on all properties in the BID area which appear on the ratings list with a 
rateable value (RV) of £7,500 or more.

5. No inflation will be applied throughout the BID term.
6. A small number of businesses within the BID area have exceptionally high rateable values, in excess 

of the majority of businesses in the BID area. To ensure that they receive proportional benefit from 
the BID, a BID account relating to all or part of a financial year shall not exceed £40,000 per year.

7. Properties that come into the Rating List during the BID term will be subject to the BID levy from the 
effective date that the property is brought into the rating list and the rateable value effective at that 
time.

8. A ratepayer will be liable to pay the BID levy on an unoccupied property without any void period or 
any empty allowance.

9. Non-retail charities with a no trading arm or facilities, not for profit subscription or volunteer-based 
organisations have an 80% discount on their BID levy. 

10. ATM’s, advertising hoardings/boards, telephone masts, electronic delivery lockers and photobooths 
and will not be charged the BID levy. No other exemptions or discounts apply.

11. Where the rateable value for a hereditament (rateable business unit) changes and results in a lower 
BID levy, this comes into effect only from the start of the financial year in which the change is made 
and no refunds of the BID levy will be made for previous years.

12. When the Council is notified of a change in the Rateable Value of a Hereditament by the Valuation 
Officer by way of a schedule update and such change relates to:

a. a reduction of the Rateable Value (other than to £0 or £1); or
b. an increase in the Rateable Value; then the Council will calculate the adjustment to the BID 

Levy pursuant to the later of the following dates:
i. the Effective Date of such change; or

ii. April of the financial year in which the relevant schedule update is issued
13. Where the Council is notified of a change in the Rateable Value of a Hereditament by the Valuation 

Officer by way of a schedule update and such change relates to:
a. a new entry in a Rating List (whether as the result of a new Hereditament or the split or 

merger of previously existing Hereditament(s)); 
b. or a reduction in the Rateable Value to £0 or £1; 
c. or a deletion of the Hereditament from the Rating List, then the Council will calculate the 

adjustment to the BID Levy pursuant to the Effective Date of such change.
14. There will be no VAT charged on the BID levy.
15. The Board of the BID Body will be able to alter the BID arrangements, without an alteration ballot, 

so long as any alterations do not: 
a. Alter the geographical area of the BID
b. Cause anyone to pay the BID levy who was not liable to pay it before or increase the 

amount of the BID levy for anyone.
c. Conflict with the Local Government Act (2003) or The Business Improvement District 

Regulations (2004); and the BID Body consults on such alteration with the relevant billing 
authority.

16. The billing authority shall ensure the BID arrangements (as altered) are made by the time those BID 
arrangements (as altered) are to come into force and shall send a notice in writing explaining the 
reason for and the effect of the alteration to each person liable for the BID levy.

The largest business will pay £41.00 per day
The average business will pay £2.65 per day
The smallest business will pay 0.25p per day
Include a comparison to term 1 rules as illustration.

In our second term, whilst the BID multiplier has increased from 1% to 1.25% the majority of businesses will pay 
no more than in the first term due to the fall in Rateable Values in 2017.

Include examples of BID levy versus return on levy investment as illustration. (design document)

Page 291



8

InExeter BID Budget 2020 – 2025

The proposed InExeter budget is illustrated below.

Page 292



9

2020 - 2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-2025 Total 
Budget

Proportion 

Income 

BID Levy (notes) 560,000 560,000 560,000 560,000 560,000 2,800,000

Magdalen Road levy 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 50,000

Associate membership 500 500 500 500 500 2,500

Sponsorship (notes) 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 15,000

Public & Private contributions (notes) 4,500 4,500 4,500 4,500 4,500 22,500

Total Income 578,000 578,000 578,000 578,000 578,000 2,890,000

Experiences 

Festivals, markets & events 45,000 50,000 50,000 55,000 55,000 255,000

InExeter team staff member: Events 18,000 18,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 94,000

Christmas lighting 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 300,000

Publications 12,000 12,000 12,000 12,000 12,000 60,000

PR 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 50,000

Digital Innovation & Apps 40,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 80,000

Website and photography 4,000 4,000 4,000 4,000 4,000 20,000

Local connections & community 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 100,000

InExeter team staff member: Marketing 28,000 28,000 28,000 30,000 30,000 144,000

237,000 212,000 212,000 221,000 221,000 1,103,000 38%

Attractive and welcoming streets

Safety & Security measures 60,000 60,000 65,000 65,000 65,000 315,000

Cleaning and cleansing 60,000 65,000 65,000 65,000 65,000 320,000

Planting and landscaping 20,000 25,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 135,000

Travel initiatives  5,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 45,000

Social wellbeing 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 50,000

155,000 170,000 180,000 180,000 180,000 865,000 30%

Supporting & Informing 

Recycling support and audits 10,000 15,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 85,000

Training and workshops 9,000 9,000 9,000 9,000 9,000 45,000

Data 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 75,000

InExeter team staff member: Business 
Engagement 

19,000 19,000 19,000 19,000 19,000 95,000

53,000 58,000 63,000 63,000 63,000 300,000 10%

Magdalen Road 

Marketing, Planting and Events 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 50,000 2%

Company Running and Management 90,000 90,000 91,000 92,000 92,000 455,000

BID levy collection 20,900 12,900 12,900 12,900 12,900 72,500

105,900 97,900 98,900 104,900 104900 512,500 18%

Contingency 11,560 11,560 11,560 11,560 11,560 57,800 2%

Total Expenditure 572,460 559,460 575,460 590,460 590,460 2,888,300 100%

Net 5,440 18,540 2,540 -12,460 -12,460

Page 293



10

Notes on budget and levy collection

 The levy collection rate of 97% is assumed based on previous years collection.
 Sponsorship and Private & Private contributions are not secured but based on previous year experience.
 A contingency provision of 2% of levy income has been factored into the budget, which if remains unspent 

will be allocated to BID renewal costs and year 4, 2024-2025 projects. The BID industry guidance is 5% for 
contingency but the InExeter Board of Directors are satisfied with close budget management that a 2% 
contingency is sufficient.

 Overheads and company running costs include management, office accommodation, IT, telephone and 
printer, legal, accounting, audit and expected BID levy collection costs costs are 16% of total expenditure.

 The BID levy collection fees and BID running costs are shown as separate lines in the expenditure section 
of the budget for transparency.

 Any surplus levy collected will be spent on projects and services agreed by the Board of Directors.
 All figures are estimates based on project costs. Minor project changes may occur over the term of the 

BID subject to Board approval.
 The BID levy figures are based on data available as at June 2019 from Exeter Council.
 Exeter City Council will be responsible for collection of the levy on behalf of InExeter. The levy income will 

be kept in a separate ring-fenced account. Collection and enforcement arrangements will be similar to 
those for the collection and enforcement of nondomestic business rates with InExeter responsible for any 
debt write-off.

 The collection fee in year one 2020-2021 includes the cost of a software upgrade of £6000 in addition to 
the fixed collection fee of £12,000.

 Through an Operating Agreement with Exeter City Council a monitoring group will be put in place to 
monitor the collection of the BID levy over the duration of its 5-year term.

Performance Measurement 

Performance is measured through a comprehensive range of KPI’s and milestones which are reported at each of 
the Board meetings.

BID Governance 

InExeter, a Business Improvement District is a business-led initiative which provides the opportunity for businesses 
to invest, and have a direct say, in the management of the Exeter area. This investment is managed by Directors 
representative of the business community through a BID Company, formed for this purpose. InExeter is a company 
limited by guarantee, registered in England. The company number is 07376128 and has a registered office of St 
Stephens House, 9 Catherine Street, Exeter EX1 1EU. In March 2018 the company changed its name from Exeter 
BID to InExeter bringing all activity under one brand umbrella, providing clarity to our member businesses.

InExeter is run and managed by businsess for the benefit of business, with a Board of Directors representative of 
the size and sector of business in the InExeter area. 

The Chair of InExeter, is Patrick Cunningham, Exeter Phoenix and in a new Vice Chair position is Andrew McNeilly, 
Guildhall Shopping and Dining.  

InExeter has a Board of 11 voting Directors, 2 non voting Cllr representatives (Cllr David Harvey, Place and 
Commericialisation, Exeter City Council and Cllr Rufus Gilbert, Skills and Enterprise, Devon County Council), a non 
voting Exeter City Council Officer, (Environment and City Management), a non voting Transport representative 
(Stagecoach) and non voting Media representative (currently vacant).

Brought forward 0 5,540 24,080 26,620 14,160

Total surplus / (deficit) 5.440 24,080 26,620 14,160 1,700

Page 294



11

In the next BID term 2020-2025 the Board may invite a community group/ resident representative and a Police 
representative to the Board of Directors. 

The Board is elected at an AGM each year. The BID is business-led for business benefit and levy payers are 
automatically members of the company. All members will be invited to Annual General Meetings where past and 
prospective BID activities are presented.

The BID Company’s Directors meet at least 8 times per year. BID Company accounts produced by a contracted 
company are audited independently on an annual basis and presented at the BID Company AGM, to which all 
Company members are invited.

The BID Board of Directors agree an annual project plan prior to the commencement of each financial year. This 
information is then shared in the statutory annual billing accompaniment alongside the budget.

The Team 

The experienced and passionate team at InExeter will manage the projects and services in this proposal, with 
support from specialist advisers as needed. We will also work with our neighbouring BIDs including Plymouth and 
BIDs in the South West BIDs group to share best practice and learning.

InExeter BID Area

Number of hereditaments to be included (here, 9 July 2019). In the first BID term 2015-2020 the BID levied 637 
heredeitaments.  This number will increase with the area extension.

The current InExeter area of 45 streets will be extended to include the following streets to total 52 streets/roads, 
after engagement with businesses in the proposed extension area. 

InExeter was approached by businesses located outside the InExeter area designated in the first term about how 
they might be included and receive the benefit from the InExeter initiatives.

Bailey Street
Bampfylde Lane
Bampfylde Street
Extended: Bartholomew Street West (Part) From #1 (Devon Strings Workshop) to #109 (Dwellings) and from #51 
(Picture House) to #68 (Electro Fag City Vapers) (please note engagement is ongoing and a decision to include this 
area will be made by 9 July 2019)
Bedford Street
Castle Street
Cathedral Close
Cathedral Yard
Catherine Street
Cheeke Street
Coombe Street
Deanery Place
Dixs Field (Part) From the Tourist Information Centre to Manor Court, including the Civic Centre (i.e. the north side 
of the road only)
Eastgate
Fore Street
Extended: Fairpark Road (Part). 1 Fairpark Road only) (please note engagement is ongoing and a decision to include 
this area will be made by 9 July 2019)
Gandy Street
Gater Lane
George Street
Goldsmith Street
Guildhall Shopping & Dining Centre

Page 295



12

Guinea Street
Harlequin’s Shopping Centre
High Street
John Street
Little Castle Street
Little Queen Street
Extended: Longbrook Street (Part) From Portland House (Haart Estate Agents) to The Black Horse Pub and from 
The King Billy to #42 (The Pursuit of Hoppiness) ) (please note engagement is ongoing and a decision to include this 
area will be made by 9 July 2019)
Extended: Magdalen Road (Part) From #3 Magdalen Road Car Park to The Mount Radford Pub and from #38 
(Gibson’s Plaice Fishmongers) to #2 (South Lawn, Dwellings) ) (please note engagement is ongoing and a decision 
to include this area will be made by 9 July 2019)
Extended: Magdalen Street (Part) South side only. Hereditaments including Magdalen Chapter House and 
Magdalen Street Car Park only.) (please note engagement is ongoing and a decision to include this area will be 
made by 9 July 2019)
Market Street
Martins Lane
Mary Arches Street
Mitre Lane
Musgrave Row
New Bridge Street
Extended: New North Road (Part) From Brittany House to #60 (The Oddfellows) and from #50 (The Old Firehouse) 
to #54 (Smart Estate Agent) ) (please note engagement is ongoing and a decision to include this area will be made 
by 9 July 2019)
North Street
Northernhay Place
Palace Gate
Paris Street (Part) #1 (Vacant) to Bus Station (including Imperial Games Café) and from Venaspace to #2 (Exeter’s 
Underground Passages)
Paul Street
Princesshay
Extended: Queen Street (Part) From High Street junction (including Guildhall Shopping & Dining hereditaments) to 
#53 (The Clock Tower Fish Bar) and from #92 Bella Italia to #51 (Exeter College Maths and Science Centre 
(including Central Station Buildings hereditaments) ) (please note engagement is ongoing and a decision to include 
this area will be made by 9 July 2019)
Roman Gate
Roman Passage
Roman Walk
Sidwell Street (Part) From #1-11 (John Lewis) to The Odeon and #97 (Gulliford) to #188 (Vacant)
South Street (Part) From #1 9Warrens Bakery) to The White Ensign Club and from James Court to #101 (City 
Barbers) ) (please note engagement is ongoing and a decision to include this area will be made by 9 July 2019)
Upper Paul Street
Waterbeer Street
Extended: West Street (Part) From #2 (Endicott’s) to #24 (The House That Moved) and from Otto’s Warehouse to 
#1 (Mission Escape) ) (please note engagement is ongoing and a decision to include this area will be made by 9 July 
2019)

Page 296



13

InExeter area including proposed extension

Page 297



14

“There are over 300 operational BIDs in the UK, and it is clear that there is still strong growth in BID numbers as the 
benefits become clearer. BIDs are becoming key players in their local business communities, delivering services to 
all the members of their local business community, and bringing together and working with Local Authorities, 
national businesses and the independent businesses.” British BIDs

This Business Proposal 2020-2025 has been produced following British BID: Industry guidance for the business 
plans of developing and renewing business improvement districts (BIDs).

InExeter are members of the following organisation which represent the BID industry:

 The BID Foundation and Institute of Place Management;
 British BIDs;
 Association of Town Centre Management;
 South West BIDs Group.

The Ballot 

The BID term shall run from 1 April 2020 to the 31 March 2025, a 5-year term.  The BID arrangements will 
commence on 1 April 2020.

A formal Notice of Ballot will be issued by Electoral Reform Services on behalf of Exeter City Council on Wednesday 
25 September 2019 to each business/ named voter and to the Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government. This provides one last opportunity to designate a named voter if this has not already been done. 

Ballot papers will be issued by post to the named voter at the nominated address on 1 October 2019 Businesses 
will have until 5.00 pm on 7 November 2019 to return completed ballot papers. 

The result of the ballot will be declared by Exeter City Council’s Returning Officer on Friday 7 November 2019. If a 
majority of businesses vote in the ballot to support the BID Proposal, (by number and rateable value) then the BID 
will formally start its fourth term on 1 April 2020.

For this proposal to be successful and for the BID to continue, the ballot as a minimum will need to meet two 
independent criteria, which are: 

(a) Of those ballot papers returned those voting in favour must exceed those voting against 

(b) Of those ballot papers returned, the total rateable value of those, which vote in favour, must exceed 
the total of those voting against.

If InExeter is unsuccessful at ballot in October, all current projects and services will cease at the end of March 2020 
as there is no other organisation to deliver these projects, services and benefits on your behalf.

 No coordinated Christmas campaign and lighting for the city.
 No business support services such as accredited training sessions, free food waste collections or waste 

electrical collections.
 No publications produced and printed promoting your business.
 No city centre management on behalf of businesses.
 No www.inexeter.com website.

Page 298

http://www.inexeter.com/


15

 No social media channels to market and promote Exeter and business.
 No enhanced cleansing of the city.
 No funding towards local area events.
 No community grants to help activate the city.
 No city dressing such as bunting, decorations or hanging baskets.

Vote Yes.  Together, we can ensure a stronger future for Exeter.

Get in Touch 

For any information about the InExeter ballot or BID or, please contact us on 
T: 01392 424 975 
E: info@inexeter.com
www.inexeter.com
@in_inexeter
/Inexeter 

Add in supporting statements from InExeter members and stakeholders (design document)

Add in partner logos (design document)

Key Highlights Term 1 2015-2025 is attached as Appendix B (designed document)

Page 299

mailto:info@inexeter.com
http://www.inexeter.com/


This page is intentionally left blank



01KEY HIGHLIGHTS 2015 - 2020

key highlights 
2015-2020

Page 301



02

101,820 users  
of the new website 
www.inexeter.com


key BID stats


16,501
total social 
media following

The Welcome Team 

welcomed

550 businesses
over 5 years

volunteer 
directors 
of the board on 5 year terms

95,441  
visitors and had  

12,292  
member visits

Business support 
training courses 
attended by 249 
members of staff 
from 62 businesses



£2.4 million 
invested over 5 years

14included in BID area

Member of The BID 
Foundation, ATCM  
and British BIDs.

45streets  

Page 302



03KEY HIGHLIGHTS 2015 - 2020

contents

introduction  04
spread the word  05
exciting exeter  07
welcome and safe  13
clean up  14
safe and secure  16
looking after business  16
cutting your costs  18

Page 303



04

Gandy Street Summer Fete

Launched in 2015 as Exeter BID 
(Business Improvement District) the 
company continues to successfully 
deliver against the core aims set out 
in the business proposal 2015-2020. 

In March 2018 the company changed its name 
to InExeter, bringing all the programmes, 
services and activities under one umbrella.  
This has allowed us to celebrate all our  
schemes under one clear brand.

These pages highlight our achievements 
over the last 5 years, evidencing project and 
programme delivery.  InExeter is also proud  
to connect the local business community 
through  continuous engagement. 

introduction

Page 304



05KEY HIGHLIGHTS 2015 - 2020

proposed

Chinese Lanterns Fore Street

What we need is for Exeter to stand out from the crowd 
and to shout far and wide about what a great city it is 
for living, shopping, leisure, business and working.

A Strategic Marketing Plan – to determine what Exeter stands for and where  
it sits in the region and beyond. 

Coordinated national campaigns and communication – to take Exeter to 
London, Birmingham and many other cities in the UK and Europe. 

A website – to provide a one-stop site providing all the information about 
Exeter in one place including a directory of all businesses in the BID area. 

Social media – deliver a comprehensive social media presence to give timely  
information about everything that is happening in the city.

Events and activities are a great way to showcase the city and to attract new  
and old customers to come to the city, stay longer and spend more.

spread the word
Marketing and promoting our wonderful city and your business.

1

“ “

Page 305



06

Worked with local branding and 
marketing agencies to research 
and develop a brand for Exeter, 
and conduct visitor and consumer 
surveys. Brand elements are also 
used by Visit Exeter.

Developed a marketing plan for each 
year including seasonal opportunities 
and key campaigns.

Worked with national titles  
including Good Housekeeping,  
The Guardian, and Flybe Flight  
Time.

Ran targeted campaigns in Bath  
and Bristol including adverts 
in Bath & Bristol Life, train station  
advertising and targeted social 
media advertising. 

Programed Christmas campaigns 
targeting a wider South West 
audience including attendance from 
ITV at each Christmas light switch on 
event since 2016.

Developed www.inexeter.com 
which displays all local information 
including a business directory, what’s 
on section, link to partners, how to 
spend time in the city and focus on 
independents. Total number of users 
to date is 110,820.

Managed InExeter social media 
accounts (Facebook, Twitter & 
Instagram) which have been growing 
in reach. InExeter use these channels 
to communicate news, events and 
products to our catchment, as well as 
social media campaigns like ‘Find It 
In Exeter’. 

Ran, managed, hosted city centre 
events including 'Style in Exeter'  
and 'Christmas light switch on'.

Launched a new event in spring 2017 
called 'The Weekend Starts Here' 
with music, street performance and 
entertainment. This was promoted 
via all social channels and saw 
85,075 visitors on the Friday and 
94,948 on the Saturday. 

spread the word

achieved

Page 306



07KEY HIGHLIGHTS 2015 - 2020

proposed

Exeter needs some really high profile events all year 
round to attract more people to come here and to 
inject some life into the streets.

A programme of high-profile events throughout the 
year, tailored to a theme or area of the city.

Coordination of marketing and promotion of all events  
and activities.

Christmas lights throughout the BID area. 

Christmas promotions and events in the lead weeks to 
Christmas to build footfall, atmosphere and excitement 
in the city. 

Food Festival and Rugby World Cup links to BID area 
- take advantage of these major events in the city to 
ensure they have relevance across the BID area.

Stretch the shopping day. Increase the opportunity 
for customers to shop after 5.30pm by providing a 
comprehensive promotional campaign to support those 
businesses that want to offer this service.

Area identity schemes e.g. Fore Street ‘Creative & 
Bohemian’, South Street – ‘Parties and Celebrations’, 
Gandy Street ‘the Hidden Gem’, Sidwell Street ‘Gateway 
to the City’ etc. to encourage customers to visit those 
parts of the city that are away from the High Street.

Enhance the Exeter Trails initiative - build on this already 
successful initiative, grow it and make it sustainable for 
independent retail in the city.

exciting exeter
2

“ “

Ran a number of campaigns including Discover InExeter, 
Foodies InExeter and the Christmas light switch on, 
delivered across a wide range of media including print, 
press releases, social media channels, newsletters, radio 
and BBC and ITV coverage, each with hugely impressive 
reach and interactions, featuring guest blogs, business 
stories and competitions. Total estimated reach from 
around 20,000 right up to 13.1 million for the Christmas 
campaigns.

Installed a coordinated Christmas light illuminations 
across the BID area with over 690 individual lights 
each year. Since 2015 InExeter has supported the entire 
Christmas offering in the city including the Christmas 
market with ‘what’s on’ guides, street entertainment 
and late night shopping. 

Funded 12 chalets at the Exeter Cathedral Christmas 
Market for independent businesses. 

Supported local area events such as Fore Street Flea 
and Gandy Street Summer Fête.

Hosted a quarterly marketing and communications 
meeting with key city stakeholders including Exeter City 
Council, Exeter Phoenix, Princesshay, Guildhall Shopping 
& Dining, Northcott Theatre and RAMM. 

Ran regular promotion of evening offerings in Exeter 
using their social media accounts to push special retailer 
events and eateries. The website highlights Pubs & Clubs 
as well as reasons to visit in the evening.

Commissioned and launched a series of trail videos 
highlighting different areas of the city and promoting 
businesses in each are hosted on the website and 
promoted on social media. 

Project managed, published and distributed an Eat & 
Drink Guide to Exeter in 2018 and 2019, printing over 
10,000 a year.

Supported and contributed to Exeter Culture.

Created and funded the first Slow Fashion event in 
Exeter Cathedral which welcomed over 500 people and, 
celebrated city centre retailers.

achieved

Page 307



08

May Eat & Drink
June - July Summer of Independents
September Fashion & Beauty
December Christmas

yearly campaigns

Christmas 2016

Christmas 2017

individual light installations 
across the city694

Page 308



09KEY HIGHLIGHTS 2015 - 2020

Christmas 2018
exciting exeter

Page 309



10

key BID stats


14,000 entries to a competition advertised in Marie Claire  

BBC Radio Devon BBC Spotlight Cotswold Life Cranbrook Herald Daily Express Devon Life Devon Live   Eating Exeter Exeter 

Chamber of Commerce Exeter Citizen Exeter City Council Exeter Daily Exeter Life   Exeter Living Exmouth Journal Exploring 

Exeter Express & Echo Flybe Flight Time Magazine Good Housekeeping Harriet Loves InStyle ITV Westcountry Marie Claire 

Midweek Herald North Devon Journal   One Magazine Organised Jo Primary Times Radio Exe Sidmouth Herald Somerset 

Life BBC Spotlight   Tara’s Bust Kitchen Visit Exeter West Magazine Western Morning News Woman & Home Zena’s Suitcase


 


media coverage  
with a total AVE of  

promoted business 
and Exeter publications and media outlets 

£367,714



4
PR VALUE 
£16,566 90,344

24 pieces of coverage  
total circulation of 

1,479,494  
with value of  

£14,505

Secured 2 visits from ITV

Food & Drink in Exeter

Fashion & Beauty

FACEBOOK REACH PR VALUE 
£20,008 98,897

Summer of Independents
FACEBOOK REACH

20 pieces of coverage  
with circulation of 4,375,270

  

 Reach of 474,100  
for christmas light switch on

40 pieces of coverage generated  
with circulation of  13,216,490 

AVE coverage £30,210

major annual campaigns in 2018



Page 310



11KEY HIGHLIGHTS 2015 - 2020

Sponsorship of  
the Food Festival  
bag given out to 

15,000  
visitors

Creation of the

food 
festival 




New Independents 
                        Group launched

St
re

tc
hi

ng the shopping d
ay

by promotin
g  

village,  
an area for  
              business  
to exhibit at the 
Food Festival 
in 2018

£60,000 invested  
each Christmas in the lighting scheme

Financed installation of street 
dressings, chinese lanterns  

and umbrellas

evening retail offersand entertainm
ent



New Independents  
Group gift card  
scheme launched with 73 
participating independents

£58,000
supporting local 
community group 
events and activities 
over the last 5 years

Page 311



12

community groups

Supported the following community group 
events and activities with over £58,000 of 
funding over the last 3 years.

Style in Exeter

Exeter Community Trust Exeter Santa Run

Exeter College Student Awards

University of Exeter Diwali and Chinese New Year 
celebrations

Exeter Pride

RAMM 150th anniversary celebrations

Exeter Fringe Festival

Exeter Cathedral Nativity 2018

Big Screen in the Park

EMG Sympony Orchestra 50th Anniversary concert

Exeter Street Arts Festival

Exeter Floral Trail 2018

Arts Week Exeter

Quirk Theatre

Exeter Festival 

Exeter Historic Buildings Trust’s restoration of the 
Priory Garden

Exeter Street Pastors & the Night-time Economy  

Women of the World’s Mini Festival Exeter

Lost Weekend

Funded and contributed to the 
new Exeter Culture strategy

exeterculture.com

Page 312



13KEY HIGHLIGHTS 2015 - 2020

welcome & safe
3

proposed

Exeter is so difficult to get into and high parking 
charges make it hard to recruit good staff...if you 
stand in the middle of the city you would have no 
idea that there are some great little streets full of 
independent shops, we need better signposting and 
transport to get people to explore the city – even 
down the steep hill!

Staff discount bus fares monthly / quarterly / annual 
tickets. The BID team will work with Stagecoach to 
provide a preferential discount season ticket for staff 
working within the BID area to help you to recruit and 
retain the best people.

A car parking discount scheme for staff in the BID area. 
We will negotiate with Exeter City Council to bring in a 
limited scheme to offer discounted parking in selected 
car parks for staff working in the BID area.

A parking redemption scheme for customers to be 
promoted by the BID on behalf of business. Encourage 
our customers to stay longer and shop more by offering 
to contribute to their parking fee.

Way-marking schemes – to get people to the interesting 
and quirky side streets full of independent business. 
Install colourful and themed way-markers for the streets 
off the main drag that will encourage shoppers  
to explore.

An Exeter Welcome Team – employ a team of uniformed 
wardens who will act as our eyes and ears on the street 
and welcome and direct Exeter’s customers to find those 
hidden gems as well as the retail core.

“

“

Installed bunting for New Bridge Street, Fore Street, 
Gandy Street, Martins Lane and Cathedral Green and 
installation of window vinyls at BHS and Store 21.

Street dressing - Installed hanging baskets in High 
Street, Castle Street, Gandy Street, Mary Arches Street, 
Musgrave Row and Fore Street. 

Installed decorative graphic panels on Queen Street 
bridge and Castle Street. Financed installation of Chinese 
lanterns and umbrellas.

Employed an Exeter Welcome Team who act as our eyes 
and ears on the street and welcome and direct Exeter’s 
customers to find those hidden gems as well as the  
retail core.

The Welcome Team’s reported: 
Environmental – 633 
Cleansing – 846 
Anti-Social – 142 
BID related – 37 
Intelligence Issues – 7,758 
Visitors Welcomed – 95,441 
Member Visits – 12,292

Funded 3 cycle stands on Queens Walk.

achieved

Getting into town and finding your way around

Page 313



14

clean up
4

Exeter is a lovely city but the pavements and 
buildings outside of the main centres like  
Princesshay are often dirty and badly maintained.

“ “

proposed
Negotiate with Exeter City Council to enhance cleansing with an additional 
hot wash service. 

Coordinate commercial waste disposal services.

Organise a Clean up scheme with Community Payback Service.

Delivered an enhanced street cleaning service running 7 days a week from 
05:00-13:00.

Funded an enhanced cleaning of Cathedral Green over the summer period 
2018 investing in 12 weeks of cleansing.

Financed advertising panels and Heras fence meshes promoting Cathedral 
Green/Yard businesses following the Royal Clarence Fire.

Funded additional glass bins for Freshers Week in 2018 and will repeat 
in the coming years.

Supplied free sharps bins for safe disposal of used needles.

achieved

Page 314



15KEY HIGHLIGHTS 2015 - 2020
Page 315



16

safe & secure

looking after business Have your say

5

6

There seems to 
be more street 
begging and  
night-time 
disorder – it 
would be good  
if the BID  
could help to  
reduce that.

Lots goes on in 
the city which we 
don’t know about 
until it’s too late 
we would like to 
have more say 
about how our 
city is run and 
managed. 

“

“
“

“
proposed

proposed

Purple Flag – The BID will achieve the gold standard of Management for the 
Night Time Economy: this will give customers the confidence to know that 
Exeter is a safe place in which to enjoy a night out. 

Exeter Business Against Crime – grow and develop the radio link scheme for 
all businesses in the BID area, to provide an effective early warning system 
to fight crime and share information. Currently EBAC is a self funded 
organisation with 150 members. The BID will work closely with EBAC to grow 
membership and to increase the flow of information across the city to tackle 
and avert crime.

BID Board elections – it will be up to you to nominate and elect your Board. 

Better communication – we will ensure that there is a website with up-to-
date information constantly available.

Networking meetings — we will facilitate networking meetings for streets 
and areas in the BID area so you can share information and good practice  
with your colleagues.

Strength in numbers – 550 businesses will have real influence and clout.

Worked with and financed the Best Bar None initiative in Exeter  
and attended local stakeholders meetings.

Attended and contributed to the Exeter Business Against Crime meetings.

Worked in close partnership with Community Safety Partnership and  
Devon & Cornwall Police. 

Contracted additional security staff following the Royal Clarence fire.

achieved

Page 316



17KEY HIGHLIGHTS 2015 - 2020

A volunteer Board of 14 Directors representative of the sizes and sectors of 
businesses across Exeter. 

Distributed newsletters every 2 months with Mailchimp calendar updates 
every Thursday.

Hosted regular area meetings.

Launched a large / national brand name retailer group.

Submitted a letter of representation objecting to car parking rises. Continue 
to work in partnership with Exeter City Council to ensure the city is accessible.

Launched an Independents Advisory Group which has a budget allocation 
of £20,000 each year to spend on projects specific to promoting and 
supporting independent bushinesses. 

Offered free photography sessions with over 55 businesses participating.

achieved

Page 317



18

cutting your costs
7

Bulk purchase insurance scheme. Many BIDs across the UK have negotiated bulk purchase deals 
with insurance providers to secure discounts for BID members. Exeter BID would look to do the 
same for BID voters in the city. 

Waste cardboard initiative — the BID will look to build a scheme to collect waste cardboard for 
recycling to save businesses commercial waste costs.

Energy saving and cost reduction scheme – the BID will work with established agents in the 
business of cost saving reductions for energy bills.

Digital High Street and other training opportunities - to ensure that Exeter businesses can 
compete on digital platforms.

Footfall counters to measure success. The BID will install additional cameras to encourage 
investment, provide evidence of its success and to support its activities.

proposed

Overheads for small businesses are too high, it makes 
considering voting for a BID more difficult.
“ “

achieved
Partnered with BINIT and enabled 95 collections totalling 432 kgs of waste electrical and 
electronic items and food waste recycled.

Contracted Meercat Assocoates who worked with businesses to achieve 135,239 in identified 
savings and £70,396 in realised savings

Installed 5 footfall cameras with weekly and monthly reports generated.  Data shared  
in ‘dashboards’

Page 318



19KEY HIGHLIGHTS 2015 - 2020

key BID stats


days a week 
cleaning service

footfall cameras 
installed with weekly and monthly reports generated 

Street cleaning tasks

power washes

litter pick-ups

109

collections 
totaling 432kg waste 
collected and recycled

Visitor and Consumer survey 
delivered 1100 responses

7

2,913

14,821

8,562

95
for free

pieces of
grafitti removed





in 2018

in energy savings 

Results from Meercat Associates

£68,726 

5

Page 319



20

InExeter, St Stephens House, 9 Catherine Street Exeter EX1 1EU 

info@inexeter.com • 01392 424 975 • www.inexeter.com 

Page 320



Exeter Business Improvement District  

Baseline Services Statement 2019 

 

Baseline Activity for Car Parks 
Responsible Officer Steve Carnell 
Date Completed 14/5/2019 
Extent of services covered 
within the BID area  

City Centre car parks:- 
Guildhall 
Mary Arches 
Harlequins 
Princesshay 2 
Princesshay 3 
John Lewis 
King William Street 
Bampfylde Street 
Smythen Street 

Summary of Service provided Provision of City Centre Parking  
Associated services provided Litter enforcement (currently undertaken by private contractor 

on 12 month pilot basis) 
Service specification  
Number of staff required  Sixteen 
Equipment required 1 x van, radio coms, parking equipment (machines, barriers etc) 
Performance Indicators / 
Measures 

Numerous data highlighting income, users, length of stay etc 

Non Compliance – Mitigation 
Procedure 

 

Current Costs of service 
provided within BID area 

Difficult to separate many of the costs so across the city:- 
Income £8.3M 
Expenditure £2.6M 

Annual cost of additional 
activity in BID (including staff, 
equipment and materials etc) 

Currently free pilot scheme (contractor keeps income from 
fines) 

Statement completed by Steve Carnell 
Contact details steve.carnell@exeter.gov.uk 

 

Page 321



Exeter Business Improvement District  

Baseline Services Statement 2019 

 

Baseline Activity for CCTV 
Responsible Officer Steve Carnell 
Date Completed 14/5/19 
Extent of services covered 
within the BID area  

Majority of CCTV cameras located in the city centre and 
support businesses (day time and night time economies) 
through identification and notification of known targets 
(usually shoplifters), direct radio link to police and enhancing 
general public safety and reassurance. 

Summary of Service provided Public space CCTV provision and monitoring. 
Associated services provided Act as the hub for the EBAC radio system 
Service specification  
Number of staff required  Usually two staff dedicated to CCTV monitoring 24/7 
Equipment required CCTV cameras, fibre optic infrastructure,  
Performance Indicators / 
Measures 

Database maintained on CCTV activity and outcomes (eg 
arrests made) 

Non Compliance – Mitigation 
Procedure 

Non-statutory service 

Current Costs of service 
provided within BID area 

£210K 

Annual cost of additional 
activity in BID (including staff, 
equipment and materials etc) 

 

Statement completed by Steve Carnell 
Contact details steve.carnell@exeter.gov.uk 

 

Page 322



Exeter Business Improvement District  

Baseline Services Statement 2019 

 

Baseline Activity for City Centre Attractions 
Responsible Officer  

 Dave Lewis, Events, Facilities & Markets Manager  
 

Date Completed 16 May 2019 
Extent of services covered 
within the BID area  

Isn’t that what this form explains? 

Summary of Service provided Isn’t that what this form explains? 
Associated services provided The service encompasses:  

 
Exeter Corn Exchange – a multi-purpose venue 
programming a variety of entertainment events (music, 
comedy, theatre, ballet, talks, participation dance 
events etc). The venue also provides a city centre 
facility for hosting conferences, examinations etc.  
 
Exeter Visitor Information and Tickets (EVIT) - EVIT 
offers a wide range of services for visitors to, and 
residents of, Exeter. The centre provides information on 
where to visit, activities and events in the local area and 
the rest of the region, as well as information on 
transport and other local facilities. Tickets are available 
for most local venues and maps, books, souvenirs etc 
are also sold at the centre.  
 
Underground Passages – A unique visitor attraction. 
Dating from the 14th century the passages were 
originally used to bring water to the city. The 
passages can be explored on foot and there is also an 
exhibition and video presentation in the interpretation 
centre.  
 
Red Coat Guided Tours – Free guided walking tours 
of the City. The programme offers a variety of tours on 
a number of themes every day of the year with the 
exception of Christmas day and Boxing Day.  
 
Markets – A variety of markets are organised in the 
city centre including the weekly Farmers’ Market and 
Sidwell Street pannier market.  
 
The service also assists with and gives consent to 
private market operators in the city centre.  

  

Service specification No idea what this means 
Number of staff required  Exeter Corn Exchange – 4 FTE plus casual staff as 

required and management support.  
 
EVIT – 3.25 FTE plus management support  
 

Page 323



Underground Passages – 4.25 FTE plus management 
support  
 
Red Coat Guided Tours – Volunteers only plus 
management support  
 

Equipment required Extensive inventory of equipment  
Performance Indicators / 
Measures 

There are a number of Performance Measures used to 
monitor the performance of the facilities. These include 
number of visitors, number of ticket sales, number of 
facility bookings and number of enquiries handled.  

Non Compliance – Mitigation 
Procedure 

No idea what this means 

Current Costs of service 
provided within BID area 

2018 – 2019  
- Exeter’s Underground Passages – £71,000  
- Exeter Red Coat Guides – £19,000  
- Exeter Visitor Information & Tickets – £122,000  
- Exeter Corn Exchange – £36,000 profit 
- Markets – Self-financing  
 
- TOTAL - £176,000  
 
Figures exclude depreciation 

Annual cost of additional 
activity in BID (including staff, 
equipment and materials etc) 

No idea what this means 

Statement completed by David Lewis 
Contact details dave.lewis@exeter.gov.uk 

 

Page 324



Exeter Business Improvement District  

Baseline Services Statement 2019 

Baseline Activity for City Centre Events 
Responsible Officer Sophie Allen, Arts & Events Lead, Exeter City Council 
Date Completed 17th May 2019 
Extent of services covered 
within the BID area  

The whole geography 

Summary of Service provided City Centre Events to support the local economy and also 
draw in visitors to Exeter 

Associated services provided Arts and Events including: 
• Management of Council Funding to 5 major arts 

organisations including Exeter Phoenix, Exeter 
Northcott, Theatre Alibi, Kaleider and Libraries 
Unlimited until 2022 

• Advice and co-ordination support for external events 
such as Pride 

• Advice, co-ordination support and project funding in 
2018/2019 for external events: Exeter Street Arts 
Festival, Exeter Literary Festival, Respect Festival, 
Mikrofest, Game<Play 

• Co-ordination for the Heritage Open Days annually 
(usually in September) 

• Production of an annual festival – Exeter Festival 2019 
• Project Funding for MakeTank, to create a community 

hub in Exeter for artists. This is part of an ongoing 
conversation regarding artist studio space in Exeter 
with Simon Timms, TOPOS, Art Work, the Phoenix, 
RAMM, Exeter Culture & ACE.  

• Support of UNESCO City of Literature BID 
• Shaping of the new Exeter Cultural Strategy  
• Advice and marketing support given to artists to use 

unusual and more central Exeter venues for their 
projects/events 

Service specification The existing festivals and events are of a sufficient scale and 
standard to have a proven track record of contributing to the 
city centre economy and bringing additional visitors to the city 
centre retail area. 
 
To add value, delivery in the future may involve more 
collaborative work/joint funding with external partners 
including inexeter.  

Number of staff required  1 Full Time Member of Staff 
1 Project Consultant 

Equipment required Varies according to need, all contracted in 
Performance Indicators / 
Measures 

• Audience Evaluation including average spend 
• Attendance Figures 
• Press/Media Coverage 

Non Compliance – Mitigation 
Procedure 

To be defined 

Page 325



Current Costs of service 
provided within BID area 

2018/2019 
Grant Funding -       £205,860 
Project Funding -     £53,350 
Small Arts Grants -  £10,000 
Exeter Culture -       £20,000 
Lost Weekend Artist Commissions (Mikrofest & Game<Play) - 
£25,912.50 
 
2019/2020 
Grant Funding -      £190,360 
Exeter Culture -      £20,000 
Exeter Festival -     £90,587  

Annual cost of additional 
activity in BID (including staff, 
equipment and materials etc) 

 

Statement completed by Sophie Allen 
Contact details sophie.allen@exeter.gov.uk  

Tel: 01392 265205 
 

Page 326

mailto:sophie.allen@exeter.gov.uk


Exeter Business Improvement District  

Baseline Services Statement 2019 

 

Baseline Activity for City Centre Promotion 
Responsible Officer Catherine Hill. Service Lead - Communications, Tourism & Culture 
Date Completed 14.05.19 
Extent of services 
covered within the BID 
area  

Entire area 

Summary of Service 
provided 

Promotion of Exeter and the City Centre: retail 
environment including public spaces for the benefit of 
residents and visitors including business tourism. 

 

Associated services 
provided 

The Service Lead is responsible for teams that work on 
the following activities to promote the City Centre as a 
culturally, modern and vibrant destination - offer related to 
events, retail, accommodation, food & drink and visitor 
facilities:  
- promotion of the city across a variety of media to people 
interested in day visits, short breaks  or a business trip to 
Exeter. 
 
Promote Exeter, primarily online, for overnight trips and 
business trips focusing on activity holidays and day trips. Visit 
Exeter is a membership organisation.  
 
Currently Visit Exeter is the main portal for visitor information to 
Exeter and the surrounding area. A concern remains on the 
duplication of InExeter. 
 
 

 

Service specification Production of printed promotional tourism literature covering 
the whole of Exeter, including Topsham. All Exeter publications 
contain major sections on the retail offer located within the BID 
area.  
 
Website promotion and maintenance of content including the 
development of SEO & PPC campaign for:  
www.exeter.gov.uk/visiting; www.visitexeter.com; 
www.conferencedevon.co.uk 
 
Other promotional activities include:  
- Send monthly e-newsletter to consumers and members of 
Visit Exeter 
- Host journalist FAM trips 
- Promotion of Exeter Food and Drink trail 
- Printed and digital advertising of packaged breaks 
- Competitions to promote Exeter, events and members of Visit 
Exeter 
- Group travel itineraries  
- Social media activity for Visit Exeter 
- Promotion of visitor attractions owned and managed by ECC 

Page 327



- Promotion of Exeter Festival and city wide events 
- Development and promotion of Exeter Live Better 
 

 

Number of staff 
required  

Within my area I have teams which focus on the following areas of 
work; 
Communications 
Tourism 
Marketing and Events 
 
Within these areas a percentage of time is spent on work in relation to 
the City Centre. 

Equipment required N/A 
Performance Indicators 
/ Measures 

- Number of unique visits to www.visitexeter.com  
- Footfall data from shopping centres  
- Level of usage of city centre car parks, in particular   Cathedral 
& Quay  
- Level of usage of Park & Ride  
- Number of Twitter, Instagram and Facebook followers  
 

Non Compliance – 
Mitigation Procedure 

 

Current Costs of service 
provided within BID 
area 

Delivery in the future may involve more collaborative work/ joint 
funding with external partners including InExeter.  
 

Annual cost of 
additional activity in BID 
(including staff, 
equipment and 
materials etc) 

2019 – 2020 
Staffing: Equivalent 4 FTE’s 
Revenue: £65,000 with a percentage focused on City Centre activity. 
A one of capital funding bid for City signage of £40,000, which will 
include updating city wayfinding signage. 
 

Statement completed 
by 

Catherine Hill  
Service Lead – Communications, Tourism and Culture 

Contact details Catherine.hill@exeter.gov.uk 
01392 265233 

 

Page 328

mailto:Catherine.hill@exeter.gov.uk


Exeter Business Improvement District  

Baseline Services Statement 2019 

 

Baseline Activity for Devon & Cornwall Police 
Responsible Officer Insp Arliss 
Date Completed 28/05/19 by PS David Turner 
Extent of services covered 
within the BID area  

Neighbourhood policing of Exeter City Centre  

Summary of Service provided General Police Duties  
Associated services provided  
Service specification  
Number of staff required  Currently 1 x Inspector 1 x Sergeant 5 X PC 2 x PCSO  
Equipment required Police allocated PPE  
Performance Indicators / 
Measures 

 

Non Compliance – Mitigation 
Procedure 

 

Current Costs of service 
provided within BID area 

 

Annual cost of additional 
activity in BID (including staff, 
equipment and materials etc) 

 

Statement completed by PS 6257 David Turner  
Contact details 01392 282790 

 

Page 329



Exeter Business Improvement District  

Baseline Services Statement 2019 

 

Baseline Activity for Hot Wash & Extra Cleaning 
Responsible Officer Louise Harvey 
Date Completed 15/05/19 
Extent of services covered 
within the BID area  

Whole BID area 

Summary of Service provided Additional pavement washing and street cleansing 
Associated services provided Grounds Maintenance, removal of illegal graffiti, removal 

of illegal fly posting 
Service specification  

Cleaning is currently differentiated between high and 
medium footfall areas with different cleaning 
frequencies for each:  
High: Town Centre – existing Cleaning Schedule as 
follows:  
Continuous cleaning 7 days per week 6am -6pm 3 FTE  
Plus- early morning clean 7 days per week 6am -9am 1 
large mechanical sweeper plus 1 solo sweeper.  
1 specialist pavement washer 5 days per week Sunday- 
Thursday 5am-9am  
1 hot wash van as above  
1 hot wash van Monday- Friday 5am-9am  
 
 
Medium: Outer Town Area Existing Cleaning 
Schedule as follows:  
Solo sweeper one clean per day  
Specialist pavement washer various areas from 9am-
1.30pm  
 

 
 

 

Number of staff required  As above 
Equipment required As above 
Performance Indicators / 
Measures 

Team Leader daily inspections 

Non Compliance – Mitigation 
Procedure 

 
Allocation of Cleansing Services resources to remedy 
poor cleaning.  
Special events – cleaning etc 48 hours notice required.  

 

Current Costs of service 
provided within BID area 

 
Within overall cleansing budget (street cleaning 1.5m)  
Estimated existing cost of BID area £88,000  

 

Page 330



Annual cost of additional 
activity in BID (including staff, 
equipment and materials etc) 

Cleaning over and above the existing specialist 
pavement washer and street cleaning. BID area to be 
divided into zones for additional washing on specified 
days. (Detail of zones and works programme to be 
agreed with BID group).  
Specialist wash van with lance and street washing 
equipment. That incorporates a generator and storage 
water tank in order to service a high pressure lance and 
street washing brooms. The lance is capable of 
removing gum and graffiti and the brooms are for 
washing large areas of the footway.  
Capital cost of new van/equipment £35k and this is 
written off over 5 years within the overall operational 
revenue costs.  
Revenue cost of one operative, van, equipment and 
material £33k p.a.  
  
  

 

Statement completed by Louise Harvey 
Contact details Louise.harvey@exeter.gov.uk 

01392 265346 
 

Page 331

mailto:Louise.harvey@exeter.gov.uk


Exeter Business Improvement District  

Baseline Services Statement 2019 

 

Baseline Activity for Public conveniences  
Responsible Officer Louise Harvey 
Date Completed 15/05/19 
Extent of services covered 
within the BID area  

Public toilets within the BID area have closed, with the 
exception of Paris St toilets. 

Summary of Service provided Cleansing of the public toilets  
Associated services provided Male, female & disabled toilet 
Service specification Toilets are open 07:00 – 19:00 7 days per week except 

Christmas Day. 
The operative now operates across the city and is expected to 
provide a minimum of 2 cleans and re-stock per day. 

Number of staff required  .2 FTE 
Equipment required Cleaning materials, van to service the remaining 11 toilets 

across the city. 
Performance Indicators / 
Measures 

Team Leader inspections 

Non Compliance – Mitigation 
Procedure 

Allocation of resources to remedy situation to bring back to 
satisfactory standard 

Current Costs of service 
provided within BID area 

Within overall cleansing budget. Estimated existing cost 
£20,000 

Annual cost of additional 
activity in BID (including staff, 
equipment and materials etc) 

N/A 

Statement completed by Louise Harvey 
Contact details Louise.harvey@exeter.go.uk 

01392 265346 
 

Page 332

mailto:Louise.harvey@exeter.go.uk


 

Exeter Business Improvement District  

Baseline Services Statement 2019 

 

Baseline Activity for RAMM 
Responsible Officer Camilla Hampshire, Museum Manager 
Date Completed May 2019 
Extent of services 
covered within the 
BID area  

 

Summary of Service 
provided 

Royal Albert Memorial Museum and Art Gallery provided by Exeter City Council 

Associated services 
provided 

The Royal Albert Memorial Museum and Art Gallery exists to enhance people’s quality of life. It’s a place of discovery which 
encourages everyone to be curious. RAMM uses its local and global collections to connect people to the world and inspires them to 
shape a better future. On average the service welcomes around 250,000 visitors per year through the doors, making it the most 
visited attraction in Exeter. 
 
The service manages and cares for the City’s collections that are held in trust for the benefit of present and future generations.   
 
The collections document the natural and cultural history of the City within a regional, national and international context, helping 
people to develop an appreciation and understanding of their wider as well as immediate environment.  
 
 
It consists of one public site, the Royal Albert Memorial Museum & Art Gallery (RAMM) and a sustainable, purpose built storage 
facility (available to the public by special request), which provides suitable environmental conditions for items within the collection 
which are currently not on display. 

Service 
specification 

• Display, care and management of the City’s collections 
 

• Staging a vibrant exhibition and events programme with regular ‘headliner’ shows e.g. Criminal Ornamentation – 19.01.19 – 
17.03.19, Nomads – 13.07.19 – 06.10.19, Birds without Borders 20.07.19 – 03.11.19 

 

P
age 333



 

• Is a National Partner Organisation with Arts Council England 
 

• Actively seeks and manages additional sources of external support to expand upon project delivery e.g. Dawlish Hoard 
acquisition, Nature’s Empire exhibition, Discovering Worlds, Peter Randall Page commission 

 
• Provides a public enquiry service 

 
• Strives to engage a diverse audience through targeted exhibitions and events, informed by audience research 

 
• Maintains and develops relationships with key stakeholders and supporters  

 
• Hosts well subscribed opportunities for volunteers (during 2018/19 143 volunteers gave 14,491 hours of their time in 

support of the service),  plus work experience students and interns 
 

• Maintains service standards e.g. Accreditation 
 

• Maintains a strong digital presence – see rammuseum.org.uk, rammcollections.org.uk, rammworldcultures.org.uk 
rammtimetrail.org.uk, swcollectionsexplorer.org.uk, hmschallenger.net 
 

• Production of promotional tourism literature distributed throughout Devon which draws in visitors to the museums and the 
City 

 
Number of staff 
required  

The current scale and quality of the service is maintained by 51 members of staff 30 full time and 21 part time 
 
37 are funded by ECC, and 11 by Arts Council England (NPO) and 3 are joint-funded including other external funding. 
 

Equipment 
required 

Varies according to programme of activities 

Performance 
Indicators / 
Measures 

The service is aligned to, and contributes to numerous complimentary PI’s. 
 
Exeter City Council Priorities: 
As a significant city centre attraction, RAMM contributes to the ‘Exeter Live Better’ Strategy and the Emerging Exeter 2040 Vision 
 

P
age 334



 

Arts Council England (ACE) National Portfolio Organisation Goals: 
ACE rolls out funding in line with 5 strategic goals. 

1. Excellence is thriving and celebrated in the arts, museums and libraries 
 
2. Everyone has the opportunity to experience and to be inspired by the arts, museums and libraries 

 
3. The arts, museums and libraries are resilient and environmentally sustainable 

 
4. The leadership and workforce in the arts, museums and libraries are diverse and appropriately skilled 

 
5. Every child and young person has the opportunity to experience the richness of the arts, museums and libraries 

 
Measures: Successful roll out of agreed SMART objectives in the RAMM Business Plan, including through quarterly reporting to ECC 
and ACE 

Non Compliance – 
Mitigation 
Procedure 

To be defined 

Current Costs of 
service provided 
within BID area 

2019/20 agreed ECC budget for RAMM (including the Ark): £2,266,880.00 
 
2019/20 Arts Council England NPO Funding: £607,191  
 
Additional External Funding secured during in 2018-19 totalled: £86,626 
 
4 applications and/or campaigns are already in progress for 2019/20,  

Annual cost of 
additional activity 
in BID (including 
staff, equipment 
and materials etc.) 

N/A 

Statement 
completed by 

Alison Hopper Bishop (Operational and Conservation Services Lead) on behalf of Camilla Hampshire (Museums Manager) 

Contact details a.hopperbishop@exeter.gov.uk, Camilla.hampshire@exeter.gov.uk,  

P
age 335

mailto:a.hopperbishop@exeter.gov.uk
mailto:Camilla.hampshire@exeter.gov.uk


 

Tel: 01392 265311 
 

P
age 336



Exeter Business Improvement District  

Baseline Services Statement 2019 

 

Baseline Activity for Removal of litter, graffiti, flyposting  
Responsible Officer Louise Harvey 
Date Completed 15/05/19 
Extent of services covered 
within the BID area  

Liaison with police and other ASB agencies 

Summary of Service provided Removal of illegal fly posting, graffiti and litter 
Associated services provided Education & enforcement 
Service specification  

The specialist graffiti team removes fly-posting and (where 
practical) graffiti.  
Hot-spots for graffiti and fly-posting are targeted, and details 
recorded for a co-ordinated approach to education and/or 
enforcement. Promoters of fly-posted events are made 
aware of their responsibilities and liabilities.  

 

Number of staff required  2 FTE 
Equipment required  

Specialist vehicle fitted with high pressure equipment, and 
water bowser.  

 

Performance Indicators / 
Measures 

Team Leader inspections 

Non Compliance – Mitigation 
Procedure 

Allocation of other resources within Public Realm operations, 
involvement of police where graffiti indicates a persistent or 
repeat pattern. 

Current Costs of service 
provided within BID area 

A proportion of current whole-city provision of £63,000 

Annual cost of additional 
activity in BID (including staff, 
equipment and materials etc) 

Estimated £14,500 additional 0.5 FTE Enforcement officer to 
focus education and enforcement of fly-posting and graffiti, 
and co-ordinate Street scene functions within the BID area 

Statement completed by Louise Harvey 
Contact details Louise.harvey@exeter.gov.uk 

01392 265346 
 

Page 337

mailto:Louise.harvey@exeter.gov.uk


Exeter Business Improvement District  

Baseline Services Statement 2019 

 

Baseline Activity for Tress and landscaping 
Responsible Officer Louise Harvey 
Date Completed 15/05/19 
Extent of services covered 
within the BID area  

The whole BID area 

Summary of Service provided  
There is virtually no green space within the BID area for 
which Exeter City Council has responsibility. A line has been 
drawn on the map excluding most of Northernhay Gardens 
but including Rougemont Gardens.  
Because of this, there is little relevance or applicable costs 
for this activity.  

 

Associated services provided  
High Street decoration such as hanging baskets is a 
peripheral activity largely funded in the last two years by a 
local nursery.  

 

Service specification N/A 
Number of staff required  N/A 
Equipment required N/A 
Performance Indicators / 
Measures 

N/A 

Non Compliance – Mitigation 
Procedure 

N/A 

Current Costs of service 
provided within BID area 

N/A 

Annual cost of additional 
activity in BID (including staff, 
equipment and materials etc) 

N/A 

Statement completed by Louise Harvey 
Contact details Louise.harvey@exeter.gov.uk 

01392 265346 
 

Page 338

mailto:Louise.harvey@exeter.gov.uk


Exeter Business Improvement District  

Baseline Services Statement 2019 

 

Baseline Activity for Devon County Council 
Responsible Officer Meg Booth  
Date Completed 15 May 2019 
Extent of services covered within the 
BID area  

The whole BID area except Princesshay and Bedford 
Square 
 

Summary of Service provided Highway Maintenance 
Associated services provided Licensing responsibility: - 

- for skips, scaffolds, charitable events etc 
- tables and chairs for pavement cafes delegated to the 

City Council  
Statutory undertaker responsibility: -  
- co-ordination of street works, i.e. utilities, 

redevelopment and construction activity 
Obstructions to the highway are enforced: - 
- when formally required, by the County Council 
Road traffic signs and road markings: - 
- maintained on a reactive basis. 
Street lighting - Routine cleaning and lamp renewal.  
Highway drains  - cleaned on a programmed basis and 
problems dealt with reactively 

Service specification Maintenance for the safe use by the public of surface of 
potholes and trips, repair of defects in highway related 
equipment, i.e. bollards, fences, barriers, signs, lighting, 
gullies, and fixed planters. 
 
Qualified inspectors  walking the area on a monthly basis 
formally inspects the BID geography. As a guide a vertical 
trip of 20mm is considered a safety defect. 
 
Out of hours response service for emergency repairs to 
highways provided, supported by a centrally co-ordinated 
CCTV control centre. 
 

Number of staff required  No dedicated resources 
Equipment required No dedicated equipment 
Performance Indicators / Measures All emergency highway repairs made safe and 

permanently repaired in the timescales specified in the 
County Council Highway Safety Policy.  
 

Non Compliance – Mitigation 
Procedure 

Liability for safety defects passes to contractor 

Current Costs of service provided 
within BID area 

Approx. £100,000 per annum 
 

Page 339



Annual cost of additional activity in 
BID (including staff, equipment and 
materials etc) 

No additional activity proposed 

Statement completed by Tony Matthews 
Neighbourhood Highway Group Manager 

Contact details 01392 383000 
tony.matthews@devon.gov.uk 
 

 

Page 340



Appendix D

Equality Impact Assessment 

Title of work being assessed: InExeter Business Improvement District Business Plan 2020-2025.

Introduction

InExeter is the business improvement district (BID) representing and supporting over 550 individual business in Exeter City Centre. The 
Business Improvement Legislation 2004 sets out the regulations of a BID. A BID is a business led and business funded partnership formed to 
support business and deliver a range of projects, services and initiatives agreed by the business community to enhance a commercial area. A 
BID has a maximum term of five years and must ballot businesses after extensive consultation to continue for a further five years. The collected 
fund raised from a levy based on a 1.25% of the current rateable value is ringfenced and spent on the projects listed in a Business Plan.

InExeter was launched in April 2015 after a successful ballot.  InExeter is submitting a BID proposal ahead of a Ballot in October 2019 to 
continue its work in Exeter.

Lead officer: Victoria Hatfield 

Service Manager: Dave Bartram 

Stakeholders: All.

For each of the areas below, an assessment has been made on whether the policy has a positive, negative or neutral impact, and brief 
details of why this decision was made and notes of any mitigation are included. Where the impact is negative, a high, medium or low 
assessment is given. The assessment rates the impact of the policy based on the current situation (i.e. disregarding any actions planned 
to be carried out in future).

High impact – a significant potential impact, risk of exposure, history of complaints, no mitigating measures in place etc.

Medium impact –some potential impact exists, some mitigating measures are in place, poor evidence

Low impact – almost no relevancy to the process, e.g. an area that is very much legislation led and where the Council has very little 

P
age 341



Appendix D

discretion

Neutral Positive Negative

Protected characteristic/ area 
of interest
Race and ethnicity 
(including Gypsies and 
Travellers; migrant workers 
asylum seekers etc.)

Low 

Medium

Some events and activities 
organised and supported are 
focused on celebrating 
different cultures and 
characteristics, such as 
Chinese New Year and Exeter 
Pride

Low

Disability
(as defined by the Equality
Act - a person has a disability if 
they have a physical or mental 
impairment that has a 
substantial and long-term 
adverse effect on their ability to 
carry out normal day-to-day 
activities. This can include 
mental health conditions, long 
term illnesses such as cancer 
and HIV, cognitive issues, 
learning disabilities and sensory 
impairments)

Low Low Low

Sex/Gender Low Low Low

Gender reassignment Low Low Low

Religion and belief 
(includes no belief, some 
philosophical beliefs such 
as Buddhism and sects 
within religions)

Low

InExeter is business led 
and funded for the benefit 
of all.

Low Low

P
age 342



Appendix D

Sexual orientation (including 
heterosexual, lesbian, gay, 
bisexual)

Low 
InExeter is business led 
and business funded for 
the benefit of all.

Low Low

Age (children and young people 
aged 0 – 24, adults aged 25 – 
50, younger older people aged 
51 – 75/80; older people 81+; 
frail older people; people living 
with age related conditions. The 
age categories are for illustration 
only as overriding consideration 
should be given to needs).

Low 

Medium 

Some events and activities 
are geared towards attracting 
families and young people 
into the city.  

Low

Community relations

InExeter works with a 
range of Exeter partners 
and stakeholders as this 
is key to the successful 
delivery of projects and 
services in Exeter.

Human Rights

Actions identified as a result of the impact assessment (these should be SMART):

Action Lead By when
Contact the Association 
of Town Centre Managers 
to ascertain the overall 
equality impact of BID’s 

Victoria Hatfield September 2019

Equality Impact Assessment Report Questions checklist

1. Describe the piece of work you are assessing and the reason it is being carried out.  Are you:
o Making a strategic budget proposal
o Developing a new policy, strategy or project
o Reviewing and revising a policy, strategy or project

P
age 343



Appendix D

o Reviewing a function or a service
o Restructuring a service.

Include any options appraisal and if you have a preferred option explain why.

This proposal seeks to approve the InExeter Business Plan 2020-2025 and confirm the City Councils support in ballot for 
hereditaments falling under Exeter City Council liability.  The business plan describes the activity to be undertaken by 
InExeter during the next 5 years, if successful with the Bid vote in October. 

2. What are the timescales for completing the work? What committee deadlines do you have to meet?

June 2029 – Place Scrutiny
July 2019 – Executive  
October 2019 – InExeter ballot takes place for 28 days
March 2020 – Existing BID ceases trading
April 2020 – new BID starts for a 5 year term

3. What are the aims and objectives of the work?  How do these link to wider council or strategic objectives?

The BID is there to support businesses located within the boundary of the BID, mainly within the old city walls.  The BID 
undertakes activity to ensure the city centre is clean, vibrant and an attractive place to visit and work.  

4. Who will be the main beneficiaries of the piece of work and in what way?  All people in Exeter?  Council staff? A specific stakeholder 
group? A combination of these?

Whilst the BID is a business led and business funded partnership, the work of the BID enhances and improves the city 
centre through improved cleanliness, business support activities, additional events taking place and raising the awareness 
of what there is to see and do in the city centre.    Beneficiaries would be business owners, business employees, residents 
of Exeter and visitors to the city. 

5. What data do you have on how different groups would be affected by the work?

No available data. 

6. What research studies or reports have been carried out in other areas of the country or nationally that provide information about the 
likely impact of your work on equality groups?

No work has been undertaken on this. 

P
age 344



Appendix D

7. What consultation has taken place or is planned with customers (individuals and groups) from equality groups?

No work has been undertaken on this. 

8. What does the consultation indicate about any differential positive or negative impact(s) of this piece of work?

N/A

9. If there are gaps in your previous or planned consultation and research are there any experts/relevant groups that can be contacted 
to get further views or evidence on the issues?  If so please explain who they are and how you will obtain their views.

The Association of Town Centre Managers will be contacted to understand what other BID’s have undertaken around this 
area of work.

10. If you have indicated there is a negative impact on any group, is that impact Legal; Intended; of high or low impact?

None identified.    

11. If you identified any negative impact that is of low significance, can you minimise or remove it? If so how?

Ensure that events that are organised are accessible to all, regardless of their ability. 

12. Could you improve the strategy/policy/project’s positive impact and if so how? 

The business plan is focused on supporting businesses within the BID levy area, which also benefits residents and visitors 
to Exeter.  Additional work should be explored as to the impact of the business plan on other beneficiaries. 

13. How do you intend to continue monitoring the impact of this strategy/policy/project?

The City Council will continue to work in partnership with the BID and have representation on the InExeter Board of 
Directors.  The City Council will receive an annual update report from InExeter.

14. If there are gaps in your evidence base, do you need to carry out any further research about the likely impact of your work on equality 
groups?

There are gaps, work will be undertaken with the BID direct and with the Association of Town Centre Managers to address 

P
age 345



Appendix D

this. 

There might be a time delay here as you will need to get the results of your consultation before you can continue working 
your way through the questions.

15. As a result of this assessment and available evidence collected, including consultation, what if any changes do you need to make to 
the strategy/policy/project?
N/a 

16. Will the changes planned ensure that the negative impact is: 
Legal; Intended; of low impact?

N/A 

17. What monitoring/evaluation/review process have you set up to check the successful implementation of the strategy/policy/project?

N/A

18. How will this monitoring/evaluation further assess the impact on the equality groups/ensure the strategy/policy/project is non-
discriminatory?

N/A

19. Please provide an action plan showing any recommendations that have arisen from the assessment and how you plan to take them 
forward.  Are your actions SMART (specific, measurable, achievable, relevant and time-based).  

N/A 

20. When will you next review this work and the impact assessment?

The business plan of InExeter will be reviewed 2024, at the start of the process of a third term (2025-2030).

P
age 346



Document is Restricted

Page 347

Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 359

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 401

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Exeter Live Better Move More Physical Activity Strategy
	PAS Updated June 2019 with Foreword Final
	PAS APPENDIX A Residents Survey Report May 2019 Final
	PAS APPENDIX B  Stakeholder Online Survey Report Final
	PAS APPENDIX C Active Inbox Stakeholder Feedback Final
	PAS APPENDIX D Full Stakeholder Participation List
	PAS APPENDIX E Live Better  Move More Report Revisions May 2019 Final

	7 Exeter Live Better Move More Built Facilities, Playing Fields, Pitches, Play Areas, Parks and Open Spaces Strategy
	Built Facilities June 2019 FINAL 14.6.19
	Built Facilities Appendix A Marketing Means PAS_survey_Residents_In_street_SummaryReport_v0.7.2
	Built Facilities Appendix B Built Facilities Report Consultation Summary June 2019 Max Associates
	Built Facilities  Appendix C Exeter Play Areas Consultation Report May 2019 RedQuadrant
	Built Facilities Appendix D Exeter Parks  Open Spaces Consultation Report May 2019 RedQuadrant
	Built Facilities Appendix E Stakeholder Feedback v2

	8 INExeter Business Improvement District Business Plan 2020- 2025
	INExeter Business Plan 2020 2025 Appendix AFinal
	INExeter Key Highlights 2015_2020 Appendix  B Final
	INExeter BID Report Appendix C Baseline Statements Final
	2019 Exeter BID baseline statement - Car parks
	2019 Exeter BID baseline statement - CCTV
	2019 Exeter BID baseline statement - City Centre Attractions
	2019 Exeter BID baseline statement - City Centre Events
	2019 Exeter BID baseline statement - City Centre Promotion
	2019 Exeter BID baseline statement - Devon  Cornwall Police (1)
	2019 Exeter BID baseline statement - Hot Wash and Extra Cleaning
	2019 Exeter BID baseline statement - Public Conveniences
	2019 Exeter BID baseline statement - RAMM
	2019 Exeter BID baseline statement - Removal of litter flyposting grafitti
	2019 Exeter BID baseline statement - Tress and landscaping
	190515 Exeter BID baseline statement - Highways

	INExeter BID Equality_Impact_Assessment Appendix DFinal

	9 Options for Investment in Exeter's Kerbside Recycling Service
	Options for Investment in Exeter's Kerbside Recycling Service Appendix 1 Final
	Options for Investment in Exeter's Kerbside Recycling Service Appendix 2 Final


